

REFERENCE ONLY

UNIVERSITY OF LONDON THESIS



Degree Pho Year 2005 Name of Author Bog OMNON B

COPYRIGHT

This is a thesis accepted for a Higher Degree of the University of London. It is an unpublished typescript and the copyright is held by the author. All persons consulting the thesis must read and abide by the Copyright Declaration below.

COPYRIGHT DECLARATION

I recognise that the copyright of the above-described thesis rests with the author and that no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without the prior written consent of the author.

LOANS

Theses may not be lent to individuals, but the Senate House Library may lend a copy to approved libraries within the United Kingdom, for consultation solely on the premises of those libraries. Application should be made to: Inter-Library Loans, Senate House Library, Senate House, Malet Street, London WC1E 7HU.

REPRODUCTION

University of London theses may not be reproduced without explicit written permission from the Senate House Library. Enquiries should be addressed to the Theses Section of the Library. Regulations concerning reproduction vary according to the date of acceptance of the thesis and are listed below as guidelines.

- Before 1962. Permission granted only upon the prior written consent of the A. author. (The Senate House Library will provide addresses where possible).
- Β. 1962 - 1974. In many cases the author has agreed to permit copying upon completion of a Copyright Declaration.
- Most theses may be copied upon completion of a Copyright C. 1975 - 1988. Declaration.
- D. 1989 onwards. Most theses may be copied.

This thesis comes within category D.



This copy has been deposited in the Library of UCC

This copy has been deposited in the Senate House Library, Senate House, Malet Street, London WC1E 7HU.

C:\Documents and Settings\Iproctor\Local Settings\Temporary Internet Files\OLK8\Copyright - thesis (2).doc

TITLE

MOLECULAR MIMICRY IN PRIMARY BILIARY CIRRHOSIS AND OTHER HEPATIC AND EXTRA-HEPATIC DISEASES

by

DIMITRIOS BOGDANOS

.

A THESIS

SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN THE FACULTY OF MEDICINE OF THE UNIVERSITY OF LONDON

Institute of Hepatology Royal Free & University College London University of London London WC1E 6HX

SEPTEMBER 2004

UMI Number: U591656

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI U591656 Published by ProQuest LLC 2013. Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author. Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

Abstract

This Thesis investigates the concept that molecular mimicry may be instrumental to the appearance and/or maintenance of liver autoimmunity, with a main focus on primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC).

The first part of the study concentrates on the investigation of immunological crossreactivity between pyruvate dehydrogenase complex E2 (PDC-E2)₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, the immunodominant mitochondrial autoepitope in PBC and microbial mimics. Several bacterial and viral sequences were identified that share extensive homology with PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ and while some from mycobacteria, *lactobacillus* and *E. coli*, acted as target of cross-reactivity, similarly good mimicking sequences from other micro-organisms were unreactive. The possible bearing on the mechanism of the disease of this selective crossreactivity is discussed.

Next is the identification of cross-reactive immune responses between hepatitis C virus (HCV) polyprotein and cytochrome P450IID6 (CYP2D6)₂₅₂₋₂₇₁, the major autoepitope of anti-liver kidney microsomal type-1 antibody (LKM1), the serological hallmark of autoimmune hepatitis type-2. Viral/self cross-reactivity was documented only in those patients possessing the HLA B51 allele. The evolution of immunological cross-reactivity was investigated over a 10-year period in a girl who developed primary and secondary LKM1 response following HCV infection resulting in a florid autoimmune hepatitis 9 years later. A study in a cohort of subjects vaccinated against hepatitis B provided the opportunity to document the appearance of cross-reactivity between viral sequences and mimics on myelin antigens.

The findings of the present Thesis demonstrate that disease-specific microbial/self cross-reactive responses do occur and may be of pathogenic significance.

2

To my Ithaca

To my family

Acknowledgements

This Thesis would be incomplete without acknowledging the help and support of the following:

- Professor Diego Vergani, my principal supervisor, and his wife Professor Giorgina Mieli-Vergani, my secondary supervisor, whose constant support and diligent supervision have encouraged me to complete this Thesis. Professor Vergani's astute mind and keenness for detail never ceased to amaze me; Professor Mieli-Vergani's dedication to translational research that brings the laboratory to the bedside constantly inspired me.
- Professor Harold Baum, my external advisor, for his tremendous support and interactive guidance which was a driving force in the completion of my study.
- Professor John Kountouras (Aristotle University of Thessalonika) for his enthusiastic support in my decision to undertake this study.
- Dr Yun Ma for being unconditionally supportive of me.
- Dr Ian McFarlane for helpful comments.
- Professor Li Wen (Yale University) for her advice on the establishment of T-cell lines, Professor Andrew K. Burroughs (Royal Free Hospital), Professor Francesco B. Bianchi, Dr Marco Lenzi and Dr Luigi Muratori (University of Bologna), Professor Juan Rodes and Dr Albert Pares (University of Barcelona), Professor Dimitrios Tsantoulas (University of Athens), Ms Heather Smith (King's College) for providing clinical material; Dr Edward Davies, and Dr Munther Hussain, for technical advice; Dr Paul Cheeseman and Dr Ragai Mitry for their help with the artwork and Dr Eirini I. Rigopoulou for her help with the statistical analysis.
- Members of the medical laboratory scientific staff at the Institute of Hepatology, University College London, Department of Child Health and Institute of Liver Studies, King's College Hospital with whom I have worked.
- Special thanks to all the patients with autoimmune liver diseases and other disorders, without whom the work in this Thesis would have been impossible.
- And finally, the Children's Liver Disease Foundation, Birmingham, UK, for its financial support during my study.

Table of Contents

TITLE PAGE	1
ABSTRACT	2
DEDICATION	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
TABLE OF CONTENTS	5
INDEX OF TABLES	14
INDEX OF FIGURES	15
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	1 7
PUBLICATIONS	20

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1	The ly	mphoid liver	25
1.2	Immu	nological tolerance and the liver	28
	1.2.1	Central tolerance	28
	1.2.2	Peripheral tolerance	29
1.3	Break	down of tolerance: mechanisms of autoimmunity	31
	1.3.1	Failure of T-cell anergy	32
	1.3.2	Failure of activation-induced cell death	32
	1.3.3	Failure of T-cell mediated suppression	32
	1.3.4	Polyclonal lymphocyte activation	32
	1.3.5	Release of sequestered antigens	33
	1.3.6	Exposure of 'hidden' or 'cryptic' self antigens and 'epitope	
		spreading'	33
	1.3.7	'Aberrant' expression of class II MHC molecules	34
	1.3.8	Cytokine influence	34
	1.3.9	Molecular mimicry between microbial and self proteins	34
1.4	Breakd	own of liver tolerance	35

	1.4.1	Infections and liver tolerance	35
	1.4.2	Drugs and liver tolerance	36
	1.4.3	Apoptosis and liver tolerance	36
	1.4.4	Autoimmune liver diseases	36
1.5	Virus,	liver and autoimmunity	37
1.6	Viruse	s, molecular mimicry and autoimmunity	39
1.7	Molect	ular mimicry in viral hepatitis	42
	1.7.1	Hepatitis B virus and myelin basic protein	42
	1.7.2	Hepatitis B and C viruses and non-organ specific autoantibodies	43
1.8	Hepati	tis C and autoimmune hepatitis	45
1.9	Primar	y biliary cirrhosis	49
	1.9.1	Anti-mitochondrial antibody	50
	1.9.2	M2 antigens	50
	1.9.3	AMA as predictors	53
	1.9.4	Detection of AMA	55
	1.9.5	AMA negative PBC	56
	1.9.6	PBC-specific ANA	57
	1.9.7	Pathogenicity of AMA	58
	1.9.8	PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ is physically exposed on the molecule's surface	59
	1.9.9	Geographical clustering and PBC	59
	1.9.10	Familial clustering and PBC	60
	1.9.11	Migration studies and PBC	60
1.10) PBC,	bacterial infection and molecular mimicry	61
1.1	l Hypo	thesis	63
1.12	2 Aims		63

CHAPTER 2 MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1	Materials		
	2.1.1	Commercially available chemicals, reagents, buffers and media	65
	2.1.2	Antigens and peptides	66
	2.1.3	Antibodies	67
	2.1.4	Non-commercially available antigens	67

	2.1.5	Plastics	, consumables	67
	2.1.6	Comme	rcial assays	68
		2.1.6.1	ELISA	68
		2.1.6.2	Immunoblot	68
	2.1.7	Instrum	entation	69
2.2	Metho	ds		71
	2.2.1	Bioinfo	rmatics tools	71
		2.2.1.1	PROTEININFO 'advanced sequence search'	71
		2.2.1.2	BLAST	72
			2.2.1.2.1 BLASTp	72
			2.2.1.2.2 BLASTp 2 sequences	73
		2.2.1.3	Cn3D visualization tool	73
	2.2.2	Detection	on of antibodies	75
		2.2.2.1	Indirect immunofluorescence	75
		2.2.2.2	Immunoblotting	78
		2.2.2.3	ELISA	81
		2.2.2.4	Inhibition studies	82
			2.2.2.4.1 Liquid phase	82
			2.2.2.4.2 Solid phase	83
		2.2.2.5	Relative affinity of anti-peptide antibody	83
	2.2.3	Cellula	r studies	84
		2.2.3.1	Seperation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells	84
		2.2.3.2	Thawing cryopreserved cells	84
		2.2.3.3	T-cell proliferation assay	85
		2.2.3.4	Intracellular cytokine staining	86
	2.2.4	T-cell '	help' for B-cell antibody production	88
	2.2.5	Patients	S	88
	2.2.6	Statisti	cal analysis	88

CHAPTER 3 MYCOBACTERIA AND PBC

3.1	Background	91
3.2	Methods	92

	3.2.1	Subjects	92
	3.2.2	Detection of AMA	92
	3.2.3	Protein database search and analysis	92
	3.2.4	Peptide synthesis	93
	3.2.5	ELISA	93
	3.2.6	Inhibition studies	93
	3.2.7	Anti-peptide antibody affinity	93
	3.2.8	IgG subclass of anti-PDC-E2 antibodies	93
3.3	Resul	ts	94
	3.3.1	Protein database search and analysis	94
	3.3.2	ELISA	94
		3.3.2.1 Single anti-peptide antibody reactivity	94
		3.3.2.2 Double anti-peptide antibody reactivity	95
	3.3.3	Inhibition studies	97
		3.3.3.1 Inhibition of anti-MYCGO antibody reactivity	97
		3.3.3.2 Inhibition of anti-PDC-E2 antibody reactivity	97
	3.3.4	Affinity of anti-peptide antibody	100
	3.3.5	IgG subclass of anti-PDC-E2 antibodies	101
3.4	Discu	ssion	102

CHAPTER 4 LACTOBACILLI AND PBC

4.1	Backg	ackground	
4.2	Metho	ods	107
	4.2.1	Subjects	107
		4.2.1.1 AMA positive PBC patients	107
		4.2.1.2 AMA negative PBC patients	107
		4.2.1.3 Pathological controls	107
		4.2.1.4 Normal controls	1 08
	4.2.2	Detection of AMA	108
	4.2.3	Protein database search and analysis	10 8
	4.2.4	Peptide synthesis	108
	4.2.5	ELISA	108

	4.2.6	Inhibition studies	108
	4.2.7	Anti-peptide antibody affinity	109
4.3	Resul	ts	110
	4.3.1	Protein database search and analysis	110
	4.3.2	ELISA	112
		4.3.2.1 Single anti-peptide antibody reactivity	112
		4.3.2.1.1 IgG class anti-peptide reactivity	112
		4.3.2.1.2 IgG subclass anti-peptide reactivity	112
		4.3.2.2 Double anti-peptide antibody reactivity	113
	4.3.3	Comparison of antibody binding to LACDE and ECOLI mimics	116
	4.3.4	Inhibition studies	117
	4.3.5	Affinity of anti-peptide antibody	120
4.4	Discu	ssion	121

CHAPTER 5 E. COLI AND PBC

5.1	Backg	ground	125
5.2	Metho	ods	127
	5.2.1	Subjects	127
		5.2.1.1 PBC patients	127
		5.2.1.2 Pathological and normal controls	127
	5.2.2	Detection of AMA	128
	5.2.3	Protein database search and analysis	128
	5.2.4	Peptide synthesis	128
	5.2.5	ELISA	128
	5.2.6	Inhibition studies	128
	5.2.7	Anti-peptide antibody affinity	129
	5.2.8	Three-dimensional modelling	129
5.3	Resul	ts	129
	5.3.1	Protein database search and analysis	129
	5.3.2	ELISA	132
		5.3.2.1 Single anti-peptide antibody reactivity	132
		5.3.2.2 Double anti-peptide antibody reactivity	132

5.4	Discu	ssion	144
	5.3.4	Affinity of anti-peptide antibody	143
	5.3.3	Inhibition studies	140

CHAPTER 6 HELICOBACTER PYLORI AND PBC

6.1	Backg	ground	149
6.2	Metho	ods	150
	6.2.1	Subjects	150
	6.2.2	Antibody detection	150
	6.2.3	Protein database search and analysis	150
	6.2.4	Peptide synthesis	150
	6.2.5	ELISA	151
	6.2.6	Inhibition studies	151
		6.2.6.1 Peptides	151
		6.2.6.2 Antigens	151
	6.2.7	Three-dimensional modelling	151
	6.2.8	Proliferation assay of PBMC	151
6.3	Resul	ts	152
	5.3.1	Protein database search and analysis	153
	6.3.2	Reactivity to peptide and antigens	154
	6.3.3	Inhibition studies	156
		6.3.3.1 Peptides	156
		6.3.3.2 Antigens	156
	6.3.4	Three-dimensional modelling	156
	6.3.5	Proliferation assay	160
6.4	Discu	ssion	161

CHAPTER 7 CASEINOLYTIC PROTEASE COMPLEX AND PBC

7.1	Background	164
7.2	Methods	166
	7.2.1 Three-dimensional modelling	166

	7.2.2	T-cell responses	
		7.2.2.1 Subjects	166
		7.2.2.2 Standard proliferation assay	166
		7.2.2.3 Intracellular cytokine staining	166
	7.2.3	T-cell 'help' for B-cell antibody production	167
7.3	7.3 Results		168
	7.3.1	Three-dimensional modelling	168
	7.3.2	T-cell responses	169
		7.3.2.1 Standard proliferation assay	169
		7.3.2.2 Intracellular cytokine staining	170
	7.3.3	T-cell 'help' for B-cell antibody production	171
7.4	Discu	ssion	172

CHAPTER 8 HEPATITIS C AND LKM1 ANTIBODY

8.1	Background		175
8.2	Methods		177
	8.2.1	Subjects	177
	8.2.2	Antibody detection	177
	8.2.3	Protein database search and analysis	177
	8.2.4	Peptide synthesis	178
	8.2.5	ELISA	178
	8.2.6	Inhibition studies	178
8.3	Results		
	8.3.1	Protein database search and analysis	179
	8.3.2	ELISA	179
		8.3.2.1 Reactivity to peptides	1 79
		8.3.2.2 Anti-HSV-1 detection	180
	8.3.3	Inhibition studies	183
	8.3.4	HLA typing	184
		8.3.4.1 Class I typing	184
		8.3.4.2 Class II typing	185
8.4	Discu	ssion	186

CHAPTER 9 VIRUS/SELF CROSS-REACTIVITY LEADING TO DE NOVO AUTOIMMUNE HEPATITIS

9.1	Background 1	
9.2	Case presentation	
9.3	Methods	
	9.3.1 Protein database search and analysis	194
	9.3.2 Peptide synthesis	194
	9.3.3 ELISA	194
	9.3.4 Inhibition studies	194
	9.3.5 Anti-LKM1 and anti-viral antibody detection	194
	9.3.6 Proliferation assay	195
	9.3.7 HLA typing	195
9.4	Results	1 98
9.5	Discussion	202

CHAPTER 10 HEPATITIS B VACCINATION ASSOCIATED AUTOIMMUNITY

10.1	Background		205
10.2	2 Methods		207
	10.2.1	Subjects	207
	10.2.2	Anti-viral antibody detection	207
	10.2.3	Protein database search and analysis	207
	10.2.4	Peptide synthesis	207
	10.2.5	Anti-peptide antibody detection	207
	10.2.6	Inhibition studies	207
10.3	Result	ts	209
	10.3.1	Protein database search and analysis	209
	10.3.2	ELISA	210
		10.3.2.1 Before vaccination	210
		10.3.2.2 At 3 months post-vaccination	210

10.3.2.3 At 6 months post-vaccination	210
10.3.3 Inhibition studies	214
10.4 Discussion	215
CHAPTER 11 GENERAL DISCUSSION	
DEEDENCES	222

INDEX OF TABLES

Table 3.1	Demographic, immunological features and anti-peptide	
	reactivity details of the 40 Spanish and the 50 British PBC	
	patients	96
Table 3.2	Inhibition of anti-MYCGO hsp65 $_{90-104}$ and anti-PDC-E2 $_{212-226}$	
	antibody reactivity	98
Table 3.3	Patterns of anti-PDC-E2 antibody IgG subclass reactivity	101
Table 4.1	Antibody reactivity to human PDC-E2 $_{212-226}$ and its microbial	
	mimics	114
Table 4.2	Anti-LACDE BGAL ₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ and anti-ECOLI PDC-E2 ₂₃₁₋₂₄₅	
	antibody reactivity in serial dilutions	116
Table 4.3	Percentage inhibition of anti-LACDE BGAL ₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ and anti-	
	human PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆	118
Table 5.1A	Antibody binding to human PDC-E2212-226 and ECOLI mimics in	
	55 AMA positive PBC patients	134
Table 5.1B	Antibody binding to human PDC-E2212-226 and non-ECOLI	
	mimics in 55 AMA positive PBC patients	135
Table 5.2	Single and double reactivity to self and microbial peptides in	
	PBC patients	137
Table 5.3	Single and double reactivity to self and microbial peptides in	
	pathological and healthy controls	138
Table 5.4	Percentage inhibition of antibody reactivity to microbial and self	
	mimics	142
Table 8.1	Demographic details and peptide binding values of the 23	
	LKM1 ^{pos} /HCV ^{pos} and 23 LKM1 ^{neg} /HCV ^{neg} patients	182
Table 9.1	Amino acid sequences of 34 synthetic peptides spanning the full	
	length CYP2D6 antigen	196
Table 10.1	Single and double reactivity to SHBsAg and myelin mimics	212
Table 10.2	Antibody reactivity to SHBsAg ₁₃₀₋₁₄₉ and MOG ₅₋₂₄	213

INDEX OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Percentage proportions of different cell types in the normal liver	
	and comparison with lymphocyte subsets in blood	27
Figure 1.2	Amino acid homology between hepatitis B and C viruses and	
	nuclear or smooth muscle mimics	44
Figure 2.1	A representative protein structure shown by Cn3D	74
Figure 2.2	Immunofluorescence appearance of anti-mitochondrial	
	antibodies	76
Figure 2.3	Immunofluorescence appearance of anti-mitochondrial and liver	
	kidney microsomal antibody on rat kidney	77
Figure 2.4	Material specifications for ready precast gels and schematic	
	representation of the blotting sandwich	80
Figure 3.1	Inhibition of antibody binding against MYCGO hsp65 ₉₀₋₁₀₄ and	
	PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆	99
Figure 3.2	Affinity profile of anti-peptide antibody	100
Figure 4.1	Sequence alignment of the immunodominant autoepitope on	
	human E2 subunit of human PDC-E2 $_{212-226}$ and microbial	
	mimics	111
Figure 4.2	Distribution of IgG subclass antibody binding against LACDE	
	BGAL ₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ in 8 representative PBC cases and 8 controls	115
Figure 4.3	Inhibition of antibody binding against LACDE BGAL ₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ or	
	human PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆	119
Figure 4.4	Relative affinity indices of anti-peptide antibody binding	120
Figure 5.1	Sequence alignment between human PDC-E2212-226 and	
	microbial mimics	131
Figure 5.2	Inhibition of antibody binding against ECOLI and human PDC-	
	E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ mimics	141
Figure 5.3	Affinity profile of anti-peptide antibody	143
Figure 5.4	Three-dimensional structure of the periplasmic maltose binding	
	protein of ECOLI	147
Figure 6.1	Sequence alignment between human PDC-E2212-226 and urease B	
	and urease A of HELPY and HELHEP	153
Figure 6.2	Patterns of reactivity to HELPY and PDC antigens	155

Figure 6.3	Inhibition of antibody against HELPY UREB and human PDC-	
	E2 peptides and antigens	15
Figure 6.4	Three-dimensional modelling structure of the HELPY urease B	
	and A complex	15
Figure 6.5	Proliferative responses of PBMC in 7 PBC patients and 5	
	pathological controls to the PDC-E2212-226, HELPY UREB22-36	
	and PDC antigen	16
Figure 7.1	Hypothesis	16
Figure 7.2	Three-dimensional modelling structure of ECOLI ClpP	16
Figure 7.3	Proliferative responses of PBMC against ECOLI ClpX, ClpP	
	and human PDC-E2 peptides	16
Figure 7.4	Percentage of IFN- γ producing CD4 T-cells in the presence of	
	individual peptides determined by intracellular cytokine staining	17
Figure 7.5	Detection by ELISA of anti-peptide antibody binding in 5	
	patients with PBC positive for proliferative responses to ECOLI	
	CLPX 280-294	17
Figure 8.1	Amino acid sequence homologies between CYP2D6, E1 HCV,	
	NS5B HCV and ICP4 HSV-1	18
Figure 9.1	Liver biopsy at the time of diagnosis of de novo autoimmune	
	hepatitis	19
Figure 9.2	Local amino acid homology between CYP2D6254-270 and viral	
	mimics	19
Figure 9.3	Reactivity against 34 overlapping 20-mer peptides spanning	
	CYYP2D6 ₁₋₅₁₇ and to microbial mimics of the epitope	
	CYYP2D6 ₂₅₄₋₂₇₀	19
Figure 9.4	Inhibition of antibody binding to E1 HCV ₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ and CYP2D6 ₂₅₂ .	
-	271	20
Figure 10.1	Amino acid sequence homology between SHBsAg and myelin	
-	antigens	20
Figure 10.2	Inhibition of antibody binding to SHBsAg	21

List of Abbreviations

Aa Ab	amino acid Antibody
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity
ADV	Adenovirus
Ag	Antigen
AIH	Autoimmune hepatitis
AITD	Autoimmune thyroid disease
ALD	Alcoholic liver disease
ALT	Alanine aminotransferase
AMA	Anti-mitochondrial antibody
ANA	Anti-nuclear antibody
APC	Antigen presenting cells
ASC	Autoimmune sclerosing cholangitis
AST	Aspartate aminotransferase
BCOADC	Branched-chain oxo acid dehydrogenase complex
BEC	Biliary epithelial cells
BGAL	β galactosidase
BLAST	Basic local alignment search tool
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CD	Chron's disease
Clp	Caseinolytic protease
CMV	cytomegalovirus
cpm	Counts per minute
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
CYP1A2	Cytochrome P450IA2
CYP2D6	Cytochrome P450IID6
DAB	Diaminobenzidine
DCDA	Diaminopimelate decarboxylase
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxidase
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
E1	Envelope 1
E3BP	E3 binding protein
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
EBNA	Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
ECOLI	Escherichia coli
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetra-acetate
ELISA	Enzyme-labeled immunosorbent assay
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell sorter
FCS	Foetal calf serum
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
h	Hour

HAFIN	Haemonhilus influenzae
HRe	Henatitis B core antigen
HRV	Henatitis B virus
IID	Honotitis B vaccino
HEVACC	Herein extension and the second
HCMV	Human cytomegalovirus
HUV	Hepatitis C virus
HELHEP	Helicobacter hepaticus
HELPY	Helicobacter pylori
HLA	Human leucocyte antigens
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HSK	Herpes simplex keratitis
Hsp	Heat shock protein
HSV1	Herpes simplex virus type 1
ICP4	Infected cell protein-4
Id	Identification
IFNγ	Interferon-y
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IgA	Immunoglobulin A
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IgM	Immunoglobulin M
IHL	Intrahepatic lymphocytes
IIF	Indirect immunofluorescence
IL	Interleukin
IU	Intermational unit
LACDE	Lactobacillus delbrueckii
LKM1	Liver kidney microsomal type-1
MALE	Maltose E
MBP	Myelin basic protein
mg	Milligram
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MHCIITA	MHC class II <i>trans</i> -activator
min	Minutes
ml	Millilitre
mm	millimetre
MMDB	Molecular modeling database
MND	Multiple nuclear dot
MOG	Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein
MW	Molecular weight
MYCGO	Mycobacterium gordonae
NC	Nitrucellulose
NKT	Natural killer T-cells
NPC	Nuclear nore complex
	Nuclear pore complex motoin

NS5B	Non-structural 5B
NT	Natural T-cells
NuMa	Nuclear mitotic apparatus
nv	Normal value
OADC	Oxo-acid dehydrogenase complex
OD	Optical density
OGDC	Oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex
OLT	Orthotopic liver transplantation
OPD	o-Phenylenediamine dihydrochloride
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBC	Primary biliary cirrhosis
PBMC	Peripheral bllod mononuclear cells
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDC	Pyruvate dehydrogenase complex
PE	Phycoerythrin
PM-scl	Polyomyositis sclerosis antigen
PSEAE	Pseudomonas aerigunosa
PSI	Position specific iterative
rAI	Relative affinity index
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RU	Relative unit
rUTI	Recurrent urinary tract infection
SD	Standard deviation
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SHBsAg	Small Hepatitis B surface antigen
SI	Stimulation index
SMA	Smooth muscle antibody
TCR	T-cell receptor
Th	T-cell helper
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TRMA	tRNA-methyltransferase
UDCA	Ursodeoxycholic acid
UK	United Kingdom
UREA	Urease A
UREB	Urease B
UTI	Urinary tract infection
v	Volume
V	volt
w	Weight

PUBLICATIONS

The following papers have been published reporting studies of which this Thesis consists:

- BAUM H, BOGDANOS DP, VERGANI D. (2001) Antibodies to Clp protease in primary biliary cirrhosis: possible role of a mimicking T-cell epitope (Letter). J Hepatol 34:785-7
- WEN L, MA Y, BOGDANOS DP, WONG FS, DEMAINE A, MIELI-VERGANI G, VERGANI D. (2001) Pediatric autoimmune liver diseases: the molecular basis of humoral and cellular immunity (Review). *Curr Mol Med* 1:379-89
- BOGDANOS DP, CHOUDHURI K, VERGANI D. (2001) Molecular mimicry and autoimmune liver disease: virtuous intentions, malign consequences (Review). *Liver* 21:225-32.
- BOGDANOS DP, BAUM H, SHARMA UC, GRASSO A, MA Y, BURROUGHS AK, VERGANI D. (2002) Antibodies against homologous microbial caseinolytic proteases P characterise primary biliary cirrhosis (Original). J Hepatol 36:14-21
- VERGANI D, CHOUDHURI K, BOGDANOS DP, MIELI-VERGANI G.
 (2002) Pathogenesis of autoimmune hepatitis (Review). *Clin Liver Dis* 6:439-49
- 6. BOGDANOS DP, BAUM H, VERGANI D. (2003) Antimitochondrial and other autoantibodies (Review). *Clin Liver Dis* 7:759-77, vi.
- BOGDANOS DP, BAUM H, GRASSO A, OKAMOTO M, BUTLER P, MA Y, RIGOPOULOU E, MONTALTO P, DAVIES ET, BURROUGHS AK, VERGANI D. (2004) Microbial mimics are major targets of cross-reactivity with human pyruvate dehydrogenase in primary biliary cirrhosis (Original). J Hepatol 40:31-9
- BOGDANOS DP, LENZI M, OKAMOTO M, RIGOPOULOU EI, MURATORI P, MA Y, MURATORI L, TSANTOULAS D, MIELI-VERGANI G, BIANCHI FB, VERGANI D. (2004) Multiple viral/self immunological cross-reactivity in liver kidney microsomal antibody positive

hepatitis C virus infected patients is associated with the possession of HLA B51 (Original). *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol* 17:83-92

- VERGANI D, BOGDANOS DP, BAUM H. (2004) Unusual suspects in primary biliary cirrhosis (Editorial). *Hepatology* 39:38-41
- BOGDANOS DP, PARES A, BAUM H, CABALLERIA L, RIGOPOULOU EI, MA Y, BURROUGHS AK, RODES J, VERGANI D. (2004) Diseasespecific cross-reactivity between mimicking peptides of heat shock protein of *mycobacterium gordonae* and dominant epitope of E2 subunit of pyruvate dehydrogenase is common in Spanish but not British patients with primary biliary cirrhosis (Original). *J Autoimmun* 22:353-62
- BOGDANOS DP, BAUM H, GUNSAR F, ARIOLI D, POLYMEROS D, MA Y, BURROUGHS AK, VERGANI D. (2004). Extensive homology between the major immunodominant mitochondrial antigen in primary biliary cirrhosis and *helicobacter pylori* does not lead to immunological cross-reactivity (Original). Scand J Gastroenterol (in press)

The following papers have been submitted for publication reporting studies related to this Thesis:

- BOGDANOS DP, BAUM H, GUNSAR F, LOPES R, LONGHI MS, MA Y, BURROUGHS AK, VERGANI D. A microbial mimic of the dominant T-cell autoepitope accounts for primary biliary cirrhosis-specific antibodies to a nonmimicking microbial antigen.
- BOGDANOS DP, BAUM H, OKAMOTO M, MONTALTO P, SHARMA UC, VLACHOGIANNAKOS J, MA Y, BURROUGHS AK, VERGANI D. Immunoglobulin G3 antibodies to a lactobacillus mimic cross-reactive with the major immunodominant mitochondrial epitope are characteristic of primary biliary cirrhosis.
- 3. BOGDANOS DP, MA Y, HADZIC N, LONGHI MS, PORTMANN B, MIELI-VERGANI G, VERGANI D. Virus-self cross-reactivity leading to *de novo* autoimmune hepatitis nine-years after liver transplantation.

The following papers have been published reporting studies unrelated to this Thesis, but carried out during the period of the PhD of the candidate (05/2001 - 07/2004).

- BOGDANOS DP, MIELI-VERGANI G, VERGANI D. (2001) Liver-kidney microsomal antibody-positive autoimmune hepatitis in the United States (Letter). Am J Gastroenterol 96:3447-8
- MA Y, OKAMOTO M, THOMAS MG, BOGDANOS DP, LOPES AR, PORTMANN B, UNDERHILL J, DURR R, MIELI-VERGANI G, VERGANI D. (2002) Antibodies to conformational epitopes of soluble liver antigen define a severe form of autoimmune liver disease (Original). *Hepatology* 35:658-64
- 3. MA Y, THOMAS MG, OKAMOTO M, BOGDANOS DP, NAGL S, KERKAR N, LOPES AR, MURATORI L, LENZI M, BIANCHI FB, MIELI-VERGANI G, VERGANI D. (2002) Key residues of a major cytochrome P4502D6 epitope are located on the surface of the molecule (Original). J Immunol 169:277-85
- HANNAM S, BOGDANOS DP, DAVIES ET, HUSSAIN MJ, PORTMANN BC, MIELI-VERGANI G, VERGANI D. (2002) Neonatal liver disease associated with placental transfer of anti-mitochondrial antibodies (Original). *Autoimmunity* 35:545-50.
- KERKAR N, CHOUDHURI K, MA Y, MAHMOUD A, BOGDANOS DP, MURATORI L, BIANCHI F, WILLIAMS R, MIELI-VERGANI G, VERGANI D. (2003) Cytochrome P4502D6(193-212): a new immunodominant epitope and target of virus/self cross-reactivity in liver kidney microsomal autoantibody type 1-positive liver disease (Original). J Immunol 170:1481-9
- GREGORIO GV, CHOUDHURI K, MA Y, PENSATI P, IORIO R, GRANT P, GARSON J, BOGDANOS DP, VEGNENTE A, MIELI-VERGANI G, VERGANI D. (2003) Mimicry between the hepatitis C virus polyprotein and antigenic targets of nuclear and smooth muscle antibodies in chronic hepatitis C virus infection (Original) *Clin Exp Immunol* 133:404-13
- BOGDANOS DP, MCFARLANE IG. (2003) Cytochrome P450 2A6 meets P450 2D6: an enigma of viral infections and autoimmunity (Editorial). J Hepatol 39:860-3

- BOGDANOS DP, BAUM H, BUTLER P, RIGOPOULOU EI, DAVIES ET, MA Y, BURROUGHS AK, VERGANI D. (2003) Association between the primary biliary cirrhosis specific anti-sp100 antibodies and recurrent urinary tract infection (Original). *Dig Liver Dis* 35:801-5
- BOGDANOS DP, BIANCHI I, MA Y, MITRY RR, MIELI-VERGANI G, VERGANI D. (2004) Targets of antibodies to soluble liver antigen in patients with autoimmune hepatitis (Letter). *Clin Chem* 50:682-4.
- BOGDANOS DP, MURATORI P, MURATORI L, BIANCHI FB, VERGANI D. (2004) Specificity of anti-sp100 antibody for primary biliary cirrhosis (Letter). Scand J Gastroenterol 39(4):405-7
- BOGDANOS DP, PARES A, RODES J, VERGANI D. (2004) Primary biliary cirrhosis specific antinuclear antibodies in patients from Spain (Letter). Am J Gastroenterol 99:763-5
- BOGDANOS DP, MIELI-VERGANI G, VERGANI D. (2004) Non-organspecific autoantibodies in children with chronic hepatitis C virus infection (Letter). *Clin Infect Dis* 38:1505.
- LONGHI MS, MA Y, BOGDANOS DP, CHEESEMAN P, MIELI-VERGANI G, VERGANI D. (2004) Impairment of CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T-cells in autoimmune liver disease (Original). J Hepatol 41:31-7

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1 The lymphoid liver

Classically, lymphoid organs were considered to be those tissues with exclusively immunological functions, for example, the thymus, lymph nodes and spleen (Miller and Davies, 1964). This definition has recently been expanded to include organs whose primary function is not immunological but which clearly require dedicated and often elaborate immunological mechanisms to mediate their functions. The gut and the uterus, for example, fall into this category; the liver is also regarded as a lymphoid organ with unique immunological properties (Head, 1996, Abreu-Martin and Targan, 1996, Doherty and O'Farrelly, 2000). Because of its location and function, the liver is continuously exposed to a large antigenic load that includes pathogens, toxins, tumor cells, dietary and self-antigens. The range of local immune mechanisms required to cope with this diverse immunological challenge has been the focus of ongoing studies. The liver has an 'epithelial constitution' and contains large numbers of phagocytic cells, antigen presenting cells (APC) and lymphocytes and is a site for the production of cytokines, complement components and acute phase proteins (Doherty and O'Farrelly, 2000).

In the normal liver, the hepatocytes comprise 70% of the total number of cells. The remaining 30% cells are mostly concerned with immunological functions and include lymphocytes, sinusoidal endothelial cells, Kupffer cells, biliary epithelial cells and hepatic stellate cells (Hata *et al.*, 1990, Norris *et al.*, 1998, Norris *et al.*, 1999, Doherty *et al.*, 1999, Doherty and O'Farrelly, 2000). Cell numbers and proportions are shown in Figure 1.1.

The normal human liver has an intrinsic lymphocyte population mainly resident in the portal tract but also scattered throughout the parenchyma. One to two million of these lymphoid cells are retrievable from 200 mg of normal liver tissue, indicating that an average human liver of 1.5 kg contains approximately 1 x 10^{10} lymphocytes. Intrahepatic lymphocytes (IHL) consist of natural killer T (NKT) lymphocytes (50% of the IHL), T-cells (25% of IHL), natural killer (NK) cells (20%) and B lymphocytes (5%) (Figure 1.1). The relative proportions among IHL of different classes of lymphocytes differ widely from those in the peripheral blood where up to 80% are T-cells, 20% B-cells, 13% NK-cells, and 0.2-2% are NKT-cells (Hata *et al.*, 1990, Norris

et al., 1998, Norris et al., 1999, Doherty et al., 1999, Doherty and O'Farrelly, 2000, Mehal et al., 2001).

The relative frequencies of lymphocyte subpopulations can also vary dramatically from individual to individual. This is likely to reflect differences in each individual's immunological status that would be influenced by factors such as genetic background, history of infections, and current antigenic exposure. Ongoing immune challenges to the liver would presumably affect the relative proportions of resident hepatic lymphocytes and infiltrating circulating lymphocytes that are present in the liver (Crispe, 2003, Kita *et al.*, 2001).

The liver is an organ in which blood from the intestines, rich in bacterial and dietary antigens intermingles with the circulating lymphocytes. The constitutive presence of antigenic material imposes constraints on immune responses that are generated in the liver and distinctive control mechanisms have to determine whether antigen encounter will result in immunological un-responsiveness (tolerance) (Crispe, 2003, Kita *et al.*, 2001). It is obvious that liver autoimmunity implies loss of self-tolerance, and the question arises as to how this happens. An insight to the basic characteristics of liver tolerance comes from a better understanding of aspects of immunological tolerance in general (Crispe, 2003).

26

Chapter 1



Cell composition in peripheral blood (%)

Percentage proportions of different cell types in the normal liver and comparison with lymphocyte subsets in blood. NKT, natural killer T-cells; NK, natural killer (see 1.1) adopted from Mackay (2002) and modified according to Hata et al. (1990), Norris et al. (1998, 1999), Doherty and O'Farrely (2000)

1.2 Immunological tolerance and the liver

Early in the history of experimental transplantation, immunologists were surprised to discover that in many species, allogeneic liver grafts could be established and maintained with minimal immunosuppression, while skin, kidney and other allografts were rejected rapidly (Calne *et al.*, 1969, Calne, 2000). Reasons to explain why the liver is often a site of immune tolerance have not been fully clarified, but it has been suggested that it is because the liver is a site where harmless food antigens from the gut are processed and presented to the immune system (Crispe, 2003). However, the liver is also subjected to invasion by pathogens that breach the intestinal mucosa and invade the circulation (Calne, 2000). Immune tolerance towards such invaders would not be advantageous, which indicates that liver lymphocytes must be able to switch rapidly from a tolerant to a responsive state (Cantor and Dumont, 1967, Calne, 2000, Crispe, 2003).

Tolerance is the controlled inability to respond to antigens to which an individual has the potential for response (Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001). Self-tolerance refers to lack of responsiveness to an individual's antigens, and obviously it underlies our ability to live in harmony with our own cells and tissues (Miller and Basten, 1996, Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001). Several mechanisms, albeit not well understood, have been postulated to explain the tolerant state. Tolerance is antigen specific and is achieved through deletion of lymphocytes (clonal deletion) or their inactivation (clonal anergy) or through a mechanism of suppression/regulation (Miller and Basten, 1996, Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001). Clonal deletion is prominent in T lymphocyte tolerance (Akkaraju *et al.*, 1997, Ferber *et al.*, 1994, Critchfield *et al.*, 1994) whilst anergy is the main mechanism of B lymphocyte tolerance (Goodnow *et al.*, 1988).

Tolerance may be induced centrally, in the primary lymphoid organs (thymus for the Tcell tolerance, bone marrow for B-cells) or in the periphery (Miller and Morahan, 1992, Miller and Basten, 1996, Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001, Mathis and Benoist, 2004).

1.2.1 Central tolerance

In order to establish a complete immune repertoire, thymus and bone marrow generate potentially reactive T and B lymphocytes by a process referred as positive selection (Miller and Basten, 1996, Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001). The next step involves clonal

deletion of self-reactive T and B lymphocytes during their maturation in the central lymphoid organs. Clonal deletion of developing intrathymic T-cells has been extensively investigated. It is proposed that many autologous protein antigens are processed and presented by thymic antigen-presenting cells in association with self Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) molecules (Miller and Basten, 1996, Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001). The developing T-cells that express high-affinity receptors for such self-antigens are negatively selected, or deleted, and therefore the peripheral T-cell pool is lacking or deficient in self-reactive cells. As with T-cells, clonal deletion is also operative for B-cells (Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001). When developing B-cells encounter a membrane-bound antigen within the bone marrow, they undergo apoptosis. Clonal deletion of self-reactive lymphocytes, however, is far from perfect. Although this process eliminates a significant fraction of autoreactive lymhocytes, other potentially self reactive, naïve cells (not subject to the thymic or bone marrow negative selection process) escape and are found in the periphery. These lymphocytes 'evade' negative selection, either because their affinity to the 'self' determinants in the thymus is too low or their specific antigens are not expressed in the thymus (Miller and Basten, 1996, Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001). There is similar 'slippage' in the B-cell system as well. T and B-cells that bear receptors for a variety of self-antigens, can be found in the peripheral blood of healthy individuals (Kitze et al., 1988, Naquet et al., 1988, Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001).

1.2.2 Peripheral tolerance

Those self-reactive lymphocytes that escape negative selection can inflict tissue injury unless they are deleted or muzzled in the peripheral tissues (Miller and Morahan, 1992). Several 'back-up' mechanisms that silence such potentially autoreactive lymphocytes are known to exist, the major being ignorance, anergy and suppression/regulation (Miller and Morahan, 1992).

Ignorance relates to prevention of contact between autoreactive lymphocytes and selfantigens (Barker and Billingham, 1977, Butcher and Picker, 1996, Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001).

Anergy refers to prolonged or irreversible functional inactivation of lymphocytes, induced by encounter with antigens under certain conditions (Quill, 1996, Delves and Roitt, 2000a). Activation of antigen-specific T-cells requires two signals: recognition of peptide antigen in association with self MHC molecules on the surface of APC and a set

of second costimulatory signals provided by APC (Quill, 1996, Delves and Roitt, 2000b). To initiate second signals, certain T-cell-associated molecules must bind to their ligands on the APC (Lenschow et al., 1996, Grewal and Flavell, 1998, Holter et al., 1996). If the antigen is presented by cells that do not bear these ligands, a negative signal is delivered, and the cell becomes anergic (Lenschow et al., 1996, Grewal and Flavell, 1998, Holter et al., 1996, Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001). Such a cell then fails to be activated even if the relevant antigen is presented by competent APC (e.g., macrophages, dendritic cells) that can deliver costimulation (Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001). Because costimulatory molecules are not expressed or are weakly expressed on most tissues, the encounter between autoreactive lymphocytes and their specific selfantigens leads to clonal anergy. Clonal anergy therefore affects autoreactive lymphocytes not only in the thymus but also in the tissues (Miller and Morahan, 1992). It is believed that if B-cells encounter an antigen in the absence of specific helper Tcells, the antigen-receptor complex is down-regulated, and such cells never re-express their immunoglobulin receptors (Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001). Understandably, such cells are unable to respond to subsequent antigenic stimulation. In addition to antigeninduced loss of surface immunoglobulin receptors, other mechanisms of B-cell anergy are also postulated to exist (Rathmell et al., 1996, Nemazee, 2000).

Although clonal deletion and anergy are the primary mechanisms of self-tolerance, it is believed that additional 'fail-safe' mechanisms must also exist. Much renewed interest is focused on regulatory T-cells with the ability to down-regulate the function of other autoreactive T-cells (Shevach, 2000). The molecular mechanisms by which suppressor T-cells recognize antigens and exert their suppressive effects have remained elusive (Shevach, 2000). There is some evidence that peripheral suppression of autoreactivity may be mediated, in part, by the regulated secretion of cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-10, transforming growth factor- β and IL-4 (Powrie *et al.*, 1996, Seddon and Mason, 1999). The behaviour and possible participation of regulatory T-cells in human autoimmune liver disease is the focus of ongoing studies (Longhi *et al.*, 2004).

Chapter 1

1.3 Breakdown of tolerance: mechanisms of autoimmunity

Although it would be attractive to explain all autoimmune diseases by a single mechanism, it is now clear that several different pathological processes could break tolerance, thus terminating a previously unresponsive state to autoantigens (Ohashi and DeFranco, 2002). More than one defect may be present in each disease, and the defects vary from one disorder to the other. It has been argued that the multilayered nature of self-tolerance is a 'fail-safe' mechanism: all or several control mechanisms must be infringed before disease develops (Ohashi and DeFranco, 2002). This approach may well explain several important principles regarding autoimmune disease: (1) it is usually multifactorial involving immunologic, genetic, and environmental factors interacting through complicated mechanism that are incompletely understood (Ohashi and DeFranco, 2002); (2) it often has a slower progress than immune reactions to pathogens, suggesting that the control mechanism may continue to work up to a point; (3) it has a tendency to remit and relapse, indicating that control mechanisms may recover and at least temporarily restore tolerance (Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001, Ohashi and DeFranco, 2002).

The initiating mechanisms in autoimmunity can best be discussed in terms of those discussed for tolerance (Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001). While there is no convincing evidence of breakdown of central tolerance as a cause of autoimmunity, several mechanisms exist whereby failure of peripheral tolerance may contribute to the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases (Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001, Ohashi and DeFranco, 2002). Most of these mechanisms have been deduced from *in vitro* work or animal model studies, since the evolution of human autoimmune disease can rarely be investigated from the onset (Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001, Ohashi and DeFranco, 2002). It appears that tolerance to self may be disrupted by several mechanisms such as: failure of T-cell anergy, activation-induced cell death and/or T-cell mediated suppression; polyclonal lymphocyte activation; release of sequestered antigens; exposure of 'hidden' or 'cryptic' self antigens; 'epitope spreading'; 'aberrant' expression of class II MHC molecules; cytokine influence; and finally microbial/self molecular mimicry.

1.3.1 Failure of T-cell anergy

Potentially autoreactive T-cells that escape clonal deletion are usually rendered anergic when they encounter self-antigens expressed on costimulator-deficient APC in the tissues (Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001, Ohashi and DeFranco, 2002). It follows that such T-cell anergy may be broken if these APC can be induced to express costimulatory molecules and to secrete cytokines that stimulate the generation of T helper cells type 1 (Th1) (Mueller *et al.*, 1989, Quill, 1996, Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001, Ohashi and DeFranco, 2002). Such induction may occur after infections with resultant tissue necrosis and local inflammation (Tough *et al.*, 1997, Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001, Ohashi and DeFranco, 2002). Breakdown of B-cell anergy is also possible (Goodnow *et al.*, 1991).

1.3.2 Failure of activation-induced cell death

Persistent activation of potentially autoreactive lymphocytes may lead to their apoptosis (Refaeli *et al.*, 1998, Rathmell and Thompson, 2002). It follows therefore that defects in apoptotic pathways may allow persistence and proliferation of autoreactive lymphocytes in the peripheral tissues (Strasser *et al.*, 1991, Martinon and Tschopp, 2004, Opferman and Korsmeyer, 2003).

1.3.3 Failure of T-cell mediated suppression

The hypothesis that loss of regulatory or suppressor T-cells that can limit the function of autoreactive cells can lead to autoimmunity is quite attractive (Strasser *et al.*, 1991). This notion has been difficult to prove, however, in large part because of the difficulty in the isolation and identification of antigen-specific regulatory T-cells.

1.3.4 Polyclonal lymphocyte activation

Autoimmunity may occur if self-reactive but anergic clones are stimulated by antigenindependent mechanisms. Several microorganisms and their products are capable of causing polyclonal (i.e., antigen nonspecific) activation of B-cells (Primi *et al.*, 1977, Hang *et al.*, 1985). Bacterial lipopolysaccharide (endotoxin), for example, can stimulate the production of anti-DNA, anti-thymocyte and anti-red cell antibodies *in vitro* (Murakami *et al.*, 1997). Other bacterial products can also bind to and activate a large pool of CD4 T-cells in an antigen-independent manner. They do so by binding to class II MHC molecules on antigen-presenting cells and the beta chains of the T-cell receptor (TCR), outside the antigen-binding groove (Dellabona *et al.*, 1990). Because they stimulate all T-cells that express a certain set or family of the Vbeta TCR, they are called 'superantigens' (Herman *et al.*, 1991). It has been proposed that among the T-cells activated by superantigens, some may be reactive to self-antigens, leading to the induction of autoimmunity and indeed autoimmune disease, as it is for example the case for multiple sclerosis (Brocke *et al.*, 1993).

1.3.5 Release of sequestered antigens

Any self-antigen that is completely sequestered during development is likely to be viewed as foreign if introduced into the circulation (Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001). The mere release of these antigens is not sufficient to cause autoimmunity; the inflammation associated with the tissue injury is essential for up-regulation of costimulatory pathways that are critical for the induction of an immune response as it is the case of post-traumatic uveitis where an immune response is directed to sequestered ocular antigens (Caspi, 1999). Infections have been proposed to account for the release of sequestered autoantigens through tissue damage and the induction of inflammatory cytokines and costimulatory molecules (Horwitz *et al.*, 1998, Kamradt and Mitchison, 2001)

1.3.6 Exposure of 'hidden' or 'cryptic' self antigens and 'epitope spreading'

It is believed that a large number of intracellular self-determinants are not readily recognized by the immune system, and hence T-cells specific for such 'cryptic' selfepitopes are not deleted (Lipham *et al.*, 1991, Sercarz *et al.*, 1993, Markovic-Plese *et al.*, 1995). It follows that such T-cells could cause autoimmune diseases if the cryptic epitopes are somehow presented to them in an immunogenic form (Sercarz *et al.*, 1993). Several factors could be responsible for rendering an epitope cryptic, including the available amount of the determinant itself, its ability to be processed by APC, and the availability of costimulatory factors (Sercarz *et al.*, 1993). It has long being proposed that regardless of the initial trigger of an autoimmune response, the progression of the autoimmune response is maintained by recruitment of autoreactive T-cells that recognize normally cryptic self-determinants (Sercarz *et al.*, 1993). The induction of such autoreactive T-cells is sometimes referred to as epitope spreading because the immune response 'spreads' to include determinants within the same molecule (intramolecular) or other molecules (inter-molecular) that were initially not recognized (Lehmann *et al.*, 1992). There is compelling evidence for the role of epitope spreading
in the pathogenesis of a murine model of multiple sclerosis, type 1 diabetes, and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Lehmann *et al.*, 1998, McCluskey *et al.*, 1998, Zechel *et al.*, 1998, Miller *et al.*, 1997).

1.3.7 'Aberrant' expression of class II MHC molecules

Class II expression is the medium for communication between CD4 helper T lymphocytes and APC (Delves and Roitt, 2000a). Since this step is critical in initiating an immune response, class II expression is restricted to immune-cells such as professional APC and B lymphocytes (Delves and Roitt, 2000a). 'Aberrant' or 'inappropriate' appearance of class II MHC molecules on cells that do not normally express them may be sufficient to incite an autoimmune response against that particular cell by CD4 T-cell lymphocytes as it has been shown, for example, on hepatocytes in autoimmune hepatitis and biliary epithelial cells in primary biliary cirrhosis (Ballardini *et al.*, 1984, Lobo-Yeo *et al.*, 1990).

1.3.8 Cytokine influence

Cytokines are soluble factors with pleiotropic effects that act both locally and systemically on cells of the immune system (Delves and Roitt, 2000b). Their role in the immune system is the recruitment of immunocompetent cells and modulation of their functions. In respect to their role in the induction of autoimmunity, cytokines can induce class II and enhance class I MHC expression on target cells that could eventually lead indirectly to the induction of autoimmune processes (bystander activation) (Cope, 1998, Hill and Sarvetnick, 2002, Tough *et al.*, 1996). Other possible mechanisms include cytokine-mediated breakdown of immunological tolerance and a direct cytotoxic effect on target cells (Hill and Sarvetnick, 2002).

1.3.9 Molecular mimicry between microbial and self proteins

The concept of molecular mimicry, as it will be discussed in detail, is based on the observation that some infectious agents share antigenic determinants (epitopes) with self-antigens (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1998). An immune response against such microbes may then turn against the cross-reacting self-antigen initiating an autoimmune cascade that leads to host cell destruction and eventually to autoimmune disease (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1998).

1.4 Breakdown of liver tolerance

Various mechanisms have been proposed to account for the initiation of an autoimmune liver response with no single initiating event being able to account for all instances of autoimmunity (Kita et al., 2001). Two general conditions, however, must prevail: self reactive B and T lymphocytes must exist in the immunological repertoire and autoantigens must be presented in conjunction with MHC class II molecules by APC (Kita et al., 2001, Mackay, 2002). The presence of lymphocytes in the liver is commonly considered to be associated with disease pathogenesis (Hata et al., 1990, Doherty and O'Farrelly, 2000, Mackay, 2002). Lymphocyte infiltration is well documented in inflammatory conditions such as autoimmune and viral liver diseases (Knolle and Gerken, 2000). The liver harbours lymphoid cells that subserve innate and adaptive immune responses and, like peripheral lymphoid tissues, is a site where naive T-cells can be activated by local antigen (Hata et al., 1990, Norris et al., 1998, Norris et al., 1999, Doherty et al., 1999, Doherty and O'Farrelly, 2000, Mehal et al., 2001). Hepatocytes or cholangiocytes can carry antigens perceived as foreign, and for which neither of the appropriate options, elimination or complete tolerance, has been achieved (Reynoso-Paz et al., 1999, Kita et al., 2001). Such antigens may be derivatives of hepatotropic viruses, drugs or xenobiotics, or the host itself, as it is the case in autoimmune liver diseases (Reynoso-Paz et al., 1999, Kita et al., 2001).

1.4.1 Infections and liver tolerance

Viral or other microbial infection of the liver induces an immune response to clear the pathogen, and the competence of the immune response determines whether chronic disease will develop or, as usually happens, clearance will occur (Knolle and Gerken, 2000). Hepatotropic viruses are generally non-cytopathic, and the host immune response is responsible for both viral clearance and the associated inflammatory cell injury (Chisari and Ferrari, 1995, Cerny and Chisari, 1999, Bertoletti and Ferrari, 2003). A misdirected immune response to hepatocellular or biliary ductular constituents released in the course of such injury is a postulated pathway for liver autoimmunity (Reynoso-Paz *et al.*, 1999, Kita *et al.*, 2001).

1.4.2 Drugs and liver tolerance

The liver is the major site of drug metabolism. Drugs and their metabolites can be toxic if their degradation pathways are defective (Bissell *et al.*, 2001, Liu and Kaplowitz, 2002). Thus, intracellular antigens may be released from the damaged cells (Robin *et al.*, 1997). Presentation of protein adducts may eventually lead to an immune response, including the production of autoantibodies, inflammation and hepatocyte necrosis (Robin *et al.*, 1997, Liu and Kaplowitz, 2002). In addition, the covalent binding of a drug metabolite to its enzyme may results in the modification of this enzyme and in the appearance of antibodies that recognise the alkylated form as a neo-antigen (Robin *et al.*, 1997, Liu and Kaplowitz, 2002).

1.4.3 Apoptosis and liver tolerance

Apoptosis, as the basis for programmed cell death, is responsible for the normal regular turnover of hepatocytes and the elimination of liver cells in inflammatory pathologies (Patel, 2000, Kita *et al.*, 2001, Crispe, 2003). Although less obvious in biliary epithelium, apoptosis is also present in autoimmune cholangiopathies (Reynoso-Paz *et al.*, 1999). Aside from hepatocytes and their disposal, apoptosis is relevant to the breakdown and/or maintanance of liver tolerance (Patel, 2000, Kita *et al.*, 2001, Crispe, 2003). First, death by apoptosis allows for non-inflammatory elimination of cell components in contrast to necrosis which is pro-inflammatory and potentially autoantigenic (Mackay, 2002). However, if apoptosis is overwhelming, apoptotic fragments can induce an autoimmune response and indeed autoimmune disease as it has been seen in the case of SLE (Cocca *et al.*, 2002). Second, apoptosis is a mechanism used for the removal of autoreactive T and B lymphocytes, as it is illustrated by lymphoproliferative diseases due to deficiency of apoptotic genes (Vaishnaw *et al.*, 1999).

1.4.4 Autoimmune liver diseases

Autoimmune liver diseases represent a broad spectrum of disorders that can affect one or the other of the two anatomical components, in particular the hepatocytes in autoimmune hepatitis (AIH) types 1 and 2 and *de novo* AIH following transplantation and the cholangiocytes and bile ducts in primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC), and sclerosing cholangitis (SC) (Mackay, 2002). AIH-1 is characterised by seropositivity for antibodies to nuclear (ANA) and/or smooth muscle antibodies (SMA) and AIH type 2 for anti-liver kidney microsomal type 1 antibodies (LKM1) (Alvarez *et al.*, 1999). The serology of SC is similar to that of AIH-1 (Gregorio *et al.*, 1997, Gregorio *et al.*, 2001). The serological hallmark of PBC is the presence of high-titre anti-mitochondrial antibodies (AMA) (Neuberger, 1997). AIH and PBC represent the major autoimmune liver diseases; their main clinical, serological, and immunological characteristics as well as the current knowledge of their pathogenesis will be described later in detail.

1.5 Virus, liver and autoimmunity

Several viruses home to the liver (hepatotropic viruses) and cause hepatitis (Mackay, 2002). The liver can also be affected by viruses that primarily target other tissues such as herpes simplex virus (HSV), cytomegalovirus (CMV), Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), and measles virus (Mackay, 2002). Among hepatotropic viruses, hepatitis B and C viruses (HBV, HCV) can take up permanent residence and cause serious chronic disease (Chisari and Ferrari, 1995, Cerny and Chisari, 1999). Hepatitis viruses have been found to induce aberrant autoantibodies which in the majority are non-organ specific and usually similar to those observed in AIH (Bogdanos et al., 2000a, Obermayer-Straub and Manns, 2001). Autoimmunity is therefore a common feature of HBV and HCV infection with over 50% of the infected patients being positive for autoantibodies against nuclear antigens (ANA) and smooth muscle antigens (SMA) (Gregorio et al., 1996, Gregorio et al., 1998, Lenzi et al., 1999, Abuaf et al., 1993, Cassani et al., 1997, Clifford et al., 1995, Bortolotti et al., 1996, Muratori et al., 2003b). As discussed later, LKM1 antibody is confined to patients with chronic HCV infection being found in up to 10% of them while it is absent in chronic HBV infection (Lunel et al., 1992, Bortolotti et al., 1996, Gregorio et al., 1998, Cassani et al., 1997, Nishioka et al., 1997, Lenzi et al., 1999). Immunopathological manifestations in HBV and especially in HCV infection are not limited to autoantibody seropositivity but embrace the full spectrum of textbook autoimmune disorders, ranging from non-organ specific cryoglobulinaemia to the exquisitely organ specific autoimmune thyroiditis and include such conditions as rheumatoid arthritis, Sjögren's syndrome, glomerulonephritis, lichen planus, polyarteritis nodosa, and type 1 diabetes (Czaja, 1997, Mehta et al., 2001). The mechanisms leading to immunopathological manifestations in viral hepatitis differ. Thus in cryoglobulinaemia from HCV and glomerulonephritis from HBV formation of immune complexes is involved in the pathological damage. Hepatitis C and B viral

constituents are integral components of the immune complexes and interferon-(IFN)- α induced control of the viral infection is associated with an improvement in cryoglobulinaemia and glomerulonephritis (Czaja, 1997, Mehta *et al.*, 2001, Bogdanos *et al.*, 2000a, Obermayer-Straub and Manns, 2001). Interferon is also involved at the other end of the spectrum, but this time in unmasking or inducing *de novo* autoimmune thyroiditis (Dusheiko, 1997, Marcellin *et al.*, 1995). IFN- α may favour the development of Th1 immune reaction and thereby contribute to the development of autoimmune disease (Foster, 1997). In addition, IFN- α inhibits the apoptosis of autoreactive B-cells leading to the overproduction of autoantibodies (Su and David, 1999).

That viruses and other microbial agents have the potential to trigger autoimmune responses ultimately resulting in autoimmune disease is an accepted notion indirectly supported by epidemiological studies (Kurtzke, 1993, Gamble, 1980), geographic distribution (Ebers and Sadovnick, 1993), migration surveys (Anand et al., 1996) and concordance studies between monozygotic and dizygotic twins (Ebers et al., 1986, Eastmond and Woodrow, 1977, James, 1996). Attempts to establish a direct epidemiological association between viral infections and autoimmune disorders have been hampered by the fact that, frequently, patients have experienced multiple viral infections by the time their disease is diagnosed (von Herrath, 2000). Moreover, immunologically mediated damage may occur years after the causative viral infection has been cleared by the host immune response, a 'hit and run' event, so that no viral footprints are detectable in the affected organ, thus removing our ability to identify the link (Oldstone, 1987, von Herrath, 2000). Type 1 diabetes, for example, is 100 times more frequent in individuals who had congenital rubella virus infection, compared to non-infected children (Menser *et al.*, 1978). However, pancreatic β -cell destruction may become evident several years -up to the forth decade of life- after the exposure to the virus (Menser et al., 1978, von Herrath, 2000).

The mechanism by which viruses could induce autoimmunity is under investigation (von Herrath *et al.*, 2003, Wucherpfennig, 2001). First, viruses can selectively infect specialised target cells, such as the pancreatic β -cells or the hepatocytes, leading directly to their destruction (von Herrath, 2000, von Herrath *et al.*, 2003, Wucherpfennig, 2001). In the case that all the cells are destroyed by a viral infection, the disease that occurs cannot be considered autoimmune in nature. This may happen in certain cases of hyperacute type 1 diabetes or in the case of fulminant hepatic failure related to viral hepatitis (von Herrath, 2000, von Herrath *et al.*, 2003, Wucherpfennig, 2001). On the

other hand, if the viral infection destroys some but not all the target cells, disease may not result until years later (von Herrath, 2000, von Herrath *et al.*, 2003, Wucherpfennig, 2001).

Another scenario implicates activation of the target cells that leads to the secretion of immune mediators, among them cytokines such as IFN- γ , tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) or production of mediators such as nitric oxide that harm the surrounding cells (Wucherpfennig, 2001). This 'bystander' destruction of the cells could accompany inflammatory reactions in the liver (Knolle and Gerken, 2000, Diehl, 2000). The third possibility by which a virus can induce autoimmunity is molecular mimicry (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1998, Wucherpfennig, 2001, von Herrath *et al.*, 2003).

1.6 Viruses, molecular mimicry and autoimmunity

The hypothesis of molecular mimicry is based on the concept that an immunogenic determinant of an exogenous agent, such as a virus, incites formation of antibodies or effector T-cells, which in turn, react with homologous epitopes on a host protein (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1998). The sharing of a linear amino acid sequence or a conformation fit between a virus and a host 'self' determinant is the initial step of this process (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1998). Autoimmunity provoked by molecular mimicry should occur only when the viral and host determinants are similar enough to cross-react, yet different enough to break immunological tolerance (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1998). Antibodies or cytotoxic lymphocytes may then cross-react with a selfprotein, thereby causing cellular injury leading to cell destruction. Once the infectious agent initiates this process, it needs not to be present during the autoimmune destruction that follows. In this situation, the microbial agent may have been cleared, but elements of the immune response mounted against it would lead to tissue injury that, in turn, would release more self antigens, thereby inducing more antibodies, and so on (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1998). Therefore, although viruses may initiate disease, the likehood of their recovery from tissue sites is small (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1998, von Herrath, 2000).

There are numerous examples of antigenic determinants shared between viruses, bacteria or parasites, and host cell proteins (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1998, von Herrath, 2000). In an early study, more than 3% of over 600 monoclonal antibodies raised against different viral proteins, cross-reacted with normal tissue antigens

(Srinivasappa *et al.*, 1986). Conversely, antibodies to self proteins such as hormones, cells of the nervous system or lymphocyte subsets may cross-react with viral polypeptides (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1998, von Herrath, 2000). The ability to find cross-reactive T-cells or antibodies which can recognise self-epitopes does not necessarily mean an autoimmune disease will develop (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1998, von Herrath, 2000). As it has been mentioned (*see* 1.2), regulation or suppression of self-reactive immune responses occurs when most of us encounter foreign antigenic mimics. This would explain why, although we are all commonly exposed to microbial mimics throughout our lives, autoimmunity is a relatively rare event. The transition from cross-reactive immune responses to autoimmune disease depends on numerous intrinsic and extrinsic factors such as the ability of host MHC molecules to bind and present antigens, the likelihood of a peptide being processed for binding to the MHC, the presence in the periphery of B or T-cells specific for self epitopes having escaped deletion, and the level of cytokines induced after an immune recognition event.

A long-standing paradigm in support of the molecular mimicry hypothesis is that proposed in the case of acute rheumatic fever (Cunningham et al., 1989, Cunningham, 2000, Galvin et al., 2002). Rheumatic fever involves autoimmune-mediated myocardial pathology that can arise following infection with group A streptococcus (Cunningham, 2000). At the molecular level, streptococcal surface M proteins share an amino acid sequence with cardiac myosin (Cunningham et al., 1989, Cunningham, 2000, Galvin et al., 2002). Serum antibodies from patients with acute rheumatic fever as well as monoclonal antibodies directed against a peptide of the streptococcal M protein crossreact with high-molecular weight cardiac and skeletal myosin (Cunningham et al., 1989, Cunningham, 2000, Galvin et al., 2002). Conversely, a monoclonal antibody raised to ventricular myosin binds the streptococcal M protein (Cunningham et al., 1989, Cunningham, 2000, Galvin et al., 2002). Help for pathogenic autoantibody development is provided by T-cell determinants that are stimulated by both streptococcal M peptides and mimics of cardiac myosin (Cunningham et al., 1989, Cunningham, 2000, Galvin et al., 2002). Multiple exposures to this pathogen in the susceptible host leads to progressive valvular damage mediated by cross-reactive antibodies (Cunningham et al., 1989, Cunningham, 2000, Galvin et al., 2002).

The initial pathogenic insult does not need to be closely temporally related to the manifestation of autoimmune disease. This is well illustrated in Chagas' disease caused

by the *Trypanosoma cruzi* (Kierszenbaum, 1999). Acute infection with *T. cruzi* causes a transient myocarditis which resolves completely. Decades later, an autoimmune myocarditis, histologically characterised by mononuclear cell infiltration, in the absence of detectable parasites, develops in the susceptible host, leading eventually to dilated cardiomyopathy (Kierszenbaum, 1999). Molecular mimicry between the B13 antigen of *T. cruzi* and cardiac myocytes is thought to be responsible for the development of the autoimmune response (Cunha-Neto *et al.*, 1996). This system, illustrates the 'hit and run' model for the development of autoimmunity following infection (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1998, von Herrath, 2000).

Another striking example of molecular mimicry is a murine model of herpes simplex keratitis (HSK), a T-cell-mediated inflammatory disease of the cornea that is induced by local application of HSV (Zhao *et al.*, 1998). In humans, HSV1-induced destruction of corneal tissue represents a leading cause of blindness (Streilein *et al.*, 1997). In the mouse model, keratogenic T-cell clones produced following corneal application of the virus cross-react with a peptide from the HSV1 UL6 protein (Zhao *et al.*, 1998). Viruses with a mutated UL6 gene or with a single amino acid substitution at the UL6 T-cell epitope are greatly impaired in their ability to induce HSK indicating that a viral infection can trigger T-cell-mediated autoimmunity by molecular mimicry (Zhao *et al.*, 1998, Panoutsakopoulou *et al.*, 2001).

EBV infection has been implicated in the induction of anti-nuclear autoimmunity in SLE (James *et al.*, 2001b, James *et al.*, 2001a). A recurring proline-rich sequence

-PPPGMRPP- is among the earliest antigenic sites to provoke a humoral autoimmune response against the B protein of the nuclear ribonucleoprotein (snRNP) autoantigenic complex (James and Harley, 1998). Immunisation of animal models with this peptide induces lupus-like autoimmunity, as does immunisation with the closely related sequence – PPPGRRP - found in the EBV nuclear antigen-1 (EBNA-1) (James and Harley, 1998). Over time epitope spreading occurs from the single octapeptide, to other snRNP proteins as has been shown by the presence of autoantibodies that recognise various snRNP proteins including A, C, D and 70kDa antigens (James and Harley, 1998). Epidemiological support to this model comes from a study demonstrating that 99% of young SLE patients have seroconverted against EBV compared to 70% of no-SLE normal controls (James *et al.*, 1997).

The majority of animal studies that have examined the issue of immunological crossreactivity have focused on B- and CD4 T-cells. More recently, the role of CD8 T-cells has also been investigated in a mouse model of inflammatory bowel disease using CD8 T-cell clones that recognise both mycobacterial and murine heat shock protein 60 (hsp60) (Steinhoff *et al.*, 1999). Adoptive transfer of hsp60-specific T-cells into TCR β null mice leads to massive infiltration of these T-cells into the small intestine and the liver (Steinhoff *et al.*, 1999). Transfer of hsp60-specific T-cells into wild-type mice does not cause such pathology, possibly because in vivo expansion of these T-cells is limited in hosts that are not immunodeficient. Disease in this system is mediated by TCR recognition of the hsp60 self-antigen; a non-cross-reactive T-cell clone that only reacts with mycobacterial hsp60 does not cause disease (Steinhoff *et al.*, 1999). These results establish TCR cross-reactivity between murine and bacterial hsp60 and indicate that molecular mimicry may also be relevant for CD8 T-cell populations (Steinhoff *et al.*, 1999).

1.7 Molecular mimicry in viral hepatitis

1.7.1 Hepatitis B virus and myelin basic protein

Interestingly, the concept of molecular mimicry was for the first time tested in a rabbit animal model using a hepatitis B virus DNA polymerase peptide with six amino acids identical to the encephalitogenic region of rabbit myelin basic protein (MBP), the major autoantigen of multiple sclerosis (MS) (Fujinami and Oldstone, 1985). T-cell reactivity to MBP was observed following immunization of rabbits with this peptide, and four of eleven animals showed histological signs of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), the animal model of MS (Fujinami and Oldstone, 1985). This finding raised the important question of whether infection with viral or bacterial pathogens, rather than immunization with synthetic peptides, can also induce autoimmunity (Oldstone, 1998). As it will be discussed later (see Chapter 10), isolated cases of demyelinating disorders such as MS have been reported, although rarely, as a result of autoimmune adverse reactions following exposure to hepatitis B surface antigen through prophylactic HBV vaccination (Cohen and Shoenfeld, 1996).

1.7.2 Hepatitis B and C viruses and non-organ specific autoantibodies

SMA and ANA are frequently found, and appear de novo, in the course of chronic HBV although their origin remains unclear (Gregorio et al., 1996). In an attempt to explain their production Gregorio et al. (1999) searched for putative cross-reactive epitopes in HBV and human smooth muscle and nuclear proteins. Six human proteins were identified with a high local sequence similarity with the HBV DNA polymerase: four nuclear proteins involved in structural and regulatory functions, namely MHC class II trans-activator (MHCIITA), nuclear pore complex protein (NPCP), nuclear mitotic apparatus (NuMA), and polyomyositis sclerosis antigen (PM-scl) and two smooth muscle proteins involved in muscle contraction, myosin and caldesmon (Figure 1.3A) (Gregorio et al., 1999). When serum samples from HBV infected patients, pathological and healthy controls were tested for reactivity to synthetic peptides spanning the homologous sequences, viral/self mimicry was observed almost exclusively in HBV infected subjects (Gregorio et al., 1999). Antibody recognition of HBV-DNA polymerase/self peptide pairs was cross-reactive as shown by anti-peptide antibody competition experiments (Gregorio et al., 1999). Gregorio et al. (1999) further demonstrated cross-reactivity between homologous peptides and whole antigen with respect to myosin and caldesmon, and identified these proteins as autoantigens in chronic HBV infection by immunoblot (Gregorio et al., 1999).

More recently, the same group of investigators went on to study the role of molecular mimicry between HCV, nuclear and smooth muscle antigens (Gregorio *et al.*, 2003). Using similar methodology, they found cross-reactive antibodies between a number of HCV antigens and human nuclear and smooth muscle mimics (Figure 1.3B). Myosin also appeared to be an important molecular target in HCV infection, although a different epitope to that found in HBV infection was involved (Gregorio *et al.*, 2003).

These studies document the usefulness of the application of molecular mimicry as a tool for the identification of unknown autoantigens cross-reactively recognised by viral agents, have provided an insight into how molecular mimicry and immunological cross-reactivity may be involved in the induction of autoimmunity related to viral hepatitis, and have been the foundation on which this thesis is based (Gregorio *et al.*, 1999, Gregorio *et al.*, 2003).

Chapter i	1
-----------	---

	Protein							Sec	luend	ce					
i)	HBV DNA polymerase	V	G	L	L	G	F	Α	Α	Р	F	Т	Q	С	G
		:	:	:	:	:	_	:	:			•		•	:
	MHCIITA	v	G	L	L	G	R	Α	Α	L	D	S	Р	Р	G
	HBV DNA polymerase	S	S	Т	v	Р	v	F	N	Р					
		:	:	:	:	:	:	-	_	:					
	NPCP	S	S	Т	v	Р	v	S	L	Р					
	HBV DNA polymerase	G	Р	L	Е	Е	Ε	L	Р	R	L	Α	D		
		:	•	:	:	:	:		_	:		:	:		
	NuMA	G	S	L	E	E	E	K	R	R	Α	Α	D		
	HBV DNA polymerase	N	E	К	R	R	L	K	L						
		•	:	:	•	:	:	:	•						
	Pm-scl	Q	E	<u>K</u>	<u></u>	R	L	K	I						<u></u>
ii)	Mucsin	n	F	ĸ	R	P	т	F							
11)	141303111		:	:	:	:	:								
	HBV DNA polymerase	Ň	Ē	ĸ	R	R	Ĺ	ĸ							
		•	:	:	:	:	:	:							
_	Caldesmon	E	E	K	R	R	L	K							
i)	HCV polymerase	L	I	S	Q	Α	Ε	Α	Α	L	Ε	Ν	L	v	
	Matuin 2	:	n	0	·	N	:	:	:	:	:	:	C	•	
	Matrin 3	L	D	Q	E	IN	E	А	A	L	E	IN	U	1	
	HCV polymerase	Α	v	S	R	Т	Q	R	R	G					
		:	:	:	:	•	:	:		:					
	Histone H2A	A	v	3	ĸ	3	Q	ĸ	A	G					
	HCV polymerase	Α	L	v	Α	F	K	I	Μ	S	G	E			
	Deuliestien nuchein A	•	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	• D	т	:			
_	Replication protein A	3	L	<u>v</u>	<u>A</u>	r	ĸ	1	M	r	L	E			
ii)	HCV polymerase	L	A	Т	K	Т	F	G	S	S	G	s	S		
,		•		:	:	:	:	•	:	:	•	:	:		
	Smoothelin	Μ	Q	Т	K	Τ	F	S	S	S	S	S	S		
	HCV polymerase	E	G	Е	v	Q	I	v	S	Т	Α	Т	Q		
		:		:			:		:	:	:	:	:		
	Myosin	Ε	L	Ε	D	Т	L	D	S	Т	Α	Т	Q		
	HCV polymerase	G	v	R	v	L	E	D	G	v	N	F	Α		
		:	:	:	•	:		:	•	:	•	:	•		
	Vimentin	G	v	R	L	L	Q	D	S	v	D	F	S		
	i)	Protein i) HBV DNA polymerase MHCIITA HBV DNA polymerase NPCP HBV DNA polymerase NuMA HBV DNA polymerase NuMA HBV DNA polymerase Omesci Pm-sci IBV DNA polymerase Caldesmon ii) HCV polymerase Matrin 3 HCV polymerase Histone H2A HSV polymerase Keplication protein A ii) HCV polymerase Keplication protein A	Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVMHCIITAVHBV DNA polymeraseSNPCPSHBV DNA polymeraseGNuMAGHBV DNA polymeraseNPm-sclQii)MyosinDHBV DNA polymeraseNPm-sclQii)MyosinDHBV DNA polymeraseNCaldesmonEii)HCV polymeraseNHEV DNA polymeraseAHEV DNA polymeraseNCaldesmonEiii)HCV polymeraseAHistone H2AAHCV polymeraseAHCV polymeraseAKeplication protein ASiii)HCV polymeraseEMyosinEHCV polymeraseEMyosinEHCV polymeraseGYosinEMyosinEHCV polymeraseGYosinEYosinEHCV polymeraseGYosinEHCV polymeraseGYosinEYosinEYosinEYosinG	ProteinVGi)HBV DNA polymeraseVGMHCIITAVGHBV DNA polymeraseSSNPCPSSHBV DNA polymeraseGPiNuMAGSHBV DNA polymeraseNEPm-sclQEii)MyosinDEHBV DNA polymeraseNE 2 CaldesmonEEii)HCV polymeraseAVHistone H2AAVHCV polymeraseALiii)HCV polymeraseALiii)HCV polymeraseAVHistone H2AASLiii)HCV polymeraseALHCV polymeraseALIiii)HCV polymeraseALHCV polymeraseEGMyosinEIHCV polymeraseCVHCV polymeraseEGMyosinEIHCV polymeraseEGMyosinEIHCV polymeraseGVHCV polymeraseGVHCV polymeraseGVHCV polymeraseGVHCV polymeraseGVHCV polymeraseGVHCV polymeraseGVHCV polymeraseGVHCV polymeraseGVHCV polymeraseGV </td <td>Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLMHCIITAVGLHBV DNA polymeraseSSTNPCPSSLHBV DNA polymeraseGPLNUMAGSLHBV DNA polymeraseNEKii)MyosinDEKii)MyosinDEKii)HCV polymeraseNEKii)HCV polymeraseAVKiii)HCV polymeraseALHistone H2AAVSHCV polymeraseALViii)HCV polymeraseALHCV polymeraseEGEiii)HCV polymeraseEGHCV polymeraseEGEHCV polymeraseEGEHCV polymeraseEGEHCV polymeraseGVRHCV polymeraseGVRHCV polymeraseGVRHCV polymeraseC<td>Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLL:::::::MHCIITAVGLLHBV DNA polymeraseSSTV.:::::NPCPSSSTVHBV DNA polymeraseGPLE::::::NuMAGSLEHBV DNA polymeraseNEKPm-sclQEKii)MyosinDEKHBV DNA polymeraseNEKPm-sclQEKiii)MyosinDEKiii)HCV polymeraseAVSiii)HCV polymeraseAVSHistone H2AAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseALViii)HCV polymeraseALViii)HCV polymeraseALViii)HCV polymeraseEGEHCV polymeraseEGEViii)HCV polymeraseEGEHCV polymeraseEGEVHCV polymeraseEGEVHCV polymeraseGVR:HCV polymeraseEGEDHCV polymerase<t< td=""><td>Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLLGMHCIITAVGLLGHBV DNA polymeraseSSTVP:::::::NPCPSSTVPHBV DNA polymeraseGPLENUMAGSLEEHBV DNA polymeraseNEKRii)MyosinDEKRHBV DNA polymeraseNEKR:ii)MyosinDEKR:iii)MyosinDEKR:iii)MyosinDEKR:iii)HCV polymeraseNEKR:iii)HCV polymeraseAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseALVA:iii)HCV polymeraseALVA:iii)HCV polymeraseALVA:iii)HCV polymeraseCGEVQ:iii)HCV polymeraseCGEVQ:iii)HCV polymeraseCGVAT:iii)HCV polymeraseCGCEDT</td></t<><td>Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLLGFMHCIITAVGLLGRHBV DNA polymeraseSSTVPV$: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :$</td><td>Protein Sec. i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A MHCIITA V G L L G R A HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F NPCP S S T V F E E L E E E L I S S T V S F NPCP S S T V F E L L I S S T V S F L K R L L K S T S S T S S T S S T S K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K</td><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A MHCIITA V G L L G R A A HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E L P V S L HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E E L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L L L L L L S L L L L L L</td><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E E L P V S L P HBV DNA polymerase G S L E E E K R R L L P HBV DNA polymerase N E K R R L K I I S I K I I I S I K R L L I I I I I I I I I I I I I I <t< td=""><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E L P V S L P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E K R R L F N P HBV DNA polymerase G S L E K R R L K I F N A A L K I I S I K R R L L I S I K I I I S I <t< td=""><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase MHCIITA V G L L G F A A P F T MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L A<!--</td--><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q L I</td><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q C MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S P P HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P I</td></td></t<></td></t<></td></td></td>	Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLMHCIITAVGLHBV DNA polymeraseSSTNPCPSSLHBV DNA polymeraseGPLNUMAGSLHBV DNA polymeraseNEKii)MyosinDEKii)MyosinDEKii)HCV polymeraseNEKii)HCV polymeraseAVKiii)HCV polymeraseALHistone H2AAVSHCV polymeraseALViii)HCV polymeraseALHCV polymeraseEGEiii)HCV polymeraseEGHCV polymeraseEGEHCV polymeraseEGEHCV polymeraseEGEHCV polymeraseGVRHCV polymeraseGVRHCV polymeraseGVRHCV polymeraseC <td>Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLL:::::::MHCIITAVGLLHBV DNA polymeraseSSTV.:::::NPCPSSSTVHBV DNA polymeraseGPLE::::::NuMAGSLEHBV DNA polymeraseNEKPm-sclQEKii)MyosinDEKHBV DNA polymeraseNEKPm-sclQEKiii)MyosinDEKiii)HCV polymeraseAVSiii)HCV polymeraseAVSHistone H2AAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseALViii)HCV polymeraseALViii)HCV polymeraseALViii)HCV polymeraseEGEHCV polymeraseEGEViii)HCV polymeraseEGEHCV polymeraseEGEVHCV polymeraseEGEVHCV polymeraseGVR:HCV polymeraseEGEDHCV polymerase<t< td=""><td>Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLLGMHCIITAVGLLGHBV DNA polymeraseSSTVP:::::::NPCPSSTVPHBV DNA polymeraseGPLENUMAGSLEEHBV DNA polymeraseNEKRii)MyosinDEKRHBV DNA polymeraseNEKR:ii)MyosinDEKR:iii)MyosinDEKR:iii)MyosinDEKR:iii)HCV polymeraseNEKR:iii)HCV polymeraseAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseALVA:iii)HCV polymeraseALVA:iii)HCV polymeraseALVA:iii)HCV polymeraseCGEVQ:iii)HCV polymeraseCGEVQ:iii)HCV polymeraseCGVAT:iii)HCV polymeraseCGCEDT</td></t<><td>Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLLGFMHCIITAVGLLGRHBV DNA polymeraseSSTVPV$: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :$</td><td>Protein Sec. i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A MHCIITA V G L L G R A HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F NPCP S S T V F E E L E E E L I S S T V S F NPCP S S T V F E L L I S S T V S F L K R L L K S T S S T S S T S S T S K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K</td><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A MHCIITA V G L L G R A A HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E L P V S L HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E E L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L L L L L L S L L L L L L</td><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E E L P V S L P HBV DNA polymerase G S L E E E K R R L L P HBV DNA polymerase N E K R R L K I I S I K I I I S I K R L L I I I I I I I I I I I I I I <t< td=""><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E L P V S L P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E K R R L F N P HBV DNA polymerase G S L E K R R L K I F N A A L K I I S I K R R L L I S I K I I I S I <t< td=""><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase MHCIITA V G L L G F A A P F T MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L A<!--</td--><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q L I</td><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q C MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S P P HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P I</td></td></t<></td></t<></td></td>	Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLL:::::::MHCIITAVGLLHBV DNA polymeraseSSTV.:::::NPCPSSSTVHBV DNA polymeraseGPLE::::::NuMAGSLEHBV DNA polymeraseNEKPm-sclQEKii)MyosinDEKHBV DNA polymeraseNEKPm-sclQEKiii)MyosinDEKiii)HCV polymeraseAVSiii)HCV polymeraseAVSHistone H2AAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseALViii)HCV polymeraseALViii)HCV polymeraseALViii)HCV polymeraseEGEHCV polymeraseEGEViii)HCV polymeraseEGEHCV polymeraseEGEVHCV polymeraseEGEVHCV polymeraseGVR:HCV polymeraseEGEDHCV polymerase <t< td=""><td>Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLLGMHCIITAVGLLGHBV DNA polymeraseSSTVP:::::::NPCPSSTVPHBV DNA polymeraseGPLENUMAGSLEEHBV DNA polymeraseNEKRii)MyosinDEKRHBV DNA polymeraseNEKR:ii)MyosinDEKR:iii)MyosinDEKR:iii)MyosinDEKR:iii)HCV polymeraseNEKR:iii)HCV polymeraseAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseALVA:iii)HCV polymeraseALVA:iii)HCV polymeraseALVA:iii)HCV polymeraseCGEVQ:iii)HCV polymeraseCGEVQ:iii)HCV polymeraseCGVAT:iii)HCV polymeraseCGCEDT</td></t<> <td>Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLLGFMHCIITAVGLLGRHBV DNA polymeraseSSTVPV$: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :$</td> <td>Protein Sec. i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A MHCIITA V G L L G R A HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F NPCP S S T V F E E L E E E L I S S T V S F NPCP S S T V F E L L I S S T V S F L K R L L K S T S S T S S T S S T S K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K</td> <td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A MHCIITA V G L L G R A A HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E L P V S L HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E E L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L L L L L L S L L L L L L</td> <td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E E L P V S L P HBV DNA polymerase G S L E E E K R R L L P HBV DNA polymerase N E K R R L K I I S I K I I I S I K R L L I I I I I I I I I I I I I I <t< td=""><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E L P V S L P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E K R R L F N P HBV DNA polymerase G S L E K R R L K I F N A A L K I I S I K R R L L I S I K I I I S I <t< td=""><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase MHCIITA V G L L G F A A P F T MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L A<!--</td--><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q L I</td><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q C MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S P P HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P I</td></td></t<></td></t<></td>	Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLLGMHCIITAVGLLGHBV DNA polymeraseSSTVP:::::::NPCPSSTVPHBV DNA polymeraseGPLENUMAGSLEEHBV DNA polymeraseNEKRii)MyosinDEKRHBV DNA polymeraseNEKR:ii)MyosinDEKR:iii)MyosinDEKR:iii)MyosinDEKR:iii)HCV polymeraseNEKR:iii)HCV polymeraseAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseAVSR:iii)HCV polymeraseALVA:iii)HCV polymeraseALVA:iii)HCV polymeraseALVA:iii)HCV polymeraseCGEVQ:iii)HCV polymeraseCGEVQ:iii)HCV polymeraseCGVAT:iii)HCV polymeraseCGCEDT	Proteini)HBV DNA polymeraseVGLLGFMHCIITAVGLLGRHBV DNA polymeraseSSTVPV $: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :: :$	Protein Sec. i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A MHCIITA V G L L G R A HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F NPCP S S T V F E E L E E E L I S S T V S F NPCP S S T V F E L L I S S T V S F L K R L L K S T S S T S S T S S T S K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A MHCIITA V G L L G R A A HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E L P V S L HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E E L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L L L L L L S L L L L L L	Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E E L P V S L P HBV DNA polymerase G S L E E E K R R L L P HBV DNA polymerase N E K R R L K I I S I K I I I S I K R L L I I I I I I I I I I I I I I <t< td=""><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E L P V S L P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E K R R L F N P HBV DNA polymerase G S L E K R R L K I F N A A L K I I S I K R R L L I S I K I I I S I <t< td=""><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase MHCIITA V G L L G F A A P F T MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L A<!--</td--><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q L I</td><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q C MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S P P HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P I</td></td></t<></td></t<>	Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E L P V S L P HBV DNA polymerase G P L E E K R R L F N P HBV DNA polymerase G S L E K R R L K I F N A A L K I I S I K R R L L I S I K I I I S I <t< td=""><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase MHCIITA V G L L G F A A P F T MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L A<!--</td--><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q L I</td><td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q C MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S P P HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P I</td></td></t<>	Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase MHCIITA V G L L G F A A P F T MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L P V S L A </td <td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q L I</td> <td>Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q C MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S P P HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P I</td>	Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q L I	Protein Sequence i) HBV DNA polymerase V G L L G F A A P F T Q C MHCIITA V G L L G R A A L D S P P HBV DNA polymerase S S T V P V F N P I

Figure 1.2 Amino acid sequence homology between: (A) the hepatitis B virus DNA polymerase and i) human nuclear proteins (MHCIITA, MHC class II trans-activator; NPCP, nuclear pore complex protein; NuMA, nuclear mitotic apparatus; Pm-scl; polyomyositis sclerosis antigen) and (ii) smooth muscle proteins; (B) the hepatitis C polyprotein and (i) nuclear antigens and (ii) smooth muscle proteins. Amino acids in standard single letter; Colon (:), identity; Full stop (.), conservative substitution

1.8 Hepatitis C and autoimmune hepatitis

AIH-2 is a severe form of autoimmune liver disease affecting mainly children that requires life-long immunosuppressive treatment (Gregorio et al., 1997). Progression to cirrhosis and liver failure may occur in some patients despite therapeutic intervention and usually requires liver transplantation (Gregorio et al., 1997). Histologically, AIH-2 is characterised by interface hepatitis where lymphocytes, plasma cells and macrophages from the portal tract infiltrate the adjacent parenchyma, and surround dying hepatocytes (Dienes et al., 1989). Serologically, AIH-2 is characterised by elevated levels of immunoglobulin G (IgG) and high titres of LKM1 autoantibodies, the name deriving from the distinctive pattern that the antibody gives on rodent liver and kidney sections (see 2.2.2.1) (Alvarez et al., 1999). The molecular target of LKM1 has been identified as cytochrome P450 IID6 (CYP2D6), a 50 kDa microsomal enzyme involved in the metabolism of xenobiotics (Alvarez et al., 1985, Gueguen et al., 1989). LKM1 is also found in up to 10% of patients with chronic HCV infection but not in other viral hepatitides (Lunel et al., 1992, Bortolotti et al., 1996, Gregorio et al., 1998, Cassani et al., 1997, Nishioka et al., 1997, Lenzi et al., 1999). Early studies have also reported a minority of patients with AIH-2 to be infected with HCV, suggesting a causal link between this virus and AIH-2 (Lenzi et al., 1990, Vergani and Mieli-Vergani, 1993).

How cytochromes and in particular CYP2D6 become 'self targets' is not yet established (Manns and Obermayer-Straub, 1997, Bogdanos and McFarlane, 2003). It has long been thought that intracellular proteins are normally 'hidden' from immune recognition and therefore immunologically privileged (*see* 1.3.5). Antigen release following hepatocyte injury could provide the stimulus for an immune response towards 'cryptic' epitopes on CYP2D6 (Manns and Obermayer-Straub, 1997). This model of anti-CYP2D6 antibody production fails to provide a convincing explanation for the highly-specific nature of the observed anti-CYP2D6 immune response (Bogdanos and McFarlane, 2003). Firstly, not every form of liver damage is associated with an anti-CYP2D6 immune response: anti-CYP2D6 antibodies are undetectable in viral hepatitis A and B and in type 1 AIH (Bogdanos and McFarlane, 2003). Secondly, in those conditions where reactivity to cytochromes is present, distinctive profiles can be recognised. Anti-CYP2D6 antibodies are found in AIH-2 and in a proportion of HCV

infected patients. In neither condition is it possible, however, to detect antibodies to cytochrome P450 1A2 (CYP1A2), the marker of the hepatitis associated with autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 (Clemente *et al.*, 1998, Manns and Obermayer-Straub, 1997, Bogdanos and McFarlane, 2003). Moreover, despite a high level of amino acid homology between CYP2D6, CYP1A2 and CYP1A1, the latter does not act as target autoantigen (Clemente *et al.*, 1998). These patterns indicate a specific, antigen-driven mechanism in the breakdown of immunological tolerance towards individual cytochromes (Bogdanos and McFarlane, 2003).

Kerkar *et al.* (2003) have identified the sequence CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ as a major B-cell epitope recognised by sera from 93% of patients with AIH-2 and 50% of those with anti-LKM1 positive HCV infection. They also found that there is extensive cross-reactivity between immune responses directed to CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ and highly homologous regions within HCV and CMV antigens (Kerkar *et al.*, 2003). Modelling studies located the CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ peptide to the surface of CYP2D6, making it accessible to antibody recognition in the context of the physiologically folded protein (Kerkar *et al.*, 2003). Alanine substitution of the homologous HCV epitope confirmed that the homology shared by HCV, CMV and CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ was responsible for the observed cross-reactivity (Kerkar *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, these Authors have shown that purified CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ specific autoantibodies are able to inhibit the activity of the native enzyme (Kerkar *et al.*, 2003).

These findings provide suggestive evidence for molecular mimicry to be a mechanism for induction of anti-CYP2D6 autoantibodies and give support to the multi-hit theory of autoimmunity. Thus, multiple exposures to CMV, a common viral pathogen, may establish permissive immunological conditions, by priming a cross-reactive subset of autoreactive lymphocytes, in a genetically predisposed host (Kerkar *et al.*, 2003). Chronic infection with HCV may then provide the final impetus for the generation of LKM1 autoantibodies through cross-reactive mechanisms (Kerkar *et al.*, 2003). Depending on the degree of immunological priming, the degree of genetic susceptibility (particularly at the HLA locus and coding regions for 'innate' components of immunity), and antigenic dose of the infecting pathogens, a minority of individuals may progress to autoimmune disease.

Others have also invoked cross-reactive mechanisms to explain the generation of LKM1 antibodies on the basis that two sequences from the HCV polyprotein, one each from the envelope 1 (E1) and the non structural 5B (NS5B) antigens, and one from the

immediate early 175 KDa protein of HSV-1, share extensive homology with CYP2D6₂₅₄₋₂₇₁, the second most frequently recognised B-cell epitope of LKM1 in AIH-2 (Manns *et al.*, 1991). Although attractive, there was little experimental evidence to support this hypothesis and reactivity to the viral mimics had not been tested (Manns *et al.*, 1991).

That reactivity to viral and self peptides, as indeed to the whole CYP2D6 protein, is of the IgG isotype thus suggesting the involvement of T-cell 'help' for B-cell immunoglobulin isotype class switching (Cebra *et al.*, 1984, Snapper and Mond, 1993). This notion is further supported by the presence of autoreactive T-cells in the blood and the liver of patients with AIH-2 and the results of immunohistochemical studies demonstrating that most infiltrating T-cells are positive for the CD4 helper/inducer phenotype, and a sizeable minority are positive for the CD8 cytotoxic/suppressor phenotype (Senaldi *et al.*, 1992, Vergani and Mieli-Vergani, 2003).

Taken together, these studies indicate that an autoimmune response to CYP2D6 is likely to follow the rules of any other autoimmune response, and involve CD4, CD8, and Blymphocytes, one of the components possibly prevailing at different stages of the pathological progress (Vergani and Mieli-Vergani, 2003, Bogdanos and McFarlane, 2003). Interestingly Cerny and Chisari (1999) have proposed a role for CD8 molecular mimicry in the causation of post-infectious autoimmunity making reference to HCV and AIH-2. They base their contention on the work of Kammer et al. (1999), showing induction of cytotoxic T-cells (CTL) reactive with a decamer (amino acids 8-17) of CYP2A6 and CYP2A7 after exposure to the homologous HCV core sequence (amino acids 178-187), the relevant peptides being totally unreactive at the B-cell level (Bogdanos et al., 2000b). These authors proposed that liver cell damage mediated by HCV-specific CTL leads to the release of intracellular proteins like CYP2A6 and CYP2D6, uptake of these autoantigens by professional APCs, and autoantibody formation in the presence of autoreactive CD4 and CD8 T-cells (Kammer et al., 1999). After viral clearance, the autoimmune disease would be upheld due to ongoing hepatocyte lysis by cross-reactive, HCV-induced CTL maintained by autoreactive helper T-cells (Kammer et al., 1999). The interaction of HCV, autoreactive T-cells, and autoreactive CD8 and CD4 T-cells would thus be required for the induction of HCVassociated autoimmunity directed to cytochromes. The need of this complex interaction would explain the relatively low frequency of anti-CYP2D6 immune responses, and indeed of AIH, among HCV patients despite the high number of individuals with crossreactive CTL (Bogdanos *et al.*, 2000b). Kammer *et al.* (1999) findings demonstrate the potential of HCV to induce autoreactive CD8 CTL by a molecular mimicry mechanism involving viral/self mimics and therefore show a possible mechanism by which a virus can trigger AIH.

A feature of AIH-2 is the possible coexistence of other autoimmune diseases, in particular type 1 diabetes, Addison's disease, hypoparathyroidism and autoimmune thyroiditis (Gregorio et al., 1997). Choudhuri et al. (1998) have demonstrated crossreactive LKM1 antibody responses between CYP2D6₃₂₁₋₃₅₁, the third most frequently recognised epitope of CYP2D6, and structurally similar regions of carboxypeptidase H, an autoantigen in type 1 diabetes, and 21-hydroxylase, the major autoantigen in Addison's disease. These Investigators proposed that autoimmunity once induced against one self-antigen may spread via molecular mimicry to other homologous self antigens, and, in genetically predisposed individuals, lead to overt autoimmune disease (Choudhuri et al., 1998). Although intermolecular epitope spreading is a feature of other autoimmune disease such as type 1 diabetes and connective tissue disorders, the mechanistic explanation for this phenomenon has relied on molecular association or tissue colocalisation for the diversification of autoimmunity (James and Harley, 1998). The hypothesis of Choudhuri et al. (1998) although able in principle to explain the spread of autoimmunity to anatomically distant tissues through immunological crossreactivity, has not yet been confirmed.

It is now becoming clear that molecular mimicry studies have been based either on epidemiological association of infectious agents with specific autoimmune manifestations or experimental evidence demonstrating cross-reactivity between microbial and self antigens (Oldstone, 1998, von Herrath, 2000, von Herrath *et al.*, 2003). In either case, the microbial trigger as well as the self target (or at least its origin) are known and an investigation is carried out to identify the microbial/self determinants that serve as targets of the cross-reactive immune responses (Oldstone, 1998). Several studies have provided knowledge of the fine specificity of immune responses towards specific antigenic regions (Oldstone, 1998, von Herrath, 2000, von Herrath *et al.*, 2003). These regions have been used through molecular mimicry studies as tools for the identification of mimicking microbial agents, which could be pathogenetically linked with the autoimmune disease (Oldstone, 1998, von Herrath, 2000, von Herrath *et al.*,

2003). Primary biliary cirrhosis is one of these autoimmune diseases whereby molecular mimicry has been investigated in detail taking into account epidemiological considerations linking specific microbial agents with the disease, evidence of microbial/self cross-reactitivity but also identification of putative microbial mimics through search of homologies with the disease's single immunodominant epitope (Van de Water *et al.*, 2001).

1.9 Primary biliary cirrhosis

Primary biliary cirrhosis is an immune-mediated chronic cholestatic liver disease characterised by inflammatory destruction of the small intrahepatic bile ducts, progressing to cirrhosis and subsequent liver failure (Kaplan, 1996, Neuberger, 1997). The disease affects mainly middle-aged women, with most cases occurring between the ages of 40 and 60 years (Sherlock and Scheuer, 1973, Mahl *et al.*, 1994). There is a wide variation in the recorded incidence between areas, ranging from 30 per 100,000 of the population in high prevalence areas like Northern England, rising to 1 in 1,500 in women over the age of 40 in the health district of Newcastle and North Tyneside, to less than 25 cases per million in Canada and Australia and almost no cases in sub-Saharan Africa or India (Witt-Sullivan *et al.*, 1990, Watson *et al.*, 1995, Kingham and Parker, 1998, James *et al.*, 1999, Metcalf and James, 1997). Two recent, large, epidemiological studies in UK and USA have indicated an upward trend of the prevalence rates of PBC, but it is not yet clear whether this increase is authentic and/or reflects greater awareness of the disease, in combination with an increased availability and better application of improved serological diagnostic tools (Kim *et al.*, 2000, Prince *et al.*, 2001).

The clinical spectrum of PBC ranges from asymptomatic anicteric cholestasis with or without extrahepatic manifestations to severe cholestasis with cirrhosis and subsequent liver failure, the disease being along with chronic hepatitis C virus infection the commonest reasons for liver transplantation in the developed World (Neuberger, 1997). While ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) may slow progression, there is yet no curative therapy (Neuberger, 1997). Immunosuppressive therapy is relatively ineffective (Neuberger, 1997).

1.9.1 Anti-mitochondrial antibody

The nature of PBC became clearer around the 1960s when first its apparent and then its unequivocal association with an antibody directed to mitochondrial antigens (AMA) was described (Mackay, 1958, Walker *et al.*, 1965). A milestone for the clinical hepatologist was the observation in 1965 by Walker, Doniach, Roitt and Sherlock that AMA was present in all their patients with PBC and in none of the controls which included patients with extra-hepatic bile duct obstruction, drug induced cholestasis and viral hepatitis (Doniach *et al.*, 1966). Ever since the description of this close association, AMA has acted as a powerful diagnostic tool since positivity for AMA was able to direct towards the correct diagnosis in the work up of cholestatic conditions, avoiding at times invasive procedures such as explorative laparotomy (Sherlock and Scheuer, 1973). In addition to revealing a diagnostic marker, the paper by Walker *et al.* (1965) showed what anti-mitochondrial reactivity looks like under a fluorescent microscope and provided a straightforward technique for its detection. Almost forty years on, the detection of AMA is routinely done as originally described in the laboratory of Professor Deborah Doniach.

1.9.2 M2 antigens

In 1967 Berg *et al.* demonstrated that PBC sera reacted in vitro with isolated mitochondria. PBC specific AMA were shown to react with trypsin-sensitive antigens named mitochondrial type 2 (M2) to be differentiated from M1, the target antigen of anti-cardiolipin antibodies found in a proportion of patients with syphilis (Berg *et al.*, 1982). The M2 antigen was found to be closely associated with the inner surface of the inner membrane of all mitochondria tested, from human to fungal, and anti-M2 antibodies were shown to cross-react with several bacteria, anti-mitochondrial activity, for example, being absorbed out of PBC sera by *E. coli* (Berg *et al.*, 1967, Lindenborn-Fotinos *et al.*, 1985, Teoh *et al.*, 1994).

Cloning and identification of the autoantigenic targets of AMA represent a major step forward in the study of PBC. Reactivity against several mitochondrial antigens was noted in early studies, a 74 kDa protein present in mitochondrial preparations from a variety of species being the most frequently recognised antigen (Lindenborn-Fotinos *et al.*, 1985, Frazer *et al.*, 1985). The precise molecular weight was species-, but not organ-specific (Baum and Berg, 1981). Less frequent was reactivity against antigens of 56, 48, 41 and 36 kDa (Baum and Berg, 1981). The M2 antigens have been identified as components of the 2-oxo-acid dehydrogenase multienzyme complexes (OADC): pyruvate, 2-oxoglutarate and branched-chain 2-oxo acid dehydogenase complexes (PDC, OGDC and BCOADC, respectively) (Bassendine et al., 1997). Each of these three multifunctional complexes catalyses a set of linked reactions and occupies a key position in energy metabolism in a cell (Yeaman, 1989, Yeaman et al., 2000). PDC links glycolysis to the Krebs cycle, OGDC is in the Krebs cycle itself and BCOADC is involved in the regulation of the oxidation of the branchedchain amino acids (Yeaman, 1989, Yeaman et al., 2000). Each complex consists of multiple copies of at least three enzymes (E1, E2 and E3), which are encoded by genes in the nucleus and separately imported into mitochondria for assembly into high molecular weight multimers localised to the matrix aspect of the inner membrane (Yeaman, 1989, Yeaman et al., 2000). The structural core of these complexes is provided by E2, to which multiple copies of E1 and E3 are non-covalently bound (Yeaman, 1989, Yeaman et al., 2000). The E2 enzymes have a common structure, which consists of the N-terminal domain containing the lysine-bound lipoyl groups, which have a central role in the catalytic cycle; the peripheral subunit binding domain, responsible, at least in part, for binding the E1 and E3 components together; and the Cterminal inner core, which houses the active site responsible for the acyltransferase activity. E3 is common to all 3 complexes whereas E1 and E2 are unique to each complex. PDC contains a fourth polypeptide with a structural role, the E3 binding protein (E3BP), once termed protein X (De Marcucci and Lindsay, 1985).

It took a surprisingly long time after their original detection and characterisation for the molecular identities of the members of the M2 family to be established. The reason for the delay in realising that the major M2 antigen was a key mitochondrial constituent was primarily a trivial one. M2 co-purified with the inner mitochondrial membranealbeit it was well known that it could readily be detached therefrom (Baum, 1995). In the mind-set of most investigators, PDC was a constituent of the matrix, and so its possible identity with M2 was never considered.

It was in 1987 that a cDNA for the 74 kDa mitochondrial autoantigen was cloned and sequenced leading to the identification of the E2 subunit of PDC-E2 as the major autoantigen in PBC (Gershwin *et al.*, 1987, Van de Water *et al.*, 1988b, Yeaman *et al.*, 1988). This significant development was accompanied by considerable efforts devoted to the characterization of the AMA responses by PBC sera. It was established that serum autoantibodies from more than 95% of patients with PBC react with PDC-E2 by

immunoblotting or ELISA, whereas the frequency of reactivity against E2 subunit of OGDC and BCOADC is 50-70% (Leung *et al.*, 1997). A few AMA seropositive patients react with PDC-E2 alone, while a majority also show reactivity against OGDC-E2 or BCOADC-E2 (Leung *et al.*, 1997). Reactivity against BCOADC-E2 or OGDC-E2 alone is less common. As in the case of PDC, the predominant antibody reactivity to the BCOADC and OGDC enzyme complexes is against the E2 component (Yeaman *et al.*, 2000). The E2 components of the OADC are evolutionarily highly conserved, both between species and between the different complexes (Baum, 1995, Yeaman *et al.*, 2000).

Of note, a single PBC serum can react with several mitochondrial autoantigens and each autoantigen seems to be recognised by a distinct population of autoantibodies, albeit there is some cross-reactivity between them (Baum, 1995, Leung *et al.*, 1997). Major cross-reactivity occurs between PDC-E2 and PDC-E3BP: all PBC sera reactive with PDC-E2 also react with a peptide of 50-56 kDa, shown to be identical to the E3BP protein of PDC (Surh *et al.*, 1989). That this is due to cross-reactivity, was documented by absorption studies where removal from PBC sera of reactivity to human PDC-E2 with recombinant PDC-E2 also removed reactivity against the 56 kDa peptide (Surh *et al.*, 1989). It is unclear whether the initial breakdown of self tolerance is to PDC-E2 with epitope spreading to E3BP, to E3BP with spreading to E2, to both proteins simultaneously, or to either E2 or E3BP with immunologic cross-reactivity to the other (Dubel *et al.*, 1999, Palmer *et al.*, 1999).

Multiple bands on immunoblot could be due either to antibodies recognising different epitopes, each being characteristic for a different antigen or to the presence of a single cross-reactive epitope on different molecules. Through inhibition, biochemical and epitope mapping studies, it is now clear that more than 90% of PBC patients have antibodies to PDC-E2 and PDC-E3BP, but only 50% of patients have AMA that recognize all three oxo-acid complexes suggesting that epitopes in BCOADC and ODGDC are independent of the epitopes on PDC-E2 (Yeaman *et al.*, 2000).

The use of oligopeptides and recombinant antigens has shown that the predominant epitope of PDC-E2 is located within the lipoyl domain of PDC-E2, but that at a 100-fold higher concentration, AMA can also react with the outer domain (Surh *et al.*, 1990). In view of the sequence similarity between inner and outer regions, this differential reactivity has been interpreted as the result of cross-reactivity between the

two lipoyl binding domains, the priming immunogenic region being the inner lipoyl domain (Surh et al., 1990).

B-cell epitope mapping based on the use of truncated constructs of peptides has shown that AMA reactive with BCOADC-E2 and OGDC-E2 are each directed against a conformational epitope that includes the inner lipoyl domain (Leung *et al.*, 1995, Moteki *et al.*, 1996b). The highly conserved structure in the E2 subunit of 2-OADC and their lipoyl domains indicates that lipoic acid may be part of the immunodominant epitope. Studies investigating the contribution of lipoic acid to the autoantibody reactivity have, nonetheless, shown that AMA are capable of binding to both lipoylated and unlipoylated PDC-E2 (Flannery *et al.*, 1989, Fussey *et al.*, 1990, Leung *et al.*, 1990, Quinn *et al.*, 1993).

A notable characteristic of AMA in PBC sera is their capacity to block the catalytic function of the 2-OAD multienzyme complexes in vitro (Van de Water *et al.*, 1988a, Sundin, 1990). There is, however, no proof that any of these autoantibodies can interfere with PDC activity in vivo.

Autoantibodies to the 2-OADC enzymes are detected not only in serum, but also in body fluids into which serum immunoglobulins can be transferred. Interestingly, IgA AMA have been detected in the bile, saliva, and urine of patients with PBC, suggesting that AMA are secreted into the luminal fluid across bile ducts, salivary glands and uroepithelium of patients with PBC (Nishio *et al.*, 1997, Tanaka *et al.*, 2000, Reynoso-Paz *et al.*, 2000). Reactivity against a band on immunoblot characteristic for PDC-E2 has been reported in the cerebrospinal fluid of a patient with PBC and a demyelinating disorder (Mackay *et al.*, 2000).

1.9.3 AMA as predictors of disease

Seropositivity for AMA is reported to be much higher than the prevalence of PBC in the general population, suggesting that AMA may precede the clinical onset of the disease (Metcalf and James, 1997). Evidence relating to the earliest events in the natural history of PBC has been derived from studies of patients with positive AMA, who were discovered accidentally when they were tested for an 'autoantibody profile' (Mitchison *et al.*, 1986, Metcalf *et al.*, 1996, Kisand *et al.*, 2001). In 1986, Mitchison *et al.* (1986) of the Newcastle group, found liver histology diagnostic of or compatible with PBC in 24 (83%) of 29 patients 'accidentally' found to be seropositive with an AMA titre of

1/40 or greater, with normal conventional liver function tests and no symptoms of liver disease. Only two had normal liver histology (Mitchison *et al.*, 1986). When the same subjects were re-assessed some ten years later, three quarters of them had become clinically symptomatic with persistently cholestatic liver function tests (Metcalf *et al.*, 1996). The median follow up in this cohort was 17.8 years, with one subject positive for AMA 23 years before the diagnosis of PBC was made (Metcalf *et al.*, 1996). Interestingly, none of the patients in this cohort had progressed to cirrhosis (Metcalf *et al.*, 1996). These findings indicate that, first, the progression of the disease can be very slow, second, identification of patients through an autoantibody screening of asymptomatic subjects may select particularly mild cases, third, AMA is a very powerful predictor of future development of PBC. A study by Kisand *et al.* (2001) provides support to the Newcastle experience reporting development of abnormal liver function tests, during a nine-year period of observation, in three of eight asymptomatic individuals positive for antibodies to PDC by ELISA.

AMA have also been investigated for their ability to predict disease progression (Christensen *et al.*, 1980, Roll *et al.*, 1983, Heseltine *et al.*, 1990, Kisand *et al.*, 1998). Heseltine *et al.* (1990) reported that IgG AMA titres correlated with histological stage of disease and with prognostic biochemical variables, including serum bilirubin and albumin levels. This report supports the earlier observation that IgG AMA titres, as assessed by immunofluorescence, increase with disease progression (Christensen *et al.*, 1980, Roll *et al.*, 1983). An association between serum AMA titre and liver inflammatory activity has been reported in both untreated and UDCA treated PBC patients (Kisand *et al.*, 1998).

More recently, van Nostrand *et al.* (1997) have analysed the relationship between an established indicator of disease progression, such as the Mayo Risk Score, and levels of AMA measured by quantitative enzyme immunoassays, where recombinant OADC proteins served as substrate. The levels of AMA to 2-OADC proteins varied by more than 200-fold between patients but remained relatively constant over time in individual patients. Despite being positively correlated with the Mayo Risk Score, the levels of AMA to 2-OADC proteins were not useful in predicting disease progression in the individual PBC patient (Van Norstrand *et al.*, 1997). In addition, these authors went on to show that there were no significant differences in the levels of autoantibodies to 2-OADC proteins among patients at different histological stages of the disease (Van

Norstrand *et al.*, 1997). In view of the contrasting experimental evidence alluded to above, the role of AMA as predictor of disease progression remains to be clarified.

1.9.4 Detection of AMA

AMA are commonly detected by indirect immunofluorescence (IFL), immunoblotting, or ELISA and an important decision for diagnostic laboratories and clinicians is the choice of assay for the detection of AMA (Leung et al., 1997). IFL using rodent tissue sections or immobilized HEp-2 cells is by far the most commonly used serological test for AMA (Leung et al., 1997). This technique, especially when used on a composite substrate, i.e. a substrate composed of a combination of rodent tissues, enables the detection of a large variety of autoantibodies including SMA, ANA, and LKM1, all important in the diagnosis of autoimmune liver disease (Leung et al., 1997). AMA stains the distal renal tubuli and the gastric parietal cells of the stomach, and the dual renal-gastric positivity gives a clear, unmistakable immunofluorescent picture. The identification of AMA target antigens as subunits of the 2-OADC has led to the development of immunoblotting for the detection of specific mammalian mitochondrial antigens (Leung et al., 1997). Mitochondrial preparations derived from bovine or porcine heart, rat liver, human placenta, or other tissues are electrophoretically separated on SDS-polyacrylamide gel, tranferred onto nitrocellulose filters, and assayed with sera from patients with PBC and controls (Leung et al., 1997). AMA reactivity against these antigens is visualised by addition of an enzyme-labelled antihuman immunoglogulin and a chromogenic enzymatic substrate (Leung et al., 1997). The presence in the test serum of antibodies to any of the electrophoretically separated mitochondrial components results in bands identified by their molecular weight (Leung et al., 1997).

In addition to immunoblotting, which is time consuming, labour intensive, and requiring, as immunofluorescence, a degree of subjective interpretation, other approaches such as ELISA are gaining momentum since, at least for those ELISA kits produced commercially, the need for a skilled observer in the interpretation of the results is reduced to a minimum, making them ideal for use in non specialised centres (Van de Water *et al.*, 1989, Moteki *et al.*, 1996a, Miyakawa *et al.*, 2001). Moreover, ELISA permit the evaluation of numerous sera in a single run. ELISA are widely used for the detection of antibodies to purified porcine or bovine M2 antigen or recombinant OADC proteins (Czaja and Homburger, 2001).

55

1.9.5 AMA negative PBC

The pathognomonic connotation of AMA in the diagnosis of PBC started being questioned when Brunner and Klinge (1987) described four female patients with 'immunocholangitis', a condition characterized by the typical biochemical and histological features of PBC, but with AMA seronegativity (Brunner and Klinge, 1987). A similar presentation characterised patients suffering from 'primary autoimmune cholangitis', 'autoimmune cholangiopathy', and 'AMA-negative PBC' (Goodman *et al.*, 1995, Taylor *et al.*, 1994, Michieletti *et al.*, 1994, Ben-Ari *et al.*, 1993, Lacerda *et al.*, 1995, Sanchez-Pobre *et al.*, 1996, Invernizzi *et al.*, 1997). Though in one study AMA negativity has been reported in one third of PBC patients, a large series from the Mayo Clinic, shows only 6% AMA negativity amongst 597 cases of PBC analysed (Goodman *et al.*, 1995, Lacerda *et al.*, 1995). A similarly low proportion was noted in an earlier study by Berg *et al* (Berg *et al.*, 1986).

The proportion of AMA negative PBC patients as ascertained by conventional immunofluorescence decreases when AMA is tested using more sensitive techniques (Nakanuma *et al.*, 1997, Kitami *et al.*, 1995, Kinoshita *et al.*, 1999, Nakajima *et al.*, 1999).

Care must, therefore, be exercised when labelling patients as AMA negative, because AMA, and in particular the PBC-specific anti-M2, not detected by immunofluorescence, may be detectable by other means, such as ELISA or immunoblot using purified bovine or porcine heart mitochondria (Nakanuma et al., 1997, Kitami et al., 1995, Kinoshita et al., 1999, Nakajima et al., 1999). There is an increasing amount of evidence for this notion. Of 20 PBC patients AMA negative by immunofluorescence, 3 were found to have M2 specific antibodies by ELISA and immunoblot (Michieletti et al., 1994). Similarly, Invernizzi et al. (1997) reported a positive M2 specific band by immunoblotting in 6 of 25 (24%) IFL AMA-negative PBC patients. Muratori et al. noted that six out of 19 (32%) IFL-AMA negative patients recognised AMA-specific bands when tested by immunoblot against beef heart mithochondria. In other studies, up to 100% of patients AMA negative by immunofluorescence were found to be positive when tested by a variety of techniques including immunoblotting, ELISA using recombinant polypeptides spanning M2-related epitopic regions, and enzyme inhibition assays (Nakanuma et al., 1997, Kitami et al., 1995, Kinoshita et al., 1999, Nakajima et al., 1999).

Of interest are the studies by the group of Gershwin who make use of cloned mitochondrial antigens, at times combined in hybrid recombinant molecules, as targets of AMA reactivity in ELISA and immunoblot (Moteki *et al.*, 1996b, Miyakawa *et al.*, 2001). One of such molecules named rMIT-3 contains three key autoepitopes of M2, present on PDC-E2, BCOAD-E2, and OGDC-E2 (Miyakawa *et al.*, 2001). In 1996, using these recombinant molecules they identified the presence of AMA in 67% of patients diagnosed as AMA negative by IFL (Moteki *et al.*, 1996b). More recently, Miyakawa *et al.* (2001) from the same group, reported that, using an ELISA based on an advanced version of the recombinant mitochondrial preparation, 73% of IFL-AMA negative PBC patients were AMA-positive. When reactivity was investigated against the individual components of the trimeric recombinant molecule, it was found that antibodies to at least one of its components were present, by immunoblot, in 90% of 30 IFL AMA-negative PBC patients (Miyakawa *et al.*, 2001).

1.9.6 PBC-specific ANA

There are two main types of ANA in PBC: those that are not disease-specific, directed against targets such as centromere, Ro/SSA, La/SSB, Scl-70 and histones and those which are highly PBC-specific (Vergani and Bogdanos, 2003). The existence of ANA specific for PBC is in contrast to AIH-1, a disease also characterized by the presence of ANA (alone or in association with anti-smooth muscle antibody), but in which no specific ANA have yet been identified (Vergani and Bogdanos, 2003).

Two distinct immunofluorescence patterns characterise PBC-specific ANA, namely the perinuclear (rimlike) and the multiple nuclear dot (MND) patterns (Courvalin and Worman, 1997, Szostecki *et al.*, 1997). Their molecular targets have been identified, with the antibodies responsible for the rimlike pattern recognising constituents of the nuclear envelope including gp210, a 210 kDa transmembrane glycoprotein of the nuclear pore complex (NPC), lamin B receptor, and nucleoporin p62, while those responsible for the MND pattern recognise the sp100 and promyelocytic leukaemia proteins (Courvalin and Worman, 1997, Szostecki *et al.*, 1997). These two latter auto-antigens colocalize and the corresponding autoantibodies tend to occur together (Szostecki *et al.*, 1997).

The PBC-specific ANA are not confined to AMA negative PBC, even though they are over-represented in this form of PBC (Vergani and Bogdanos, 2003). This over-

representation is partially due to technical reasons since ANA positivity can be obscured by the confounding simultaneous presence of AMA (Vergani and Bogdanos, 2003). When analysed in immunofluorescence, ANA become more visible if AMA is absent or weak (Vergani and Bogdanos, 2003).

The potential of using observer-independent assays such as ELISA has been recently outlined (Muratori *et al.*, 2003a). Measuring simultaneously reactivity to 3 PBC-specific ANA targets, namely anti-sp100, anti-gp210 and anti-lamin B receptor in PBC by ELISA, it was found that 85% of the AMA negative patients investigated were positive for one or more of the ANA specificities, suggesting that the clinicians provided with a panel of PBC specific ANA results may have at their disposal a 'positive' tool in the diagnosis of AMA negative PBC (Muratori *et al.*, 2003a, Vergani and Bogdanos, 2003). The validity of these markers in the diagnosis of PBC in AMA negative patients needs confirmation in further studies.

Earlier immunofluoscence studies in which the majority or the totality of AMA negative PBC patients were found to be ANA positive, give support to the notion that PBC-specific ANAs may become an essential marker for AMA-negative PBC (Michieletti *et al.*, 1994, Lacerda *et al.*, 1995). Of note is the observation that patients negative for MND or rimlike reactivity by immunofluorescence may be positive when tested by ELISA for reactivity to sp100 and gp210 - their molecular equivalents (Muratori *et al.*, 2003a).

1.9.7 Pathogenicity of AMA

Anti-M2 AMA are so disease-specific that it may be assumed that they are relevant to disease pathogenesis (Neuberger and Thomson, 1999). Most workers, however, have concluded that T-cells rather than the antibodies themselves are the direct cause of tissue damage (Gershwin and Mackay, 1991, Jones *et al.*, 1995, Gershwin *et al.*, 2000). For example, high titres of AMA can be raised in experimental animals, e.g. by immunization with recombinant human PDC-E2, with no evidence of liver damage even after a prolonged period, and there is no universal recurrence of PBC following liver transplantation, despite the persistence of AMA (Krams *et al.*, 1989, Neuberger and Thomson, 1999). Anti-PDC-E2 AMA are able to inhibit *in vitro* the enzymatic activity of PDC-E2. However, there is no evidence that AMA interfere with PDC activity *in vivo* (Van de Water *et al.*, 1988a, Sundin, 1990. The immunodominant antigenic regions recognised by T lymphocytes on PDC-E2 have been defined

[Shimoda, 1995 #240, Shimoda et al., 1998, Kita et al., 2002, Shimoda et al., 1995). These comprise a region within the inner lipoyl-binding domain of the subunit, overlapping amino acid 212-226 (PDC-E2212-226) (Shimoda et al., 1995, Shimoda et al., 1998, Kita et al., 2002) and targeted by both CD4 and CD8 T-cells. The same region is also the core target of the receptors of B-lymphocytes, which in their soluble form are antibodies (Van de Water et al., 1988b, Tuaillon et al., 1992, Matsui et al., 1993). It is conceivable that helper T-cells, cytotoxic T-cells and B-cells act in concert in inflicting damage to the liver ductules in the pathogenic process of PBC (Gershwin et al., 2000). In support of this view is the recent finding that soluble PDC-E2 complexed with a PDC-E2-specific human monoclonal antibody favours generation of PDC-E2-specific cytotoxic cells at a 100-fold lower concentration than otherwise required in the presence of the soluble antigen alone (Kita et al., 2002). Thus, AMA may play a pathogenic role in facilitating the development of a PDC-E2 specific CD8 T-cell immune response (Kita et al., 2002). That AMA may have pathogenic properties has been indirectly suggested by a recent clinical report where two infants, who received AMA transplacentally from their mothers, developed liver pathology that lasted as long as the autoantibody persisted in their serum (Hannam et al., 2002).

1.9.8 PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ is physically exposed on the molecule's surface

Determination of the three-dimensional structure of the inner lipoyl domain of human PDC-E2 has revealed that PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ is physically exposed on the molecule's surface which may partially explain its particular antigenicity (Howard *et al.*, 1998). However, the mechanism by which this short sequence becomes the focus of PBC-specific anti-mitochondrial immune responses remains obscure.

Assuming that a concerted autoimmune attack is the ultimate mechanism of damage in PBC, the question as to what triggers this autoimmune attack remains without an answer (Baum, 1995). Many of the epidemiological, clinical and serological features of PBC are compatible with an environmental trigger (Jones, 2003).

1.9.9 Geographical clustering and PBC

An early study by Triger (1980) demonstrated that within the city of Sheffield in Northern England, 88% of the PBC patients received their water from the Revelin reservoir which accounts for 40% of the total water supply for the local population (Jones, 2003). Geographical clustering within a UK health administration of Northern-Eastern England has recently been demonstrated (Prince *et al.*, 2001). Prince *et al* (2001) found that the risk for PBC was higher in the urban area of Tyneside than in the surrounding rural area. Within the rural area, there was significant clustering of cases. PBC occurred to a density of 10.7 cases/km² in the highest risk areas (Prince *et al.*, 2001).

1.9.10 Familial clustering and PBC

Several studies have suggested that PBC cases tend to cluster within families, the prevalence of PBC being higher among family members of individuals with the disease (Bach and Schaffner, 1994, Brind *et al.*, 1995, Tsuji *et al.*, 1999, Agarwal *et al.*, 2002, Abu-Mouch *et al.*, 2003). In a study from the North-East of England the sibling relative risk for PBC was estimated at 10.5, suggesting a familial risk similar to that seen for other autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (Jones *et al.*, 1999). Interestingly, when two members of the same family are affected, the disease tends to occur at the same time suggesting the existence of an external trigger (Neuberger and Thomson, 1999).

1.9.11 Migration studies and PBC

People migrating between different geographical regions seem to acquire the prevalence of the host population, thus while in the UK, the prevalence is about 150–240 per million, the prevalence among British immigrants to Australia is 47 per million and for the Australian community only 19 per million. Similarly, while PBC is almost absent in India, the prevalence of end stage PBC among first generation migrants to the UK from the Indian subcontinent is 14 per million (Watson *et al.*, 1995, Anand *et al.*, 1996)

One interpretation of these observations would be that the affected individuals within the same family or the same region are exposed to common environmental triggers (Jones, 2003). Environmental risk for a disease may be attributable either to infectious agents, for example viruses or bacteria, or non infectious agents such as chemicals and drugs. A number of putative infective organisms have been implicated in the pathogenesis of PBC, including *Escherichia coli*, mycobacteria and retroviral agent (Burroughs *et al.*, 1984, Burroughs *et al.*, 1992, Vilagut *et al.*, 1994, Xu *et al.*, 2003).

1.10 PBC, bacterial infection and molecular mimicry

Hopf *et al.* (1989) reported an association between PBC and the presence of rough form mutants of *E. coli* in the patients' faecal samples, whilst Butler *et al.* (1995) reported reactivity to PDC-E2 in 52% of sera from patients with chronic urinary tract infections (UTI). Conversely, patients with PBC have a higher incidence of recurrent UTI (Butler *et al.*, 1995b). Recently, Mayo *et al.* (2000) reported that antibodies directed to an 18aa (177-194) sequence within the proteolytic subunit of the ATP-dependent Clp protease of *E. coli* are present in a third of sera from patients with PBC but in less than 1% of sera from patients with other autoimmune diseases. Further support to these reports was recently provided by Parikh-Patel *et al.* (2001) in the first controlled epidemiological analysis to show a positive association of PBC with UTI. These findings suggest an association between *E. coli* or other bacteria causing UTI and AMA responses (Hopf *et al.*, 1989, Burroughs *et al.*, 1992, Butler *et al.*, 1995a, Butler *et al.*, 1995b, Parikh-Patel *et al.*, 2001).

Granulomatous lesions identifiable either as aggregates of histiocytes or as noncaseating lesions adjacent to damaged bile ducts are frequently observed in the liver of patients with PBC, and the hypothesis that mycobacterial infection (able to induce granulomas) may be involved in the pathogenesis of PBC has been forwarded (Kaplan, 1996). Early studies have reported AMA detection by ELISA and immunoblotting in up to 43% of patients with active pulmonary tuberculosis and in patients with leprosy (Klein *et al.*, 1993, Gilburd *et al.*, 1994).

A study by Vilagut *et al.* (1994) showed that all of 19 sera from Spanish patients with PBC reacted specifically with an extract of *Mycobacterium gordonae* (MYCGO), consequently identified as the 65-kDa heat shock protein (hsp65) of MYCGO (Vilagut *et al.*, 1997). There were no other reactions with nine other atypical mycobacteria (Vilagut *et al.*, 1994). Furthermore, they demonstrated that anti-hsp65 MYCGO antibodies, cross-reacted with PDC-E2 (Vilagut *et al.*, 1994). In fact, cross-reactivity of AMA against prokaryotic antigens has been reported for a number of microbes, including *E. coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Proteus mirabilis, Staphylococcus aureus* and *Salmonella minnesota*, although the target components of AMA in these bacteria have not been fully determined (Sayers and Baum, 1976, Fussey *et al.*, 1991, Baum, 1995). Several arguments have been proposed in support for a role of molecular mimicry in PBC (Van de Water *et al.*, 2001). Many suggestions are based on the observation that

pyruvate dehydrogenase-E2 (PDC-E2), the major mitochondrial autoantigen recognized by both B- and T-cells from patients with PBC, is a well-conserved molecule among various species, including bacteria (Van de Water *et al.*, 2001). Sera and T-cells from patients with PBC react with both human and *Escherichia coli* PDC-E2, and the epitope of *E. coli* PDC-E2 also maps to similar lipoyl domains (Fussey *et al.*, 1991, Fussey *et al.*, 1990, Shimoda *et al.*, 1998). Further evidence of cross-reactivity is that antibodies raised in rabbits against rough mutants of bacteria (which have fragile cell walls) were reported to react with a typical M2 pattern on immunoblotting against mitochondria (Stemerowicz *et al.*, 1988).

In support of the role of molecular mimicry and immunological cross-reactivity in PBC is the finding by Shimoda *et al.* (1997) that human PDC-E2 and *E. coli* PDC-E2 cross-react at the T-cell level. One T-cell clone, specific to the lipoyl domain of human PDC-E2 (GDLLAEIETDKATI) was shown to cross-react with the exogenous peptide derived from the lipoyl domain of *E. coli* PDC-E2 (EQSLITVEGDKASM) and the ExDK motif was found to be essential for the T-cell epitope recognition (Shimoda *et al.*, 1998). The sequence ExDK is also found in *E. coli* PDC-E2 (Shimoda *et al.*, 1998). In a recent study, the same group of investigators was able to cross-reactively activate PDC-E2 specific clones with 7 additional microbial mimics, all but one originated from OADC, such as *Neurospora crassa* PDC-E2, *E. coli* OGDC-E2, *Neisseria meningitis* outer membrane protein P64K, *Acholeplasma laidlawii* PDC-E2, *Azotobacter vinelandii* PDC-E2 and *Pseudomonas putida* PDC-E2 (Shimoda *et al.*, 2000).

Taken together, these data suggest that the initial stimulus for an immune reaction directed specifically at the E2's of the OADC, (and E3BP of PDC), may be a chronic exposure, in the context of costimulatory signals, and perhaps a particular genetic background, to microbial peptides that share strong sequence similarities with the lipoyl-binding peptides at the core of the dominant epitopes (Burroughs *et al.*, 1992, Van de Water *et al.*, 2001). Expansion of reactivity and specificity to incorporate the entire domain, and then also to recognize E1 sub-units, would be by epitope-spreading (*see* 1.3.6). Because of the highly conserved nature of PDC-E2 among species, microbial mimics not of an OADC origin would be more convincing as playing a role in the pathogenesis of PBC. Such mimics had not been reported at the time the work described in this Thesis started.

1.11 Hypothesis

The hypothesis of the present thesis is that molecular mimicry and immunological cross-reactivity play a key role in the development or maintenance of liver autoimmunity with a special focus on PBC.

1.12 Aims

- Humoral and cellular micro-organism/self crossreactive responses will be studied in primary biliary cirrhosis, a liver disease considered to have an autoimmune pathogenesis and epidemiologically linked to micro-organism exposure.
- The appearance and evolution of cross-reactive immune responses will be investigated in liver kidney microsomal-1 (LKM1) antibody positive hepatitis C virus (HCV) infected patients.
- Molecular mimicry before and after exposure to a specific viral antigen (hepatitis B surface antigen-HBsAg) will be investigated in vaccinees before and after immunisation against HBsAg.

CHAPTER 2

Material and Methods

2.1 MATERIALS

2.1.1 Commercially available chemicals, reagents, buffers and media

³ H-thymidine	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech
	Limited, Little Chalfont,
	Buckinghamshire, UK
β -mercaptoethanol (C ₂ H ₆ OS)	Bio-Rad Laboratories,
	Hertfordshire, UK
Acetic acid	BDH, VWR International Ltd,
	Poole, Dorset, UK
Acetonitrile	BDH
Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) (Fraction V)	Sigma Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset,
	UK
Brefeldin A	Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes,
	New Jersey, USA
Bromophenol Blue	Sigma Aldrich
Cytofix/Cytoperm	Becton Dickinson
Diaminobenzidine (DAB) (C ₁₂ H ₁₄ N ₄ .4HCl)	Sigma Aldrich
Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (C ₂ H ₆ SO)	Sigma Aldrich
Fungizone	Invitrogen Life Technologies,
	Paisley, UK
Glycerol (C ₃ H ₈ O ₃)	BDH
Heat inactivated foetal calf serum	Sigma Aldrich
Heparin (preservative free)	Leo Laboratories Ltd., Princes
	Risborough, Leicestershire, UK
Hydrogen peroxide (H ₂ O ₂)	BDH
Lymphoprep (Ficoll)	Axis-Shield, Oslo, Norway
Methanol (CH ₃ OH)	BDH
Milk powder (fat free)	Nestlé, Vevey, Switzerland

Molecular weight rainbow coloured protein markers	Amersham Pharmacia Biotech Limited
o-Phenylenediamine dihydrochloride (OPD)	Sigma Aldrich
Penicillin/streptomycin	Life Technologies
Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) tablets	Sigma Aldrich
Polyoxyethylene-sorbitan monolaurate (Tween20)	Sigma Aldrich
Recombinant human interleukin-2	EuroCetus, Amsterdam, Netherlands
Ready mini-gels (15% Tris-HCl) for immunoblotting	Bio-Rad Laboratories
RPMI 1640 medium with glutamine	Life Technologies
Sodium azide (NaN ₃)	BDH
Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS)	Bio-Rad Laboratories
$(C_{12}H_{25}O_4SNa)$	
Sodium perborate (0.03%) in phosphate citrate buffer (0.05 M, pH 5.0)	Sigma Aldrich
Streptavidin coated 96-well microplates	Mimotopes, Clayton, Victoria, Australia
Sulfuric acid (H ₂ SO ₄)	BDH
Tris (0.25M)/Glycine (1.92M)/SDS (1%)	National Diagnostics, Hessle Hulk, UK
Trypan-blue (0.4%)	Sigma Aldrich
Urea (CH ₄ NO ₂)	Bio-Rad Laboratories
2.1.2 Antigens, peptides	
Biotinylated peptides	Mimotopes
Cytochrome P450IID6 (CYP2D6)	Pharmacia

Virusys, North Berwick, Maine, USA

recombinant (baculovirus)

Herpes Simplex Virus-1 (HSV1) extract

Pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (PDC)Sigma Aldrichpurified from porcine heartSmall hepatitis B surface antigen (SHBsAg)Research Diagnostics, Flanders NJ, USArecombinant (yeast)

2.1.3 Antibodies

FITC conjugated rabbit anti-human total IgG	Dako, Ely, UK
QRed conjugated anti-CD4	Sigma Aldrich
PE conjugated anti-IFNy	Dako
Peroxidase conjugated goat anti-human IgA	Southern Biotechnology Associates
	Inc., Birmingham, Alabama, USA
Peroxidase conjugated goat anti-human IgG	ibid
Peroxidase conjugated goat anti-human IgM	ibid
Peroxidase conjugated mouse anti-human	ibid
IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, IgG4	
Peroxidase conjugated rabbit anti-human IgA,	Dako
IgG, IgM, κ, λ	

2.1.4 Non-commercially available antige	ens				
Periplasmic maltose E. coli	Professor Winfried Boos, Konstanz				
	Germany				
2.1.5 Plastics, consumables					
Centrifuge tubes (50 ml; 15 ml)	Falcon, Becton Dickinson				
Cryovials	Nunc, Roskilde, Denmark				
Cryo 1°C Freezing Container	Nalgene, Nalge Europe Ltd.,				
	Hereford, UK				
Disposable plastic pipettes	Bibby Sterilin Limited., Store				
	Staffs, UK				

FACScan tubes	Becton Dickinson
Filter and pipette tips	Starlab, Milton Keynes, UK
Laboratory film 'parafilm'	American National Can, Chicago, Illinois, USA
Microcentrifuge tubes	Thermo Life Sciences, Basingstoke, Hampshire, UK
Pasteur pipettes	Greiner Labortechnik Ltd., Darsley, Gloustershire, UK
Precision weighing boats	Thermo Life Sciences
Syringes	Becton Dickinson
Test tube racks	Thermo Life Sciences
Tissue culture plates; 96-, 48-, 24-well	Nunc
Trays	Euroimmun
Universal containers 20 ml	Bibby Sterilin Limited
Whatman paper	Biorad Laboratories
2.1.6 Commercial assays	
2.1.6.1 ELISA	
Anti-cytomegalovirus (CMV)	Euroimmun, Montypool, UK
Anti-HSV1	ibid
Anti-helicobacter pylori (HELPY)	ibid
Anti-liver kidney microsomal-1 (LKM1) (CYP2D6)	Pharmacia
Anti-mitochondrial-2 (M2)	Pharmacia
2.1.6.2 Immunoblot	
Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)	Euroimmun
HSV1	ibid
HELPY	ibid

Liver (human) mitochondrial, microsomal and cytosolic antigen

ibid

2.1.7 Instrumentation

Alarm timer	Sharp Electronics,
	Manchester, UK
Autoclave (series 290)	Harvard LTE,
	Greenfield, Oldham, UK
Beta counter (model 1500)	Canberra Packard Ltd.,
	Pangbourne, Berks, UK
Benchtop centrifuge (model Labofuge	Heraeus Instruments,
400R)	Osterode, Germany
Cell harvester (model 200A/290)	Cambridge Technology Inc.,
	Massachusetts, USA
Electronic calculator	Sharp Electronics
ELISA microplate reader (model MRX)	Dynex Technologies,
	West Sussex, UK
ELISA washer (MRW model)	Thermo Life Sciences
Epifluorescence microscope (Aristoplan)	Leica, Germany
FACScan flow cytometer	Becton Dickinson Immunochemistry
	Systems
	San José, California, USA
Finnpipettes	Thermo Life Sceinces
Gamma irradiator (model Gammacell-1000)	AECL Industrial, Atomic Energy of
	Canada Ltd., Ontario, Canada
Incubator (37 °C)	Jouan, Tring, Hertfordshire, UK
Incubator (CO ₂) (model MCO-17AIC)	Sanyo, Jencons Scientific Ltd,
	Bedfordshire, UK
Laminar flow hood	Howorth
	Farnworth, Bolton, UK
--	--
Microcentrifuge (model IEC Centra-M)	Heraeus Instruments
Electrophoresis system (model MINI- PROTEAN II)	Bio-Rad Laboratories
Neubauer counting chamber	Weber Scientific International Ltd., London, UK
Pipette controller	Starlab
Semi-dry electrophoretic transfer cell	Bio-Rad Laboratories
(model Trans-Blot SD)	
Shaker	Dynex Technologies,
Spectrophotometer (model DU-62)	Beckman Instruments Ltd., High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, UK
Thermometer	Themo Life Sciences
Vortex (model Genie 2)	Scientific industries (Si), New York, USA
Water-bath	Grant Instruments Limited, Nerts, UK

2.2 METHODS

2.2.1 Bioinformatics tools

2.2.1.1 PROTEININFO 'advanced sequence search'

ProteinInfo (http://129.85.19.192/prowl/proteininfo.html) is a search engine from Proteometrics (www.proteometrics.com) that enables detection of sequences that match a particular sequence motif (Altschul, 1991). Fragments of sequence motifs can be entered and all of the sequences matching that pattern in a particular database are retrieved. Proteinfo provides the ability to choose a search among three databases, namely SWISS-PROT, NCBInr and dbEST. An entry in a database can be found by selecting keywords or sequence motifs after selecting a species or taxa (Altschul, 1991). Proteinfo's 'analysis amino acid sequence' is a tool that gives the ability to perform a variety of analyses on an amino acid sequence or an entry in the database, including amino acid composition, hydrophobicity, disulfide maps and patterns of enzymatic digestion and mass spectrometric fragmentation (Altschul, 1991).

The PROTEININFO 'advanced sequence search' tool allows identification of sequence motifs with pre-selected amino acid substitutions in desirable positions of the sequence (Altschul, 1991). Instead of looking for entries in the database that contain the EITDKA sequence of human PDC-E2₂₂₂₋₂₂₇, for example, it is possible to search for proteins that possess the ExTDK[STAG] motif where x, corresponds to any of the 20 amino acids; the [STAG] preference searches for entries with S or T or A or G amino acid at this position i.e. for motifs such as ExTDKS or ExTDKT or ExTDKA or ExTDKG. The PROTEININFO 'advanced sequence search' has also the ability to perform searches investigating entries with a partial identity (for example 70% or 82%) with the sequence under investigation. For example, it is possible to search for *E. coli* proteins with more than 85% identity with human PDC-E2 -EITDKA- i.e. *E. coli* sequences that have an identity of at least 5 amino acids of any possible 5 amino acid combination with EITDKA.

2.2.1.2 BLAST

2.2.1.2.1 PSI-BLASTp

The Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) provides a method for rapid searching of nucleotide (BLASTn) and protein (BLASTp) databases. Position Specific Iterative (PSI) BLAST refers to a feature of BLAST in which a profile table that lists the frequencies of each amino acid in each position of protein sequence is automatically constructed from a multiple alignment of the highest scoring hits in an initial BLAST search (Schaffer et al., 1999, Schaffer et al., 2001). PSI-BLAST calculates the number of different alignments that are expected to occur in a database search by chance. The lower the expected (E) value the more significant the score (Schaffer et al., 1999, Schaffer et al., 2001). PSI-BLASTp filters out those cases where the pattern occurrence is probably random and not indicative of homology and permits calculated expected (E)-values to take into account the amino acid composition of the individual database sequences involved, achieved with a scaling statistical procedure which provides a scoring system for each alignment (Schaffer et al., 1999, Schaffer et al., 2001). By applying this programme, alignments from different proteins with equal number of identities can receive different scores, based upon their amino acid composition (Schaffer et al., 1999, Schaffer et al., 2001).

2.2.1.2.2 BLASTp 2 sequences

'BLASTp 2 sequences' is an interactive tool that utilizes the BLAST engine for pairwise protein-protein sequence comparison based on the same algorithm and statistics of local alignments that have been described for PSI-BLAST (Tatusova and Madden, 1999).

Different scoring matrices are provided for protein-protein comparisons; each matrix is most sensitive at finding similarities at a specific evolutionary distance (Tatusova and Madden, 1999). The default matrix, BLOSUM62 is generally considered to be the best for a wide variety of distances; PAM70 is suitable for comparison of short sequences (Tatusova and Madden, 1999).

2.1.2.3 Cn3D visualisation tool

Cn3D is a three-dimensional visualization tool for biomolecular structures, sequences, and sequence alignments (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Structure/CN3D/cn3d.shtml). Cn3D displays structure-structure alignments along with their structure-based sequence alignments, to emphasize what regions of a group of related proteins which are most conserved in structure and sequence. Cn3D, version 4 is a complete multiple alignment editor giving the ability to create and even annotate multiple alignments. With the help of Cn3D, the three dimensional structure of short sequences, motifs or domains of a protein can be further analysed based on the structure of the whole protein deposited in the database (Figure 2.1).

Cn3D View menu contains items that control how the structure as a whole is displayed. The Show/Hide menu contains operations that allow certain substructures, chains, and domains to be shown or hidden. The choices in the Style menu affect the shape and colour of the different parts of the structure, for example, green for helices, orange for strands, and blue for coil.

Cn3D intentionally keeps colour separate from drawing style. The Style: Colouring/Shortcuts menu choices determine what properties are used to map different parts of the structure to different colours. Using the choices of the menu, it is for example easy to visualize a structure's NCBI-determined domain composition (Domain), or crystallographic temperatures (Temperature). Rendering Shortcuts choices determine the shape of the various parts of the structures, like Worms or Ball and Stick. When a single structure is loaded into Cn3D, the sequence viewer shows the sequences of all protein and nucleic acid chains in the structure. The colour of each residue is coordinated between the structure and sequence windows: each letter of the sequence represents a residue in the structure, and always adopts the colour of the backbone's alpha carbon, even if side chains are coloured differently from backbone in the structure window.

The most powerful application of the sequence window in Cn3D is to allow easy correlation of residues in the sequence with atoms in the structure. Thus, the user can quickly locate and highlight selected parts of the protein from the sequence window.

Chapter 2



Figure 2.1 A representative protein structure shown by Cn3D. This example is the WD40 domain, which is a multi-functional 7-fold beta propeller. Cn3D is showing a representative protein structure, the family alignment, and annotation panels with information about annotated features of this protein family. Highlighted in both structure and sequence windows are the conserved residues in a pattern characteristic to this domain

2.2.2 Detection of antibodies

2.2.2.1 Indirect Immunofluorescence

Tissue autoantibodies were detected by IIFL on 5- μ m cryostat sections of rat liver, kidney and stomach (Smith *et al.*, 1974). The cryostat sections were prepared as follows: segments of rat liver, kidney and stomach were juxtaposed to form a block of 0.3 cm on a cryotome chuck and immersed in fumes of liquid nitrogen. After the cryostat sections were cut, they are fixed in air at room temperature for 30 min before use.

Fifty μ l of patient sera were tested at the initial dilution of 1/10 in phosphate buffer saline (PBS, 0.15 M, pH 7.2). Tissue sections were incubated with the diluted sera for 30 min at room temperature. Slides were then washed in PBS for 5 min. Fifty μ l of fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated anti-human IgG diluted 1/50 were added and the sections incubated for 30 min. Following washing in PBS for 5 min, the slides are mounted in 9:1 solution of glycerol and PBS. The sections were finally examined for flourescent staining by ultraviolet microscope. The end point of titration for sera tested was determined by double diluting the positive sera to extinction.

This technique enables the simultaneous detection of a large variety of autoantibodies including AMA, ANA, SMA, and LKM1, all important in the diagnosis of autoimmune liver diseases (Vergani *et al.*, 2004). AMA stains the renal tubuli with a clear strengthening of the staining at the level of the distal, smaller, tubules (Vergani *et al.*, 2004). AMA also stains the gastric parietal cells of the stomach, and the dual renal-gastric positivity gives a clear, unmistakable immunofluorescent picture (Figure 2.2). Also LKM1 stains the renal tubuli with a pattern not immediately distinguishable from that of AMA, unless the kidney sections have been cut in such a way to give a good representation of both distal tubules, preferentially stained by AMA, and proximal tubules, preferentially stained by LKM1 (Figure 2.3). The presence of the liver in the composite substrate helps further in the differential diagnosis, since LKM1 gives a brilliant staining of the hepatocyte cytoplasm with contrastingly black, punched out nuclei, while AMA gives a much duller, granular cytoplasmic hue (Vergani *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 2.2 Immunofluorescence appearance of anti-mitochondrial antibodies. Substrate: rat kidney (left), rat stomach (right). AMA stains the renal tubuli with stronger staining of the distal tubules (arrows). These are readily recognisable because smaller. The diagnosis is confirmed in the stomach, where AMA characteristically stains the gastric parietal cells



Figure 2.3 Immunofluorescence appearance of anti-mitochondrial (AMA) (left) and liver kidney microsomal antibody (LKM1) on rat kidney. The two autoantibodies are readily distinguishable here, since AMA shows a stronger staining of the smaller, distal tubules. LKM1 and AMA are frequently misdiagnosed, especially when only the kidney substrate is used and the sections do not contain both proximal and distal tubules. The use of other tissues such as stomach and liver is very important to facilitate the diagnosis, since they give different patterns characteristic for each of the two autoantibodies (Vergani et al., 2004)

2.2.2.2 Immunoblotting

Identification of antigen by immunoblotting requires the protein to be immobilized on a membrane, where it is identified by a specific antibody or human serum samples containing antibodies specific for this antigen. Following solubilization, the protein sample is separated by discontinuous sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) system (Laemmli, 1970). This system uses one-dimension polyacrylamide mini-gel electrophoresis to separate proteins under denaturing conditions, i.e., in the presence of 0.1% SDS. Blotting is performed in a tank of buffer with the gel completely submerged between two electrode panels. In this setting, proteins are separated only according to their molecular size as they move through a polyacrylamide gel matrix toward the anode. The unique combination of speed and high resolution is the foremost advantage of mini-gel electrophoresis.

A ready-made 2-well (one large for the protein sample and one smaller for the molecular weight marker) mini (7.0 cm height x 8.3 cm width 1.0 mm thickness) 15% gel was used for the separation of proteins with a molecular size up to 100 kDa; a 7% gel was used for the resolution of proteins with a molecular size ranging from 100 kDa to 200 kDa. The protein sample to be analysed was placed in sample buffer and boiled at 100 °C for 6 min. Ready-made mini gels are loaded with 25 µg/membrane of protein. The gels were run at 200 volt (V), using constant voltage mode for 45 min. Preliminary experiments using a series of different concentrations of antigen $(5 - 50 \mu g/membrane)$ have been performed in the present study to define the optimal conditions of the assay. A given amount of protein was chosen when it was immunofixed as a clear band by a positive serum, but was not detected by 7 serum samples from healthy controls and 12 pathological controls. Biotinylated molecular weight standards ranging from 14.4 to 205 kDa were used in adjacent wells to provide a reference against which to compare the proteins to be analysed. After electrophoresis, the stacking gel was removed and placed in transfer buffer. Blotting transfer buffer must allow effective elution from the gel matrix as well as effective binding of the proteins to the membrane. The commonly used buffer to transfer from SDS gels to nitrocellulose is 39 mM glycine, 48 mM Tris, pH 9.2 containing 0.0375% (w/v) SDS and 20% (v/v) methanol. This buffer maintains the negative charge of SDS-bound proteins, and the methanol increases the binding capacity of nitrocellulose. The proteins separated by SDS-PAGE were transferred on top of the nitrocellulose filter paper in a semi-dry electrophoretic transfer cell in transfer buffer at 13v constant voltage for 1 h. A transfer blotting sandwich was assembled as

shown schematically in Figure 2.4. On one half of the transfer cassette, a scouring pad soaked in buffer was placed followed by two pieces of pre-wetted Whatman 540 paper cut to the same size of the gel. A transfer membrane also cut to the same size of the gel and pre-wetted with transfer buffer, was placed on the top of the filter, the gel being placed on the top of the membrane making sure there were no bubbles between the gel and the membrane (It is important not to trap bubbles at any stage as they block protein transfer). In the case of bubbles, these were removed by rolling a pipette smoothly across the surface. The sandwich was completed with the other two layers of Whatman paper and scouring pad, respectively (Figure 2.4). After transfer, the apparatus was dismantled and the transfer membrane was removed, noting the orientation of the blot by cutting off one corner of the membrane.

The part of the membrane which contained the molecular weight standards, was cut out and reacted with peroxidase-conjugated avidin to visualize the bands. The remaining membrane was incubated in blocking buffer for 1 h to absorb non-specific binding. The membrane was washed once for 15 min, and twice for 5 min, with fresh changes of washing buffer, at room temperature, on a rocking platform. The washed membrane was cut into strips and incubated with serum samples from patients and controls at dilutions ranging between 1/200 and 1/5,000 for 2 h at room temperature. The strips were washed as previously described and incubated for 90 minutes with the labelled peroxidase-conjugated anti-human total Ig or IgG or individual IgG subclasses antisera, respectively diluted 1/1000 - 1/4000 in blocking buffer according to the manufacturer's guidelines.



Figure 2.4 Material specifications for ready precast gels (A-B) and schematic representation of the blotting sandwich (C). If the same protein sample is to be probed with multiple serum samples, a 2-well mini gel consisting of a large well for the protein sample and a smaller one for the molecular weight standard can be used as indicated by the type of comb of the ready precast gel (A). Migrations are based on the leading dye front being run to the bottom of a gel (B). Single-percentage gels produce the greatest resolution between any 2 bands that are close in molecular weight, whereas a linear gradient gel allows both high and low molecular weight bands to be visualized on the same gel (B). A blotting membrane (nitrocellulose) and 2 sheets of thick filter paper were preassembled into a blotting membrane/filter paper sandwich, to fit the ready Gel/Mini-PROTEAN-size gels (C)

2.2.2.3 ELISA

Biotinylated synthetic peptides were constructed by 9-fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl (fmoc) chemistry (Weiner *et al.*, 1992, Rodda and Tribbick, 1996). Biotin was linked to the peptides through a spacer with alternating serine (S) and glycine (G) residues to avoid steric hindrance and reduce hydrophobicity (Rodda and Tribbick, 1996). Peptides conformed to the following format: biotin-SGSG-peptide-amide, where SGSG is the spacer. Peptides encoding a scrambled 15-, 18-, or 20-meric randomly generated sequence of amino acids, biotin-SGSGHEDYVNQSLRPTPLEISVRA-amide (van 't Hof *et al.*, 1993, Choudhuri *et al.*, 1998, Gregorio *et al.*, 1999, Gregorio *et al.*, 2003, Kerkar *et al.*, 2003), was used as the negative control peptides. All peptides were more than 90% pure after reverse-phase high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The identity of each peptide was confirmed by mass spectrometry. Peptides have been dissolved in 200-600 μ l of 40% acetonitrile and divided in aliquots kept at -70° C until use. The reactivity of anti-peptide positive serum was tested by ELISA (Choudhuri *et al.*, 1998, Gregorio *et al.*, 2003).

A total of 200 ml/well of 2% BSA/PBS was added for 1 h at 20°C to a 96-well polysterene plate pre-coated with 5 mg/ml streptavidin to prevent non-specific binding. The optimum concentrations of reagents at various steps of each immunoassay were determined in preliminary experiments by checkerboard titration. Two serum samples giving high anti-peptide readings were tested at dilutions of 1/100, 1/200, 1/300, 1/500, 1/1000 to define the dilution giving the lowest background noise and the optimal antipeptide binding value using different concentrations of peptide (2, 5, 15, 30 µg/ml) (Kerkar et al., 2003). After addition to each well of 100 ml of biotinylated peptide diluted to 1/1000 in PBS containing 0.1% sodium azide and 0.1% BSA, the plate was mildly agitated in a shaker for 1 h at 20°C. One hundred µl of patient serum diluted to 1/200 (except otherwise indicated) in 2% BSA/PBS containing 0.1% sodium azide were added to each well and incubated under mild agitation at 20°C for 90 minutes. After 90 minutes incubation, plates were incubated with 100 µl/well of serum diluted in 2% BSA/PBS containing 0.1% sodium azide. After each of the above steps, the plates were washed five times with PBS containing 0.1% Tween 20. After washing, 100 µl/well of horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated rabbit anti-total human Ig, or goat IgG, or mouse anti-human IgG subclasses (G1, G2, G3, G4) (Santiago et al., 1997) diluted in 2% BSA/PBS were added. The reaction was detected by the addition of 100 μ l/well of freshly-prepared o-phenylenediamine (OPD) solution containing 0.4 mg/ml of 3% hydrogen peroxide in citrate phosphate buffer terminated with 100 µl/well of 4N sulfuric acid. Absorbance (optical density, OD) was read in a microplate reader at 490 nm. In each plate, one well was used as blank, in which serum and peptide were omitted, and two additional wells were used for a positive and a negative control. The positive control consisted of an LKM1-positive serum (titre 1/5120), which in preliminary experiments was shown to react with CYP2D6₂₅₃₋₂₇₂, that is a well-defined immunodominant epitope on CYP2D6 (Kerkar et al., 2003). Randomly generated scrambled control peptides incubated with serum from a healthy individual were used as negative control. Each serum tested against experimental peptides was also tested against the control peptide. Reaction for a given peptide was considered positive when $OD^{test}/OD^{control}$ peptide was ≥ 2 , this cut off representing values higher than mean ± 5 SD of anti-peptide readings of serum samples from up to 11 healthy subjects against 7 randomly selected peptides, the number of serum samples and peptides tested depending on the condition of the experiment and the total number of peptides and serum samples under investigation (Choudhuri et al., 1998, Gregorio et al., 1999, Gregorio et al., 2003, Kerkar et al., 2003).

All experiments were performed in triplicate. Repeated experiments gave variations <10%.

2.2.2.4 Inhibition studies

2.2.2.4.1 Liquid phase

To investigate whether the reactivity to microbial and homologous self peptides was due to cross-reactivity, competition ELISA were performed coating the plate with a microbial or self homologue and using the relevant microbial and self peptides and antigens, a control peptide and a control antigen as competitors in liquid phase (Choudhuri *et al.*, 1998, Gregorio *et al.*, 1999, Gregorio *et al.*, 2003, Kerkar *et al.*, 2003). A predetermined diluted serum was mixed with peptide solutions to give final peptide concentrations of 1000, 500, 250, 100, 65, 30, 15, 7.5, 3.8 μ g/ml, respectively (except otherwise indicated). The solutions were incubated at room temperature for 90 minutes and then tested for residual anti-peptide antibody reactivity by ELISA.

2.2.2.4.2 Solid phase

Inhibition studies were also done using solid phase inhibitors (peptides or antigens). Briefly, 200μ l of a test serum diluted in a predetermined dilution were added to the first well of an 8-well row pre-coated with either the test peptide or antigen, or control peptide or antigen. After 15 minutes incubation at 20°C on a shaker, the serum was sequentially transferred to wells 2-8, with a 15-minute incubation in each well. One hundred μ l of absorbed serum were then tested for anti-peptide antigen and compared with antibody reactivity before absorption. Antibody detection was carried out under identical conditions to those described in *ELISA*.

2.2.2.5 Relative affinity of anti-peptide antibody

The relative affinity of antibody binding to microbial and self homologues was tested according to Quinn *et al* (1993) with slight modifications such as urea being used as a chaotropic agent instead of potassium thiocyanate (KSCN) (Hedman *et al.*, 1991). Microplate wells were coated with 100 μ l of peptides in final concentrations as for the determination of anti-peptide antibody binding (Quinn *et al.*, 1993). After blocking for an hour and washing, wells were incubated with serum samples at a dilution of 1/1000 or 1/10000 (except otherwise indicated) for 2 hours at room temperature. Sera positive and negative for individual anti-peptide reactivities where used as controls. After washing, graded concentrations of urea (1M- 8M) were added to each well for 3 minutes to inhibit antigen-antibody interactions (Hedman *et al.*, 1991). After washing, the substrate solution was added and the reaction was stopped as previously described. Absorbance values in the absence and presence of urea were used to calculate the percentage (%) of inhibition of anti-peptide antibody binding by different concentrations of urea (Hedman *et al.*, 1991, Quinn *et al.*, 1993). Results were expressed as the mean ±SD of three experiments using individual serum samples.

2.2.3 Cellular studies

2.2.3.1 Separation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells

Ten to 40 ml of peripheral blood were obtained by venepuncture, and mixed with preservative-free heparin in a sterile syringe, to a final concentration of 10 U/ml (Plebanski, 2000). Aliquots of whole blood were layered on the top of an equal volume of Lymphoprep (Ficoll) density gradient solution of density 1.077 g/ml in a 20 or 40 ml sterile tube and centrifuged at 800g for 20 min at 20 °C, without brake (Plebanski, 2000). The milky-white layer of PBMC at the interface between the Ficoll (transparent) and the remaining plasma (yellow) was collected by aspirating it gently from the top with a sterile pipette to a fresh tube and washed at 300g for 7 min with RPMI 1640 medium without glutamine (Plebanski, 2000). In the presence of red cells, the flicked pellet of cell preparation was mixed gently with 10 ml of red blood cell lysis solution (ACK buffer containing 0.15 M NH₄Cl, 1 mM KHCO₃, 0.1 mM Na₂ EDTA; pH 7.2 and left at room temperature). After 5 minutes, the solution was diluted with 25 ml of RPMI and 2 ml of foetal calf serum (FCS) to underlay the cells in the red blood cell lysis solution and centrifuged at 600g for 7 minutes at room temperature (Plebanski, 2000). After discarding the supernatant (including the FCS), the pellet was flicked and resuspended in 5 ml RPMI and washed by centrifuging at 600g for 7 minutes at room temperature. After discarding the supernatant, the flicked cells, clean of red cells (white pellet of cells), were washed again in RPMI and resuspended in the appropriate medium at the required cell concentration for further cell culture studies or diluted in frozen buffer (90% heat inactivated FCS and 10% DMSO) and stored in cryovials for 48 h at -70 °C and then transferred to a liquid nitrogen tank (Plebanski, 2000).

2.2.3.2 Thawing cryopreserved cells

Cryopreserved cells were thawed from the nitrogen tank by first transferring the vials to -70 °C for 48 h (Plebanski, 2000). Cells were then quickly thawed by immersion and gentle shaking of the vials in a 37 °C water bath (Plebanski, 2000). Cells were transferred from the vial to a 15 ml sterile Universal tube; initially slowly with gentle shaking (0.5 ml/min for the first 2 min), followed by 2 ml/min for the next 2 min and then topped up with 7 ml RPMI with glutamine (Plebanski, 2000). After centrifugation at 600g for 7 min at room temperature with brake, the supernatant was discarded and 12 ml of RPMI with glutamine were added for a final spin, as before (Plebanski, 2000). A

cell count was performed using a haemocytometer and lymphocyte viability was determined at the same time by Trypan-blue exclusion (Plebanski, 2000). Equal volumes of Trypan-blue solution and lymphocyte suspension were mixed, then put into a haemocytometer chamber and examined under a light microscope. The cell viability was consistently over 90% (Plebanski, 2000).

2.2.3.3 T-cell proliferation assay

The T-cell proliferation assay is based on the principle that engagement of the TCR by the HLA-antigen complex on the surface of autologous APC, together with the second signal results in T-cell activation, cytokine secretion, and cell division (Lenschow et al., 1996). The level of antigen-induced T-cell proliferation, which is quantified by the incorporation or radiolabelled thymidine, gives a measure of the in vivo priming of Tcells specific for that antigen (Vyakarnam et al., 2000). Since PBMC contain professional APC as well as T-cells, these cells can be used in proliferation assays without separation or further addition (Vyakarnam et al., 2000). 1 x 10⁶/ml cryopreserved or fresh PBMC were diluted in RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FCS, 2 mM L-glutamine, 25 mM HEPES, 100 U/ml benzylpenicillin and 0.1 mg/ml streptomycin, 2.5 µg/ml amphotericin B (Fungizone) (complete culture medium), without IL-2 and 100 µl/well were added in a 96-well round bottom plate in the presence of peptide, full-length antigen or non-antigen specific stimuli (Vyakarnam et al., 2000, Plebanski, 2000). After a 7-day culture at 37 °C in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere, the microcultures were pulsed with 0.5 µCi/well of ³H-thymidine for 18 h and harvested onto glass-fibre filter papers using a multichannel harvester (Vyakarnam et al., 2000). Filters were discharged automatically into scintillation vials, allowed to air-dry, 1 ml scintillant added and the amount of incorporated ³H-thymidine was determined by liquid scintillation spectroscopy (Vyakarnam et al., 2000). In each experiment, 5-8 wells containing PBMC, but no antigen served as negative controls (Vyakarnam et al., 2000). Each peptide or fulllength antigen was tested in triplicate (Vyakarnam et al., 2000). Results were expressed as the stimulation index (SI) which is the ratio of the mean counts per min (cpm) from triplicate determinations in the presence of antigen to the mean cpm obtained in the absence of antigen. The wells exhibiting an SI >3 were considered positive in T-cell

proliferation experiments (Shimoda et al., 1995, Shimoda et al., 1998, Shimoda et al., 2000, Vyakarnam et al., 2000).

2.2.3.4 Intracellular cytokine staining

Flow cytometry is a powerful analytical technique in which individual cells can be simultaneously analysed for several parameters, including size and granularity, as well as the expression of surface and intracellular markers defined by fluorochrome labelled antibodies (see 2.1.3) (Prussin and Metcalfe, 1995, Openshaw et al., 1995, Carter and Swain, 1997). Fluorescent anti-cytokine monoclonal antibodies have become very useful for the intracellular staining and multiparameter flow cytometric analysis of individual cytokine-producing cells within mixed cell populations (Jung et al., 1993, Vikingsson et al., 1994, Prussin and Metcalfe, 1995). Multicolour immunofluorescent staining with antibodies against intracellular cytokines and cell surface markers provides a high resolution method to identify the nature and frequency of cells which express a particular cytokine(s) (Jung et al., 1993, Vikingsson et al., 1994, Prussin and Metcalfe, 1995, Openshaw et al., 1995, Nicholson et al., 1996, Picker et al., 1995). For example, multicolour immunofluorescent staining of an individual cell surface antigen and two cytoplasmic cytokines has been used to identify and enumerate cell types which express cytokines in either a restricted (e.g., Th1- versus Th2-like cells) or unrestricted (e.g., Th0-like cells) pattern (Prussin and Metcalfe, 1995, Openshaw et al., 1995, Nicholson et al., 1996, Austrup et al., 1997). In addition to enabling highly specific and sensitive measurements of several parameters for individual cells simultaneously, this method has the capacity for rapid analysis of large numbers of cells which are required for making statistically significant measurements (Roederer et al., 1997, Herzenberg et al., 2002).

Staining of intracellular cytokines depends on the identification of cytokine specific monoclonal antibodies which are compatible with a fixation-permeabilization procedure (Sander *et al.*, 1991). Optimal intracellular cytokine staining has been reported using a combination of fixation with paraformaldehyde and subsequent permeabilization of cell membranes with the detergent saponin. Paraformaldehyde fixation allows preservation of cell morphology and intracellular antigenicity, while also enabling the cells to withstand permeabilization by detergent (Sander *et al.*, 1991). Membrane permeabilization by saponin allows the cytokine-specific monoclonal antibody to

penetrate the cell membrane, cytosol, and membranes of the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus (Sander *et al.*, 1991).

A direct two-colour immunofluorescent staining method was used in the present study to characterise T lymphocytes. Piars of different fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies able to bind to distinct cell surface determinants were used. Two lymphocyte markers could therefore be determined at one time. 0.5×10^6 cells/ml were incubated for 6 hours at 37°C in 10% FCS in RPMI, with the relevant peptides, in the presence of 20 µg/mL Brefeldin A, after the first 1 hour (Maini et al., 1999, Maini et al., 2000, Lopes et al., 2003). Brefeldin A is used to block cytokine secretion and to induce intracellular accumulation (Yewdell and Bennink, 1989). Incubation without antigen was used as negative control. After incubation, cells were transferred to fluorescence activated cell sorter (FACS) tubes in the presence of 400 µl of PBS 1% FCS. After a centrifugation at 600g for 5 minutes at room temperature, the supernatant was removed and cells were gently vortexed. Cells were then stained with QRed-conjugated anti-CD4 antibody (1/100) and incubated for 20 minutes in 4 °C (Maini et al., 1999, Maini et al., 2000, Lopes et al., 2003). After centrifugation, removal of the medium and vortexing as previously described, 100 µl of Cytofix/Cytoperm were added to permeabilize and fix the cell membranes, for 20 minutes at 4 °C. After centrifugation and removal of the medium, cells were stained with PE-conjugated anti-IFNy in 100 µl of 0.1 saponin in PBS and incubated for 30 minutes in 4 °C. Following two 5 min washes with pre-cooled 0.1% FCS phosphate-buffered saline at pH 7.2, the cell pellet was resuspended in 400 µl of fixation buffer and analyzed by flow cytometry. Lymphocytes were identified by their characteristic forward and 90° light scatter properties and a gate is set to exclude debris. Fluorescence signal overlap was subtracted by electronic compensation using lymphocytes stained with a single fluorochrome. A minimum of 5,000 events was acquired for each sample and analyzed using the FACScan Research software (Becton Dickinson). Quadrant markers were set using preparations of lymphocytes stained with mAbs conjugated with either QRed or PE alone or in combination, such that cells in quadrant 1 stain with PE-conjugated antibody alone, in quadrant 2 with both fluorochromes, in quadrant 3 with neither and in quadrant 4 with QRed-conjugated antibody alone. After washing, cells were analyzed by flow cytometry.

2.2.4 T-cell 'help' for B-cell antibody production

For the study of ClpX specific T-cell 'help' in the production of anti-ClpP antibodies in patients with PBC, 1×10^6 /ml cryopreserved or fresh PBMC were stimulated with PDC antigen (15µg/ml) in complete medium with IL-2 (10 U/ml) in the presence of 0.5-1 x 10^6 irradiated (3,000 rad) autologous PBMC (feeder cells) as APC (Stevens *et al.*, 1988, Mosmann and Coffman, 1989, Mahon *et al.*, 1995). Ionising radiation was used to abolish selectively the functions of radiosensitive subpopulations of immunocompetent cells. Irradiation prevents replication of feeder cells and antigen presenting cells. Ionising radiations are quantitated in Gray (Gy) or rads. One Gy is equal to 100 rads. A Gammacell-1,000 irradiator was used in this study. The gamma irradiation source used was caesium 137, which has a half-life of 30.2 years.

Every 3 days, 0.5 ml/ well of the cell-free supernatants were aspirated and the cultures replenished with fresh complete medium for 2 weeks in the presence of IL-2. At day 14, cells were washed and 1 x 10^{6} /ml PBMC were cultured for 72 hours in 24-well plates with individual human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, ClpX ECOLI, ClpP ECOLI, ClpP human peptides (15μ g/ml) in complete medium without IL-2 and in the presence of 0.5 x 10^{6} /ml irradiated autologous PBMC. At the end of the culture, the cell-free supernatant was collected and tested by ELISA (*see* 2.2.2.3) for anti-peptide antibody reactivity while the cells were washed and subjected to intracellular cytokine staining.

2.2.5 Patients

Details of patients, pathological and normal controls studied in the present Thesis are given in individual Chapters. All subjects consented to participate in the study. The Local Ethical Committees approved the study protocol.

2.2.6 Statistical analysis

Occasionally results are expressed as individual numerical values and are given in a tabulated form. More commonly and when data conform to a normal distribution, results are expressed as means and their variability around the mean is illustrated by the standard deviation (SD) of the mean. Standard error of the mean is given instead when this notation is necessary for further statistical computation eg Student's t test. The unpaired Student's t test is employed to assess differences between means of the two

samples while the paired t test is used to ascertain differences between the means of paired observations. The correlation between two variables is analysed by the use of the Pearson coefficient of correlation (r), while the distribution of discrete variables in two sets of data are compared with the Chi square (χ^2) with the Yates's correction. When dealing with small numbers, the Fisher's exact test was used instead.

Data were also analysed using non-parametric statistical computations equivalent to the parametric ones. The non-parametric analysis applies equally well to date non-normally distributed as to those following a Gaussian distribution. In normally distributed sets of data, however, parametric tests tend to be more powerful discriminations than their non-parametric counterparts. For this reason, results of non-parametric tests (such as the Wilcoxon's rank sum test and the (R) Spearman's coefficient of correlation) are given only in those cases in which data cannot be reconciled with a normal distribution. In such cases the average value is given as the median, while the extent of variation in data distribution is indicated by the range. P values less than 0.05 are considered significant. Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS (SPSS inc., Chicago, Illinois, USA) statistical package.

The candidate has performed all the experiments described in this Thesis, the only exception being the IIFL for autoantibody detection performed by Dr Edward T Davies, Immunology Department, Rayne Institute, King's College.

CHAPTER 3

Mycobacteria and PBC

3.1 BACKGROUND

PBC-specific AMA have been shown to cross-react with PDC-E2 of a variety of microorganisms (Sayers and Baum, 1976, Fussey et al., 1991, Baum, 1995). A study by Vilagut et al. (1994) showed that sera from Spanish patients with PBC reacted specifically with an extract of Mycobacterium gordonae (MYCGO). This reactivity was restricted to PBC, being absent in pathological controls including patients with HBV, HCV, AIH and normal controls (Vilagut et al., 1994). Furthermore, these investigators demonstrated that this reactivity reflected antibodies directed to the 65-kDa heat shock protein (hsp65) of MYCGO, that cross-reacts with PDC-E2 (Vilagut et al., 1997). Vilagut et al. (1997) went on to suggest the existence of a shared epitope between MYCGO hsp65 and human mitochondrial antigens as the reason for the observed crossreaction. Following a protein database search showing that there is an excellent and almost unique match between part of the dominant B-and T-cell epitope of PDC-E2 and a peptide sequence in MYCGO and other mycobacterial hsp65s, the present study investigated whether the peptides showing such molecular mimicry are, firstly, targets of a PBC-specific humoral immune response and, secondly whether they are also targets of a cross-reactive immune response. A third aim was to compare such immune responses in Spanish and in British PBC populations in view of the different PBCspecificity of reactivity against MYCGO reported in a previous study (O'Donohue et al., 1994).

3.2 METHODS

3.2.1 Subjects

Serum samples were obtained from 90 patients with PBC: 40 followed up at the Liver Unit, Hospital Clinic, Barcelona, Spain (38 female, mean age 55.3 years \pm 12SD), all but one AMA positive by IIFL (median titer: 1/400, range 1/50 – 1/800), mean duration of disease 83 months (range 5 –221) and 50 attending the out-patient clinic of the Liver Transplantation and Hepatobiliary Medicine Unit, Royal Free Hospital, London, United Kingdom (44 female, mean age 54.9 years \pm 11SD), all but two AMA positive by IIFL (median titre: 1/640, range 1/40 – 1/10240), mean duration of disease 49 months (range 1-180). Demographic, biochemical and clinical characteristics of the patients are given in Table 3.1. Ten of 40 sera from Spain were aliquots stored at –70°C from the original study by Vilagut *et al.* (1994). All sera were tested under code.

Eighty-four chronic HCV infected subjects, all HCV RNA positive, 44 from Spain (16 female, mean age 39±13.2SD) and 40 from UK (28 female, mean age 47±11SD), all AMA negative, were tested as pathological controls.

3.2.2 Detection of AMA

For the present study, AMA was retested by conventional IIFL (see 2.2.2.1) and was further evaluated by immunoblotting (see 2.2.2.2) and by ELISA (see 2.2.2.3) using as antigen purified PDC from porcine heart mitochondria (see 2.1.2).

3.2.3 Protein database search and analysis

Identification of MYCGO hsp65 sequences homologous to human PDC-E2 was carried out through two complementary approaches. First, the complete 120 aa MYCGO hsp65 protein fragment was serially divided into 6 aa segments, each overlapping the preceding segment by 1 aa. The resulting set of 115 hexamers was used to scan for sequence-sharing motifs between MYCGO hsp65 and the 614 aa human PDC-E2 protein using the '*ProteinInfo*' computer-assisted programme (see 2.2.1.1). A similar investigation was carried out by dissecting the MYCGO hsp65 protein fragment into 5 and 4 aa motifs that were used as sequence probes for comparison to human PDC-E2. Second, the resulting homologies were further evaluated by comparing the MYCGO hsp65 and human PDC-E2 using the computer-assisted protein-protein sequence comparison programme '*BLASTp 2 sequences*' (see 2.2.1.2.2).

3.2.4 Peptide synthesis

Six biotinylated (*see* 2.2.2.3) 15-mer regions containing the relevant sequences: MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ (-DQSIGDLIAEAMDKV-), human PDC-E2₂₀₈₋₂₂₂ (-KVGEKLSEGDLLAEI -), PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (-KLSEGDLLAEIETDK-), PDC-E2₂₁₆₋₂₃₀ (-GDLLAEIETDKATIG-), and PDC-E2₂₂₀₋₂₃₄ (-AEIETDKATIGFEVQ-), human hsp60₁₇₉₋₁₉₃ (-DKEIGNIISDAMKKV-) and an irrelevant 15-mer control peptide were synthesized (*see* 2.2.2.3).

3.2.5 ELISA

Antibody binding to the peptides was determined by ELISA (see 2.2.2.3). The final peptide concentration was 15μ g/ml and the dilution of serum samples was 1/200 (see 2.2.2.3).

3.2.6 Inhibition studies

To investigate whether the simultaneous reactivity to MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ and PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ was due to cross-reactivity, competition ELISA were performed (*see* 2.2.2.4.1) measuring residual anti-MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ antibody reactivity after incubation with MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄, and PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, PDC antigen, control peptide and control antigen (cytochrome P4502D6) as liquid phase competitors (final concentrations: 1000, 500, 250, 100, 65, 30, 15, 7.5, 3.75 μ g/ml).

3.2.7 Anti-peptide antibody affinity

The relative affinity of antibody binding to MYCGO hsp 65_{90-104} and PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ was also investigated (*see* 2.2.2.5).

3.2.8 IgG subclass of anti-PDC-E2 antibodies

IgG subclasses of PDC-E2 specific autoantibodies were determined by immunoblotting (*see* 2.2.2.2) in serum samples from 30 PBC patients including 10 MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ reactive Spanish cases and 20 MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ unreactive cases (10 Spanish and 10 British), all reactive with PDC-E2 antigen and peptide.

3.3 RESULTS

3.3.1 Protein database search and analysis

Amino acid comparison revealed a 7/8 (88%) aa similarity (6 identities, 1 conservative substitution) between MYCGO hsp65₉₂₋₉₉ (SIGDL/AE) and human PDC-E2₂₁₄₋₂₂₁ (SEGDLLAE) (identities in **bold**, conservative substitutions in *italic*). No other pentaor tetrameric sequences are shared in common between MYCGO hsp65 and human PDC-E2. Database searches confirmed that, in bacteria, the motif SxGDL[IL]AE is virtually unique to mycobacterial hsps (SIGDLIAE), the only exception being SEGDLVAE in β galactosidase of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* (see 4..3.1). The only human sequence containing that motif is the inner lipoyl domain of PDC-E2.

In summary, there is an excellent and almost unique match between sequences of the dominant epitope of PDC-E2 and of mycobacterial hsp65.

3.3.2 ELISA

To delineate the most antigenically relevant sequence within PDC-E2₂₀₈₋₂₃₄, - the core sequence of the inner lipoyl domain surrounding the key lysine residue (K₂₂₆), site of attachment of lipoic acid (Yeaman *et al.*, 2000) -, 14 randomly selected PBC sera were tested against four 15-mer peptides overlapping by 11 aa spanning the full PDC-E2₂₀₈₋₂₃₄. Reactivity to PDC-E2₂₀₈₋₂₂₂, PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, PDC-E2₂₁₆₋₂₃₀, and PDC-E2₂₂₀₋₂₃₄ was present in 3, 14, 6 and 7 of the 14 PBC patients, respectively, absorbance values being highest against PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ in 11 of the 14 cases. Thereafter, studies focused on the PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ sequence.

3.3.2.1 Single anti-peptide antibody reactivity

Table 3.1 summarises demographic, clinical, immunological and peptide antibody binding details of the 40 Spanish and 50 British patients with PBC.

Reactivity to MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ was found in 20 (50%) of the 40 Spanish PBC patients and in 2 (4%) of the British PBC patients (p=0.000002). None of the HCV infected subjects reacted with MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄.

Reactivity to the human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ was found in 38 (95%) of 40 Spanish PBC patients and in 48 (96%) of 50 British PBC patients. None of the Spanish or British HCV infected subjects reacted with PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆.

3.3.2.2 Double anti-peptide antibody reactivity

Double reactivity to the MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄/human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ pair was present in 19 (47.5%) Spanish PBC patients and in 2 (4%) of the 50 British PBC patients (p=0.000004). No sera were found to react with human hsp60₁₇₉₋₁₉₃.

Among the 10 serum samples from the original study of Vilagut *et al.* with an evident anti-MYCGO hsp65 antibody reactivity, 9 (90%) were MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄/human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ double reactive.

There were no differences in anti-PDC antibody titres or other clinical, biochemical or histological parameters between the Spanish PBC patients with or without MYCGO $hsp65_{90-104}/human PDC-E2_{212-226}$ double reactivity, as well as between the Spanish (double reactive or unreactive) and British PBC patients

	Spanish PBC	British PBC	p
	(n=40)	(n=50)	
Female/Male	38/2	44/6	ns
Age (years)	55.3±1.27	54.9±1.6	ns
Duration of disease (months)	83.3±7.5	79.3±5.8	ns
AMA IIFL (pos/neg)	39/1	48/2	ns
AMA IIFL titres, median	1/400	1/640	ns
(range)	(1/50-1/800)	(1/40-1/5120)	
AMA ELISA titres (U/ml)	84.4± 6.1	78.3±3.14	ns
Anti-MYCGO90-104	20/40 (50%)	2/50 (4%)	0.000002
(Mean *OD ^{test/control} ±SEM)	3.4±0.37		
Human PDC-E2212-226	38/40 (95%)	48/50 (96%)	ns
(Mean OD ^{test/control} ±SEM)	3.34±0.18	3.44±0.19	ns
MYCGO90-104/PDC-E2212-226	19/40 (47.5%)	2/50 (4%)	0.000004

Table 3.1 Demographic, immunological features and anti-peptide reactivity details of

 the 40 Spanish and the 50 British PBC patients

PBC, primary biliary cirrhosis; AMA, anti-mitochondrial antibody; IIFL, indirect immunofluorescence; MYCGO, Mycobacterium gordonae; PDC-E2, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex-E2 subunit; *, absorbance values are expressed as optical density $(OD)^{test/control peptide}$ and considered positive ≥ 2 (see 2.2.2.3); SEM, standard error of the mean; n, number; ns, not significant

3.3.3 Inhibition studies

3.3.3.1 Inhibition of anti-MYCGO antibody reactivity

Inhibition of anti-MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ antibody binding by pre-incubation with relevant and control peptides/antigens are given in Table 3.2 and Figure 2.1.

Antibody binding to MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ was inhibited by pre-incubation with the MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ by 67.8-85.2% in all 10 MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄/PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ double-reactive cases where competition experiments were performed (Table 3.2). Among these, in cases 9, 10, 16, 17 (Figure 3.1A), and 35 of Spanish and case 11 of British serum samples (Figure 3.1B) antibody binding to MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ was inhibited 68-77% by pre-incubation with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ and 65-78.1% by pre-incubation with PDC antigen (Table 3.2).

In cases 21, 34 and 36 of Spanish and 23 of British serum samples anti-MYCGO hsp 65_{90-104} antibody binding was not inhibited much beyond what was observed with control antigen or peptide, by pre-incubation with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (12-23.6% inhibition) or PDC antigen (13.4-19.4% inhibition) (Table 3.2).

The level of inhibition in case 23 of the British serum samples reached 60.7% when 62.5 μ g/ml of PDC antigen was used as liquid phase competitor; the inhibition decreasing thereafter when up to 1000 μ g/ml PDC antigen was used for competition (Table 3.2).

3.3.3.2 Inhibition of anti-PDC-E2 antibody reactivity

The inhibition experiments were also performed in reverse. Anti-PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ antibody reactivity was tested after pre-incubation of individual serum samples from the 6 microbial/self cross-reactive cases with relevant and control peptides/antigens. In all cases (9, 10, 16, 17, 35 of Spanish and 11 of British serum samples) (Table 3.2B and Figure 3.1C-D), antibody binding to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ was inhibited up to 78.1%, 77% and 77% by pre-incubation with PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄, and the PDC antigen respectively.

Table 3.2 Inhibition of anti-MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ (A) and anti-PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (B) antibody reactivity by pre-incubation with relevant and control peptides and antigens of MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄/PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ double reactive PBC cases

Case #	Origin			Maximum Inhibition (%)		
Α.		MYCGO hsp65 ₉₀₋₁₀₄	Human PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆	PDC antigen	Control antigen	Control peptide
9 10 16 17* 21 35 34 36 11** 23	Spanish Spanish Spanish Spanish Spanish Spanish Spanish British British	76.2 72.3 79.1 82.8 69 79.9 84.9 75.1 85.2 67.8	77 69.2 72.1 71.2 17 69.2 12 21.2 68 23.6	72.5 72 78.1 77.2 14.2 65 13.4 19.4 67 60.7***	11.2 7.8 13 14.2 15.1 13.2 11.2 11.9 13.8 7.2	6.7 11.2 8.2 9.2 4.5 11.2 9.2 5.9 9.2 4.5
B. 9 10 16 17* 35 11**	Spanish Spanish Spanish Spanish Spanish British	Human PDC-E2 ₂₁₂ - ²²⁶ 76 73.9 78.1 72 67.7 70	MYCGO hsp65 ₉₀₋₁₀₄ 75.2 73 69.8 77 72.8 72	PDC antigen 77 71.3 72 77 69.1 71	Control antigen 4.2 8.2 8 6 10.1 11	Control peptide 3.1 7.1 3 4 2.8 2

* See Figure 3.1A-B; ** See Figure 3.1C-D; *** Inhibition observed with 62.5µg/ml of PDC antigen as liquid phase competitor. This declined to 23% when 1000 µg/ml was used; MYCGO, Mycobacterium gordonae; hsp, heat shock protein PDC, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex; PBC, primary biliary cirrhosis



Competitor antigen concentration (µg/ml)

Figure 3.1 A-D: Inhibition of antibody binding against MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ (A-B) and PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (C-D) by pre-incubation with MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ (\blacklozenge), human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (\blacksquare), porcine PDC antigen (\blacktriangle), control antigen (\circ) and control peptide (\ast) of Spanish case 17 (A,C), and British case 11 (B,D). Antibody binding is represented as a percentage of inhibition of binding to the peptide MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ in the presence of competitor peptide at different concentrations; MYCGO, Mycobacterium gordonae; hsp, heat shock protein; PDC, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex; ab, antibody

99

3.3.4 Affinity of anti-peptide antibody

The relative affinity of antibody binding to MYCGO hsp 65_{90-104} and PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ for Spanish case 9 and British case 11 is illustrated in Figure 3.2 demonstrating in each case higher relative antibody affinity to MYCGO hsp 65_{90-104} compared to PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, the avidity indices being 0.66 vs 0.47 and 1.1 vs 0.53 mol/L, respectively (Figure 3.2A-B).



Urea concentration (M)

Figure 3.2 A-B. Affinity profile of anti-peptide antibody. ELISA microplate wells were coated with Mycobacterium gordonae heat shock protein $(hsp)65_{90-104}$ and human pyruvate dehydrogenase complex $(PDC)-E2_{212-226}$. After incubation with individual serum samples of Spanish case 9 (A) and British case 53 (B) at a dilution of 1/10,000, urea was added at various concentrations and allowed to inhibit antibody-antigen interaction for 15 minutes. Absorbance values were plotted as the percentage of initial absorbance against urea concentration (mean \pm SD). Each point is the average of 3 observations. From this the relative affinity index, defined as the concentration of urea that elutes 50% of the antibody reactivity, for both MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀ (\circ) and human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (\bullet) can be extrapolated (----). OD, optical density

3.3.5 IgG subclass of anti-PDC-E2 autoantibodies

Anti-PDC-E2 reactivity was predominantly of the IgG3 subclass alone or in combination with either IgG1 or to a lesser extent IgG2 subclass, in each of the 3 groups (Table 3.3). No significant differences were found between the 10 MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ reactive Spanish PBC cases and the 10 MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ unreactive Spanish or the 10 MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ unreactive British cases. No reactivity to PDC-E2 of the IgG4 subclass was present.

Table 3.3 Patterns of anti-PDC-E2 antibody IgG subclass specific reactivity in: (A) MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ reactive Spanish PBC cases; (B) MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ unreactive Spanish PBC cases; (C) MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ unreactive British PBC cases. All serum samples were reactive for PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆

	Pattern	IgG3	IgG1/IgG3	IgG2/IgG3	
A	10 Spanish MYCGO hsp65 ₉₀₋₁₀₄ reactivive PBC cases	7/10	2/10	1/10	
B	10 Spanish MYCGO hsp65 ₉₀₋₁₀₄ unreactivive PBC cases	6/10	3/10	1/10	
С	10 British MYCGO hsp65 ₉₀₋₁₀₄ reactivive PBC cases	7/10	2/10	1/10	

PDC-E2, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex-E2 subunit; MYCGO, Mycobacterium gordonae; hsp65, heat shock protein 65 kDa; PBC, primary biliary cirrhosis

3.4 DISCUSSION

In this section of the thesis, an attempt was made to see whether there is molecular mimicry at the level of mimicking peptidyl epitopes, for the previously described cross-reactivity between MYCGO hsp65 and human PDC-E2, the major target antigen of antimitochondrial immune response in patients with PBC (Vilagut *et al.*, 1994, Vilagut *et al.*, 1997, Yeaman *et al.*, 2000). The Spanish investigators found a species-specific reaction of sera from patients with PBC with membranes from MYCGO. In a subsequent study the same group was able to recognize MYCGO hsp65 as a target of PBC-specific cross-reactive antibodies (Vilagut *et al.*, 1994, Vilagut *et al.*, 1997). The authors suggested a shared epitope between MYCGO hsp65 and human mitochondrial antigens as the reason for the observed cross-reaction (Vilagut *et al.*, 1997). Starting from this point, the present study has identified a striking as similarity between MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ and human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, the unique peptide sequence shared by the respective dominant epitopes of AMA and PDC-E2 specific CD4 and CD8 cells (Van de Water *et al.*, 1998, Kita *et al.*, 2002).

Anti-PDC-E2 antibody response is polyclonal and includes a wide range of specificities, targeting, to a greater or lesser extent, the sequence 212-226 on PDC-E2 and various flanking sequences extending out to include almost the entire inner-lipoyl domain of PDC-E2 (Van de Water *et al.*, 1988, Tuaillon *et al.*, 1992, Matsui *et al.*, 1993). The focus of autoantibody reactivity can be a linear sequence, the critical residues being contiguous, located on a short segment of the antigenic protein (Geysen *et al.*, 1985, Dyrberg *et al.*, 1990, Novotny, 1991, Wucherpfennig *et al.*, 1997, Craig *et al.*, 1998). Three-dimensional studies show PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ to be physically exposed on the molecule's surface making it a potential target of microbial/self cross-reactive humoral responses (Howard *et al.*, 1998).

The PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ mimicking motif SxGDL(IL)AE is virtually unique to mycobacterial hsps, being expressed in practically all mycobacterial hsp65s, including those of M. *tuberculosis* and M. *leprae*. In man the only full match of SxGDLIAE is the inner lipoyl domain of PDC-E2, while human hsp60, the evolutionary equivalent of hsp65, has only 2 identities at the corresponding sequence (ExGNIISD). Hence, an excellent and almost

unique match between this part of the E2 epitope and mycobacterial hsp has been identified.

The present work, involving the construction of the corresponding peptides, and testing their reactivity on relevant sera by ELISA, has led to three major findings. Firstly, 50% of the Spanish PBC patients reacted with MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄, this recognition being virtually absent among British PBC patients, even though the groups were equally reactive against PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆. Second, within the Spanish serum samples, anti-MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ reactivity was restricted to PBC, not being found in any of the 44 Spanish HCV infected controls. Thirdly, double-reactivity against MYCGO hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ and PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ usually reflected cross-reactivity, as demonstrated by inhibition studies.

These results agree with those of O'Donohue et al. (1994) in finding no difference in anti-hsp65 mycobacterial reactivity in UK between PBC patients and controls. The question then arises as to why differential reactivity to hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ is limited to Spanish patients with PBC. Is this because exposure to mycobacteria in general, or to a specific, atypical mycobacterium is particularly elevated in Spain? Distribution of atypical mycobacteria varies between different geographic regions; interestingly, Catalonia, the region from where the Spanish cohort originates, has one of the highest colonisation rates in Spain for atypical mycobacteria (Falkinham, 1996, Le Dantec et al., 2002, de March Ayuela, 2000, Martin Casabona and Rossello Urgell, 2000). In support to an epidemiological link is the observation that reactivity to hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ is present in 9 of the 10 serum samples conserved from the 1993-1994 Vilagut study, a percentage close to the 100% originally reported for reactivity to full-length hsp65, while this is only 37% for the more recent sera suggesting a shift in the epidemiology over time. Thus, the differential responses to hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ in the two European countries may be due to different epidemiological patterns (Falkinham, 1996, Le Dantec et al., 2002, de March Ayuela, 2000, Martin Casabona and Rossello Urgell, 2000). The assumption, however, that anti-hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ reactivity in Spanish PBC patients simply reflects a widespread exposure to mycobacteria in the Iberian country is questioned by the finding that none of 44 HCV infected patients, originating from the same region, have antibodies to hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄.

In analysing the response to microbial and self sequences, it is evident that reactivity to PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, present in practically all the PBC patients studied, does not equate with reactivity to the highly homologous hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄, this being confined to a set of patients within a geographically-defined subgroup. This indicates that molecular mimicry does not automatically coincide with antigenic mimicry (Oldstone, 1987, Quaratino *et al.*, 1995, Bogdanos *et al.*, 2000). In those patients who were simultaneously reactive to PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ and hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄, double reactivity was shown to be in most cases cross-reactive, by inhibition studies.

Moreover, the antibody affinity to $hsp65_{90-104}$ was higher than that to PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, suggesting that the response to the mycobacterial sequence may precede that to PDC-E2 (Figure 3.2) (Quinn *et al.*, 1993).

A pathogenic scenario may then be proposed where exposure to a PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ mimicking microbial sequence, such as that contained in various mycobacterial hsp65, primes a potentially cross-reactive lymphocyte population (Oldstone, 1998, Liang and Mamula, 2000, von Herrath *et al.*, 2003). This view is consistent with the findings that sera from patients with infectious diseases such as tuberculosis and leprosy, in which immune responses to mycobacterial stress proteins have been demonstrated, present antibodies that recognise the main mitochondrial autoantigen of PBC (Klein *et al.*, 1993, Gilburd *et al.*, 1994). Exposure to identical or very similar sequences present in other microbes could further expand this cross-reactive population, thus resulting in emergence of autoimmunity in genetically predisposed individuals (Kerkar *et al.*, 2003). If this is the case, insignificant differences in prevalence of PBC between different countries such as UK and Spain may be the result of complex but significant differences of the immunogenetic background and exposure to distinct microbial mimics (such as MYCGO in Spain and *E. coli* in UK) (Vilagut *et al.*, 1997, Butler *et al.*, 1995).

These observations do not prove the role of mycobacteria as the cause of PBC but rather favour the concept that infectious agents can act as co-factors for the precipitation of an immune-mediated response (Baum, 1995, von Herrath, 2000, von Herrath *et al.*, 2003). They also provide the impetus for extensive investigation of PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆- mimicking sequences of microbial origin that could serve as targets of PBC-specific cross-reactive responses, similar to what has been found for the mycobacterial hsp65 mimic.

CHAPTER 4

Lactobacilli and PBC
4.1 BACKGROUND

The findings of the previous Chapter (see Chapter 3) suggested that the motif SxGDL[IL]AE shared by the immunodominant mitochondrial autoepitope on PDC-E2 (PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆) and mycobacterial hsps is the focus of cross-reactive responses in patients with PBC. It was also found that among other microbial proteins this same motif is present only in β galactosidase (lactase) of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* (BGAL LACDE), subsp. *bulgaricus*. Of interest, the corresponding mimic of human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ in *E. coli*, (ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅) which has been repeatedly suggested to be involved in the induction of human PDC-E2 autoimmunity, does not contain this motif (see Figure 4.1) (Shimoda *et al.*, 1998, Shimoda *et al.*, 2000, Van de Water *et al.*, 2001).

In an attempt to investigate whether the microbial BGAL LACDE and ECOLI PDC-E2 mimics are targets of antibody responses and cross-react with human PDC-E2, the homologous peptidyl sequences were constructed and tested by ELISA for reactivity and competitive cross-reactivity using sera from patients with PBC, - with or without PDC-E2 autoantibodies -, pathological and normal controls.

4.2 METHODS

4.2.1 Subjects

4.2.1.1 PBC patients

4.2.1.1.1 AMA positive PBC patients

Antibody responses to microbial/self mimics were tested in the group of 50 British patients with PBC enrolled in the study of mycobacterial/self cross-reactive responses (see Chapter 3). Histology was compatible with PBC in all 30 cases in whom a biopsy had been performed; 7 of these were at stage I, 5 at stage II, 9 at stage III and 9 at stage IV. In the remaining 20 patients biopsy was not performed due to the early clinical stage or conversely, to the end stage of the disease. At the time of serum collection, 41 of the 50 patients were symptomatic with a mean duration of disease of 47.2 months (range 1-179). Overall, 22 patients were classified as early stage or intermediate stage and 28 as advanced or end stage disease.

4.2.1.2 AMA negative PBC patients

Twenty-three patients with biopsy-proven PBC (20 female, 45.7 years, range 24-69) consistently negative for AMA by conventional IIFL, and for anti-PDC-E2 antibodies by ELISA and western blot, using as antigen purified PDC, were also studied. At the time of serum collection, 19 patients were symptomatic with a mean duration of disease of 32.1 months (range 17-97); 7 were at stage II, 9 at stage III and 7 at stage IV.

4.2.1.3 Pathological controls

As pathological controls, 157 sera (all AMA negative) from patients with other liver and non-liver related disorders were tested including 41 patients with chronic HBV infection (37 female, 50.2 ± 13 years), all HBV DNA positive; 52 patients with chronic HCV infection (48 female, 53 years±11), all HCV RNA positive; 28 patients with autoimmune thyroid dysfunction (26 female, 47.2±15 years), all anti-thyroid peroxidase antibody positive; and 36 patients with Crohn's disease (34 female, 42±9).

4.2.1.4 Normal controls

Thirty-three healthy volunteer members of staff (30 female, 49.2±9.2 years), all AMA negative, were tested as normal controls.

4.2.2 Detection of AMA

AMA was retested by conventional IIFL (see 2.2.2.1), immunoblotting (see 2.2.2.2), and by ELISA (see 2.1.6.1).

4.2.3 Protein database search and analysis

Microbial mimics of human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (excluding those of mycobacterial hsp65), containing the SxGDL[ILV]AE motif were identified by scanning the SWISSPROT protein database using the *Advanced ProteinInfo* programme (*see* 2.2.1.1). The resulting similarities were further evaluated using the protein-protein sequence comparison '*BLASTp* 2 sequences' programme (*see* 2.2.1.2.2) and compared with the previously described similarity shared by human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ and the corresponding ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ mimic.

4.2.4 Peptide synthesis

Four 15-mer biotinylated peptides containing the homologous LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ (RDSEGDLVAEKLGPI), ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ (KVAAEQSLITVEGDK), human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (KLSEGDLLAEIETDK) sequences and an irrelevant 15 aa control peptide were constructed (*see* 2.2.2.3).

4.2.5 ELISA

Antibody binding to the peptides was determined by ELISA (see 2.2.2.3). The final peptide concentration was $15\mu g/ml$ and the dilution of serum samples was 1/200 (see 2.2.2.3).

4.2.6 Inhibition studies

To investigate whether the simultaneous reactivity to LACDE $BGAL_{266-280}$ and human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ was due to cross-reactivity, competition ELISA was performed (see

2.2.2.4.1), measuring residual anti-LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ or anti-PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ reactivity after pre-incubation respectively with LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀, PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, PDC antigen, control peptide and control antigen (CYP2D6, *see* 2.1.6.1) as liquid phase competitors (final concentrations: 5, 10, 25, 50, 100, 250, 500, 1000 μ g/ml). Inhibition of anti-ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ reactivity was measured under conditions similar to those described for LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ (*see* 2.2.2.4).

4.2.7 Anti-peptide antibody affinity

The relative affinity of anti-peptide antibody binding (see 2.2.2.5) was tested in one serum reactive to LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀/ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅/human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ and in 3 LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀/ human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ double reactive sera .

4.3 RESULTS

4.3.1 Protein database search and analysis

LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ is the only non-hsp65 mycobacterial microbial sequence sharing the motif SxGDL[ILV]AE with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆. LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ shares 8 aa in a row (7 identities) and has a total of 10/15 (67%) similarity with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (Figure 4.1).

The corresponding $BGAL_{246-260}$ of *Lactococcus lactis* has 7/15 (47%) similarity (2 identities) with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆; the corresponding $BGAL_{266-280}$ of *Lactococcus sakei* has 5/15 (33%) similarity (2 identities); and the *Lactococcus acidophilus* $BGAL_{268-282}$ (EDVNGSAILEQDVPL) has 7/15 (47%) similarity (2 identities) (Figure 4.1).

The corresponding ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ sequence (KVAAEQSLITVEGDK), shares 11/15 (73%) similarity (5 identities) with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (KLSEGDLLAEIETDK) (identities in **bold**, conservative substitutions in *italic*) (Figure 4.1), while LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ (RDSEGDLVAEKLGPI) and ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ sequence (KVAAEQSLITVEGDK) share 6/15 (40%) similarity (1 identity).

Species	Protein	Sequence								aa position	Identities	Similarity (%)							
E. coli		K	V	A	A	Е	Q	s	L	I	Т	V	Е	G	D	К	(aa 231-245)	5	11/15 (73%)
		:	•	•			•		:	•		٠	:	•	:	:			
Human	PDC-E2	к	L	S	E	G	D	L	L	Α	Ε	I	E	Т	D	K	(aa 212-226)		
		•		:	:	:	:	:	•	:	:			•					
Lactobacillus delbrueckii subsp. bulgaricus	BGAL	R	D	S	E	G	D	L	V	A	E	K	L	G	Р	I	(aa 266-280)	7	10/15 (67%)
Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis	BGAL	L	Y	D	D	E	Q	L	Ι	G	E	С	Н	G	F	D	(aa 246-260)	2	7/15 (47%)
Lactobacillus sakei	BGAL	R	D	Q	Н	Q	I	Ι	L	Т	A	D	L	Т	S	G	(aa 266-280)	2	5/15 (33%)
Lactobacillus acidophilus	BGAL	Ε	D	v	N	G	S	A	Ι	L	E	Q	D	v	P	L	(aa 268-282)	2	7/15 (47%)

FIGURE 4.1 Sequence alignment of the immunodominant autoepitope on human E2 subunit of pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (PDC- $E2_{212-226}$), and mimics of E. coli PDC-2 and Lactobacillus β -galactosidase (BGAL) mimics. Amino acids in standard single letter code; Colon (:) and bold letters, Identical residues; Full stop, (.) and italic, Conservative substitutions; aa, amino acid

4.3.2 ELISA

Percentages of anti-peptide reactivity in PBC patients, pathological and healthy controls are given in Table 4.1.

4.3.2.1 Single anti-peptide antibody reactivity

4.3.2.1.1 IgG class anti-peptide reactivity

IgG class antibody reactivity to the human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ was found in 48 (96%) of 50 AMA positive PBC patients (mean OD^{test/control} 3.24±1.26), in 1 (4%) of 23 AMA negative PBC, 5 (3%) of 157 pathological controls, among which were 1 HBV infected woman, 3 HCV infected patients (2 female) and 1 woman with Crohn's disease (p<0.05 for all), all AMA negative by IIFL, ELISA or Western blot. None of the 33 healthy controls reacted with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆.

IgG class antibody reactivity to LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ was found in 15 (30%) AMA positive PBC patients (mean OD^{test/control} 3.13±1.18), in 1 (4%, p=0.03) AMA negative PBC, 19 (12 %, p=0.006) pathological controls (mean OD^{test/control} 3.07±1.1) including 3 with HBV (p=0.01); 5 with HCV (p=0.09), 2 with autoimmune thyroid disease (p=0.04), 6 with Crohn's disease (17%, p=0.24), and in 3 of the normal controls (p=0.15).

IgG class antibody reactivity to ECOLI PDC- $E2_{231-245}$ was present in 2 (4%) AMA positive PBC patients, in none AMA negative PBC and in 1 (0.4%) of the controls - an AMA negative chronic HCV infected woman (p>0.05 for all).

4.3.2.1.2 IgG subclass anti-peptide reactivity

Among the 48 anti-human PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ reactive AMA positive PBC patients, 42 (87.5%) had IgG antibody reactivity predominantly of the IgG3 subclass including all 15 cases reacting with LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀. Anti-PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ reactivity of the AMA negative PBC case was of the IgG1 and IgG3 subclass.

Among the 15 LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ reactive AMA positive PBC cases, all but one had IgG antibody reactivity predominantly of the IgG3 subclass; the single AMA negative PBC case with reactivity to LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ was of the IgG1,3,4 subclasses.

Among the 19 pathological controls and the 3 healthy subjects reactive with LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀, antibody binding was of the IgG4 (19 cases) or the IgG2 subclass (2 cases) and the IgG1,2,3 in one case (an HCV infected woman with IgG3 anti-PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ reactivity).

Overall, 14 (28%) of the 50 AMA positive PBC cases had IgG3 anti-LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ antibody reactivity compared to none of the AMA negative, 1 (0.6%, p<0.0001) of the 157 pathological controls and none of the 33 healthy controls (p<0.05 for all) (Table 4.1). Among the 2 ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₆ reactive AMA positive PBC cases, anti-ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₆ antibody reactivity was of the IgG1,3 isotype in one and IgG1,2,3,4 in the other.

4.3.2.2 Double anti-peptide antibody reactivity

IgG class antibody reactivity to the LACDE $BGAL_{266-280}$ / PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ pair was found in 15 (30%) PBC patients (7 at early or intermediate stage and 8 at advanced or end stage disease), none in anti-PDC-E2 negative PBC, 1 (1%) amongst pathological controls (a 53-year-old AMA negative HCV infected woman), and in none of the healthy controls (p<0.01 for all).

PBC patients with double LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀/PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ tended to be younger compared to unreactive patients ($50.6\pm 2.8 vs 56.5\pm 1.95$, p=0.065).

There was no significant correlation between double reactivity and clinical stage or other clinical and experimental data.

Double ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅/ PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ reactivity was found in one AMA positive patient, reactive also with LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀.

Table 4.1 Antibody reactivity to human pyruvate dehydrogenase complex E2 subunit (PDC-E2)₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, and its microbial mimics *E. coli* (ECOLI) PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅, and β galactosidase (BGAL)₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* (LACDE) expressed in absolute numbers and percentages (%), in 50 anti-mitochondrial antibody (AMA) positive patients with PBC, 23 AMA negative PBC patients, 157 pathological controls including 41 with chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection, 52 with chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection, 28 with autoimmune thyroiditis, 36 patients with Crohn's disease and 33 healthy controls

			Single Reactivity	······································	<u> </u>		
	PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆		ECOLI PDC-E2 ₂₃₁₋₂₄₅	LACDE BGAL ₂₆₆₋₂₈₀			
	Total IgG	IgG3	Total IgG	Total IgG	IgG3		
AMA positive PBC (n=50)	48/50 (96%)	42/50 (84%)	2 [†] /50 (4%)	15/50 (30%)	14/50 (28%)		
AMA negative PBC (n=23)	1/23 (4%) ^{§§}	0 ^{\$\$}	0*	1/23(4%) [¶]	0 ¹		
Pathological controls (n=157)	5/157 (3%) ^{§§}	1/157 (1%) ^{§§}	1 (1%)*	19/157(12%) [¶]	1/157(1%) ^{§§}		
Chronic HBV	1/41 (2%) ^{§§}	0 ^{\$\$}	0*	3/41 (7%) [¶]	0 [§]		
Chronic HCV	3/52 (6%) ^{§§}	1/52 (2%) ^{§§}	0*	5/52 (10%)*	1/52 (2%) [§]		
Autoimmune thyroiditis	0 ^{§§}	055	0*	2/28 (7%) [¶]	011		
Crohn's disease	1/36 (3%) ^{§§}	0 ^{\$\$}	0*	6/36 (17%)*	0		
Healthy Controls (n=33)	0 ^{\$\$}	0 ^{§§}	0*	3/33 (9%)*	0		

Comparisons of anti-peptide reactivity are between AMA positive PBC and AMA negative PBC, pathological or healthy control groups; *, p>0.05; ¶, p<0.05; ¶¶, p<0.01; §, p<0.01; §, p<0.001; †, one case had IgG1,3 and one IgG1,2,3,4





FIGURE 4.2 Distribution of IgG subclass antibody binding against anti- β galactosidase $(BGAL)_{266-280}$ of Lactobacillus delbrueckii (LACDE) in 8 representative PBC cases (A) and 8 controls (B) including 2 normal (N) subjects, 1 with autoimmune thyroid disease (AITD), 2 with Crohn's disease (CD), 2 with hepatitis C virus infection (HCV) and one with hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection. Anti-LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ antibody reactivity is expressed as a percentage of IgG subclass (see 2.2.2.3)

4.3.3 Comparison of antibody binding to LACDE and ECOLI mimics

Of the 15/15 AMA positive sera reacting with LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ at a dilution of 1/200, 13/15 (87%) reacted at 1/500 and 10/15 (66%) at $1/10^{-3}$ dilutions. At $1/10^{-4}$ dilution, there were still 3/15 (20%) sera which were reactive to LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ (Table 4.2). Of the 2 PBC sera reacting with ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ at 1/200, none was reactive at a dilution of 1/500.

Table 4.2 Antibody reactivity against *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* (LACDE) β galactosidase (BGAL)₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ and *E. coli* (ECOLI) ECOLI pyruvate dehydrogenase complex E2 subunit (PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅) in serial dilutions of serum samples of patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. At 1/200 dilution reactivity to LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ and ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ was present in 15 and 2 cases, respectively

Serum sample dilution	1/200	1/500 (%)	1/10 ³ (%)	1/10 ⁴ (%)
LACDE BGAL ₂₆₆₋₂₈₀	15	13/15 (87%)	10/15 (66%)	3/15 (20%)
ECOLI PDC-E2 ₂₃₁₋₂₄₅	2	0	0	0

Total number of reactive cases

4.3.4 Inhibition studies

Inhibition results of anti-peptide binding by pre-incubation with relevant and control peptides and antigens are given in detail in Table 4.3. A representative case is presented in Figure 4.3.

IgG3 subclass antibody binding to LACDE $BGAL_{266-280}$ was inhibited by 67-79.6% after pre-incubation with the LACDE $BGAL_{266-280}$; by 62-75.7% after pre-incubation with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ and by 65-78.2% after pre-incubation with PDC, in all 4 cases tested (Table 4.3). Insignificant inhibition was observed by pre-incubation with the irrelevant control peptide and antigen (Figure 4. 3A) (*see* 2.2.2.4).

Antibody binding to human PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ was also significantly inhibited after preincubation with the PDC- $E2_{212-226}$, LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ and the PDC antigen (Table 4.3 and Figure 4.3B).

Inhibition studies of the human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆/ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅/LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ reactive serum revealed inability of ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ to inhibit significantly the antibody binding to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ while the reverse was possible (Table 4.3 C-D). ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ and LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ were unable to inhibit reactivity to each other (maximum inhibition <20%).

Table 4.3 A-B. Percentage inhibition of anti-LACDE $BGAL_{266-280}$ (A) and anti-human PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ (B) antibody reactivity by pre-incubation with relevant and control peptides and antigens in four LACDE $BGAL_{266-280}$ /PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ double reactive PBC cases; C-D. Inhibition of anti-ECOLI PDC- $E2_{231-245}$ (C) and anti-human PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ (D) antibody reactivity by pre-incubation with relevant mimics and control peptides and antigens

Case	ase Maximum Inhibition %									
A	LACDE BGAL ₂₆₆₋₂₈₀	Human PDC-E2212-226	PDC antigen	Control antigen	Control	Control peptide				
1	75.8	75.7	73.1	11.7	9	.3				
2	67	65.1	66.8	7.3	8.2					
3	77.7	62	65	10.4	6	.2				
4*	79.6	73.5	78.2	7.3	5.2					
В		ten Hannen and Hannen and		<u></u>						
	Human PDC-E2212-226	LACDE BGAL ₂₆₆₋₂₈₀	PDC antigen	Control antigen	Control	peptide				
1	72.8	75	75.9	7.2	3.1					
2	81.5	83.2	81.2	8	7.	.1				
3	75	78.3	73.4	10.1	6.	.3				
4*	78.9	67	79.8	7.6	5.	.7				
С	ECOLI PDC-E2231-245	Human PDC-E2212-226	LACDE BGAL ₂₆₆₋₂₈₀	PDC antigen	Control antigen	Control peptide				
	63.2	81.1	34.2	86.3	10.1	9.2				
D	Human PDC-E2212-226	ECOLI PDC-E2231-245	LACDE BGAL266-280	PDC antigen	Control antigen	Control peptide				
	73.1	23.4	79.2	78.4	12.3	11.4				

*See Figure 4.3 A-B; LACDE, Lactobacillus delbrueckii; BGAL, β galactosidase; PDC-E2, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex E2; ECOLI, E. coli



Competitor concentrations (µg/ml)

FIGURE 4. 3 Inhibition of antibody (ab) binding against LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ (A) or human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (B) of a representative serum sample by pre-incubation with LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ (\blacklozenge), human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (\blacktriangle), PDC antigen (\blacksquare), control peptide (\ast) and control protein (\circ), in the presence of competitor peptide at different concentrations, 0; 5; 10; 15; 25; 50; 100; 250; 500; 1000 µg/ml. LACDE, Lactobacillus delbrueckii; BGAL, β galactosidase (lactase); PDC, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex; ab, antibody

4.3.5 Affinity of anti-peptide antibody

The relative affinity index (rAI) representing the concentration of the chaotropic reagent (urea) that elutes 50% of the anti-peptide antibody binding (*see* 2.2.2.5) for the one case reactive with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅,LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ mimics and three LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀/human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ double reactive cases is illustrated in Figure 4.4. In each case, higher antibody rAI was found for LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ compared to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆. In the multiple-reactive case, the lowest antibody rAI was that to ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4 Relative affinity indices (rAI) of anti-peptide antibody binding in a multiple human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆/ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅/ LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ reactive case (left panel) and three double human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆/LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ reactive cases (mean+SD). Each point is the average of 3 observations (see 2.2.2.5). ECOLI, E. coli; PDC-E2, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex E2 subunit; LACDE, Lactobacillus delbrueckii, BGAL, β galactosidase

4.4 DISCUSSION

This section has found that almost one third of patients with primary biliary cirrhosis have an IgG3 subclass antibody response against a lactobacillus sequence that shares the motif SxGDL[IL]AE with the major mitochondrial PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ autoepitope. Reactivity is virtually absent to ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅, a human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ mimic which does not contain the SxGDL[IL]AE motif (Burroughs *et al.*, 1992, Shimoda *et al.*, 1998). IgG3 anti-LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ antibody reactivity is highly PBC specific, being found only in one case of a large number of pathological and healthy controls.

Not only is the IgG3 anti-LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀/PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ antibody reactivity specific for PBC but it is also cross-reactive, since its binding to the microbial sequence LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ is inhibited by pre-incubation with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ and *vice versa*. Importantly, the binding to the LACDE sequence is also inhibited by the purified PDC mitochondrial antigen, demonstrating that the cross-reactive microbial/self recognition targets the naturally occurring autoantigen (*see* Table 4.3 and Figure 4.3). These findings are in sharp contrast to those obtained for the ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅, which has proved a poor inhibitor of anti-human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ reactivity (*see* Table 4.3).

Anti-LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ antibody reactivity was present, though significantly less frequently, in conditions other than PBC: remarkably this was always of the IgG4 and/or IgG2 subclasses and was never associated with reactivity to the self-epitope PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆. This indicates that only in the case of PBC do the anti-BGAL antibodies also recognise a conformation of a relevant sequence that matches that of the PDC-E2 peptide.

It is unlikely that these findings reflect an epiphenomenon, restricted to IgG3 antibodies, arising from LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀/PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ amino acid similarity. If this were the case then all anti-PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ positive cases would be expected to react with LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀. Moreover, there would then be expected to be the same frequency of non-cross-reactive, non-IgG3, anti-LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ reactivity in PBC subjects as observed in controls. Conversely, the anti- LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ antibody present in controls would be expected to react with the PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ mimic. But this is not the case. Further support for the potential biological significance of the observed anti-LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ reactivity was significantly

more frequent and tended to persist even in a 1/10⁴ dilution compared to that against ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ which disappeared at 1/500 serum dilution (*see* Table 4.2). The fact that anti-PDC-E2 antibody negative patients with PBC do not have anti-LACDE BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ antibodies strengthens the significance of the observed reactivity and its potential relation to the appearance of anti-PDC-E2 antibodies. Notably, IgG3 anti-BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ LACDE reactivity was present in AMA positive patients with PBC regardless of disease severity, equally present at early as well as at late stages of its natural history.

What the link is between the PBC specificity of a microbe-self cross-reactive response and its belonging to the IgG3 isotype remains to be clarified. Lactobacillus delbrueckii subsp. bulgaricus is essential to starter cultures and for yoghurt production (Borchers et al., 2002). Of potential relevance is the fact that whilst there are Lactobacillus strains able to promote peripheral tolerance to self proteins, there exist others that, depending on the immunological state of the host, can induce T-cells to overproduce IFN-y (Solis Pereyra and Lemonnier, 1991, Solis-Pereyra et al., 1997, Maassen et al., 2000, Borchers et al., 2002, Perdigon et al., 2002, Christensen et al., 2002, Aattour et al., 2002, Maassen et al., 2003). This cytokine is known to promote production of antibodies of the IgG3 isotype and to limit that of IgG4 antibodies, through its inhibitory activity of Th2 cell programmes (Stevens et al., 1988, Snapper and Mond, 1993, Snapper et al., 1997). Of interest in terms of pathogenicity is the singular ability of IgG3 antibodies to recruit the major effectors of tissue damage, such as complement and Fc receptorbearing cells involved in antibodydependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) (Anderson and Looney, 1987, Wiener et al., 1988, Jefferis, 1990). Thus, in theory, IgG3 anti-BGAL₂₆₆₋₂₈₀ LACDE antibodies may engage effectors of damage against target cells over-expressing PDC-E2212-226, - or an asyet unidentified mimic thereof - the physically exposed peptidyl sequence representing the dominant AMA epitope. The fact that the antibody affinity to the LACDE BGAL sequence was higher than that to PDC-E2 of human or *E. coli* origin suggests that the response to the lactobacillus mimic may precede that to PDC-E2 (Figure 4.4).

In conclusion, the present findings indicate a clear, disease-specific occurrence of IgG3 antibodies cross-reacting against a peptide of BGAL LACDE and the dominant epitope of PDC-E2 in a significant sub-set of PBC patients. Since BGAL LACDE is a major enzyme of an organism widely used in food production, its possible role as an environmental trigger

in the pathogenesis of PBC must now seriously be considered. However, whether LACDE containing fermented products accelerate PBC specific autoimmunity in genetically susceptible individuals or in contrast induce tolerance and hence offer an approach to therapeutic interventions in patients with PBC, remains to be clarified (Faria and Weiner, 1999, Borchers *et al.*, 2002, Christensen *et al.*, 2002, Maassen *et al.*, 2003). Nevertheless, these findings provide the stimulus for continuous search for other microbial mimics originated from infectious agents, particularly those epidemiologically linked to PBC that could serve as targets of cross-reactive immune responses.

CHAPTER 5

E. coli and PBC

5.1 BACKGROUND

The mechanism by which PDC- $E2_{212-226}$, the immunodominant mitochondrial autoepitope, becomes the focus of PBC-specific anti-mitochondrial immune responses remains obscure (Baum, 1995, Gershwin *et al.*, 2000).

Several infectious agents have been postulated to trigger AMA production, and common bacteria such as mycobacteria and *Lactobacilli* may fall into this category, as has been indicated by the results obtained in Chapter 3 & 4 of the present Thesis (Van de Water *et al.*, 2001, Baum, 1995). There is some experimental and epidemiological evidence to suggest, however, that recurrent urinary tract infection (UTI) caused by *Escherichia coli* (ECOLI) may also be pathogenetically linked to PBC (Stemerowicz *et al.*, 1988, Hopf *et al.*, 1989, Burroughs *et al.*, 1992, Butler *et al.*, 1995a, Butler *et al.*, 1995b, Shimoda *et al.*, 1998, Shimoda *et al.*, 2000, Parikh-Patel *et al.*, 2001, Butler *et al.*, 1993). Hopf *et al.* (1989) reported a high incidence of rough form mutants of ECOLI, in faecal samples from patients with PBC. In 52% of patients with recurrent UTI, Butler *et al.* (1995a) found antibodies reacting with PDC-E2. Conversely, patients with PBC reportedly have a higher incidence of recurrent UTI (Butler *et al.*, 1993, Butler *et al.*, 1995b).

The fact that PDC-E2 proteins from a number of microbial OADC proteins and in particular those of ECOLI demonstrate PBC-specific antibody and T-cell crossreactivity with human PDC-E2, lends support to ECOLI infection having a role in the induction of AMA, through a mechanism of molecular mimicry (Fussey *et al.*, 1991, Baum, 1995, Shimoda *et al.*, 1998, Shimoda *et al.*, 2000). Others have challenged this view arguing that cross-reactive immunity can readily be predicted, taking into account the highly conserved nature of PDC-E2 among species, and in particular of the inner lipoyl domain (Van de Water *et al.*, 2001).

If microbial mimicry is implicated in breaking immunological tolerance to PDC-E2, there is the alternative possibility that short microbial sequences totally unrelated to OADC but still good mimics of the immunodominant PDC-E2 epitope are involved. This has been proven to be the case for the mycobacterial hsp65₉₀₋₁₀₄ sequence (Chapter 3) and β galactosidase (lactase) of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* (Chapter 4) and may well be true for other non-OADC ECOLI or other microbial mimics of the human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆.

Interrogating protein databases, sequences with high degree of similarity to PDC-E2₂₁₂. ²²⁶ were found (see below) in proteins of ECOLI, *Helicobacter pylori* (HELPY), *Pseudomonas aerigunosa* (PSEAE), human CMV (HCMV), and *Haemophilus influenzae* (HAEIN). Intriguingly, these sequences had a greater similarity to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ than did ECOLI PDC-E2 itself (*see* below). The present study investigated whether these sequences are targets of antibody responses and PDC-E2₂₁₂. ²²⁶ cross-reactive immunity both at peptide and full protein level in 55 AMA-positive PBC and 23 AMA-negative PBC patients and compared the results with those of a large number of normal and pathological controls including women with recurrent UTI and without liver disease.

5.2 METHODS

5.2.1 Subjects

5.2.1.1 PBC patients

Serum samples were obtained from 55 patients with PBC (median age 56 ± 13 years; 46 female), all AMA-positive (1/40 - 1/10480), median duration of disease 38 months (range 1-184) attending the out-patient clinic of Liver Transplantation and Hepatobiliary Medicine Unit, Royal Free Hospital. Demographic, biochemical, immunological and clinical characteristics of these patients, are given in detail in Chapters 3 & 4. Twenty-nine of them underwent screening tests for significant bacteruria (*see* below), and recorded data were available, 19 being positive and 10 negative for recurrent UTI. In the remaining 26 patients urine tests were not performed.

Twenty-three women with PBC consistently negative for AMA by conventional IIFL, and for anti-PDC-E2 antibodies by ELISA and western blot were also studied (*see* 4.2.1.2).

5.2.1.2 Pathological and normal controls

Pathological controls included 170 patients with other liver (27 chronic HBV infection; 42 chronic HCV infection; 17 alcoholic liver disease; 15 AIH-1 and 12 with AIH-2) and non-liver disorders (38 autoimmune thyroid disease; 10 polyomyositis; 9 systemic lupus erythematosus). Twenty women (median age 53 years, range 24-85) attending a UTI out-patient clinic were also tested; these subjects were part of a larger group of 50 women and were included in the present study on the basis that unthawed aliquots of serum samples were available from them (Burroughs *et al.*, 1984, Butler *et al.*, 1993, Butler *et al.*, 1995a, Butler *et al.*, 1995b). All had a history of long-standing recurrent episodes of significant bacteruria and all were receiving prophylactic antibiotics at the time the serum was taken. Significant bacteruria was defined as the presence of 10^5 organisms per ml or more growing in pure culture, regardless of the presence of symptoms or pyuria (Burroughs *et al.*, 1984, Butler *et al.*, 1995a, Butler *et al.*, 1984, Butler *et al.*, 1995b). All but two women were infected by ECOLI (Burroughs *et al.*, 1984). None of the patients had clinical or biochemical evidence of liver disease. Ten of these were diagnosed as AMA-positive by immunoblot, showing OADC (M2) specific

bands, and/or ELISA, though not by IIFL (*see*, 2.1.2, 2.1.6 and 2.2.2.2). The prevalence of AMA seropositivity in this group of women was similar to that (52%) previously reported by Butler *et al.* (1993, 1995a).

Twenty-eight healthy, volunteer members of staff (median age 33 years, range 22-68, 23 female), were tested as normal controls.

5.2.2 Detection of AMA

AMA was retested by conventional IIFL (see 2.2.2.1), immunoblotting (see 2.2.2.2), and by ELISA (see 2.1.6.1).

5.2.3 Protein database search and analysis

Microbial homologues to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ were identified by scanning the SwissProt protein database using the *ProteinInfo* programme (*see* 2.2.1.1). The resulting sequences were further evaluated using the *PSI-BLAST* programme (*see* 2.2.1.2.1). Ten non-PDC-E2 related microbial sequences giving the highest percentage of homology and the best score were synthesized.

5.2.4 Peptide synthesis

Eleven 15-mer biotinylated peptides containing the relevant human PDC-E2 and microbial sequences and an irrelevant 15 aa control peptide (*see* 2.2.2.3) were constructed.

5.2.5 ELISA

Antibody binding to the peptides was determined by ELISA (see 2.2.2.2). The final peptide concentration was 15μ g/ml and the dilution of serum samples was 1/200.

5.2.6 Inhibition studies

To investigate whether the simultaneous reactivity to ECOLI maltose E (MALE)₉₅₋₁₀₉ and human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ was due to cross-reactivity, competition ELISA were performed (*see* 2.2.2.4.1), measuring residual anti-ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ or anti-PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ reactivity after incubation respectively with ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉, PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, purified MALE ECOLI protein (*see* 2.1.4), PDC antigen (*see* 2.1.2), control peptide and antigen (CYP2D6, *see* 2.1.2) as liquid phase competitors. Inhibition of anti-ECOLI

ATP-dependent helicase hrpA (HRPA)₁₅₃₋₁₆₇ reactivity was measured under conditions similar to those described for ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉.

5.2.7 Anti-peptide antibody affinity

The relative affinity of antibody binding (see 2.2.2.5) to ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ and PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ was carried out in 2 ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉/PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ double reactive cases.

5.2.8 Three-dimensional modelling

Three-dimensional modelling of the ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ was carried out by analysing the structure of MALE ECOLI with the Cn3D visualization tool (*see* 2.1.2.3).

5.3 RESULTS

5.3. 1 Protein database search and analysis

The 10 non-OADC-related microbial sequences sharing extensive homology with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ are shown in Figure 5.1. Six are from ECOLI proteins, and one each from HELPY, PSEAE, HCMV, and HAEIN. ClpX is the ATP-binding subunit of the caseinolytic protease (Clp) complex, the ClpP, proteolytic, subunit of which is autoantibody target in PBC (Wang *et al.*, 1997, Singh *et al.*, 2000, Mayo *et al.*, 2000). ECOLI MALE is a soluble periplasmic protein and therefore potentially accessible to antibody (Boos and Shuman, 1998). HELPY UREB is a known antibody target in HELPY infection and PSEAE DCDA₃₅₅₋₃₆₃ is a CD8 epitope cross-recognised with PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₀ (Futagami *et al.*, 1998, Kita *et al.*, 2002). Human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (*KLSEGDLLAE/ETDK*) shares 11/15 (73%) similarity (5 identities) with the corresponding ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ sequence (*KVAAEQSL/TVEGDK*, identities in **bold**, conservative substitutions in *italic*). According to the *PSI-BLAST* scoring system (*see* 2.2.1.2.1), ECOLI CLPX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄ ranks first in homology with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, among the non-OADC-related sequences of all species in the protein database, while all other 9 microbial mimics rank in a better position than does the ECOLI PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅.

To investigate whether this over-representation of ECOLI homologues is accidental, due to the large number of ECOLI proteins in the database, or is biologically meaningful, a search for ECOLI mimics of CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁, the immunodominant epitope

of LKM1 in AIH-2 has been performed (Alvarez *et al.*, 1999, Manns *et al.*, 1991). CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁ was selected in view of its analogy with PDC-E2 in relation to PBC: 1) it is the major autoantigen of an autoimmune liver disease (Alvarez *et al.*, 1999, Manns *et al.*, 1991); 2) an intracellular enzyme exposed on a cell membrane (Robin *et al.*, 1997, Muratori *et al.*, 2000, Sugimura *et al.*, 2002); 3) LKM-1 antibodies are able to inhibit the enzymatic activity of CYP2D6 (Manns *et al.*, 1990, Manns and Obermayer-Straub, 1997, Kerkar *et al.*, 2003); 4) molecular mimicry has been proposed to account for immunological features of AIH-2 (Manns *et al.*, 1991).

In the database no ECOLI proteins were found to share 6-mers in common with CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁; a 15-mer from maltodextrin phosphorylase shared 40% identity.

Sequence	aa position ID	Protein	species	Identities	Similarity (%)
K V A A E Q S L I T V E G D K	(231-245) PDC-E2	Pyruvate dehydrogenase complex-E2	E.coli	5	11/15 (73)
K L S E G D L L A E I E T D K	(212-226) PDC-E2	Pyruvate dehydrogenase complex-E2	Human		
KASEGELLAQVEPED	(280-294) CLPX	ATP-dependent clp X	E.coli	8	14/15 (93)
LMTDGILLAEIQQDR	(153-167) HRPA	ATP-dependent helicase hrpA	E.coli	7	12/15 (80)
GYAQSGLLAEITPDK	(95-109) MALE	Periplasmic maltose-binding protein	E.coli	7	11/15 (73)
DAAVEDLLAEVSQPK	(605-619) FADP	Fatty acid oxidation complex alpha	E.coli	6	9/15 (60)
LATLD DLLAEI GLGN	(517-531) SPOT	(P)ppGpp synthetase II	E.coli	6	9/15 (60)
G Q A M V D L L A E Y E K V G	(81-95) NARW	Nitrate reductase 2	E.coli	6	8/15 (53)
R L G D T D L I A E V E H D Y	(22-36) UREB	Urease beta subunit	Helicobacter pylori	7	13/15 (87)
A L A E G D L L A V R S A G A	(355-369) DCDA	Diaminopimelate decarboxylase	Pseudomonas aeruginosa	7	9/15 (60)
V T P N V D L L A E L M A R S	(663-677) V120	Capsid assembly protein UL47	Human cytomegalovirus	5	10/15 (67)
Q N S E G D L L E L Y C G N G	(205-219) TRMA	tRNA (uracil-5-)-methyltranferase	Haemophilus influenzae	6	8/15 (53)

Figure 5. 1. Sequence alignment between human E2 subunit of human pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (PDC-E2)₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, and microbial mimics. Amino acids in standard single-letter code. Identities in **bold**; Conservative substitutions in italic; aa, amino acid; ID, identification code

5.3.2 ELISA

Anti-peptide antibody binding details for patients with PBC, pathological and healthy controls are given in Table 5.1 A-B, 5. 2 and 5.3.

5.3.2.1 Single anti-peptide antibody reactivity

Reactivity to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ was found in 52 (94.5%) of 55 AMA-positive PBC patients, in 1 (4%) of 23 AMA-negative PBC, in 16 (8.4%) of 190 pathological controls, among whom there were 10 women with recurrent UTI, all but one positive for AMA by ELISA and/or immunoblot; 1 HBV infected, 52 year old, male subject (AMA-negative); 2 HCV infected patients (a 67 year old female, anti-PDC-E2 positive by immunoblotting with a liver histology not compatible with PBC and a 37 year old male subject AMA-negative); 2 women (42 and 76 year old) with autoimmune thyroiditis (both AMA-negative); and a 36 year old female with SLE (high-titre AMA-positive by IFL with normal liver function tests) without history of liver disease. Among the 28 healthy controls, 1 (3.6%) reacted with PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ [a 62 year old male, AMA-positive at low-titre (1/40) by IFL with repeatedly normal liver function tests and without clinical signs of liver disease].

Reactivity to at least one of the 10 PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ microbial mimics was found in 39 (70.9%) AMA-positive PBC patients (among whom 3 did not react with any of the 6 ECOLI peptides); in 2 (9%) AMA-negative PBC patients (p<0.0001) (one reacted with ECOLI SPOT₅₁₇₋₅₃₁ and one with ECOLI HRPA₁₅₃₋₁₆₇), in 28 (14.7%) of the pathological controls including 11 (55%, p=0.2) with recurrent UTI; 2 with HBV; 5 with HCV; 5 with autoimmune thyroiditis; 1 with polyomyositis, 1 with SLE, 2 with AIH-1; and 1 with AIH-2, and 2 normal controls (p<0.05, for all).

Among the 3 PBC patients non reactive to PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, one reacted with ECOLI SPOT₅₁₇₋₅₃₁ alone, one with ECOLI SPOT₅₁₇₋₅₃₁ and ECOLI HRPA₁₅₃₋₁₆₇, and one with ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ and ECOLI FADP₆₀₅₋₆₁₉.

5.3.2.2 Double anti-peptide antibody reactivity

Double reactivity to at least one PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ /microbial pair was found in 36 (65.4%) AMA-positive PBC patients, 1 (4%) AMA-negative PBC (p<0.0001) and in 13 (6.8%,

p<0.01) pathological controls, 9 with recurrent UTI, 1 with HCV, 2 with autoimmune thyroiditis, 1 with SLE, and in one healthy control (p<0.01).

Among the 36 PBC cases reacting with at least one PDC-E2/microbial pair, 33 (91.7%) were reactive with at least one ECOLI peptide among which 3 (9.1 %) were reactive with ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄; 15 (45.5%) with HRPA₁₅₃₋₁₆₇; 16 (48.5%) with MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉; 11 (33.3%) with FADP₆₀₅₋₆₁₉; 10 (30.3%) with SPOT₅₁₇₋₅₃₁ and 6 (18.2%) with NARW₈₁₋₉₅. Other reactivities jointly with PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ included 1 (3%) with HEPLY UREB₂₂₋₃₆; 2 (6%) with PSEAE DCDA₃₅₅₋₃₆₉; 2 (6%) with HCMV V120₆₆₃₋₆₇₇; and 3 (9.1%) with HAEIN TRMA₂₀₅₋₂₁₉.

Double reactivity to at least one PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆/ECOLI pair was found in 17 of 19 (89.5%) PBC patients with recurrent UTI, in 2 of 10 (20%) PBC patients with no history of recurrent UTI (p<0.01 vs PBC with recurrent UTI) and in 14 of 26 (53.8%) PBC patients with no urine tests (p=0.01 vs PBC with recurrent UTI). Of the 9 UTI patients without PBC who reacted with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, all reacted with at least one ECOLI peptide, 8 were AMA-positive by ELISA and/or immunoblot. There was no significant correlation between double reactivity and other experimental and clinical data.

	PDC-E2212-226	CLPX	HRPA	MALE	FADP	SPOT	NARW	*	Recurrent
1	3 7	nea	3 /	27		2.1		2	011
2	71	neg	34	68	27	2.1 neg	neg	3	pos
2	13	neg	D.T neg	53	2.7 neg	neg	neg	1	pos
3		neg	23	3.5	23	neg	neg	2	pos
4	23	neg	2.J neg	2.2	2.J	neg	neg	1	pos
5	<i>2.3</i>	neg	10g	2.J neg	neg	3 /	neg	2	pos
7	4.5	neg	2 nea	neg	11cg	J.4		2	pos
, •		neg		2 1	2.7	neg	$\frac{2}{21}$	2	pos
0	2	neg	31	2.1	neg	neg	2.1	2	pos
10	56	neg	D.T neg	וונ <u>ק</u> ז	neg	3.0	2.5	2	pos
11	23	neg	neg	nea	neg	D.J	neg	0	pos
10	2.5	neg	2 4	neg	neg	2.2	neg	ò	pos
12	3	neg	3.4	neg	neg	2.3	neg	2	pos
13	2.1	3.6	2	2.5	2.6	neg	neg	4	pos
14	2	neg	neg	neg	2.3	4.3	neg	2	pos
15	2.7	2.3	neg	3.2	neg	neg	3.4	3	pos
16	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	2.5	neg	1	pos
17	4.6	neg	neg	2.3	neg	neg	neg	1	pos
18	3.4	neg	3.4	neg	2.9	2.7	2.3	4	pos
19	6.7	neg	5.6	neg	3.5	6	neg	3	pos
20	4.9	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	neg
21	2.8	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	neg
22	2.2	neg	neg	2.2	neg	neg	neg	1	neg
23	2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	neg
24	2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	neg
25	2.9	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	neg
26	4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	neg
27	5.6	neg	neg	neg	2.3	neg	neg	1	neg
28	2.3	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	neg
29	7.1	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	neg
30	2.1	neg	neg	neg	neg	2	neg	1	nt
31	3.8	neg	neg	4.5	neg	neg	neg	1	nt
32	3.4	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	nt
33	2.3	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	nt
34	2.9	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	nt
35	3.4	neg	2.3	neg	neg	neg	neg	1	nt
36	2	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	nt
37	2.6	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	nt
38	neg	neg	6.7	neg	neg	2.9	neg	2	nt
39	2.3	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	nt
40	5	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	nt
41	2.3	neg	3	3.2	neg	neg	neg	2	nt
42	3.3	neg	4.6	neg	neg	neg	neg	1	nt
43	3.8	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	nt
44	2	neg	2.5	neg	neg	neg	neg	1	nt
45	2.7	neg	neg	neg	2.6	neg	2	2	nt
46	5	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	nt
47	2.7	2.3	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	1	nt
48	2.9	neg	neg	2.7	neg	neg	neg	1	nt
49	4	neg	neg	neg	2	2	neg	2	nt
50	2.4	neg	neg	neg	3.6	neg	neg	l	nt
51	3	neg	2.3	neg	neg	2.9	neg	2	nt
52	3	neg	neg	2.1	neg	neg	neg	1	nt
53	2.7	neg	neg	3.2	neg	neg	neg	I	nt
54	2.9	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	0	nt
55	neg	neg	neg	2.3	2.9	neg	neg	2	nt
***	52	3	16	17	12	12	6	36	
%	(94.5)	(5.4)	(29.1)	(30.9)	(21.8)	(21.8)	(10.9)	(03.4)	

Table 5.1A Antibody binding to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ and ECOLI mimics in 55 AMA-positive PBC patients

	PDC-E2212-226	UREB	DCDA	V120	TRMA	**
	human	HELPY	PSEU	HCMV	HAEIN	
1	3.7	neg	neg	neg	3.2	4
2	7.1	neg	neg	neg	neg	3
3	4.3	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
4	2	neg	neg	neg	neg	3
2	2.3	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
0	4.5	neg	neg	neg	neg	2
/	4	neg	neg		4.9	5
8 0	3	neg	2.3	2.3	neg	2
10	56	neg	neg	neg	neg	2
10	2.0	neg	neg	neg	neg	0
11	2.5	neg	neg	nog	100	ů
12	3	neg	neg	neg	neg	2
13	2.1	neg	neg	neg	neg	4
14	2	neg	neg	neg	neg	2
15	2.7	neg	neg	neg	neg	3
16	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
17	4.6	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
18	3.4	neg	neg	neg	neg	4
19	6.7	neg	neg	neg	neg	3
20	4.9	neg	neg	neg	neg	0
21	2.8	neg	neg	neg	neg	0
22	2.2	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
23	2	2.3	neg	neg	neg	1
24	2	neg	neg	neg	neg	0
25	2.9	neg	neg	neg	neg	0
26	4	neg	neg	neg	neg	0
27	5.6	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
28	2.3	neg	neg	3.2	neg	1
29	7.1	neg	neg	neg	neg	U
30	2.1	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
31	3.8	neg	neg	neg	2.5	2
32	3.4	neg	neg	neg	neg	0
33	2.3	neg	2.7	neg	neg	1
34	2.9	neg	neg	neg	neg	0
35	3.4	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
36	2	neg	neg	neg	neg	0
37	2.6	neg	neg	neg	neg	2
38	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	2
39	2.3	neg	neg	neg	neg	0
40	2	neg	neg	neg	neg	2
41	2.3	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
42	3.3 2 Q	neg	neg	neg	neg	Ô
43 11	3.0 7	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
44	27	neg	nep	neg	neg	2
45	5	neg	neg	neg	neg	0
47	2.7	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
48	2.9	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
49	4	neg	neg	neg	neg	2
50	2.4	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
51	3	neg	neg	neg	neg	2
52	3	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
53	2.7	neg	neg	neg	neg	1
54	2.9	neg	neg	neg	neg	0
55	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	2
***	• 52	1	2	2	3	39
%	(94.5)	(1.8)	(3.6)	(3.6)	(5.4)	(70.9)

Table 5.1B Antibody binding to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ and non-ECOLI microbial mimics in 55 AMA-positive PBC patients

Footnote to Table 5.1A-B

Absorbance values are expressed as OD^{test}/OD^{control} peptide and considered negative (neg) when <2; pos, positive; nt, no urine test; total number of * ECOLI or ** microbial peptides recognized by an individual patient; ***, total number (%) of patients recognizing a peptide; UTI, urinary tract infection; AMA, anti-mitochondrial antibody; PDC-E2, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex-E2; ECOLI, Escherichia coli; ClpX, caseinolytic protease X; HRPA, ATP-dependent helicase hrpA; MALE, maltose E; FADP, fatty acid oxidation complex alpha subunit; SPOT, (P) ppGpp synthetase II; NARW, nitrate reductase 2; HELPY, Helicobacter pylori; UREB, urease beta subunit; PSEU, Pseudomonas aeruginosa; DCDA, diaminopimelate decarboxylase; HCMV, human cytomegalovirus; V120, capsid assembly protein UL47; HAEIN, Haemophilus influenzae; TRMA, tRNA (uracil-5-)-methyltranferase **Table 5.2** Single and double reactivity to self and microbial peptides expressed in absolute numbers and percentages (%), in 55 antimitochondrial antibody (AMA) positive patients with primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC), including 19 with recurrent urinary tract infection (UTI), 10 without UTI and 26 with no urine test, and 23 AMA-negative PBC patients

	AMA-positive PBC		AMA-positive	PBC	AMA-negative PBC
	Total	with UTI	without UTI	no urine test	-
	n=55	n=19	n=10	n=26	n=23
PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆	52 (94.5)	18(95)	10 (100)	24 (92.3)	1 (4)
ECOLI CLPX280-294	3 (5.4)	2 (10.5)	0	1 (3.8)	0
ECOLI HRPA ₁₅₃₋₁₆₇	16 (29.1)	10 (52.6)	0	6 (23.1)	1 (4)
ECOLI MALE95-109	17 (30.9)	10 (52.6)	1 (10)	6 (23.1)	Ô
ECOLI FADP ₆₀₅₋₆₁₉	12 (21.8)	7 (36.8)	1 (10)	4 (15.3)	0
ECOLI SPOT ₅₁₇₋₅₃₁	12 (21.8)	8 (42.1)	0	4 (15.3)	1 (4)
ECOLI NARW ₈₁₋₉₅	6 (10.9)	5 (26.3)	0	1 (3.8)	0
ECOLI (at least 1 peptide)	36 (65.5)	18 (94.7)	2 (20)	16 (61.5)	2 (8)
HELPY UREB ₂₂₋₃₆	1 (1.8)	0	1 (10)	0	0
PSEAE DCDA355-369	2 (3.6)	1 (5.3)	0	1 (3.8)	0
HCMV V120 ₆₆₃₋₆₇₇	2 (3.6)	1 (5.3)	1 (10)	O	0
HAEIN TRMA205-219	2 (3.6)	2 (10.5)	Û Û	1 (3.8)	0
PDC-E2212-226/ ECOLI CLPX280-294	3 (5.4)	2 (10.5)	0	1 (3.8)	0
PDC-E2212-226/ ECOLI HRPA153-167	15 (27.3)	10 (52.6)	0	5 (19.2)	1 (4)
PDC-E2212-226/ ECOLI MALE95-109	16 (29.1)	10 (52.6)	1 (10)	5 (19.2)	0 Í
PDC-E2212-226/ ECOLI FADP605-619	11 (20)	7 (36.8)	1 (10)	3 (11.5)	0
PDC-E2212-226/ ECOLI SPOT517-531	10 (18.2)	7 (36.8)	Õ	3 (11.5)	0
PDC-E2212-226/ ECOLI NARW81-95	6 (10.9)	5 (26.3)	0	1 (3.8)	0
PDC-E2212-226/ HELPY UREB22-36	1 (1.8)	0	1 (10)	0	0
PDC-E2212-226/ PSEAE DCDA355-369	2 (3.6)	1 (5.3)	0	1 (10)	0
PDC-E2212-226/ V120 HCMV663-677	2 (3.6)	1 (5.3)	1 (10)	0	0
PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ / HAEIN TRMA ₂₀₅₋₂₁₉	3 (5.4)	2 (10.5)	0	1 (10)	0
PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ / ECOLI (at least 1pair)	33 (60)	17 (89.5)	2 (20)	14 (53.8)	1 (4)

Table 5.3 Single and double reactivity to self and microbial peptides expressed in absolute numbers and percentages (%), in 190 pathological controls and 28 healthy subjects

	UTI	HBV	HCV	ALD	AITD	PM	SLE	AIH-1	AIH-2	Healthy
	n=20	n=27	n=42	n=17	n=38	n=10	n=9	n=15	n=12	n=28
PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆	10 (50)	1 (3.7)	2 (4.8)	0	2 (5.2)	0	1 (11)	0	0	1 (3.6)
ECOLI CLPX280-294	0	0	1 (2.4)	0	0	1 (10)	0	0	1 (8.3)	0
ECOLI HRPA ₁₅₃₋₁₆₇	3 (15)	1 (3.7)	1 (2.4)	0	1 (2.6)	Ò	0	0	0	1 (3.6)
ECOLI MALE95-109	4 (20)	ĨO Í	2 (4.8)	0	4 (10.5)	0	1 (11)	1 (6.6)	0	1 (3.6)
ECOLI FADP ₆₀₅₋₆₁₉	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ECOLI SPOT ₅₁₇₋₅₃₁	5 (25)	1 (3.7)	0	0	1 (2.6)	0	0	0	1 (8.3)	0
ECOLI NARW ₈₁₋₉₅	2 (10)	0	0	0	0	1 (10)	0	1 (6.6)	0	0
ECOLI (at least 1 peptide)	11 (55)	2 (7.4)	4 (9.5)	0	5 (13.2)	1 (10)	1 (11)	2 (13.2)	1 (8.3)	2 (7.2)
HELPY UREB22-36	3 (15)	0	1 (2.4)	0	1 (2.6)	0	0	2 (13.2)	0	0
PSEAE DCDA355-369	1(5)	0	ÌO Í	0	1 (2.6)	0	0	0	0	0
HCMV V120663-677	1 (5)	0	1 (2.4)	0	Û	0	0	0	0	0
HAEIN TRMA205-219	4 (20)	1 (3.7)	1 (2.4)	0	0	0	1 (11)	0	0	0
PDC-E2212-226/ ECOLI CLPX280-294	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ / ECOLI HRPA ₁₅₃₋₁₆₇	1 (5)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
PDC-E2212-226/ ECOLI MALE95-109	4 (20)	1	0	0	2 (5.2)	0	1 (11)	0	0	1 (3.6)
PDC-E2212-226/ ECOLI FADP605-619	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
PDC-E2212-226/ ECOLI SPOT517-531	3 (15)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
PDC-E2212-226/ ECOLI NARW81-95	2 (10)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
PDC-E2212-226/ HELPY UREB22-36	2 (10)	0	1 (2.4)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
PDC-E2212-226/ PSEAE DCDA355-369	1 (5)	0	1 (2.4)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
PDC-E2212-226/ V120 HCMV663-677	1(5)		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ / HAEIN TRMA ₂₀₅₋₂₁₉	3 (15)		U	U	0	U	1 (11)	U	U	U
PDC-E2212-226/ ECOLI (at least 1pair)	9 (45)	0	0	0	2 (5.2)	0	1 (11)	0	0	1 (3.6)

138

Footnote to Tables 5.2 & 5.3

PBC, primary biliary cirrhosis; UTI, urinary tract infection; HBV, hepatitis B virus; HCV, hepatitis C virus; ALD, alcoholic liver disease; AITD, autoimmune thyroid disease; PM, polyomyositis; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; AIH, autoimmune hepatitis; n, number; PDC-E2; pyruvate dehydrogenase complex-E2; ECOLI, Escherichia coli; HELPY, Helicobacter pylori; PSEAE, Pseudomonas aeruginosa; HCMV, Human cytomegalovirus; HAEIN, Haemophilus influenzae

5.3.3 Inhibition studies

Inhibition of reactivity to microbial/self mimics by pre-incubation with relevant and control antigens is detailed in Table 5.4 and Figure 5.2.

Antibody binding to ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ (Table 5.4A) was inhibited by 66.7-79.6% after pre-incubation with the ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ in the seven cases tested. Among these, in cases 31, 53 (see Figure 5.2A-B), 3, 5 and 48 antibody binding was inhibited by 68.3-70.1% after pre-incubation with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ and by 67-73.2% after pre-incubation with PDC antigen (Table 5.4A). Inhibition ranged from 52-78% after pre-incubation with the full MALE protein in the 3 cases tested.

In cases 31 and 53 (Figure 5.2C-D), antibody binding to human PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ was significantly inhibited after pre-incubation with the PDC- $E2_{212-226}$, ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉, PDC antigen and with the full ECOLI MALE protein.

As can be seen in Figure 5.2 and Table 5.4 the ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ was a better inhibitor of binding to both itself and PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ than PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆.

Similar sets of results were obtained when competition experiments were performed measuring anti-ECOLI HRPA₁₅₃₋₁₆₇ antibody binding (Table 5.4C).



Competitor peptide concentrations (µg/ml)

Figure 5. 2. A-D: Inhibition of antibody (ab) binding against ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ (A,B) and human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (D,E). Pre-incubation with ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ (\blacklozenge), human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (\blacksquare), full ECOLI MALE protein (\diamondsuit), PDC antigen (\blacktriangle), control antigen (\circ) and control peptide (\bigstar) of serum 31 (A,C) and 53 (B, D). On the vertical axis is the percentage of inhibition of antibody binding to the peptide in the presence of competitor peptide or antigen at different concentrations: 0; 15; 50; 100; 250; 500; 1000 µg/ml. ECOLI, E. coli; MALE, maltose E; PDC, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex
Table 5.4 Inhibition of anti-ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ (A) or anti-PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (B) or anti-ECOLI HRPA₁₅₃₋₁₆₇ (C) antibody reactivity by preincubation with relevant peptides and antigens.

	Case	Maximum Inhibition %											
A.		ECOLI MALE95-109	ECOLI MALE protein	PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆	PDC antigen	Control antigen	Control peptide						
	31ª	73.8	68.5	69.2	67	12	9.1						
	53b	75.5	52	69.7	72.3	5.2	3.4						
	15	79.6	78	22	18	13.8	8.3						
	3	69.1		69.7	73.2	11.3	5.4						
	5	71.2		70.1	68.2	8.8	8.9						
	41	66.7		12.1	14.7	11.8	5.4						
	48	72.2		68.3	68.1	12.9	11.1						
B.		PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆	ECOLI MALE95-109	ECOLI MALE	PDC antigen	Control antigen	Control peptide						
	31°	87.9	78.8	82.2	93.4	14	3.4						
	53 ^d	77.5	79	78.1	79.2	11.2	7.9						
с.		ECOLI HRPA153-167		PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆	PDC antigen	Control antigen	Control peptide						
	42	72.1		62.7	60.4	13.9	9.3						
	18	77.6		76.3	75	5.2	1.3						
	12	79.6		18.5	22.6	4.5	8.3						
	1	72.8		73.2	77	9.2	9.1						
	2	82.1		12.7	11.1	14.2	11.2						
	9	65		20.7	19.5	18.9	6.9						
	19	69.9		66.8	66	13.8	6.2						
	41	69.3		67.2	65.6	12.1	7.8						

^a, See Fig 5.2A; ^b, See Fig 5.2B; ^c, See Fig 5.2C; ^d, See Fig 5. 2D, ECOLI, E. coli; MALE, maltose E; PDC-E2, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex E2 subunit; HRPA, ATP-dependent helicase hrpA

5.3.4 Affinity of anti-peptide antibody

The relative affinity of antibody binding to ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ and PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ for cases 31 and 53 is illustrated in Figure 5.4 demonstrating higher relative antibody affinity to ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ compared to PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, the avidity indices being 1.23 vs 0.83 and 1.3 vs 0.47 mol/l, respectively.



Urea concentration (M)

Figure 5.3 Affinity profile of anti-peptide antibody. ELISA microplate wells were coated with ECOLI MALE95-109 and human PDC-E2212-226. After incubation with individual serum samples of cases 31 (A) and 53 (B) at a dilution of 1/1000, urea was added at increasing concentrations and allowed to inhibit antibody-antigen interaction for 15 minutes. Absorbance values were plotted as the percentage of initial absorbance against urea concentration (mean \pm standard deviation). Each point is the average of 5 observations. From this the relative affinity index, defined as the concentration of urea that elutes 50% of the antibody reactivity, for both ECOLI MALE95-109 (\circ) and human PDC-E2212-226 (\bullet) was extrapolated (----). ECOLI, E. coli; MALE, maltose E; PDC-E2, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex-E2; OD, optical density

5.4 DISCUSSION

The present Chapter has looked for microbial proteins containing peptidyl sequences mimicking human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ and among a number of hits the best 10 mimics were selected for further analysis. Six of these were from *E. coli* while 4 were, one each, from *Helicobacter pylori*, *Pseudomonas aerigunosa*, human CMV, and *Haemophilus influenzae*.

The potential biological significance of these homologies was emphasized by the fact that their sequences were better mimics to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ than the ECOLI PDC or other microbial PDC corresponding sequences. The extent of similarity and the large number of non OADC ECOLI mimics of the human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ epitope seems more than coincidental as indicated by the lack of microbial mimics for the control CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁ peptide, representing the immunodominant epitope targeted by LKM-1 autoantibody in patients with AIH-2 (Alvarez *et al.*, 1999, Manns *et al.*, 1991, Yamamoto *et al.*, 1993). So a possibility arises that, if there is a microbial involvement in the generation of the characteristic AMA and/or in the pathogenesis of PBC, the considerable number of microbial mimics contributes to the selection of this particular sequence on PDC-E2 as a dominant epitope.

Sequence similarity does not necessarily lead to structural/conformational similarity and, hence, needs not equate with actual cross-reactivity (antigenic mimicry), particularly in the case of B-cell epitopes (Oldstone, 1987, Dyrberg *et al.*, 1990, Quaratino *et al.*, 1995, Bogdanos *et al.*, 2000). In the present work such seems to be the case with the ECOLI ClpX peptide. This bears the strongest sequence similarity with the human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, but antibodies to it were only seen in 5.4% of PBC cases. Nevertheless, two-thirds of the PBC patients react with at least one of the ECOLI peptides, up to 1/3 of these 55 patients specifically reacting with ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ and/or ECOLI HRPA₁₅₃₋₁₆₇.

Within PBC, reactivity to ECOLI peptides was strongly associated with a history of recurrent UTI, reactivity to at least one ECOLI peptide being present in virtually all recurrent UTI positive PBC patients and in only a minority of those without recurrent UTI. Outside PBC, approximately half of the patients with recurrent UTI had PBC specific anti-PDC-E2 antibodies and this was always in association with reactivity to ECOLI mimics. Four of these AMA-positive microbial/self reactive patients were

followed-up for 5 years, remaining positive for AMA and ECOLI/PDC-E2 reactivity in the absence of biochemical and clinical signs of PBC. The anti-ECOLI reactivity seen in virtually all the patients with PBC and recurrent UTI was shown here to be cross reactive with the homologous PDC-E2 sequence in a synthetic peptide, and, importantly, in a full length purified ECOLI protein, as shown for the maltose binding protein. This latter periplasmic ECOLI gene product was able to abrogate reactivity to both ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ and PDC-E2 ₂₁₂₋₂₂₆. Notably, three-dimensional modelling of MALE ECOLI predicts MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ to be located in a solvent-accessible surface region of the protein, compatible with antibody recognition on the whole protein (*see* Figure 5. 4) (Laver *et al.*, 1990, Howard *et al.*, 1998).

The findings of the present work strengthen the notion that a microbial exposure, especially through ECOLI-urinary tract infection, may be instrumental to the appearance and/or maintenance of AMA responses by a cross-reactive mechanism (Stemerowicz et al., 1988, Hopf et al., 1989, Burroughs et al., 1992, Butler et al., 1995a, Butler et al., 1995b, Shimoda et al., 1998, Shimoda et al., 2000, Parikh-Patel et al., 2001, Butler et al., 1993). In view of the remarkable sequence similarities of PDC-E2 across species, Burroughs et al. (1992) originally suggested that molecular mimicry between PDC-E2 of microorganisms, especially of ECOLI, and PDC-E2 of man could lead to a crossreactive immune response manifesting itself as AMA. This suggestion arose in the light of early epidemiological considerations, such as an association of AMA with UTI and the fact that sera and T-cell clones from patients with PBC are capable of human/microbial PDC-E2 cross-recognition (Stemerowicz et al., 1988, Hopf et al., 1989, Burroughs et al., 1992, Butler et al., 1995a, Butler et al., 1995b, Shimoda et al., 1998, Shimoda et al., 2000, Parikh-Patel et al., 2001, Butler et al., 1993). A significant addition to the present debate is the evidence recently provided by Parikh-Patel et al., who, in the first controlled epidemiological analysis, showed a positive association of PBC with UTI (Parikh-Patel et al., 2001).

The role of molecular mimicry and UTI in PBC needs, however, to be revisited, especially since the present study has been able to demonstrate cross-reactive immunity between human PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ and microbial sequences, particularly from *E. coli*, which do not belong to microbial OADC. Furthermore as shown in Figure 5.2 and 5.3 and Table 5.4 there appears to be greater antibody affinity for the ECOLI mimics than for PDC- $E2_{212-226}$. This, and the observation that reactivity to non-PDC-E2 mimics in the

Â.

control population is more common than that to PDC- $E2_{212-226}$, both indicate that reactivity to the bacterial sequences may precede that against self.

A

В



Helicitus to provident inte



Figure 5.4. Three dimensional structure of the periplasmic maltose binding protein of E. coli (ECOLI MALE) with a wire frame (A) backbone (grey) coloured by secondary structure (purple) and a space fill (B) backbone. The relevant ECOLI MALE₉₅₋₁₀₉ sequence is displayed in yellow. The structure was analyzed with the Cn3D visualization tool (see 2.1.2.3)

CHAPTER 6

Helicobacter pylori and PBC

6.1 BACKGROUND

In the previous Chapter (see Chapter 5), it was shown that in spite the universal antibody recognition of the PDC-E2212-226 autoepitope, its close Helicobacter pylori (HELPY) mimic was rarely recognised in serum samples from PBC patients (1/55, 1.8%). This finding was surprising considering the degree and the nature of the microbial/self amino acid homology, on top of experimental evidence linking HELPY infection to PBC (Lin et al., 1995, Fox et al., 1995, Fox et al., 1998, Figura et al., 1998, Nilsson et al., 1999, Nilsson et al., 2000a, Nilsson et al., 2000b, Monstein et al., 2002, Fallone et al., 2003). Thus, HELPY and Helicobacter hepaticus (HELHEP) have recently been implicated in the pathogenesis of PBC since their DNA has been found in liver tissue of patients whose sera contained antibodies to the microbe (Lin et al., 1995, Fox et al., 1995, Fox et al., 1998, Figura et al., 1998, Nilsson et al., 1999, Nilsson et al., 2000a, Nilsson et al., 2000b, Monstein et al., 2002, Fallone et al., 2003). Moreover, the PDC-E2 212-226-mimicking HELPY sequence originates from the urease beta (UREB) subunit, a protein that with urease A (UREA) represents a major focus of anti-HELPY immunity (Pappo et al., 1995, Suerbaum and Josenhans, 1999, Zevering et al., 1999, Kimmel et al., 2000, Suerbaum and Michetti, 2002).

In gastric pathology, HELPY has been shown to be cross-reactively targeted at the Tcell level with the gastric H^+K^+ -ATPase proton pump, the major autoantigen in autoimmune gastritis, with which it shares extensive similarities (Amedei *et al.*, 2003).

In the present study the nature of antibody unresponsiveness to the HELPY UREB mimic was investigated. Since B- and T-cell epitopes frequently do not co-localise, the possibility that the HELPY UREB mimic and PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ are targets of cross-reactive response at the CD4 T-cell level has also been explored. Finally, the disease-specificity of antibody reactivity to HELPY antigens in patients with PBC was compared to those of a large number of controls including patients with viral hepatitides, autoimmune thyroiditis, systemic lupus erythematosus and healthy subjects.

6.2 METHODS

6.2.1 Subjects

Serum samples were obtained from 112 patients with PBC (mean age 53 ± 14.2 years; 99 female), all but 15 AMA-positive by IIF, (median titre: 1/1280, range 1/40 – 1/10480), median duration of disease 59 months (range 1-227) attending the out-patient clinic of Liver Transplantation and Hepatobiliary Medicine Unit, Royal Free Hospital. Pathological controls included 98 AMA-negative patients (mean age 54 ± 11.9 years, 89 female), all positive for anti-HELPY antibodies by ELISA and immunoblotting including 25 with chronic HBV infection; 31 with chronic HCV infection; 23 with autoimmune thyroid disease and 19 with systemic lupus erythematosus.

Sixteen healthy, AMA-negative, volunteer members of staff (mean age 38±8 years, 13 female), all anti-HELPY antibody positive, were tested as normal controls.

6.2.2 Antibody detection

AMA was detected by conventional IIFL, immunoblotting and ELISA (see 2.2.2). Antibodies to HELPY were tested by commercially available ELISA (see 2.1.6.1) and immunoblotting using as antigen a purified HELPY antigen extract containing UREB (see 2.1.6.2).

6.2.3 Protein database search and analysis

The UREB HELPY homologue of human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ was identified by scanning the SwissProt protein database using the *ProteinInfo* programme (*see* 2.2.2.1). Amino acid comparison of full-length human PDC-E2 and HELPY UREB was carried out using the *BLASTp* 2 sequences protein-protein comparison programme (*see* 2.2.1.2.2). The observed similarities were analysed in relation to those between human PDC-E2 and UREA HELPY, UREB HELHEP or UREA HELHEP.

6.2.4 Peptide synthesis

Three 15-mer peptides containing the relevant human inner PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, PDC-E2₉₁. 105, and HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ mimics and an irrelevant 15 aa control peptide were constructed (see 2.2.2.3).

6.2.5 ELISA

Antibody binding to the peptides was determined by ELISA (see 2.2.2.3). The final peptide concentration was 15μ g/ml and the dilution of serum samples was 1/200.

6.2.6 Inhibition studies

6.2.6.1 Peptides

To investigate whether the simultaneous reactivity to HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ and human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ was due to cross-reactivity, competition ELISA was performed, measuring residual anti-HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ or anti-PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ reactivity after incubation respectively with HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆, PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ and a control peptide as liquid phase competitors (*see* 2.4.2.2.1).

6.2.6.2 Antigens

The possibility that PDC-E2 and HELPY UREB are targets of cross-reactive antibody responses at the level of full proteins was addressed through inhibition studies investigating inhibition of antibody reactivity to human liver PDC-E2, on immunoblot using as solid phase competitor a purified HELPY extract containing the UREB subunit (*see* 2.1.6.2); conversely, antibody recognition of UREB was tested before and after solid phase incubation of serum samples with purified PDC from porcine heart mitochondria (*see* 2.1.2).

6.2.7 Three-dimensional modelling

Three-dimensional modelling of the relevant HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ was carried out by analysing the structure of UREA/UREB HELPY complex with the Cn3D visualization tool (*see* 2.1.2.3).

6.2.8 Proliferation assay of PBMC

Proliferative responses (*see* 2.2.3.3) to the HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆, PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ peptides and PDC antigen were investigated in 7 PBC patients and 5 pathological controls (4 with HCV, 1 with alcoholic hepatitis), all female (median age 54, range 37-68), all positive for anti-HELPY antibodies.

6.3 RESULTS

6.3.1 Protein database search and analysis

BLASTp 2 sequences comparison revealed the best similarity between the 569 aa long UREB protein and the inner lipoyl domain of PDC-E2 to involve the immunodominant PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ epitope. HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ shares 13/15 (87%) similarity (7 identities) with the human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (see Figure 6.1).

Two other HELPY UREB sequences had similarity with PDC-E2; but the extent of similarity was lower; 47% (6 identities) and 53% (5 identities) and the PDC-E2 mimics correspond to sequences which are not PDC-E2 epitopes (*see* Figure 6.1).

The best homology UREA HELPY shares with PDC-E2 is a 8/15 (53%) similarity (5 identities) between HELPY UREA₁₋₁₄ and PDC-E2₄₂₄₋₄₃₈ (see Figure 1); no similarity exists between the UREA HELPY and the PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆.

The corresponding sequence on UREB of HELHEP shares also homology with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, though to a lesser extent compared to that of HELPY (*see* Figure 6.1).

Antigen	Sequence														Similarity (%)	Identities		
human PDC-E2 (ILD)	(212-226)	к	L	S	E	G	D	L	L	Α	Ε	ı	Е	Т	D	к		
HELPY UREB	(22-36)	R	: L	G	D	Т	: D	: L	I	: A	: E	· v	: E	Н	: D	Y	13/15 (87%)	7
HELPY UREB	(463-477)	A	N	A	S	I	P ·	T •	P ·	Q ·	P	v	Y	Y	R	Ε	7/15 (47%)	6
human PDC-E2	(293-307)	v	A	A	v	Р	Р	T	Р	Q	Р	L	A	Р	Т	Р	//13 (+ // 0)	
HELPY UREB	(463-477)	A	N	A	S	I	P	T	P	Q	P	v	Y	Y	R	Ε	8/15 (53%)	5
human PDC-E2	(283-297)	• P	Q	v	P	Р	Р	Т	Р	Р	P	· v	Α	A	v	Р	0/15 (5570)	5
HELPY UREA	(1-14)	м	к	L	T	Р	к	E	 L	D	ĸ	L	м	L	н	 Y		
human PDC-E2	(424-438)	v	L	: L	v	R	: K	: E	: L	N	: K	I	L	E	G	R	9/15 (60%)	5
HELHEP UREB	(20-34)	R	 L	G	D	T	N	L	F		E		E	к	D	Y		
human PDC-E2 (ILD)	(212-226)	K	: L	S	E	G	D	: L	L	: A	: E	І	: E	Т	: D	K	13/15 (87%)	6

Figure 6.1 Sequence alignment between human E2 subunit of human pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (PDC-E2), and urease B (UREB) and urease A (UREA) of Helicobacter pylori (HELPY) and Helicobacter hepaticus (HELHEP). Amino acids in standard single-letter code. Identities in **bold**; Conservative substitutions in italic; ILD, inner lipoyl domain

153

Chapter 6

6.3.2 Reactivity to peptides and antigens

Reactivity to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ was found in a total of 104 PBC patients: 94 (97%) of 97 AMA-positive PBC cases, and 10 (67%) of 15 AMA-negative PBC cases.

Among the 104 anti-PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ positive patients, reactivity to HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ was found in 2 (2%) and reactivity to the HELPY UREB antigen in 72 (69%) including the 2 anti-HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ positive cases. Among the 10 anti-PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ negative patients, there was no reactivity to HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆, 7 (70%) reacting with the HELPY UREB antigen.

Among the 98 pathological controls, reactivity to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ was found in 3 (3%) including 2 patients with HCV and one with SLE; and to HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ in 2 (one with HBV and one with HCV) not reacting to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆. There was no correlation of antibody reactivity to PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ or PDC-E2 antigen and individual UREB or UREA (or other HELPY antigens) (*see* Figure 6.2A). The pattern of reactivity to HELPY antigens by immunoblot was similar between anti-PDC-E2 positive and negative PBC cases, as well as between PBC and controls (Figure 6.2B).

Chapter 6

6.3.3 Inhibition stadies

6.3.3.1 Papeleles

A B HLHLHLHL HL PDC-E2 UREB UREB HELPY

63.3.2 Antig

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 H 12 13 14 15 I II III IV

6.3.4 Three-dimensional modelBag

Three dimensional readering product the data of HELPY 128 Elbis a not to be exposed to the surface of the UREA URES counders but Figure 5.4).

Figure 6.2 Patterns of reactivity to HELPY and PDC antigens

(A). Antibody reactivity to HELPY (H) and human liver (L) PDC antigens in representative PBC cases. Note the presence of reactivity to both UREB (lane 1) and PDC-E2 (lane 2) in the serum sample (I); absence of reactivity to UREB (lane 3) in the presence of reactivity to PDC-E2 (lane 4) in another PBC case (II); and presence of reactivity to UREB (lane 5 and 7) in the absence of reactivity to PDC-E2 (lanes 6 and 8) in two other PBC cases (III and IV)

(B). Patterns of reactivity to HELPY antigens in PBC cases – anti-PDC-E2 positive (lanes 1-4) or negative (5–8) and controls (9-15)

6.3.3 Inhibition studies

6.3.3.1 Peptides

Inhibition of reactivity to HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ or human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ by pre-incubation with the relevant peptides of the serum samples from the 2 microbial/self double reactive PBC cases is detailed in Figure 6.3. Antibody binding to HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ was inhibited in up to 89% after incubation with the HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ peptide but not with PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ or the control peptide (Figure 6.3 A-B).

6.3.3.2 Antigens

Incubation of a PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆/ HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ double reactive serum sample with UREB HELPY antigen as a solid phase competitor was able to abolish reactivity to human UREB HELPY but did not have an effect on reactivity to PDC-E2 (Figure 6. 3C). Conversely, incubation of the double reactive serum with PDC antigen inhibited reactivity to PDC-E2 but did not diminish reactivity to HELPY UREB (Figure 6.3D).

6.3.4 Three-dimensional modelling

Three dimensional modelling predicts the core of HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ not to be exposed on the surface of the UREA/UREB complex (*see* Figure 6.4).



Increasing amounts of competitor peptide (µg/ml)



Legend to Figure 6. 3

A-B: Inhibition of antibody binding against HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ (A) and human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (B). Pre-incubation with HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ (\blacklozenge), human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (\bigtriangleup), and control peptide (\times) of a HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆/PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ double reactive serum sample. On the vertical axis is the percentage of inhibition of antibody binding to the peptide in the presence of competitor peptide or antigen at different concentrations: 0; 25; 50; 100; 200; 400; 800 µg/ml.

C-D: Antibody binding against HELPY UREB (top band) and human PDC-E2 (bottom band) before (lanes 1 and 3) and after pre-incubation (2 and 4) with the HELPY extract antigen (C) or PDC antigen (D) of a HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆/PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ double reactive serum. Note that HELPY antigen as inhibitor is able to abolish reactivity to human UREB HELPY (lane 2, top) but does not have an effect on reactivity to PDC-E2 (lane 2, bottom). Conversely, incubation of double reactive sera with PDC antigen inhibits reactivity to PDC-E2 (lane 4, bottom) but does not diminish reactivity to HELPY UREB (lane 4, top). HELPY, Helicobacter pylori; PDC, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex; UREB, urease B

Addit) and tellectuplent
Addit) and tellectuplent
Addit to A and tellectuplent</l

Figure 6.4 Three-dimensional modelling structure of the urease B (UREB; blue colour) and urease A (UREA; pink colour) complex of Helicobacter pylori (HELPY) with a space fill. The PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ mimicking HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ sequence is shown in yellow. The structure was analysed with the Cn3D visualisation tool. Note the lack of exposure of the core of the peptidyl sequence to the surface of the molecule in contrast to its corners

6.3.5 Proliferation assay of PBMC

Proliferative responses to peptides and antigens is summarised in Figure 6.5. Stimulation of PBMC with the non-specific stimulator PHA resulted in strong proliferative responses in PBC patients (mean SI \pm SD: 22.3 \pm 4.64) and pathological controls (13.6 \pm 2.25).

Proliferative responses to the PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ peptide were found in 6 of the 7 PBC patients (4.1 ± 0.8) and 1 (2.9 ± 1.2) of 5 pathological controls (2 ± 0.3) - a 53-year old woman with chronic HCV infection negative for AMA. All seven PBC patients (7.67 ± 2) and one control (the 53-year HCV infected woman) recognised also the PDC antigen. No reactivity was found to the HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ in PBC patients (1.44 ± 0.1) or pathological controls (1.24 ± 0.3) (Figure 6.5).



Figure 6. 5 Proliferative responses of peripheral blood mononuclear cells from 7 PBC patients and 5 pathological controls to the PDC- $E2_{212-226}$, HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆, PDC antigen (ag). A stimulation index (SI) \geq 3 was considered positive; PBC, primary biliary cirrhosis; PDC, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex; UREB, urease B

6.4 DISCUSSION

The present study has investigated the role of molecular mimicry between *helicobacter pylori* and PDC-E2, the major mitochondrial autoantigen in PBC and found no evidence of cross-reactive immunity in PBC patients.

This finding was unexpected in view of the fact that not only do HELPY and PDC-E2 share a striking similarity in molecular mimicry terms, but also the microbial sequence originates from UREB, an antigen which, in complex with urease A (UREA), is a key target of anti-HELPY immunity (Pappo *et al.*, 1995, Suerbaum and Josenhans, 1999, Zevering *et al.*, 1999, Kimmel *et al.*, 2000, Suerbaum and Michetti, 2002). Moreover, the best similarity between microbe and self involves the immunodominant autoepitope on PDC-E2 (PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆). Of pathogenic relevance is the fact that *helicobacter* DNA has been found in bile and liver tissue from patients with PBC, their sera containing antibodies to HELPY, a microbe able to induce cross-reactive immune responses against gastric antigens, and hepatobiliary pathology in animals (Lin *et al.*, 1995, Fox *et al.*, 1998, Figura *et al.*, 1998, Nilsson *et al.*, 2003, Amedei *et al.*, 2000a, Nilsson *et al.*, 2000b, Monstein *et al.*, 2002, Fallone *et al.*, 2003, Amedei *et al.*, 2003).

In spite of the universal antibody recognition of the PDC- $E2_{212-226}$ autoepitope, its close HELPY UREB mimic was rarely recognised in serum samples from PBC patients, unlike other cases where microbial mimics do exhibit double- and frequently cross-reactivity (*see* Chapter 3, 4 and 5).

A possible explanation for this finding is provided by the molecular modelling study which predicts that the native microbial sequence would be inaccessible to B lymphocyte receptors (Figure 6.4). Furthermore, the sequence would not be seen by antibody to intact PDC-E2 or its dominant epitope in the mimicking PDC-E2 sequence. However the synthetic peptide itself would not be in the restricted conformation existing in the native protein, and yet it does not react with antibodies recognising the PDC-E2 peptide that it so strongly mimics. It seems, therefore, that the similarity UREB HELPY shares with PDC-E2, is not enough for cross-recognition in spite of great amino acid homology (Dyrberg *et al.*, 1990, Wucherpfennig *et al.*, 1997). Compared to the human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ autoepitope (KLSEGDLLAEIETDK), the HELPY UREB₂₂₋₃₆ mimic (RLGDTLIAEVEHDY) has a positively-charged and bulky histidine (H₃₄) which would not be a conservative substitution for T₂₂₄ of PDC-E2 or any of the residues in the same relative position in any of the other microbial mimics that have shown antibody cross-reactivity to PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (see Chapter 5), and this is evident also for the bulky and aromatic tyrosine (Y_{36}), replacing the K_{226} that has been identified as an important residue in the PDC-E2 epitope. These differences could lead to a non-recognised conformation in a sequence that is otherwise so similar.

The above considerations would account for the absence of a distinct pattern of PBCspecific reactivity to HELPY antigens in PBC patients compared to pathological and healthy controls (*see* Figure 6.2).

In the case of T-cell epitopes there is no conformational restriction as to which peptide may be cleaved for presentation by MHC on B-lymphocytes (Delves and Roitt, 2000b, Delves and Roitt, 2000a). However, binding for presentation may well be significantly impaired by the substitutions referred to (Wucherpfennig *et al.*, 1997). So it is not surprising that, in the present case, there is no evidence that the mimicking urease peptide is a CD4 epitope either. It seems therefore unlikely that HELPY is involved in the induction of AMA antibody responses, either directly or indirectly, by a mechanism of molecular mimicry.

These clear-cut negative findings illustrate that sequence similarity does not necessarily lead to structural/conformational similarity and, hence, need not equate with actual cross-reactivity (antigenic mimicry) (Oldstone, 1987, Quaratino *et al.*, 1995). Conversely, they suggest that cross-reactivities between autopitopes and mimicking peptides of infecting organisms, when they are observed, are probably not trivial, and may well have a bearing on the mechanism of disease.

CHAPTER 7

Caseinolytic protease complex and PBC

7.1 BACKGROUND

During the completion period of this Thesis, a study from a Spanish group of Investigators reported that antibodies directed to ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ are strongly associated with PBC being present in one third of patients with PBC but in less than 1% of a large number of pathological and normal controls (Mayo *et al.*, 2000). This finding was of relevance to the present study because of the following: 1) there are no sequence similarities between the ECOLI ClpP and human PDC-E2 antigens that would account for association between anti-ClpP and anti-PDC-E2 reactivity; 2) the anti-ClpP and anti-PDC-E2 antibodies are not cross-reactive; 3) ECOLI ClpP protein forms an important proteolytic complex with ClpX, a peptidyl sequence of which (ECOLI ClpX ₂₈₀₋₂₉₄) bears the strongest sequence similarity to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ but is virtually unrecognised by antibodies in patients with PBC as shown in Chapter 5 (Wang *et al.*, 1997, Mayo *et al.*, 2000, Singh *et al.*, 2000).

These various observations led to the hypothesis (*see* Figure 1) that during ECOLI infection, B-cells with receptors recognising a repetitive, exposed sequence of ClpP, internalise the entire ClpP/ClpX complex, and present the human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆-mimicking peptide of ClpX on HLA class II. PBC-specific CD4 T-cells, cross-recognising through molecular mimicry the human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ epitope and the ClpX peptide would provide help in the production of disease specific antibodies against ClpP.

This hypothesis leads to three testable predictions that became the focus of the present section:

- The ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ sequence must be located in a solvent-accessible surface region of the protein, compatible with B-cell receptor recognition (Laver *et al.*, 1990).
- The ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄ mimic –but not ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ must be recognised by CD4 T-cells from PBC patients.
- Finally, PDC-specific T-cells must be able to provide help for the production of anti-ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ by virtue of cross-recognition by ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄ (Stevens *et al.*, 1988, Mosmann and Coffman, 1989, Mahon *et al.*, 1995).



Figure 7.1

Hypothesis: The P subunit of the Clp complex of E. coli is recognised by a specific antibody present on the surface of a B lymphocyte (1). The complex is internalised (2), processed and a peptide of the X subunit is inserted in an HLA class II molecule and presented to a CD4 helper T lymphocyte possessing the appropriate T-cell receptor (TCR) (3). The helper T lymphocyte releases soluble mediators such as IL4 (4) stimulating B lymphocyte proliferation and release of anti-P specific antibodies (5). Of note is the fact that the peptide potentially recognised by the helper T lymphocyte shares striking similarity with the primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC) specific PDC-E2 immunodominant epitope (inset). It can be hypothesised that the cross-reactivity between these two antigenic determinants at the helper T-cell level may account for the PBC-specific antimicrobial response (P subunit of Clp complex of ECOLI) described in the paper by Mayo et al. (2000)

7.2 METHODS

7.2.1 Three-dimensional modelling

Three-dimensional modelling of the ECOLI $ClpP_{177-194}$ was carried out by analysing the structure of the 7-ring ECOLI ClpP with the Cn3D visualization tool (*see* 2.1.2.3).

7.2.2 T-cell responses

7.2.2.1 Subjects

Proliferative responses (*see* 2.2.3) to ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄, human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ and PDC antigen were tested in freshly isolated PBMC (*see* 2.2.3.1) from 15 AMA positive PBC women (median age 56 years, range 32-64) attending the outpatient clinic of the Liver Transplantation and Hepatobiliary Medicine Unit, Royal Free Hospital, London, United Kingdom. Among these 15 PBC patients, 9 had antibody reactivity in their serum for ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄; all 15 were positive for anti-human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ antibodies and negative for anti-ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄ by ELISA. Nine demographically matched women were also tested as pathological controls including 4 women with chronic HCV infection, three with alcoholic hepatitis and 2 with AIH-1. Three age-matched healthy female subjects were tested as normal controls. All twelve controls were negative for AMA, ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄, human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, and ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄; reactivity.

7.2.2.2 Standard proliferation assay

A standard proliferation assay (*see* 2.2.3.3) was performed to investigate cellular responses of PBC patients and controls in the presence of individual ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄, human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ and PDC antigen.

7.2.2.3 Intracellular cytokine staining

The antigen-specific cellular response was further evaluated by intracellular cytokine staining (*see* 2.2.3.4). Briefly, PBMC from 5 anti-ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ antibody positive PBC women resuspended in complete medium, were cultured for 2 weeks with purified PDC antigen in the presence of IL-2 and irradiated autologous PBMC. At day 14, 1 x 10^{6} cells/ml were cultured for 72 hours with individual ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄, human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, and ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ peptides in complete medium, without IL-2, and

in the presence of irradiated autologous PBMC. At day 4, cells were washed and subjected to intracellular cytokine staining with QRed-conjugated anti-CD4, and PE-conjugated anti-IFN- γ .

7.2.3 T-cell 'help' for B-cell antibody production

To test whether ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄-specific T-cell responses have the ability to provide 'help' for the production of anti-ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ antibodies, PBMC from 5 PBC patients with proliferative responses to ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄ and 5 without were cultured for 2 weeks in the presence of purified PDC antigen and IL-2 (*see* 2.2.4). At day 14, cells were washed and 1 x 10⁶/ml PBMC were cultured for 3 days with ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄, in the presence of 0.5 x 10⁶/ml irradiated autologous PBMC but without IL-2. At the end of the culture, the cell-free supernatant was collected and tested by ELISA for antibody reactivity to ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄, ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄, and an irrelevant control peptide (*see* 2.2.2.3). Chapter 7

7.3 RESULTS

7.3.1 Three-dimensional modelling

A three-dimensional model of ECOLI ClpP predicts $ClpP_{177-194}$ to be repetitively exposed on the surface of the molecule (Figure 7.2).



Figure 7.2 Three dimensional modelling of the hepta-symmetric caseinolytic protease P(ClpP) ring-like structure of Escherichia coli with a space fill backbone (purple). The structure is viewed face-on. The immunodominant ECOLI $ClpP_{177-194}$ B-cell epitope is exposed on the surface of the 7-mer molecule (displayed in yellow). The structure was analysed with the Cn3D visualisation tool

7.3.2 T-cell responses

7.3.2.1 Standard proliferation assay

Eight of the nine anti-ECOLI $ClpP_{177-194}$ antibody positive PBC women showed strong T-cell responses to ECOLI $ClpX_{280-294}$ (Figure 7.3). These responses were absent in the 6 anti-ECOLI $ClpP_{177-194}$ antibody negative PBC women and in the 12 demographically matched controls. Proliferative responses to ECOLI $ClpX_{280-294}$ were stronger than those to human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ in all but one ECOLI $ClpX_{280-294}$ reactive PBC cases. There were no T-cell responses to ECOLI $ClpP_{177-194}$.



Figure 7.3 Proliferative responses of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) in 9 PBC patients seropositive for anti-Escherichia coli (ECOLI) caseinolytic protease (Clp)P₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ antibodies to ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄, the human pyruvate dehydrogenase complex-E2 (PDC-E2)₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ mimic and the ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ epitope. Results are expressed as the stimulation index (SI) which is the ratio of the mean counts per min (cpm) from triplicate determinations in the presence of antigen to the mean cpm obtained in the absence of antigen. The wells exhibiting a mean SI >3 were considered positive. Results are presented as mean+SD for the total number of patients (9 cases) and for individual cases

7.3.2.2 Intracellular cytokine staining

A mean of 43,000 lymphocyte gated events per sample were collected (minimum 20,000) by flow cytometry. All experiments were done in triplicate. In all five cases, similar or higher numbers of IFN- γ producing CD4 cells were seen following stimulation with ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄, mean % of IFN- γ producing CD4 cells (12.7%) ± SD (3.8) than with human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ (10.2± 3.1) (see Figure 7.4). Stimulation with ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ induced IFN- γ -producing CD4 cells comparable in numbers to those of control wells (without peptide) (5.6 ±1.3 vs 4.9 ±1.7).



Figure 7.4 Percentage of interferon (IFN)- γ producing CD4 T-cells in the presence of individual peptides determined by intracellular cytokine staining. PBMC from 5 anti-ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ antibody positive PBC women resuspended in complete medium, were cultured for 2 weeks with purified PDC antigen in the presence of IL-2 and irradiated autologous PBMC. At day 14, cells were washed and cultured for 72 hours with individual ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄, human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ and control peptides in complete medium, without interleukin-2. At day 4, cells were washed and subjected to intracellular cytokine staining with QRed-conjugated anti-CD4, and PE-conjugated anti-IFN- γ . The frequency of interferon (IFN)- γ producing CD4 T-cells is similar or higher after stimulation with ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄ than with PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, decreasing in the presence of ECOLI CLPP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄, or control (without peptide). ECOLI, Escherichia coli; Clp, caseinolytic protease X; PDC, pyruvate dehydrogenase complex

7.3.3 T-cell 'help' for B-cell antibody production

Anti-ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ antibody reactivity was found only in the supernatant of patients who had shown proliferative responses to ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄ (Figure 7.5).



Figure 7.5 Detection by ELISA of anti-peptide antibody in five patients with primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC) positive for proliferative responses to E. coli caseinolytic protease X (ClpX)₂₈₀₋₂₉₄. Cells were cultured with E. coli ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄ and cell-free supernatant was used to determine antibody reactivity against E. coli ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄, Escherichia coli ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ and an irrelevant control peptide. A cut off for positive reaction was determined as absorbance-optical density (OD) = 0.29, this cut off representing OD values exceeding mean+5SD of 36 readings using serum from 12 healthy subjects against E. coli ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ and is represented as a horizontal line

Stark bas

7.4 DISCUSSION

The aim of the present section of the Thesis was to examine the hypothesis that anti-ECOLI ClpP antibodies specifically found in patients with PBC may arise through 'help' given by auto-reactive T-cells that recognise a peptide of ClpX, the regulatory sub-unit of the Clp protease complex, that is a structural mimic of a dominant T-cell epitope of PDC-E2 (Figure 7.1) (Stevens *et al.*, 1988, Mosmann and Coffman, 1989, Mahon *et al.*, 1995, Mayo *et al.*, 2000, Singh *et al.*, 2000, Wang *et al.*, 1997). This would account for the facts that anti-ClpP and PDC-E2 antibodies are not crossreactive, (ursurprisingly, since the respective antigens do not share amino acid homologies), and that there is no antibody reactivity to ClpX in patients with PBC, notwithstanding the strong sequence similarity with the dominant PDC-E2 autoepitope (*see* Chapter 5).

This hypothesis generated three predictions which have been tested experimentally: Firstly, the ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ sequence must be located in a solvent-accessible surface region of the protein, compatible with B-cell receptor recognition (Laver et al., 1990). A three-dimensional model of ECOLI ClpP predicts ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ to be repetitively exposed on the surface of the molecule (Figure 7.2). Furthermore, the proposed ClpX T-cell epitope is the core of a segment that is essential for the formation of the ClpP/ClpX complex (Kim et al., 2001). Secondly, the ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄ mimic - but not ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ - must be recognised by CD4 T-cells from PBC patients. Both, a standard proliferation assay and intracellular cytokine staining revealed that ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄ is a target of CD4-specific T-cell responses. Intriguingly, the ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄ mimic proved to be a better stimulus for the production of IFN- γ not only than the ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ peptide but also of the homologous human PDC-E2212-226. Finally, PDC-specific T-cells should be able to provide 'help' for the production of anti-ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ by virtue of crossrecognition by ECOLIClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄ (Stevens et al., 1988, Mosmann and Coffman, 1989, Mahon et al., 1995, Mayo et al., 2000). This seems to be the case as anti-ECOLI ClpP₁₇₇₋₁₉₄ antibody reactivity was found only in the cell-free supernatant of cultures from PBC patients who have been cultured in the presence of ECOLI ClpX₂₈₀₋₂₉₄.

The findings of the present section strengthen the contention that a microbial exposure, such as that of recurrent E. coli-urinary tract infection, may be instrumental to the appearance and/or the maintenance of anti-mitochondrial responses by complex

molecular mimicry mechanisms operating at the T-cell level (Stemerowicz et al., 1988, Hopf et al., 1989, Burroughs et al., 1992, Butler et al., 1995a, Butler et al., 1995b, Shimoda et al., 1998, Shimoda et al., 2000, Parikh-Patel et al., 2001, Butler et al., 1993). The kind of scenario proposed in this case is analogous to what is commonly seen in immune reactions to viral infections (Stavnezer, 1996, Liang and Mamula, 2000, Snapper et al., 1997, Welsh et al., 2004). If correct in the case of antibodies to ECOLI ClpP, it may also give an insight into other findings in PBC, such as the occurrence of various, disease-specific anti-nuclear antibodies, where again the antigens have no obvious relationship to PDC-E2 (Courvalin and Worman, 1997, Szostecki et al., 1997).

CHAPTER 8

Hepatitis C and liver kidney microsomal type 1 antibody

8.1 BACKGROUND

In the previous chapters (Chapters 3-7) the concept of molecular mimicry has been used as a tool for the identification of microbial agents sharing homologies with the PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, the major mitochondrial autoepitope in patients with PBC. These studies have been based on the assumption that the knowledge of the self target in the form of a peptidyl sequence may indirectly provide useful information as to the identity of microbial agents responsible for the initiation and/or the maintenance of the autoimmune response through a mechanism of immunological cross-reactivity. Molecular mimicry has been also suggested as a mechanism accountable for viral triggered autoimmunity. LKM1 antibody, for example, which is the serological hallmark of AIH-2, is also present in up to 10% of chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infected patients.

The only defined target of LKM1, both in AIH2 and HCV infection, is CYP2D6, a 50 kDa microsomal enzyme which is also present on the hepatocyte plasma membrane (Alvarez *et al.*, 1985, Gueguen *et al.*, 1989), (Robin *et al.*, 1997, Muratori *et al.*, 2000, Sugimura *et al.*, 2002). The presence of B-cell epitopes on CYP2D6 has been investigated by several groups and there is consensus that the region spanning amino acids 252-271 represents the immunodominant epitope in LKM1 positive AIH-2, being less frequently recognised by LKM1 positive HCV infected patients (Manns *et al.*, 1991, Yamamoto *et al.*, 1993, Muratori *et al.*, 1995, Dalekos *et al.*, 1999).

The mechanism by which this particular short cytochrome sequence becomes the target of LKM1 antibody responses remains speculative (Manns and Obermayer-Straub, 1997, Bogdanos and McFarlane, 2003). Having noted that CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁ shares amino acid homology with sequences of the NS5B and the E1 proteins of the HCV polyprotein and the ICP4 of HSV1, Manns *et al.* (1991) proposed that molecular mimicry and immunological cross-reactivity could explain reactivity to these short sequences and ultimately result in the production of LKM1. This hypothesis has never been addressed experimentally.

The present study investigates whether $CYP2D6_{252-271}$ and its viral homologues are targets of a humoral immune response and whether this immune response is cross-reactive. Peptides spanning the relevant sequences were constructed to test antibody binding by ELISA in sera from 23 LKM1 seropositive chronically HCV infected patients, and, as control, 23 LKM1 seronegative chronically HCV infected patients.

8.2 METHODS

8.2.1 Subjects

Twenty-three patients with chronic hepatitis C (median age 47 years, range 22-79; 17 female), seropositive for LKM1 (LKM^{pos}/HCV^{pos}) by IIFL at a median titre of 1/320 (range 1/40 - 1/2,560) attending the out-patient clinic of the Department of Internal Medicine, Cardioangiology, Hepatology, University of Bologna, Italy, were studied. In 19 the HCV genotype was known, being 1a in seven, 1b in eight and 2a in four. Twelve patients were under IFN α treatment, with a mean 6.13±3.3SD months duration of therapy. All patients were HLA class I and class II typed (*see* below).

Twenty-three patients with chronic hepatitis C, seronegative for LKM1 (HCV^{pos}/LKM^{neg}) and matched for age, sex, HCV genotype, and IFN α treatment (type/dose/duration) were studied as controls (Table 8.1). All patients attended the out-patient clinic of the Department of Internal Medicine, Sismanoglion Hospital, Athens. Greece.

All of the patients with chronic hepatitis C were HCV RNA positive and anti-HCV antibody positive by a third generation enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. All patients were negative for HBsAg, anti-HBsAg antibody, anti-Hepatitis B core (anti-HBc) antibody, and anti-human immunodeficiency virus.

8.2.2 Antibody detection

LKM1 was detected by IIFL (see 2.2.2.1). A commercially available ELISA was used to detect IgG anti-HSV1 specific antibodies (see 2.1.6.1).

8.2.3 Protein database search and analysis

The '*BLASTp 2 sequences*' programme was used (*see* 2.2.1.2.2) to search for aa sequence similarity between human CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁ and HCV polyprotein, and the ICP4 HSV1 protein, formerly known as 175 kDa immediate early protein (IE175), as they were provided by the protein sequence databank SWISS-PROT. The SYFPEITHI programme was used for HLA B51 epitope prediction (www.uni-tuebingen.de/uni/kxi/).
8.2.4 Peptide synthesis

The following five 15-mer biotinylated peptides, NS5B HCV₂₇₆₉₋₂₇₈₃ /ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋ 170/CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁; E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ /CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆ containing the relevant homologous sequences (*see* Figure 8.1) and an irrelevant control peptide were constructed (*see* 2.2.2.3).

8.2.5 ELISA

Antibody binding to the peptides was determined by ELISA (see 2.2.2.3). The final peptide concentration was of $5\mu g/ml$ and the dilution of serum samples was of 1/200.

8.2.6 Inhibition studies

To investigate whether the simultaneous reactivity to E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ and homologous CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆ was due to cross-reactivity, competition ELISAs were performed (*see* 2.2.2.4.1), measuring residual anti-E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ antibody reactivity after incubation with E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄, CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆, CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁, recombinant CYP2D6 protein, ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀, the irrelevant control peptide and the control protein (porcine heart mitochondrial PDC antigen) as liquid phase competitors (final concentrations: 5, 10, 25, 50, 100, 250, 500, 1000 μ g/ml). Anti-ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀ reactivity after pre-incubation with ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀, CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁, CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆, recombinant CYP2D6 protein, E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄, the irrelevant control peptide and the control protein was measured under conditions identical to those used for E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄.

8.3 RESULTS

8.3.1 Protein database search and analysis

Sequence similarities between published NS5B and E1 proteins of the HCV genome polyprotein and CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁ (peptide CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆ and peptide CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁) are shown in Figure 8.1. The NS5B HCV sequence has 8 similarities (6 identities) with CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁. The E1 HCV sequence has 8 similarities (6 identities) with CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁. The E1 HCV sequence has 8 similarities (6 identities) with CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆. Previous studies have reported 5 aa identities not taking into account that Isoleucine (1)₃₁₃, Threonine (T)₃₁₄ and Alanine (A)₃₁₉ of E1 HCV polyprotein are similar to Leucine (L)₂₅₅ (conserved substitution), Threonine (T)₂₅₆ and Threonine (T)₂₆₁ (conserved substitution) of CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆ (*see* Figure 8.1).

8.3.2 ELISA

ELISA results of the LKM1 seropositive and LKM1 seronegative patients with hepatitis C and absorbance values for individual sera reactive with peptides are detailed in Table 8.1.

8.3.2.1 Reactivity to peptides

Reactivity to NS5B HCV₂₇₆₉₋₂₇₈₃ was found in 1 (4%) of LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos} and 1 (4%) of LKM1^{neg}/HCV^{pos} patients. Reactivity to the E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ was present in 14 (61%) of LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos} and 14 (61%) LKM1^{neg}/HCV^{pos} patients. There was no significant difference in absorbance values expressed as OD^{test}/OD^{control} peptide between LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos} (mean OD 4.28 \pm 1.46SD) and LKM1^{neg}/HCV^{pos} (mean OD 4.50 \pm 2.50SD) patients.

Reactivity to ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀ was present in 16 (70%) LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos} (mean OD 2.5 \pm 0.44SD) and in 14 (61%) LKM1^{neg}/HCV^{pos} (mean OD 3 \pm 0.67SD).

Reactivity to both E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ /ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀ was present in 10 (43%) $LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos}$ and 11 (48%) $LKM1^{neg}/HCV^{pos}$.

Reactivity to CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁ was present in 2 (8%) LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos} patients reacting also with E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ and ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀ and in none of the LKM1^{neg}/HCV^{pos} patients (Table 1).

8.3.2.2 Anti-HSV1 detection

Antibodies against HSV1 (negative <20 RU/ml) were detected in 18 (78%, mean 71.07 \pm 38.72 SD RU/ml) LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos}, including all the 16 reacting against ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀, and in 17 (74%, mean 68.9 RU/ml \pm 34SD) LKM1^{neg}/HCV^{pos} patients including all the 14 reactive with ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀.

Antigen											sec	quenc	ce											aa position
ICP4 HSV1								L	S	Р	R	Р	Р	Α	Q	Р	Р	R	R	R	R	Н		156-170
NS5B HCV									Р	Р	G	D	Р	Р	Q	Р	Е	Y	D	L	Ε	L	l	2769-2783
												:	:		:	:			:	:				
CYP2D6	1					Ε	Н	R	Μ	Τ	W	D	Р	Α	Q	Р	Р	R	D	L				257-271
CYP2D6	D	Ε	L	L	Τ	Ε	Н	R	Μ	Τ	W	D	Р	Α	Q				•					252-266
				•	:		:	:	:	•	:	:												
E1 HCV	P	G	Η	Ι	Т	G	Н	R	Μ	Α	W	D	Μ	Μ	Μ									310-324

FIGURE 8.1 Amino acid sequence homologies between CYP2D6, E1 HCV and protein and ICP4 HSV1. The hexamer -PAQPPR- is shared by ICP4 HSV1 and CYP2D6 (underlined). Amino acids in standard single letter code; Colon (:), Identical residues; full stop, (.), Conservative substitution; CYP2D6, cytochrome P4502D6; E1 HCV, envelope 1 Hepatitis C Virus; ICP4 HSV1, infected cell protein 4 of herpes simplex virus type 1

Chapter 8

Table 8.1. Demographic details and peptide binding (absorbance) values of the 23 LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos} and 23 LKM1^{neg}/HCV^{pos}

patients

	HCV ^{pos} /LKM1 ^{pos} group										HCV ^{pos} /LKM1 ^{neg} group								
PATIENT	SEX	AGE	HCV GENOTYPE	IFN	HCV NS5B 2769-83	HCV E1 310-24	HSV1 ICP4 156-170	CYP2D6 252-266	CYP2D6 257-271	PATIENT NUMBER	SEX	AGE	HCV GENOTYPE	IFN	HCV NS5B 2769-83	HCV E1 310-24	HSV1 ICP4 156-170	CYP2D6 252-266	CYP2D6 257-271
1	F	27	la	Y	neg	4.2	2.3	neg	neg	24	F	22	la	Y	neg	7	4	neg	neg
2	F	37	la	Ν	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	25	F	42	la	Ν	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
3	F	59	la	Y	2	2.7	neg	neg	neg	26	F	64	la	Y	neg	2.7	neg	neg	neg
4	Μ	22	la	Y	neg	3.3	2.3	6.9	5.7	27	Μ	27	la	Y	neg	2.4	5.5	neg	neg
5	F	44	1 a	Y	neg	5.1	2.1	neg	neg	28	F	45	la	Y	neg	neg	2.6	neg	neg
6	Μ	44	1 a	Ν	neg	3.1	neg	neg	neg	29	М	45	la	Ν	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
7	F	79	la	Ν	neg	2	neg	neg	neg	30	F	72	la	Ν	neg	3.5	5.7	neg	neg
8	F	61	1b	Y	neg	5.7	2	neg	neg	31	F	57	1b	Y	neg	10.6	4.6	neg	neg
9	F	42	1b	Ν	neg	5.4	3.1	neg	neg	32	F	40	1b	Ν	neg	2.4	neg	neg	neg
10	F	34	1b	Ν	neg	2	neg	neg	neg	33	F	37	1b	Ν	neg	neg	2.2	neg	neg
11	F	39	1b	Y	neg	neg	3.1	neg	neg	34	F	36	1b	Y	2.7	neg	3	neg	neg
12	м	53	1b	Y	neg	neg	2	neg	neg	35	М	55	1b	Y	neg	2.9	2.2	neg	neg
13	F	63	1b	N	neg	3.8	2.7	4.4	3.8	36	F	63	1b	N	neg	4.6	3.1	neg	neg
14	M	34	1b	N	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	37	M	38	1b	N	neg	4.9	2.1	neg	neg
15	M	36	1b	N	neg	neg	2	neg	neg	38	Μ	39	lb	N	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
16	M	47	2a	Y	neg	neg	2.2	neg	neg	39	Μ	56	2a	Y	neg	2.8	3.8	neg	neg
17	F	65	2a	Y	neg	3.9	2.8	neg	neg	40	F	62	2a	Y	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
18	F	47	2a	Y	neg	neg	2.1	neg	neg	41	F	51	2a	Y	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
19	F	62	2a	Ν	neg	neg	2.3	neg	neg	42	F	62	2a	Ν	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg
20	F	59	nt	Y	neg	6.1	3.9	neg	neg	43	F	63	nt	Y	neg	8.3	3.4	neg	neg
21	F	45	nt	N	neg	9.3	2.9	neg	neg	44	F	45	nt	N	neg	2	neg	neg	neg
22	F	52	nt	Ν	neg	3.3	2.1	neg	neg	45	F	49	nt	Ν	neg	2.7	5.4	neg	neg
23	F	55	nt	Ν	neg	neg	neg	neg	neg	46	F	55	nt	Ν	neg	2.7	2	neg	neg
*					1	14	16	2	2						ĩ	14	14	0	0
(%)					(4)	(61)	(70)	(9)	(9)						(4)	(61)	(61)	-	

Footnote to Table 8.1

Absorbance values are expressed as $OD^{test}/OD^{control}$ peptide, when >2 is considered positive (see 2.2.2.3); *, total number and (%) percentage of patients recognising an individual peptide; HCV, hepatitis C virus; LKM1, liver kidney microsomal antibody type 1; NS5B, non structural protein 5B; E1, envelope 1 protein; HSV1, herpes simplex virus type 1; ICP4, infected cell protein 4; CYP2D6, cytochrome P450IID6; F, female; M, male; IFN, interferon; Y, treated with IFN; N, without IFN 1

8.3.3 Inhibition studies

The degree of binding inhibition to E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ in the presence of competitor was up to 94% (case 4) and 95% (case 13) with E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄; 81% (case 4) and 79% (case 13) with CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆; 62% (case 4) and 48% (case 13) with CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁; 77% (case 4) and 52% (case 13) with recombinant CYP2D6 protein; 9% (case 4) and 9% (case 13) with ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀; 9% (case 4) and 7% (case 13) with control peptide and 13% (case 4) and 14% (case 13) with control protein. In both patients, E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ reactivity was better pre-absorbed by CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆ than by CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁, 81% (case 4) and 79% (case 13) *vs* 62% (case 4) and 48% (case 13), respectively.

The degree of binding inhibition to ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀ in the presence of competitor was 87% (case 4) and 78% (case 13) with ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀; 44% (case 4) and 49% (case 13) with CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆; 87% (case 4) and 72% (case 13) with CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁; 77% (case 4) and 72% (case 13) with recombinant CYP2D6 protein; 12% (case 4) and 13% (case 13) with E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄; 11% (case 4) and 15% (case 13) with control peptide and 11% (case 4) and 11% (case 13) with control protein. In both cases, liquid-phase ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀ reactivity was better pre-absorbed by pre-incubation of the serum with the CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁ than with CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆, 87% (case 4) and 72% (case 13) *vs* 44% (case 4) and 49% (13case), respectively. Pre-incubation of the two polyreactive sera with E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ or ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀ was not able to absorb reactivity against ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀ or E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄, respectively.

8.3.4 HLA typing

8.3.4.1 Class I typing

A1, A2, and A3 antigens were the most common A antigens, being present in 7 (30%), 7 (30%), and 6 (26%) patients respectively (2 of them were A1/A2 positive). B14, B35, B44 were the most common B antigens being present in 6 (26%), 9 (39%), 6 (26%), respectively. HLA B51 was found in two (8%) patients (case 4, case 13): this allele was part of the haplotype A1, A30, B13, B51, Cw6, DR2, DR7, DR53, DQ2 in patient 4 and

A1, B18, B51, DR7, DR11, DR52, DR53, DQ2, DQ3 in patient 13. CW4 and CW7 were found in 7 (30%) and 5 (22%) patients.

8.3.4.2 Class II typing

DR7 was present in 14 (61%) patients, DR52 in 10 (43%) and DR53 in 12 (52%) patients; DQ2 was present in 17 (74%).

8.4 DISCUSSION

The results of the present section demonstrate that sera reacting with CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆, a key epitope of CYP2D6, also react with E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄, a hepatitis C virus sequence sharing a 8 aa homology with CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆. Within a molecular mimicry pathogenic scenario, double reactivity is relevant if it is cross-reactive (Oldstone, 1987). The current findings unambiguously show that the double reactivity to E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄/CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆ is cross-reactive since antibody binding to the viral sequence E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ is inhibited by pre-incubation with CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆, the viral-mimicking cytochrome sequence, but not by a scrambled control peptide. Importantly, the binding to the viral sequence is also inhibited by the recombinant, eukaryotically expressed, enzymatically active CYP2D6, demonstrating that the cross-reactive virus/self recognition targets the naturally occurring autoantigen (Oldstone, 1987). These findings give experimental support to two points of Manns' *et al.* (1991) proposal, namely that LKM1 arises through a mechanism of molecular mimicry and that this process is centred on the homologous sequences they originally described.

E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄/CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆ cross-reactivity, however, was present in only 2 of the 23 LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos} patients studied raising the questions as to why cross-reactivity is infrequent and as to how LKM1 is produced in the 21 non cross-reactive patients. Within the scope of molecular mimicry, an infrequent reactivity to the self sequence could simply reflect an infrequent reactivity to the corresponding microbial sequence (Oldstone, 1987). This possibility was advanced by Michitaka *et al.* (1994) who speculated that the hepatitis C viral sequence investigated in the present study rarely acts as a B cell epitope. Their hypothesis (Michitaka *et al.*, 1994) is proven unfounded by the present data showing that over 60% of LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos} positive patients, and indeed a similar proportion of the LKM1^{neg}/HCV^{pos} patients, react with E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄. Similar to the present findings are those of other workers showing that the E1 HCV₃₀₇₋₃₃₀ is a frequently recognised HCV epitope being targeted by 39-92% of the sera from HCV infected patients, irrespective of their LKM1 status (Ray *et al.*, 1994, Pirisi *et al.*, 1995, Wang *et al.*, 1996, Zibert *et al.*, 1999). An alternative possibility to explain the infrequent reactivity is that the autoantigenic sequence itself is either cryptic or physically unavailable to the antibody (*see* 1.3.6)

Chapter 8

(Sercarz *et al.*, 1993). This is also not the case, since CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁ has been shown to be exposed on the surface of the molecule and is almost universally recognised by the LKM1 antibody produced by patients with type 2 AIH (Sugimura *et al.*, 2002). A third possibility is the 'loss of the original antigenic sin' (Steinman, 1999). According to this theory, reactivity to the epitope initiating the autoimmune process is lost while the response spreads to new autoepitopes (Steinman, 1999). This mechanism has been clearly documented in animal models where it is possible to follow the ontogenesis of the immune response, and cannot be excluded in the patients of the present study (Steinman, 1999). Tuohy *et al.*, 1999).

Is there anything setting apart these two cross-reactive patients from the others? The possibility that anti-CYP2D6257-271 reactivity results from exposure to more than one selfmimicking virus was also considered (Oldstone, 1998, von Herrath et al., 2003). The six aa sequence -PAQPPR- contained within the CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁ epitope is completely shared by a hexameric sequence of the herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP4 protein (ICP4 HSV1₁₆₁₋₁₆₆), an antigen involved in the induction of autoimmunity by molecular mimicry (Manns et al., 1991, Douvas and Sobelman, 1991, Misaki et al., 1993, Boulware and Weber, 2000), known to elicit a humoral immune response in recurrently HSV1 infected individuals, though less frequently than other herpes antigens (Kahlon et al., 1986, Kuhn et al., 1987). In this study, sera from the two E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄/ CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₇₁ reactive patients also reacted with the ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀ peptide, the reactivity to the herpes viral sequence being itself cross-reactive with CYP2D6257-271. There still remain 8 LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos} patients who react with the E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ and ICP4 HSV1₁₅₆₋₁₇₀, have evidence of exposure to hepatitis C and herpes virus type 1 but do not react against CYP2D6252-271, suggesting that reactivity to more than one mimicking micro-organism may be important in the generation of the autoantibody, but that other factors must be involved (Oldstone, 1998, von Herrath et al., 2003).

In relation to the immunogenetic make up, the present study found that unique to the two patients cross-reactively recognising the cytochrome sequence was their possession of the allotype B51. Moreover, the sequence CYP2D6₂₆₃₋₂₇₁, contained within the B cell epitope CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁, was found to have the fourth highest score (score: 22, range 1-28) amongst the 478 nonameric CYP2D6 sequences predicted to bind to B51. Consequently,

Chapter 8

Section State

CYP2D6₂₆₃₋₂₇₁ almost certainly represents a naturally occurring B51-restricted CD8 epitope. How possession of this HLA class I allele can predispose to a cross-reactive tolerance breakdown and to autoimmune manifestations remains to be established, though the following three points may be of relevance. Firstly, B51 is known to confer predisposition to autoimmunity and autoimmune diseases, its possession, for example, imparting a high relative risk to the development of Behçet's disease (Ohno et al., 1982, Mizuki et al., 1992, Mizuki et al., 2000). Secondly, in another autoimmune liver disease such as PBC, where B- and CD8 T-cell epitopes co-localise, a functional association has been shown between these two types of cells, the suggested link being autoantigen uptake by the B cell with cross-presentation to the CD8 T-cell (Kita et al., 2002). Thirdly, the predisposing role of B51 to immune-mediated liver damage has been emphasised by the report that 3 LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos} patients undergoing an anti-viral interferon-alpha treatment had to stop their medication following an abrupt increase in transaminases: all 3 patients were B51 positive (Muratori et al., 1994). Moreover, none of the 16 LKM1^{neg}/HCV^{pos} Greek patients investigated in the study presented in this Chapter with a known HLA were HLA B51 positive.

Recently we have gained an insight on how LKM1 may be produced in the majority of our $LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos}$ patients through the discovery that $CYP2D6_{193-212}$ represents a new and critical epitope (Kerkar *et al.*, 2003). Not only does this sequence act as a target to 100% of the AIH-2 patients, but also to half of the LKM1^{pos}/HCV^{pos} patients, far exceeding, in frequency terms, $CYP2D6_{252-271}$ recognition in this latter patient group (Kerkar *et al.*, 2003). The newly described autoepitope is target of humoral cross-recognition for antibodies directed to HCV and cytomegalovirus (Kerkar *et al.*, 2003).

In summary, the results of this section offer experimental support to the notion that molecular similarity between CYP2D6, hepatitis C and herpes simplex virus can result in the production of a cross-reactive response, ultimately leading to the production of LKM1 autoantibody in patients with the appropriate immunogenetic background.

CHAPTER 9

Virus-self cross-reactivity leading to de novo autoimmune hepatitis

.

9.1 BACKGROUND

The mechanisms leading to the breakdown of self-tolerance and to the development of AIH are unknown (Vergani and Mieli-Vergani, 2003). A role for viruses as triggers of liver autoimmunity has been proposed, but never proven because the infections responsible for the induction of autoimmune responses are likely to occur years before the onset of autoimmune disease (Vento *et al.*, 1990, Manns *et al.*, 1991, Vento *et al.*, 1991, Mackie *et al.*, 1994, Vento *et al.*, 1995, Vento *et al.*, 1996, Vento *et al.*, 1997, Salcedo *et al.*, 2002, Vento and Cainelli, 2004). Moreover, the virus responsible for the breakdown of tolerance can be cleared by the host's immune system and may not be available for recognition by molecular probes or isolation by culture techniques, when the autoimmune process is taking place (von Herrath, 2000, Vento and Cainelli, 2004). In relation to AIH, studies of viral/self cross-reactive immunity have been focused at the time a full-blown clinical disease is present and are unable to provide information as to the pathogenic process taking place long before the onset of the disease (Oldstone, 1998, von Herrath, 2000, von Herrath *et al.*, 2003).

In the present Chapter immunological cross-reactivity was studied in a girl with primary and secondary LKM1 response following HCV infection acquired at the time of liver transplantation for whom serial retrospective serum samples were available allowing to investigate the evolution of cross-reactive immune responses from the day she acquired HCV-triggered LKM1 autoimmunity to overt AIH-2, nine years later (Mackie *et al.*, 1994).

9.2 CASE PRESENTATION

A 10 year-old girl with alpha-1 anti-trypsin deficiency, who received three orthotopic liver transplants (OLT) between 1989-1990 [the first, from a cytomegalovirus (CMV) positive donor, for end-stage cirrhosis; the following two for chronic rejection], developed a primary IgM and secondary IgG LKM1 autoantibody response two weeks after HCV infection, acquired at the time of the first transplant (Mackie *et al.*, 1994). Since two short amino-acid sequences are shared between the HCV and CYP2D6, at that time it was postulated that HCV infection was causally related to the development of LKM1. The patient, however, had no evidence of autoimmune liver disease and by 1994 she was negative for anti-LKM1 (Manns *et al.*, 1991). A routine liver biopsy in 1996 showed moderate portal and perivenular fibrosis with mild non-specific inflammation.

She remained well with normal blood tests until 1998, taking tacrolimus (blood levels 5-9 ng/ml) and prednisolone (2.5 mg/day). In 1998, 6 months after her steroids were stopped by her attending physician because of long-term normal liver function, blood tests showed: bilirubin 23 μ mol/l (nv <20), aspartate aminotransferase 780 IU/l (nv <50), gamma glutamyl transpeptidase 159 IU/ (nv <50), tacrolimus level 7.4 ng/ml. LKM1 antibody was positive again by IFL at a titre of 1/2560. Serum HCV RNA by PCR was negative. A liver biopsy suggested *de-novo* post-OLT AIH (Figure 9.1). Prednisolone 30 mg/day, gradually decreased to 5 mg/day, led to persistent normalization of transaminases within four months. Anti-LKM1 decreased to 1/320 and 1/40 five and 12 months after restarting steroids. A liver biopsy during biochemical remission, showed severe porto-septal and bridging fibrosis with architectural distortion, but only minimal residual inflammation. Because of *de-novo* AIH and moderate renal dysfunction, tacrolimus was decreased (levels 3-5 ng/ml) and mycophenolate mofetil (500 mg twice daily) added. At 23 years of age, the patient is well, with normal liver function, negative anti-LKM1 and no signs of chronic liver disease, apart from mild splenomegaly.

To characterise the evolving LKM1 autoimmunity and investigate the role of virus/self molecular mimicry in its development, as part of this Thesis, 10 serum samples, collected between 1989-2000, and stored at -70° C were tested by ELISA, for fine specificity and immunoglobulin isotype of the evolving LKM1 autoantibody response using 34

Chapter 9

biotinylated peptides spanning the entire CYP2D6 sequence, and for possible cross-reactive responses between CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁, the major epitope of LKM1 reactivity and its HCV homologues. Moreover, having found through database searches that common viruses such as Herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV1), CMV, Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) and adenovirus (ADV) contain sequences highly homologous to CYP2D6 (Figure 9.2), evidence of infection with these viruses and of cross-reactivity between virus and self mimics were also investigated.





Figure 9. 1. Liver biopsy at the time of diagnosis of de novo autoimmune hepatitis showing chronic hepatitis with moderate portal tract infiltration by lymphocytes and plasma cells (A), and porto-septal and bridging fibrosis (B)

9.3 METHODS

9.3.1 Protein database search and analysis

The 'Advanced Proteininfo' and 'BLASTp 2 sequences' programmes were used (see 2..2.1) to search for aa sequence similarity between human CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁ and viral mimics deposited in the SWISS-PROT protein sequence databank.

9.3.2 Peptide synthesis

Thirty-four 20-mer synthetic biotinylated peptides spanning the entire 517 aa sequence of the CYP2D6 protein and overlapping by 5 amino acids (*see* Table 9.1), 8 CYP2D625₂₅₄₋₂₇₁ viral mimics (*see* Figure 9.2) and an irrelevant control peptide were constructed (*see* 2.2.2.3).

9.3.3 ELISA

Antibody binding to the peptides was determined by ELISA (see 2.2.2.3). The final peptide concentration was that of $5\mu g/ml$ and the dilution of serum samples was of 1/200.

9.3.4 Inhibition studies

To investigate whether the simultaneous reactivity to E1 HCV1₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ and CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆ was due to cross-reactivity, competition ELISA (*see* 2.2.2.4) were performed, measuring residual anti-viral antibody reactivity after incubation respectively with E1 HCV1₃₁₀₋₃₂₄, CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆, recombinant CYP2D6 antigen, the irrelevant control peptide and control protein as solid phase competitors. Antibody detection was carried out under identical conditions to those described under *ELISA*.

9.3.5 Anti-LKM1 and anti-viral antibody detection

LKM1 was detected by IIFL (*see* 2.2.2.1, immunoblotting (*see* 2.2.2.2), and ELISA (*see* 2.2.2.3). Commercially available ELISA were used to detect IgG antibodies against HSV1 and human CMV (*see* 2.1.6.1). Reactivity against the full ICP4 HSV1 protein was tested by immunoblotting using as antigen infected-cell extract enriched for HSV1 proteins (*see* 2.1.6.1). Detection of the characteristic band of 175 kDa was carried out using an affinity

purified ICP4 HSV1 specific monoclonal antibody (mouse IgG1(k), as positive control. A commercially available immunoblot was used to detect antibodies against specific EBV antigens including Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen (EBNA).

9.3.6 Proliferation assay

A standard proliferation assay (see 2.2.3.3) was performed to investigated T-cell responses of PBMC from the patient (obtained in 2000) in response to stimulation with individual CYP2D6 peptides, and viral mimics.

9.3.7 HLA typing

The patient's HLA type originally determined by cytotoxicity (A3,24 B5,22 Bw4,6 DR7,16 DQ2,5), was retested using molecular techniques. Class I genotyping for HLA A and B was performed using sequence specific polymerisation (SSP)/PCR kits; class II genotyping for HLA DRB & DQB was performed by PCR/sequence specific oligonucleotide (SSO) probing using probes obtained from the British Society for Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics (BSHI). HLA typing was performed by the HLA typing Service at the Institute of Hepatology.

Chapter 9

Table 9.1 Amino acid (aa) sequences of 34 synthetic peptides in standard single letter code, spanning the full length of the cytochrome P450 2D6 (CYP2D6) molecule. Each peptide overlaps by 5 aa with the preceding and subsequent peptide.

Peptide	Antigen	Aa	Sequence
1	CYP2D6	lav-20	MGLEALVPLAVIVAIFLLLV
2	CYP2D6	16-35	FLLLVDLMHRRQRWAARYPP
3	CYP2D6	31-50	ARYPPGPLPLPGLGNLLHVD
4	CYP2D6	46-65	LLHVDFQNTPYCFDQLRRRF
5	CYP2D6	61-80	LRRRFGDVFSLQLAWTPVVV
6	CYP2D6	76-95	TPVVVLNGLAAVREALVTHG
7	CYP2D6	91-110	LVTHGEDTADRPPVPITQIL
8	CYP2D6	106-125	ITQILGFGPRSQGVFLARYG
9	CYP2D6	121-140	LARYGPAWREQRRFSVSTLR
10	CYP2D6	136-155	VSTLRNLGLGKKSLEQWVTE
11	CYP2D6	151-170	QWVTEEAACLCAAFANHSGR
12	CYP2D6	166-185	NHSGRPFRPNGLLDKAVSNV
13	CYP2D6	181-200	AVSNVIASLTCGRRFEYDDP
14	CYP2D6	193-212	RRFEYDDPRFLRLLDLAQEG
15	CYP2D6	208-227	LAQEGLKEESGFLREVLNAV
16	CYP2D6	223-242	VLNAVPVLLHIPALAGKVLR
17	CYP2D6	238-257	GKVLRFQKAFLTQLDELLTE
18	CYP2D6	252-271	DELLTEHRMTWDPAQPPRDL
19	CYP2D6	26 8- 287	PRDLTEAFLAEMEKAKGNPE
20	CYP2D6	283-302	KGNPESSFNDENLRIVVADL
21	CYP2D6	298-317	VVADLFSAGMVTTSTTLAWG
22	CYP2D6	313-332	TLAWGLLLMILHPDVQRRVQ
23	CYP2D6	328-347	QRRVQQEIDDVIGQVRRPEM
24	CYP2D6	343-362	RRPEMGDQAHMPYTTAVIHE
25	CYP2D6	358-377	AVIHEVQRFGDIVPLGMTHM
26	CYP2D6	373-392	GMTHMTSRDIEVQGFRIPKG
27	CYP2D6	388-407	RIPKGTTLITNLSSVLKDEA
28	CYP2D6	403-422	LKDEAVWEKPFRFHPEHFLD
29	CYP2D6	418-437	EHFLDAQGHFVKPEAFLPFS
30	CYP2D6	433-452	FLPFSAGRRACLGEPLARME
31	CYP2D6	448-467	LARMELFLFFTSLLQHFSFS
32	CYP2D6	463-482	HFSFSVPTGQPRPSHHGVFA
33	CYP2D6	478-497	HGVFAFLVSPSPYELCAVPR
34	CYP2D6	498-517	NGVPSPQPAPSPEALMYNKA

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) Hepatitis C virus (HCV)	Non structural protein 5B Envelope 1	NS5B El	I	Т	G	Н	R	P M	P A	G W	D D	P M	Р М	Q M	P	E	Y	D	L
Human	Cytochrome P450IID6	CYP2D6 ₂₅₄₋₂₇₀	L	Т	Ε	Н	R	Μ	Т	W	D	Ρ	A	Q	Р	Р	R	D	L
Herpes simplex virus-11 (HSV-1)	Infected cell protein 4	ICP4					L	S	Р	R	Р	P	A	Q	P	P	R	R	R
Human adenovirus-41 (ADE41)	E1B small T-antigen	E1BS					V	L	G	С	S	P	A	Q	P	P	Η	G	L
Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV)	UL69-protein	UL69					Ι	Α	A	Α	Р	P	A	Q	P	P	S	Q	Р
Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV)	Hypothetical protein J1L	JIL					R	Т	A	Р	Α	P	A	Q	P	P	S	Р	Α
Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)	Nuclear protein EBNA	EBNA					Р	Р	Р	Α	Α	Р	A	Q	P	P	Р	G	V
Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)	Virion protein BVRF1	UL25					Η	V	L	Ι	D	P	A	R	L	P	R	D	Т

Figure 9.2 Local amino acid homology between CYP2D6₂₅₄₋₂₇₀ and viral mimics from hepatitis C virus (HCV), herpes simplex virus-1 (HSV1), human cytomegalovirus (HCMV), human adenonovirus-41 (ADE41) and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV). Amino acids in single letter code; identities in **bold**; conservative substitutions in italic

9.4 RESULTS

Results are summarised in Figure 9.3. Before the first liver transplant, LKM1 was undetectable by IFL, immunoblotting (human liver antigen), and ELISA (recombinant CYP2D6). There was an IgG antibody response to CYP2D646-65 and HSV1 ICP4156-170. IgG, but not IgM, to HSV1 were detected by ELISA. CMV and ADV reactivities were negative by complement fixation test. Serum HCV RNA, negative before transplantation, became positive on day 1 after surgery. On day 12, IgM anti-CYP2D61-35, - CYP2D6252-271 -CYP2D6₃₁₃₋₃₃₂, and -E1HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ were detected. At the same time LKM1 antibody belonging exclusively to the IgM isotype. was found. On day 23, there was an additional IgM CYP2D6₁₂₁₋₁₄₀ response and both IgG and IgM responses to CYP2D6₁₆₋₃₅ and CYP2D6252-271. Both IgM and IgG LKM1 were detectable. Reactivities to the CYP2D6252-271 mimicking peptides E1HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄, HSV1 ICP4₁₅₆₋₁₇₀ and CMV UL69₅₉₄₋₆₀₈ were also present; serum HCV RNA was positive and IgG antibodies directed to HSV1 ICP4 protein were detected by immunoblot. E1HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄/CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁ double reactivity was crossreactive by competition ELISA (Figure 9.4). On day 62, IgG reactivity to 7 CYP2D6 peptides was detected. LKM1 titre was 1/320. Viral serology was unchanged. On day 77 (second liver transplant), 9 CYP2D6 peptides were recognised by LKM1 antibody (titre 1/1280). A new reactivity to the mimic EBNA₂₉₆₋₃₁₀ and to full-length EBNA EBV was demonstrated by immunoblot. On day 196, (third liver transplant), 13 CYP2D6 peptides were recognised by LKM1 (1/2560). Similar reactivities were detected 19 and 54 months after the first transplant. When de novo AIH was diagnosed, 8 years and 8 months after the first transplant, anti-CYP2D6 reactivity involved a total of 12 CYP2D6 peptides defining 5 epitopes: CYP2D6252-271, CYP2D6313-347, CYP2D6358-377, CYP2D61-80, and CYP2D6121-170, the first three being LKM1 targets in both AIH-2 and HCV infection. HCV polymerase chain reaction was then negative and antibody responses to viral sequences were limited to E1HCV and ICP4 HSV1. Identical LKM1 reactivity was detected 11 years after the first liver transplant, when a standard proliferation assay revealed 8 T-cell epitopes (Figure 9.3), 4 of which overlapped with with corresponding B-cell epitopes. Repeating by molecular techniques the HLA typing, the patient was found to be HLA B51.



Legend to Figure 9.3

Reactivity against 34 overlapping 20-mer peptides spanning residues 1-517 of cytochrome P450 2D6 (CYP2D6) and to microbial mimics of the epitope CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁: envelope 1 (E1) (O) and non-structural 5B (NS5B) of hepatitis C virus (HCV) polyprotein, infected cell protein 4 (ICP4) of herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV1) (O), E1B small antigen (E1BS) of human adenovirus 41 (ADV41), UL69 of human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) (O), hypothetical protein J1L of HCMV, Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen (EBNA) (\fbox{O}) of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) and the UL25 virion protein of EBV. Absorbance values (optical density, OD) on the y-axis (cut-off 0.22) are plotted against the 34 individual peptides boxed in white for IgM, black for IgG and grey for both IgM and IgG anti-peptide responses. Peptides inducing a T-cell stimulation index (SI) exceeding 3 are given in bold in the box at the bottom of the picture. Anti liver-kidney-microsomal 1 (LKM1) titres by immunofluorescence (IFL) are given on the right.

Chapter 9



10000

Competitor peptide concentrations (µg/ml)

Figure 9.4 Inhibition of antibody (ab) binding to E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ (C-I) and CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁ (C-II) by pre-incubation of the sera with E1 HCV₃₁₀₋₃₂₄ (\blacklozenge), human CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₆₆ (\blacksquare), human CYP2D6 protein (\blacktriangle), control peptide (\ast) and control protein (M2 antigen) (\circ), in the presence of competitor peptides at concentrations of 0; 2.5; 5; 10; 15; 25; 50; 100; 125; 250; 500; 1000 µg/ml. The experiment demonstrates the cross-reactive nature of the viral/self reactivity

ì

9.5 DISCUSSION

This section of the Thesis investigates the evolution from a primary autoantibody response, triggered by HCV infection, to florid autoimmune hepatitis 9 years later. Fine specificity of anti-CYP2D6 responses revealed two major findings: epitope spreading from a single to several other autoepitopes, and a cross-reactive response involving CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁, a key autoepitope which shares homology with HCV, HSV, CMV and EBV. The patient was exposed to HSV before surgery as demonstrated by the presence of antibodies to HSV and acquired HCV and CMV infections at the time of the first transplant. It is conceivable that a potentially CYP2D6₂₅₂₋₂₇₁ cross-reactive lymphocyte population, primed by HSV, underwent expansion following exposure to mimicking sequences of HCV, CMV and EBV with consequent production of anti-CYP2D6.

A chronological and possibly causal link between HCV infection and LKM1 AIH has been highlighted by the case of a nurse who developed LKM1 antibodies 4 months after an accidental needlestick injury while caring for an HCV-infected patient, and histologically proven AIH 14 months later (Vento *et al.*, 1997). In support of the involvement of molecular mimicry, HCV and CMV sequences cross-recognised by a mimicking CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, a major B cell epitope of LKM1 antibodies, have been recently identified as targets of viral/self cross-reactive responses (Kerkar *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, Salcedo et al. (2002), found that all patients developing *de novo* AIH had evidence of infection with common viruses such as CMV, EBV or parvovirus.

The fact that viral/self antibodies belong to the IgG isotype, implicate T-cell 'help' in their generation, a notion relevant to the present finding that 4 of the 8 T-cell epitopes on CYP2D6 are identical to those of B-cells and that viral/self cross-reactivity operates at the CD4-T cell level, at least in the case of HCV and HSV (Stevens *et al.*, 1988, Mosmann and Coffman, 1989, Mahon *et al.*, 1995). This raises the possibility that CYP2D6 tolerance breakdown occurs not only at B cell level, but also at the CD4 (Vergani and Mieli-Vergani, 2003). If this is the case, HLA, the most important gene in determining susceptibility to autoimmune diseases, may also be critical for selecting the appropriate viral/self mimics and presenting them to the immune system (Delves and Roitt, 2000b, Delves and Roitt, 2000a). In the present study, initial typing revealed that the girl was HLA B5 positive. As

described in Chapter 8 CYP2D6₂₆₃₋₂₇₁/viral mimics were cross-recognised only when LKM1/HCV infected patients possessed the allotype B51, one of the split antigens of HLA B5. Repeating by molecular techniques the HLA typing, the patient was found to be HLA B51. An algorithm predicts B51 to bind CYP2D6₂₆₃₋₂₇₁. How possession of this HLA class I allele predisposes to a virus/self cross-reactive break of immunological tolerance remains to be established. In primary biliary cirrhosis, another autoimmune liver disease where B and CD8 T-cell epitopes co-localise, a functional association has been shown between these two types of cells, the suggested link being autoantigen uptake by the B cell with cross-presentation to the CD8 T cell, indicative of a unique role for autoantibodies and T-cells in the pathogenesis of the disease (Kita *et al.*, 2002).

CHAPTER 10

Hepatitis B vaccination associated autoimmunity

10.1 BACKGROUND

Molecular mimicry has long been proposed as a pathogenic mechanism for autoimmune disease but documentation of this mechanism has been elusive in humans (Dyrberg and Oldstone, 1986, Oldstone, 1989, Oldstone, 1998, Van de Water *et al.*, 2001). Presently, proof for molecular mimicry relies on the availability of viral mimics able to induce cross-reactive immune responses leading to tissue damage in experimental animals such as Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis (EAE), the animal model of multiple sclerosis and herpes stromal keratitis (*see* 1.9.1)(Oldstone, 1998, Wucherpfennig, 2001, von Herrath *et al.*, 2003).

The information derived from animal studies is of undoubted value but experimental models of human disease are not always able to reproduce faithfully the human condition. Case studies of immunological cross-reactivity, such as the one presented in the previous Chapter are of interest but there are few (Mackie *et al.*, 1994, Vento *et al.*, 1997, Vento *et al.*, 1996, Vento *et al.*, 1991, Vento *et al.*, 1995). Studies of immunological cross-reactivity in serum samples before and after vaccination against viruses may provide useful information as to how a viral stimulus can induce cross-reactive autoimmune responses. Indeed, it has been proposed that vaccination against infectious agents may activate pathways of molecular mimicry in genetically susceptible hosts, and this may be the basis of adverse reactions to vaccines (Cohen and Shoenfeld, 1996, Poirriez, 2004, Ravel *et al.*, 2004). The present study used vaccination against HBV (HBVacc) as a model for the study of viral/self cross-reactivity.

The current HBVacc is a non-infectious viral subunit consisting of the small hepatitis B virus surface antigen (SHBsAg), a 226 aa long recombinant antigen identical to the 'wild' SHBsAg (Shouval, 2003). Extrahepatic autoimmune manifestations, such as demyelinating disorders and MS have increasingly been linked to HBVacc administration suggesting that the exposure to SHBsAg may be capable of inducing autoimmune adverse reactions (Herroelen *et al.*, 1991, Cohen and Shoenfeld, 1996, Poirriez, 2004, Ravel *et al.*, 2004, Vital *et al.*, 2002, Aron-Maor and Shoenfeld, 2001, Shoenfeld and Aron-Maor, 2000, Maillefert *et al.*, 1999). The fact that the HBVacc is administered in three doses over a period of seven months gives the opportunity to study the emergence of the humoral antiviral immune response and, at the same time, to

witness appearance and evolution of the possible cross-reactive autoimmunity as a consequence of exposure to SHBsAg.

Among various myelin antigens, myelin basic protein (MBP) is the major target of EAE (Raine and Bornstein, 1970, Martin *et al.*, 1992, Steinman, 1996). More recent studies indicate that humoral immunity against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) is associated with myelin damage in MS (Genain *et al.*, 1999, Wekerle, 1999, Devaux *et al.*, 1997). Having found through screening of protein databases that known epitopic regions on SHBsAg share extensive homologies with MBP and MOG, the present study investigated whether the viral/self mimics serve as target of cross-reactive immune responses following HBVacc administration in healthy individuals.

10.2 METHODS

10.2.1 Subjects

A total of 234 serum samples stored in the Liver Unit, Institute of Liver Studies, King's College Hospital, London, were tested including 147 samples pre- and post-HB vaccination from 58 adults (median age 42, range 31-62, 38 male), negative for hepatitis B viral markers. Samples were collected before HBvacc (58/58), and post-HBvacc, at three months (48/58) before the second boost, and six months post-HBvacc (41/58) before the third boost. As pathological controls, 87 anti-HBsAg antibody negative patients (median age 45, range 22-74, 59 female) were tested including 23 with PBC, 27 with ALD, 19 with autoimmune thyroiditis, and 18 with SLE.

10.2.2 Anti-viral antibody detection

Commercially available ELISA were used to detect IgG antibodies against SHBsAg (see 2.1.2).

10.2.3 Protein database search and analysis

The '*BLASTp 2 sequences*' programme was used (*see* 2.2.1.2.2) to search for aa sequence similarity between SHBsAg and the MBP and MOG myelin antigens.

10.2.4 Peptide synthesis

Twenty-mer biotinylated peptides spanning the SHBsAg/myelin mimics (see Figure 10.1) and an irrelevant control peptide were constructed (see 2.2.2.3).

10.2.5 Anti-peptide antibody detection

Antibody binding to the peptides was determined by ELISA (see 2.2.2.3). The final peptide concentration was $5\mu g/ml$ and the dilution of serum samples was 1/100 (see 2.2.2.3).

10.2.6 Inhibition studies

To investigate whether the simultaneous reactivity to SHBsAg₁₃₀₋₁₄₉ and MOG₅₋₂₄ was due to cross-reactivity, competition ELISA (see 2.2.2.4) were performed, measuring

residual anti-SHBsAg₁₃₀₋₁₄ antibody reactivity after incubation respectively with SHBsAg₁₃₀₋₁₄, MOG₅₋₂₄, recombinant SHBsAg antigen, the irrelevant control peptide and control protein as liquid phase competitors. Antibody detection was carried out under identical conditions to those described in *ELISA*.

10.3 RESULTS

10.3.1 Protein database search and analysis

Amino acid similarities between SHBsAg (226 aa) and the MPB (304 aa) and MOG (247 aa) antigens are illustrated in Figure 10.1. Overlapping sequences within MOG_{10-22} share a 66-86% local homology with SHBsAg_{135-140} and SHBsAg_{83-98}. Another pair of viral/self mimics involves SHBsAg_{9-15} and $MOG_{218-224}$ (100% homology). SHBsAg_{135-140} is part of the immunodominant 'a' B-cell epitope on SHBsAg; SHBsAg_{83-98} is part of the leucine zipper pattern of SHBsAg and MOG_{10-22} extensively overlaps with the encephalitogenic epitope MOG_{1-20} (Landschulz *et al.*, 1988, Genain *et al.*, 1999).

The best homology between SHBsAg and MBP is that of the SHBsAg₆₇₋₈₀/MBP₈₂₋₉₅ pair (8/14 homology) (see Figure 10.1).

Antigens	aa position															Identities	Similarities
SHBsAg	(135-140)	Р	S	С	С	С	Т				-						
		Р	S	С		С	•									4	5/6(82%)
MOG	(10-15)	Р	S	С	L	С	S										
MOG	(12-20)		С	L	С	s	F	L	L	L	L						
	. ,		С	L				L		L	L					5	6/9 (66%)
SHBsAg	(89-98)	L	С	L	Ι	F	L	L	v	L	L						
6	()	L	C				L	L		L	L					6	7/10 (70%)
MOG	(13-22)	L	C	S	F	L	L	L	L	L	L						
SHBsAg	(83-89)	F	L	F	I	L	L	L	_								
	(,	F	L		L	L	L	L								6	6/7 (86%)
MOG	(16-22)	F	L	L	L	L	L	L									
SHBsAg	(9-15)	L	G	Р	L	L	v	L	_								
0112018	(*)	L	G	Р	L			L								5	7/7 (100%)
MOG	(218-224)	L	G	Р	L	v	Α	L									. ,
SHBsAg	(67-80)	Р	I	С	P	G	Y	R	w	М	С	L	R	R	F		
0	,	Р			Р	G		R				•	R		F	6	8/14 (57%)
MBP	(82-95)	P	A	D	Р	G	S	R	Р	Н	L	I	R	L	F		. ,

Figure 10.1 Amino acid sequence homology between small Hepatitis B surface antigen (SHBsAg) and myelin antigens. Amino acids in standard single letter; Full stop (.), conservative substitution. MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MBP, myelin basic protein

10.3.2 ELISA

10.3.2.1 Before vaccination

Reactivity to at least one of the SHBsAg peptides was found in 8 (14%) pre-vaccinated subjects (including 3 cases with antibodies to the full-length SHBsAg) who were excluded from the study.

Amongst the remaining 50 cases, reactivity to at least one of the MOG peptides was present in 4 (8%) (see Table 10.1).

10.3.2.2 At 3 months post-vaccination

Reactivity to at least one of the SHBsAg peptides was present in 41/45 (91%) of the cases (Table 10.1), all of whom reacted with SHBsAg₁₃₀₋₁₄₉ (see Table 10.2). Antibodies against the full-length SHBsAg were present in 40/45 (89%) of the cases. Reactivity to at least one of the MOG mimics was present in 24/45 (53%) of the cases, all but one reacting with MOG_{5-24} (see Table 10.1 and Table 10.2).

Double reactivity to at least one SHBsAg/MOG mimicking pairs was present in 24/45 (53%) of the cases (*see* Table 10.1 and Table 10.2).

10.3.2.3 At 6 months post-vaccination

Reactivity to at least one of the SHBsAg peptides was present in 36/39 (92%) of the cases (Table 10.1), all of whom reacted with SHBsAg₁₃₀₋₁₄₉. All 36 cases also had antibodies against the full-length SHBsAg.

Overall, 47/50 (94%) of the post vaccinated cases had anti-SHBsAg antibody protective immunity (median anti-SHBsAg antibody titre:386 mIU/ml, range 16-1000 mIU/ml, cut off = 10 mIU/ml).

Reactivity to at least one of the MOG mimics was present in 17/39 (44%) of the cases.

At 6 months post-vaccination, 3 of the 4 anti-MOG reactive cases before vaccination and 7 of the 24 (29%) of the anti-MOG reactive cases at 3 months post-vaccination had lost their reactivity to MOG_{5-24} .

Double reactivity to at least one SHBsAg/MOG mimicking pairs was present in 16/39 (41%) of the cases.

Overall 30/50 (60%) vaccinees had SHBsAg/MOG double reactivity on at least one occasion (either at 3 or 6 months post-vaccination) compared to none before-vaccination (p<0.001) and in 2/87 (2%, p<0.001) of the pathological controls (a 52-year

old woman with PBC and a 28-year old woman with SLE). None of the vaccinees or the pathological controls had double reactivity to the SHBsAg/MBP mimicking pair. None of the vaccinees experienced any signs or symptoms of demyelinating disorders at the 6-month post-vaccination follow-up.

	Dro HDVaco	Dest HDV	
	Pre-HB vacc	Post-HB v acc	Post-HB vacc
	baseline	3 months	6 months
	n=50	n=45	n=39
SHBsAg ₁₃₀₋₁₄₉	0/50 (0%)	41/45(91%)	37/39 (95%)
SHBsAg ₈₀₋₉₉	0/50 (0%)	1/45 (2%)	0/39 (0%)
SHBsAg ₁₋₂₀	0/50 (0%)	10/45 (22%)	13/39 (33%)
SHBsAg ₆₅₋₈₄	0/50 (0%)	5/45 (11%)	5/39 13(%)
MOG ₅₋₂₄	4/50 (8%)	24/45 (53%)	14/39 (36%)
MOG ₂₁₀₋₂₂₉	1/50 (2%)	8/45 (17%)	5/39 (13%)
MBP ₈₀₋₉₉	0/50 (0%)	0/45 (0%)	0/39 (0%)
SHBsAg ₁₃₀₋₁₄₉ /MOG ₅₋₂₄	0/50 (0%)	23/45 (51%)	16/39 (41%)
SHBsAg ₈₀₋₉₉ /MOG ₅₋₂₄	0/50 (0%)	1/45 (2%)	0/39 (0%)
SHBsAg ₁₋₂₀ /MOG ₂₁₀₋₂₂₉	0/50 (0%)	7/45 (16%)	5/39 (13%)
SHBsAg/ (at least 1peptide)	0/50 (0%)	21/45 (47%)	16/39 (41%)
MOG (at least 1peptide)	4/50 (8 %)	24/45 (53%)	16/39 (41%)
SHBsAg (full protein)	0/50 (0%)	40/45 (89%)	36/39 (92%)
SHBsAg/MOG (at least 1 pair)	0/50 (0%)	21/45 (47%)	16/39 (41%)

Table 10.1 Single and double reactivity to SHBsAg and myelin mimics in absolutenumbers and percentages (%), in 50 vaccinees before and after vaccination.

HBVacc, hepatitis B vaccination; SHBsAg, small hepatitis B surface antigen; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MBP, myelin basic protein

Case #	SHBsAg ₁₃₀₋₁₄₉	MOG ₅₋₂₄	SHBsAg ₁₃₀₋₁₄₉	MOG ₅₋₂₄	SHBsAg ₁₃₀₋₁₄₉	MOG ₅₋₂₄
	pre-HBVacc	pre-Hbvacc	post-HBVacc	post-HBVacc	post-HBVacc	post-HBVacc
	baseline	baseline	3 months	3 months	6 months	6 months
1	0	3.7	na	na	7.1	0
2	0	0	4.7	3.3	5.5	0
3	0	0	3.4	0	na	na
4	0	0	6.7	0	6.9	0
5	0	0	3.8	3.3	4.2	0
6	0	0	4.2	4	6	4.8
7	0	0	0	0	0	0
8	0	4.1	7.1	5.2	7.8	0
9	0	0	6.8	0	5.6	0
10	0	0	6.6	2.3	na	na
11	0	0	na	na	6.5	5
12	0	0	4.3	0	5.7	3.7
13	0	0	2.8	2.8	3.9	3.9
14	0	0	2.3	0	2.7	0
15	0	0	na	na	8.1	Ő
16	0	0	0	0	0	Ő
17	0	Õ	3.3	ů 0	6.8	õ
18	Õ	Ő	3.3	4	49	Õ
19	Ő	Ő	2.8	, 0	2.9	Õ
20	0	3.2	4.1	2.9	4 1	Ő
21	0	0	4.7	0	na	na
22	Õ	Õ	4.8	ů 0	na	na
23	Õ	õ	3.2	23	3.1	3.8
23	Ő	õ	0	0	0	0
25	Õ	ů	32	0	31	4.4
25	Õ	ů	5.2 na	na	78	3
20	Õ	Õ	29	0	29	0
28	Õ	Õ	3	ů	na	na
29	ů 0	õ	3	32	na	na
30	Õ	Õ	3.1	0	3	0
31	õ	õ	51	3	51	$\tilde{\tilde{z}}$
37	Õ	ů	3.8	37	6.5	35
32	Õ	Õ	33	3	4.8	J.J 1 8
33	Õ	ů 0	20	27	7.0 ng	7.0
35	Õ	Õ	5	59	5	11a 0
36	Õ	Õ	61	5	na	na
37	Õ	0	3.4	3	3 4	3
38	0	0	J. 1	na	3.4 4 8	20
30	Õ	4.2	5 2	0	50	2.9
40	Õ	4. <u>2</u>	3.5	3	3.5	26
40	Õ	Ő	29	24	29	2.0
42	Õ	Ő	2.9	0	2.7	0
43	ů 0	Õ	33	0	33	3.1
45	0 0	õ	29	21	5.5 7 8	20
44	ů N	0	0	0	3.8	3.1
45	0	0	51	4	5.0 na	3.1 na
40	0	0	3.1	- 	37	0
4/ 12	0	0	3.9	0	J.2 19	ne
40 10	0	0	5.0 4.6	35	na	11a no
50	ñ	ő	4.0	0	11a 47	0
50	v	v	7.7	~	7./	v

Table 10.2 Antibody reactivity to $SHBsAg_{130-149}$ and MOG_{5-24} before and after vaccination

HBVacc, hepatitis B vaccination; SHBsAg, small hepatitis B surface antigen; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; na, not available
10.3.3 Inhibition studies

Antibody binding to SHBsAg₁₃₀₋₁₄₉ was inhibited by 73-92% after pre-incubation with the SHBsAg₁₃₀₋₁₄₉; by 69-85% after pre-incubation with MOG₅₋₂₄ and by 74-88% after pre-incubation with full-length SHBsAg, in all 3 cases tested (Figure 10.2). Insignificant inhibition was observed by pre-incubation with the irrelevant control peptide and antigen (Figure 10.2).



Competitor peptide concentrations (µg/ml)

Figure 10.2 Inhibition of antibody binding against SHBsAg₁₃₀₋₁₄₉ by pre-incubation with SHBsAg₁₃₀₋₁₄₉ (\blacklozenge), MOG₅₋₂₄ (\blacksquare), SHBsAg (\blacktriangle), control antigen (\circ) and control peptide (\ast) of case 30 and 33. On the vertical axis is the percentage of inhibition of antibody binding to the peptide in the presence of competitor peptide or antigen at different concentrations. SHBsAg₁₃₀₋₁₄₉, Small Hepatitis B surface antigen; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; ab, antibody

10.4 DISCUSSION

This section of the Thesis has looked for evidence of cross-reactivity between SHBsAg and myelin mimics in normal subjects undergoing hepatitis B vaccination. Not only does SHBsAg share strong homologies with major myelin antigens such as MBP and MOG but specific viral/self pairs were found to be targets of antibody responses induced by the administration of the viral vaccine. As for other mimics described in this Thesis, sequence similarity *per s*e did not necessarily lead to anti-peptide reactivity and immunological cross-reactivity (Oldstone, 1987). In the present study the SHBsAg/MBP mimicking sequences and two of four sets of SHBsAg/MOG mimics were not antibody targets (*see* Table 10.1). Inhibition studies have demonstrated the cross-reactive nature of the observed SHBsAg/MOG antibody responses. The selective appearance of viral/myelin cross-reactive responses in some but not all of the mimicking pairs supports the biological significance of the present findings (Oldstone, 1987, Oldstone, 1989, Oldstone, 1998).

The question of a connection between vaccination and autoimmune disorders is surrounded by controversy (Shoenfeld and Aron-Maor, 2000). A heated debate is going on regarding the causality between anti-HBV vaccination and demyelinating disorders such as multiple sclerosis (Shoenfeld and Aron-Maor, 2000). The focus of the present study was the application of HBV vaccination as a model for the study of immunological cross-reactivity rather than the study of the safety and efficacy of the anti-HBV vaccination. Serum samples from HBV vaccination recipients with established autoimmune disorders have not been tested in the present study. All of the vaccinees were free of autoimmune phenomena before vaccination and remain free of any adverse reactions during the follow up. Clues as to the pathogenic link between the vaccine and specific autoimmune disorders, therefore, could not be established. Crossreactive immunity was found only after vaccination, though decreasing in magnitude over time with a significant proportion of vaccinated subjects maintaining the anti-viral response but losing that against self. These findings suggest that upon vaccination, induction of an anti-viral response is initially capable of inducing cross-reactive antiself immune responses which decrease over time, possibly as a result of peripheral tolerance mechanisms (see 1.2.2). This scenario may explain why very rarely adverse post-vaccination autoimmune reactions occur (Herroelen et al., 1991, Cohen and

Shoenfeld, 1996, Shoenfeld and Aron-Maor, 2000). Equally important may be the finding that the minority of vaccinees with an anti-myelin reactivity pre-HBV vaccination almost universally lost this reactivity post-vaccination. It is possible to speculate that the viral components of the vaccine and in particular the self mimicking SHBsAg sequences may play a role as altered peptide ligand, i.e. may represent sequences unable to induce cross-reactive responses but able to promote tolerance to a given autoepitope (Sloan-Lancaster and Allen, 1996). Such mechanism could probably be of benefit in patients with multiple sclerosis in whom HBV vaccination or immunomodulatory treatment with SHBsAg mimics as altered peptide ligand might contribute to restoration of tolerance towards myeling antigens (Sloan-Lancaster and Allen, 1996).

The hepatitis B vaccine is the first vaccine which has been shown to prevent cancer, and it has saved - and will save - millions of lives (Shouval, 2003). But is also a vaccine against a virus which has been pathogenetically linked to autoimmune adverse reactions (Herroelen *et al.*, 1991, Cohen and Shoenfeld, 1996, Poirriez, 2004, Ravel *et al.*, 2004, Vital *et al.*, 2002, Aron-Maor and Shoenfeld, 2001, Shoenfeld and Aron-Maor, 2000, Maillefert *et al.*, 1999). In view of the observed SHBsAg/MOG cross-reactivity, the vaccine's possible role as a trigger for the induction of demyelinating adverse reactions through molecular mimicry must be further investigated.

CHAPTER 11

General Discussion

This Thesis has focused on the investigation of molecular mimicry and immunological cross-reactivity as a possible mechanism involved in the induction and/or maintenance of liver autoimmunity.

In the first part (Chapters 3-7), the principle of molecular mimicry was exploited to reveal microbial agents able to cross-react with PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, the major mitochondrial autoepitope in PBC (Oldstone, 1989). Evidence for mimicry is readily obtained by scanning databases for sequence homologies between proteins of microbial and human origin (Oldstone, 1998, Bogdanos et al., 2000). Through protein database searches, the present study has found that human PDC-E2212-226 shares remarkable amino acid similarities with microbial mimicking sequences of proteins unrelated to PDC. Previous studies demonstrating microbial PDC-E2/self PDC-E2 cross-reactivity have failed to convince several investigators who have argued that such homologies (and the observed cross-reactive responses) are not pathogenetically meaningful since they can readily be predicted, taking into account the phylogenetically highly conserved nature of PDC-E2 among species (Van de Water et al., 2001). The potential significance of the present findings is emphasized by the fact that the identified microbial homologues were better mimics of human PDC-E2212-226 than other microbial PDC-E2 mimics such as E. coli PDC-E2₂₃₁₋₂₄₅ which has been repeatedly suggested to be involved in the induction of human anti-PDC-E2 autoimmunity.

It has to be stressed, however, that sequence similarity does not necessarily lead to structural/conformational similarity and, hence, need not equate with actual cross-reactivity (antigenic mimicry) (Oldstone, 1987, Quaratino *et al.*, 1995). On the other hand, there is a growing number of examples where evidence of microbial infection in autoimmune disease is also associated with immunological cross-reactivity between autoepitopes and mimicking microbial peptides (Oldstone, 1998). These cases have been taken as evidence of a pathogenetic role for such molecular mimicry. However, they may also be interpreted as trivial epiphenomena: strong structural similarity between epitopes of different antigens simply leading to cross-recognition by independently stimulated lymphocyte populations. In such a debate therefore it is important to bear in mind cases where such trivial cross-reactivity might be expected, but is not observed.

In the case of PBC three variants of such non-reactivity might be cited.

1) Mycobacterial heat shock proteins contain a unique peptide sequence that is a close structural mimic of the dominant autoepitope of PDC-E2, and cross-reactivity

between those peptides is seen in sera from a significant proportion of Spanish PBC patients, but not in a large number of pathological controls from the same region (*see* Chapter 3). Moreover, in a large group of British PBC patients and controls no such disease-specific recognition of mycobacterial antigen was observed indicating a geographical/genetic restriction of the observed phenomenon.

- 2) On various clinical grounds *Helicobacter pylori* would have seemed to be an excellent candidate in a pathogenetic scenario for PBC. Yet sera (as well as T-cells), from PBC patients, whilst reacting against the immunodominant PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆ and the PDC antigen do not recognise the urease peptide that very closely mimics it (*see* Chapter 6).
- 3) The X sub-unit of the caseinolytic Clp complex (ClpX) of *E. coli* contains a peptide sequence that is the closest mimic of PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆. Nevertheless, sera from PBC patients do not recognise the ClpX peptide. However, there is disease-specific recognition of the ClpP component of that complex in a significant percentage of PBC patients. In this case, it seems likely that, in a proportion of patients, mimicry is operative at the CD4 T-cell level, helping in the production of antibodies against the other constituent of the same complex (*see* Chapter 7).

These findings indicate that cross-reactivities between autopitopes and mimicking peptides of infecting organisms, when they are observed, are probably not trivial, and may well have a bearing on the mechanism of disease. This seems to be the case of *E. coli* mimics cross-reactively recognising human PDC-E2₂₁₂₋₂₂₆, particularly in those patients with evidence of recurrent urinary tract infection (Chapter 5). These observations expand further our view of a microbial involvement and in particular of ECOLI-urinary tract infection in the appearance and/or maintenance of anti-mitochondrial antibody responses by a cross-reactive mechanism.

More complex and less well understood is the finding that one third of patients with PBC had an IgG3 subclass antibody response against a lactobacillus sequence that mimics the major anti-mitochondrial autoepitope, which was not found in control subjects (Chapter 4). That the disease-specific anti-BGAL LACDE responses are of IgG3 isotype, implicates T-cell 'help' in their production, and further supports the view that cellular immune responses are 'key' players in the perpetuation of the autoimmune attack (Snapper and Mond, 1993, Stavnezer, 1996, Snapper *et al.*, 1997, Stevens *et al.*, 1988, Mosmann and Coffman, 1989, Mahon *et al.*, 1995).

These results also raise additional questions, which need to be addressed, particularly about the precise mechanisms by which B and T cell cross-reactive immune responses are implicated in the induction of PBC-specific antimitochondrial immune responses (Gershwin et al., 2000, Van de Water et al., 2001). If a B-cell receptor happens to recognise an epitope on a microbial protein that is a mimic of an existing auto-reactive T-cell epitope, and this mimicking sequence is preferentially presented by the cell (by virtue of its protection from degradation during antigen processing), then there may be an enhancement of production of antibodies recognising that microbial sequence. Moreover, new T-cell clones would be recruited into this expansion of the immune response whenever an APC, such as a dendritic cell, happened to present a further mimicking epitope derived from the processing of another microbial protein, and hence prime another potentially auto-reactive T-cell receptor (Liang and Mamula, 2000, James and Harley, 1998). Furthermore, if the repertoire of B-cell antigen receptors, generated in such a scenario, catalysed the uptake of other microbial proteins bearing mimicking sequences that were then themselves presented to the T-cell repertoire, there would be a further enhancement of the autoimmune cascade.

The findings of the present work and those of recent studies demonstrating the existence of PDC-E2 cross-reactive microbial mimics of common pathogens support the concept of a 'multiple hit' mechanism of molecular mimicry whereby a short sequence on human PDC-E2 becomes a cross-reactive target of several microbial mimics, a process that, in susceptible individuals, may culminate in tolerance breakdown (Vilagut *et al.*, 1997, Selmi *et al.*, 2003, Van de Water *et al.*, 2001, Shimoda *et al.*, 2000).

Three further points need to be made: Firstly, microbial involvement in autoimmune disease is likely to be a 'hit and run' phenomenon, so the lack of bacterial products in the liver of PBC patients may be anticipated and is not incompatible with immunological evidence of previous infection (*see* Chapter 9) (Oldstone, 1987, von Herrath, 2000). Secondly, while the results presented here are relevant to the evolution of the antibody repertoire in PBC, they do not shed direct light on the identity of the autoantigen abnormally expressed in biliary epithelium in the disease, which is recognised by these antibodies (Van de Water *et al.*, 1993, Gershwin *et al.*, 2000). Finally, although the observed microbial/self cross-reactive responses are specifically found in patients with PBC, their pathogenic significance is still unclear (Neuberger and Thomson, 1999, Gershwin *et al.*, 2000, Van de Water *et al.*, 2001). It has to be stressed that these responses have been studied at the time of overt disease and therefore may

just represent 'footprints' of an ongoing process that took place several years before the onset of the full-blown clinical picture or may well be secondary to the immunological breakdown in the disease (von Herrath, 2000).

In the second part of the Thesis (Chapters 8-10), the role of immunological cross-reactivity has been similarly investigated in viral hepatitis-associated autoimmunity. Of interest, in the case of HCV associated LKM1 autoimmunity, it was found that a 'multiple hit' mechanism of molecular similarity between CYP2D6, HCV and HSV did probably underpin the production of a cross-reactive response (Chapter 8). The finding of the present study that the possession of HLA B51 allele differentiates the cross-reactive from the non-cross-reactive LKM1 positive HCV infected patients needs further investigation.

These cross-reactive responses have been demonstrated in patients' serum samples obtained long after the disease has been established, and are therefore unable to provide clues as to the underlying mechanisms preceding the full blown clinical picture. To circumvent this limitation the present study has employed two different approaches. The first has focused on the investigation of immunological cross-reactivity in a girl with primary and secondary LKM1 response following HCV infection acquired at the time of liver transplantation and followed-up for 14 years (Chapter 9). This girl developed a florid autoimmune hepatitis nine years after the first appearance of disease-specific autoantibodies in her serum (Mackie et al., 1994). The study of the fine specificity of her anti-CYP2D6 responses revealed both an epitope spreading from a single to several other CYP2D6 epitopes, and additionally, and most importantly, a cross-reactive response involving the major CYP2D6 autoepitope and its HCV, HSV, CMV, and EBV mimics indicating that a 'multiple hit' viral/self cross-reactive mechanism may have been instrumental in the appearance of the autoimmune response. The second approach involved the study of cross-reactive immunity between the hepatitis B surface antigen, the viral component of the hepatitis B virus vaccine, and its mimics on myelin antigens (Chapter 10). Cross-reactive immunity was found only after vaccination, though in decreasing magnitude over time, and with the vaccinated subjects maintaining the antiviral response but losing that against self. The finding that a cross-reactive viral/self immune response frequently occurs after vaccination but decreases with time, possibly as a result of peripheral tolerance mechanism(s), may explain why post-vaccination autoimmune adverse reactions are rare (Shoenfeld and Aron-Maor, 2000). Of interest is

the finding that the minority of vaccinees with an anti-myelin reactivity pre-HBV vaccination lost this reactivity post-vaccination. This suggests that the viral components of the vaccine and in particular the self mimicking SHBsAg sequences, may well play a role in the suppression of pre-existing autoreactive responses giving support to the notion that molecular mimicry can be a mechanism of prevention (instead of acceleration) of autoimmunity (Sloan-Lancaster and Allen, 1996, Christen and von Herrath, 2004).

In summary, this Thesis has highlighted potentially different aspects of molecular mimicry in liver autoimmunity and presented examples demonstrating the complexity and diversity in which immunological cross-reactivity may affect autoimmunity. The present studies have demonstrated that disease-specific microbial/self cross-reactive responses do occur and may be of pathogenic significance. Tracking and quantitating the cross-reactive immunological process following viral infection in large number of individuals at risk of developing autoimmune manifestations may provide an insight into the real impact of molecular mimicry in human autoimmune liver diseases.

However, as for other autoimmune disease, definitive proof for molecular mimicry as an initiator or perpetuator of autoimmunity will remain difficult to obtain in humans.

REFERENCES

- AATTOUR, N., BOURAS, M., TOME, D., MARCOS, A. & LEMONNIER, D. (2002). Oral ingestion of lactic-acid bacteria by rats increases lymphocyte proliferation and interferon-gamma production. *Br J Nutr* 87, 367-373.
- ABREU-MARTIN, M. T. & TARGAN, S. R. (1996). Regulation of immune responses of the intestinal mucosa. Crit Rev Immunol 16, 277-309.
- ABUAF, N., LUNEL, F., GIRAL, P., BOROTTO, E., LAPERCHE, S., POUPON, R., OPOLON, P., HURAUX, J. M. & HOMBERG, J. C. (1993). Non-organ specific autoantibodies associated with chronic C virus hepatitis. J Hepatol 18, 359-364.
- ABU-MOUCH, S., SELMI, C., BENSON, G. D., KENNY, T. P., INVERNIZZI, P., ZUIN, M., PODDA, M., ROSSARO, L. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (2003). Geographic clusters of primary biliary cirrhosis. *Clin Dev Immunol* 10, 127-131.
- AGARWAL, K., JONES, D. E., WATT, F. E., BURT, A. D., FLOREANI, A. & BASSENDINE, M. F. (2002). Familial primary biliary cirrhosis and autoimmune cholangitis. *Dig Liver Dis* 34, 50-52.
- AKKARAJU, S., HO, W. Y., LEONG, D., CANAAN, K., DAVIS, M. M. & GOODNOW, C. C. (1997). A range of CD4 T cell tolerance: partial inactivation to organ-specific antigen allows nondestructive thyroiditis or insulitis. *Immunity* 7, 255-271.
- ALTSCHUL, S. F. (1991). Amino acid substitution matrices from an information theoretic perspective. *J Mol Biol* **219**, 555-565.
- ALVAREZ, F., BERNARD, O., HOMBERG, J. C. & KREIBICH, G. (1985). Anti-liver-kidney microsome antibody recognizes a 50,000 molecular weight protein of the endoplasmic reticulum. J Exp Med 161, 1231-1236.
- ALVAREZ, F., BERG, P. A., BIANCHI, F. B., BIANCHI, L., BURROUGHS, A. K., CANCADO, E. L., CHAPMAN, R. W., COOKSLEY, W. G., CZAJA, A. J., DESMET, V. J., DONALDSON, P. T., EDDLESTON, A. L., FAINBOIM, L., HEATHCOTE, J., HOMBERG, J. C., HOOFNAGLE, J. H., KAKUMU, S., KRAWITT, E. L., MACKAY, I. R., MACSWEEN, R. N., MADDREY, W. C., MANNS, M. P., MCFARLANE, I. G., MEYER ZUM BUSCHENFELDE, K. H., ZENIYA, M. & ET AL. (1999). International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group Report: review of criteria for diagnosis of autoimmune hepatitis. J Hepatol 31, 929-938.
- AMEDEI, A., BERGMAN, M. P., APPELMELK, B. J., AZZURRI, A., BENAGIANO, M., TAMBURINI, C., VAN DER ZEE, R., TELFORD, J. L., VANDENBROUCKE-GRAULS, C. M., D'ELIOS, M. M. & DEL PRETE, G. (2003). Molecular mimicry between Helicobacter pylori antigens and H+, K+ --adenosine triphosphatase in human gastric autoimmunity. J Exp Med 198, 1147-1156.
- ANAND, A. C., ELIAS, E. & NEUBERGER, J. M. (1996). End-stage primary biliary cirrhosis in a first generation migrant south Asian population. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 8, 663-666.

- ANDERSON, C. L. & LOONEY, R. J. (1987). Immunoglobulin G Fc receptors of human leukocytes. *Methods Enzymol* 150, 524-536.
- ARON-MAOR, A. & SHOENFELD, Y. (2001). Vaccination and systemic lupus erythematosus: the bidirectional dilemmas. *Lupus* 10, 237-240.
- AUSTRUP, F., VESTWEBER, D., BORGES, E., LOHNING, M., BRAUER, R., HERZ, U., RENZ, H., HALLMANN, R., SCHEFFOLD, A., RADBRUCH, A. & HAMANN, A. (1997). Pand E-selectin mediate recruitment of T-helper-1 but not T-helper-2 cells into inflammed tissues. *Nature* 385, 81-83.
- BACH, N. & SCHAFFNER, F. (1994). Familial primary biliary cirrhosis. J Hepatol 20, 698-701.
- BALLARDINI, G., MIRAKIAN, R., BIANCHI, F. B., PISI, E., DONIACH, D. & BOTTAZZO, G. F. (1984). Aberrant expression of HLA-DR antigens on bileduct epithelium in primary biliary cirrhosis: relevance to pathogenesis. *Lancet* 2, 1009-1013.
- BARKER, C. F. & BILLINGHAM, R. E. (1977). Immunologically privileged sites. Adv Immunol 25, 1-54.
- BASSENDINE, M. F., JONES, D. E. & YEAMAN, S. J. (1997). Biochemistry and autoimmune response to the 2-oxoacid dehydrogenase complexes in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Semin Liver Dis* 17, 49-60.
- BAUM, H. & BERG, P. A. (1981). The complex nature of mitochondrial antibodies and their relation to primary biliary cirrhosis. *Semin Liver Dis* 1, 309-321.
- BAUM, H. (1995). Mitochondrial antigens, molecular mimicry and autoimmune disease. Biochim Biophys Acta 1271, 111-121.
- BEN-ARI, Z., DHILLON, A. P. & SHERLOCK, S. (1993). Autoimmune cholangiopathy: part of the spectrum of autoimmune chronic active hepatitis. *Hepatology* 18, 10-15.
- BERG, P. A., DONIACH, D. & ROITT, I. M. (1967). Mitochondrial antibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis. I. Localization of the antigen to mitochondrial membranes. J Exp Med 126, 277-290.
- BERG, P. A., KLEIN, R., LINDENBORN-FOTINOS, J. & KLOPPEL, W. (1982). ATPaseassociated antigen (M2): marker antigen for serological diagnosis of primary biliary cirrhosis. *Lancet* 2, 1423-1426.
- BERG, P. A., KLEIN, R. & LINDENBORN-FOTINOS, J. (1986). Antimitochondrial antibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2, 123-131.
- BERTOLETTI, A. & FERRARI, C. (2003). Kinetics of the immune response during HBV and HCV infection. *Hepatology* 38, 4-13.

- BISSELL, D. M., GORES, G. J., LASKIN, D. L. & HOOFNAGLE, J. H. (2001). Druginduced liver injury: mechanisms and test systems. *Hepatology* 33, 1009-1013.
- BOGDANOS, D. P., MIELI-VERGANI, G. & VERGANI, D. (2000a). Virus, liver and autoimmunity. Dig Liver Dis 32, 440-446.
- BOGDANOS, D. P., MURATORI, L., BIANCHI, F. B. & VERGANI, D. (2000b). Hepatitis C virus and autoimmunity. *Hepatology* **31**, 1380.
- BOGDANOS, D. P. & MCFARLANE, I. G. (2003). Cytochrome P450 2A6 meets P450 2D6: an enigma of viral infections and autoimmunity. *J Hepatol* **39**, 860-863.
- BOOS, W. & SHUMAN, H. (1998). Maltose/maltodextrin system of Escherichia coli: transport, metabolism, and regulation. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 62, 204-229.
- BORCHERS, A. T., KEEN, C. L. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (2002). The influence of yogurt/Lactobacillus on the innate and acquired immune response. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* 22, 207-230.
- BORTOLOTTI, F., VAJRO, P., BALLI, F., GIACCHINO, R., CRIVELLARO, C., BARBERA, C., CATALETA, M., MURATORI, L., PONTISSO, P., NEBBIA, G., ZANCAN, L., BERTOLINI, A., ALBERTI, A. & BIANCHI, F. (1996). Non-organ specific autoantibodies in children with chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol 25, 614-620.
- BOULWARE, S. L. & WEBER, P. C. (2000). Cross-reactivity of the anti-PML antibody PG-M3 with the herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate early protein ICP4. J Gen Virol 81, 1773-1777.
- BRIND, A. M., BRAY, G. P., PORTMANN, B. C. & WILLIAMS, R. (1995). Prevalence and pattern of familial disease in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Gut* 36, 615-617.
- BROCKE, S., GAUR, A., PIERCY, C., GAUTAM, A., GIJBELS, K., FATHMAN, C. G. & STEINMAN, L. (1993). Induction of relapsing paralysis in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by bacterial superantigen. *Nature* **365**, 642-644.
- BRUNNER, G. & KLINGE, O. (1987). A cholangitis with antinuclear antibodies (immunocholangitis) resembling chronic non-suppurative destructive cholangitis. *Deutsche Med Wochenschr*. **1128**, 1454-1145.
- BURROUGHS, A. K., ROSENSTEIN, I. J., EPSTEIN, O., HAMILTON-MILLER, J. M., BRUMFITT, W. & SHERLOCK, S. (1984). Bacteriuria and primary biliary cirrhosis. Gut 25, 133-137.
- BURROUGHS, A. K., BUTLER, P., STERNBERG, M. J. & BAUM, H. (1992). Molecular mimicry in liver disease. *Nature* 358, 377-378.
- BUTCHER, E. C. & PICKER, L. J. (1996). Lymphocyte homing and homeostasis. Science 272, 60-66.

- BUTLER, P., VALLE, F., HAMILTON-MILLER, J. M., BRUMFITT, W., BAUM, H. & BURROUGHS, A. K. (1993). M2 mitochondrial antibodies and urinary rough mutant bacteria in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis and in patients with recurrent bacteriuria. *J Hepatol* 17, 408-414.
- BUTLER, P., HAMILTON-MILLER, J., BAUM, H. & BURROUGHS, A. K. (1995a). Detection of M2 antibodies in patients with recurrent urinary tract infection using an ELISA and purified PBC specific antigens. Evidence for a molecular mimicry mechanism in the pathogenesis of primary biliary cirrhosis? *Biochem Mol Biol Int* 35, 473-485.
- BUTLER, P., HAMILTON-MILLER, J. M., MCINTYRE, N. & BURROUGHS, A. K. (1995b). Natural history of bacteriuria in women with primary biliary cirrhosis and the effect of antimicrobial therapy in symptomatic and asymptomatic groups. *Gut* **36**, 931-934.
- CALNE, R. Y., SELLS, R. A., PENA, J. R., DAVIS, D. R., MILLARD, P. R., HERBERTSON,
 B. M., BINNS, R. M. & DAVIES, D. A. (1969). Induction of immunological tolerance by porcine liver allografts. *Nature* 223, 472-476.
- CALNE, R. Y. (2000). Immunological tolerance--the liver effect. *Immunol Rev* 174, 280-282.
- CANTOR, H. M. & DUMONT, A. E. (1967). Hepatic suppression of sensitization to antigen absorbed into the portal system. *Nature* 215, 744-745.
- CARTER, L. L. & SWAIN, S. L. (1997). Single cell analyses of cytokine production. Curr Opin Immunol 9, 177-182.
- CASPI, R. R. (1999). Immune mechanisms in uveitis. Springer Semin Immunopathol 21, 113-124.
- CASSANI, F., CATALETA, M., VALENTINI, P., MURATORI, P., GIOSTRA, F., FRANCESCONI, R., MURATORI, L., LENZI, M., BIANCHI, G., ZAULI, D. & BIANCHI, F. B. (1997). Serum autoantibodies in chronic hepatitis C: comparison with autoimmune hepatitis and impact on the disease profile. *Hepatology* 26, 561-566.
- CEBRA, J. J., KOMISAR, J. L. & SCHWEITZER, P. A. (1984). CH isotype 'switching' during normal B-lymphocyte development. Annu Rev Immunol 2, 493-548.
- CERNY, A. & CHISARI, F. V. (1999). Pathogenesis of chronic hepatitis C: immunological features of hepatic injury and viral persistence. *Hepatology* 30, 595-601.
- CHISARI, F. V. & FERRARI, C. (1995). Hepatitis B virus immunopathogenesis. Annu Rev Immunol 13, 29-60.

- CHOUDHURI, K., GREGORIO, G. V., MIELI-VERGANI, G. & VERGANI, D. (1998). Immunological cross-reactivity to multiple autoantigens in patients with liver kidney microsomal type 1 autoimmune hepatitis. *Hepatology* 28, 1177-1181.
- CHRISTEN, U. & VON HERRATH, M. G. (2004). Induction, acceleration or prevention of autoimmunity by molecular mimicry. *Mol Immunol* 40, 1113-1120.
- CHRISTENSEN, E., CROWE, J., DONIACH, D., POPPER, H., RANEK, L., RODES, J., TYGSTRUP, N. & WILLIAMS, R. (1980). Clinical pattern and course of disease in primary biliary cirrhosis based on an analysis of 236 patients. *Gastroenterology* 78, 236-246.
- CHRISTENSEN, H. R., FROKIAER, H. & PESTKA, J. J. (2002). Lactobacilli differentially modulate expression of cytokines and maturation surface markers in murine dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 168, 171-178.
- CLEMENTE, M. G., MELONI, A., OBERMAYER-STRAUB, P., FRAU, F., MANNS, M. P. & DE VIRGILIIS, S. (1998). Two cytochromes P450 are major hepatocellular autoantigens in autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type 1. *Gastroenterology* 114, 324-328.
- CLIFFORD, B. D., DONAHUE, D., SMITH, L., CABLE, E., LUTTIG, B., MANNS, M. & BONKOVSKY, H. L. (1995). High prevalence of serological markers of autoimmunity in patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 21, 613-619.
- COCCA, B. A., CLINE, A. M. & RADIC, M. Z. (2002). Blebs and apoptotic bodies are B cell autoantigens. J Immunol 169, 159-166.
- COHEN, A. D. & SHOENFELD, Y. (1996). Vaccine-induced autoimmunity. J Autoimmun 9, 699-703.
- COPE, A. P. (1998). Regulation of autoimmunity by proinflammatory cytokines. Curr Opin Immunol 10, 669-676.
- COURVALIN, J. C. & WORMAN, H. J. (1997). Nuclear envelope protein autoantibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis. Semin Liver Dis 17, 79-90.
- CRAIG, L., SANSCHAGRIN, P. C., ROZEK, A., LACKIE, S., KUHN, L. A. & SCOTT, J. K. (1998). The role of structure in antibody cross-reactivity between peptides and folded proteins. J Mol Biol 281, 183-201.
- CRISPE, I. N. (2003). Hepatic T cells and liver tolerance. Nat Rev Immunol 3, 51-62.
- CRITCHFIELD, J. M., RACKE, M. K., ZUNIGA-PFLUCKER, J. C., CANNELLA, B., RAINE, C. S., GOVERMAN, J. & LENARDO, M. J. (1994). T cell deletion in high antigen dose therapy of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Science* 263, 1139-1143.
- CUNHA-NETO, E., COELHO, V., GUILHERME, L., FIORELLI, A., STOLF, N. & KALIL, J. (1996). Autoimmunity in Chagas' disease. Identification of cardiac myosin-B13

Trypanosoma cruzi protein crossreactive T cell clones in heart lesions of a chronic Chagas' cardiomyopathy patient. J Clin Invest 98, 1709-1712.

- CUNNINGHAM, M. W., MCCORMACK, J. M., FENDERSON, P. G., HO, M. K., BEACHEY, E. H. & DALE, J. B. (1989). Human and murine antibodies cross-reactive with streptococcal M protein and myosin recognize the sequence GLN-LYS-SER-LYS-GLN in M protein. *J Immunol* 143, 2677-2683.
- CUNNINGHAM, M. W. (2000). Pathogenesis of group A streptococcal infections. Clin Microbiol Rev 13, 470-511.
- CZAJA, A. J. (1997). Extrahepatic immunologic features of chronic viral hepatitis. *Dig Dis* 15, 125-144.
- CZAJA, A. J. & HOMBURGER, H. A. (2001). Autoantibodies in liver disease. Gastroenterology 120, 239-249.
- DALEKOS, G. N., WEDEMEYER, H., OBERMAYER-STRAUB, P., KAYSER, A., BARUT, A., FRANK, H. & MANNS, M. P. (1999). Epitope mapping of cytochrome P4502D6 autoantigen in patients with chronic hepatitis C during alpha-interferon treatment. J Hepatol 30, 366-375.
- DE MARCH AYUELA, P. (2000). [Infections caused by environmental mycobacteria in Spain]. *Med Clin (Barc)* 114, 318-319.
- DE MARCUCCI, O. & LINDSAY, J. G. (1985). Component X. An immunologically distinct polypeptide associated with mammalian pyruvate dehydrogenase multienzyme complex. *Eur J Biochem* 149, 641-648.
- DELLABONA, P., PECCOUD, J., KAPPLER, J., MARRACK, P., BENOIST, C. & MATHIS, D. (1990). Superantigens interact with MHC class II molecules outside of the antigen groove. *Cell* 62, 1115-1121.
- DELVES, P. J. & ROITT, I. M. (2000a). The immune system. First of two parts. N Engl J Med 343, 37-49.
- DELVES, P. J. & ROITT, I. M. (2000b). The immune system. Second of two parts. N Engl J Med 343, 108-117.
- DEVAUX, B., ENDERLIN, F., WALLNER, B. & SMILEK, D. E. (1997). Induction of EAE in mice with recombinant human MOG, and treatment of EAE with a MOG peptide. *J Neuroimmunol* **75**, 169-173.
- DIEHL, A. M. (2000). Cytokine regulation of liver injury and repair. Immunol Rev 174, 160-171.
- DIENES, H. P., POPPER, H., M, M. A., BAUMANN, W., THOENES, W. & MEYER ZUM BUSCHENFELDE, K. H. (1989). Histologic features in autoimmune hepatitis. Z Gastroenterol 27, 325-330.

- DOHERTY, D. G., NORRIS, S., MADRIGAL-ESTEBAS, L., MCENTEE, G., TRAYNOR, O., HEGARTY, J. E. & O'FARRELLY, C. (1999). The human liver contains multiple populations of NK cells, T cells, and CD3+CD56+ natural T cells with distinct cytotoxic activities and Th1, Th2, and Th0 cytokine secretion patterns. J Immunol 163, 2314-2321.
- DOHERTY, D. G. & O'FARRELLY, C. (2000). Innate and adaptive lymphoid cells in the human liver. *Immunol Rev* 174, 5-20.
- DONIACH, D., ROITT, I., WALKER, J. & SHERLOCK, S. (1966). Tissue antibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis, active chronic (lupoid) hepatitis, cryptogenic cirrhosis and other diseases and their clinical implications. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1, 237-262.
- DOUVAS, A. & SOBELMAN, S. (1991). Multiple overlapping homologies between two rheumatoid antigens and immunosuppressive viruses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **88**, 6328-6332.
- DUBEL, L., TANAKA, A., LEUNG, P. S., VAN DE WATER, J., COPPEL, R., ROCHE, T., JOHANET, C., MOTOKAWA, Y., ANSARI, A. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1999). Autoepitope mapping and reactivity of autoantibodies to the dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase-binding protein (E3BP) and the glycine cleavage proteins in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 29, 1013-1018.
- DUSHEIKO, G. (1997). Side effects of alpha interferon in chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 26, 112S-121S.
- DYRBERG, T. & OLDSTONE, M. B. (1986). Peptides as probes to study molecular mimicry and virus-induced autoimmunity. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 130, 25-37.
- DYRBERG, T., PETERSEN, J. S. & OLDSTONE, M. B. (1990). Immunological crossreactivity between mimicking epitopes on a virus protein and a human autoantigen depends on a single amino acid residue. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* 54, 290-297.
- EASTMOND, C. J. & WOODROW, J. C. (1977). Discordance for ankylosing spondylitis in monozygotic twins. Ann Rheum Dis 36, 360-364.
- EBERS, G. C., BULMAN, D. E., SADOVNICK, A. D., PATY, D. W., WARREN, S., HADER, W., MURRAY, T. J., SELAND, T. P., DUQUETTE, P., GREY, T. & ET AL. (1986). A population-based study of multiple sclerosis in twins. N Engl J Med 315, 1638-1642.
- EBERS, G. C. & SADOVNICK, A. D. (1993). The geographic distribution of multiple sclerosis: a review. *Neuroepidemiology* 12, 1-5.
- FALKINHAM, J. O., 3RD. (1996). Epidemiology of infection by nontuberculous mycobacteria. Clin Microbiol Rev 9, 177-215.

- FALLONE, C. A., TRAN, S., SEMRET, M., DISCEPOLA, F., BEHR, M. & BARKUN, A. N. (2003). Helicobacter DNA in bile: correlation with hepato-biliary diseases. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 17, 453-458.
- FARIA, A. M. & WEINER, H. L. (1999). Oral tolerance: mechanisms and therapeutic applications. Adv Immunol 73, 153-264.
- FERBER, I., SCHONRICH, G., SCHENKEL, J., MELLOR, A. L., HAMMERLING, G. J. & ARNOLD, B. (1994). Levels of peripheral T cell tolerance induced by different doses of tolerogen. *Science* 263, 674-676.
- FIGURA, N., CETTA, F., ANGELICO, M., MONTALTO, G., CETTA, D., PACENTI, L., VINDIGNI, C., VAIRA, D., FESTUCCIA, F., DE SANTIS, A., RATTAN, G., GIANNACE, R., CAMPAGNA, S. & GENNARI, C. (1998). Most Helicobacter pyloriinfected patients have specific antibodies, and some also have H. pylori antigens and genomic material in bile: is it a risk factor for gallstone formation? *Dig Dis Sci* 43, 854-862.
- FLANNERY, G. R., BURROUGHS, A. K., BUTLER, P., CHELLIAH, J., HAMILTON-MILLER, J., BRUMFITT, W. & BAUM, H. (1989). Antimitochondrial antibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis recognize both specific peptides and shared epitopes of the M2 family of antigens. *Hepatology* 10, 370-374.
- FOSTER, G. R. (1997). Interferons in host defense. Semin Liver Dis 17, 287-295.
- FOX, J. G., YAN, L. L., DEWHIRST, F. E., PASTER, B. J., SHAMES, B., MURPHY, J. C., HAYWARD, A., BELCHER, J. C. & MENDES, E. N. (1995). Helicobacter bilis sp. nov., a novel Helicobacter species isolated from bile, livers, and intestines of aged, inbred mice. J Clin Microbiol 33, 445-454.
- FOX, J. G., DEWHIRST, F. E., SHEN, Z., FENG, Y., TAYLOR, N. S., PASTER, B. J., ERICSON, R. L., LAU, C. N., CORREA, P., ARAYA, J. C. & ROA, I. (1998). Hepatic Helicobacter species identified in bile and gallbladder tissue from Chileans with chronic cholecystitis. *Gastroenterology* 114, 755-763.
- FRAZER, I. H., MACKAY, I. R., JORDAN, T. W., WHITTINGHAM, S. & MARZUKI, S. (1985). Reactivity of anti-mitochondrial autoantibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis: definition of two novel mitochondrial polypeptide autoantigens. J Immunol 135, 1739-1745.
- FUJINAMI, R. S. & OLDSTONE, M. B. (1985). Amino acid homology between the encephalitogenic site of myelin basic protein and virus: mechanism for autoimmunity. *Science* 230, 1043-1045.
- FUSSEY, S. P., ALI, S. T., GUEST, J. R., JAMES, O. F., BASSENDINE, M. F. & YEAMAN, S. J. (1990). Reactivity of primary biliary cirrhosis sera with Escherichia coli dihydrolipoamide acetyltransferase (E2p): characterization of the main immunogenic region. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87, 3987-3991.

- FUSSEY, S. P., LINDSAY, J. G., FULLER, C., PERHAM, R. N., DALE, S., JAMES, O. F., BASSENDINE, M. F. & YEAMAN, S. J. (1991). Autoantibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis: analysis of reactivity against eukaryotic and prokaryotic 2-oxo acid dehydrogenase complexes. *Hepatology* 13, 467-474.
- FUTAGAMI, S., TAKAHASHI, H., NOROSE, Y. & KOBAYASHI, M. (1998). Systemic and local immune responses against Helicobacter pylori urease in patients with chronic gastritis: distinct IgA and IgG productive sites. *Gut* **43**, 168-175.
- GALVIN, J. E., HEMRIC, M. E., KOSANKE, S. D., FACTOR, S. M., QUINN, A. & CUNNINGHAM, M. W. (2002). Induction of myocarditis and valvulitis in lewis rats by different epitopes of cardiac myosin and its implications in rheumatic carditis. *Am J Pathol* 160, 297-306.
- GAMBLE, D. R. (1980). The epidemiology of insulin dependent diabetes with particular reference to the relationship of virus infection to its etiology. *Epidemiol Rev* 2, 49-70.
- GENAIN, C. P., CANNELLA, B., HAUSER, S. L. & RAINE, C. S. (1999). Identification of autoantibodies associated with myelin damage in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Med* 5, 170-175.
- GERSHWIN, M. E., MACKAY, I. R., STURGESS, A. & COPPEL, R. L. (1987). Identification and specificity of a cDNA encoding the 70 kd mitochondrial antigen recognized in primary biliary cirrhosis. *J Immunol* **138**, 3525-3531.
- GERSHWIN, M. E. & MACKAY, I. R. (1991). Primary biliary cirrhosis: paradigm or paradox for autoimmunity. *Gastroenterology* 100, 822-833.
- GERSHWIN, M. E., ANSARI, A. A., MACKAY, I. R., NAKANUMA, Y., NISHIO, A., ROWLEY, M. J. & COPPEL, R. L. (2000). Primary biliary cirrhosis: an orchestrated immune response against epithelial cells. *Immunol Rev* 174, 210-225.
- GEYSEN, H. M., BARTELING, S. J. & MELOEN, R. H. (1985). Small peptides induce antibodies with a sequence and structural requirement for binding antigen comparable to antibodies raised against the native protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A 82, 178-182.
- GILBURD, B., ZIPOREN, L., ZHARHARY, D., BLANK, M., ZURGIL, N., SCHEINBERG, M.
 A., GUEDES, L. H., GERSHWIN, M. E. & SHOENFELD, Y. (1994).
 Antimitochondrial (pyruvate dehydrogenase) antibodies in leprosy. J Clin Immunol 14, 14-19.
- GOODMAN, Z. D., MCNALLY, P. R., DAVIS, D. R. & ISHAK, K. G. (1995). Autoimmune cholangitis: a variant of primary biliary cirrhosis. Clinicopathologic and serologic correlations in 200 cases. *Dig Dis Sci* **40**, 1232-1242.
- GOODNOW, C. C., CROSBIE, J., ADELSTEIN, S., LAVOIE, T. B., SMITH-GILL, S. J., BRINK, R. A., PRITCHARD-BRISCOE, H., WOTHERSPOON, J. S., LOBLAY, R. H., RAPHAEL,

K. & ET AL. (1988). Altered immunoglobulin expression and functional silencing of self-reactive B lymphocytes in transgenic mice. *Nature* 334, 676-682.

- GOODNOW, C. C., BRINK, R. & ADAMS, E. (1991). Breakdown of self-tolerance in anergic B lymphocytes. *Nature* 352, 532-536.
- GREGORIO, G. V., JONES, H., CHOUDHURI, K., VEGNENTE, A., BORTOLOTTI, F., MIELI-VERGANI, G. & VERGANI, D. (1996). Autoantibody prevalence in chronic hepatitis B virus infection: effect in interferon alfa. *Hepatology* 24, 520-523.
- GREGORIO, G. V., PORTMANN, B., REID, F., DONALDSON, P. T., DOHERTY, D. G., MCCARTNEY, M., MOWAT, A. P., VERGANI, D. & MIELI-VERGANI, G. (1997). Autoimmune hepatitis in childhood: a 20-year experience. *Hepatology* 25, 541-547.
- GREGORIO, G. V., PENSATI, P., IORIO, R., VEGNENTE, A., MIELI-VERGANI, G. & VERGANI, D. (1998). Autoantibody prevalence in children with liver disease due to chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection. *Clin Exp Immunol* **112**, 471-476.
- GREGORIO, G. V., CHOUDHURI, K., MA, Y., VEGNENTE, A., MIELI-VERGANI, G. & VERGANI, D. (1999). Mimicry between the hepatitis B virus DNA polymerase and the antigenic targets of nuclear and smooth muscle antibodies in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *J Immunol* 162, 1802-1810.
- GREGORIO, G. V., PORTMANN, B., KARANI, J., HARRISON, P., DONALDSON, P. T., VERGANI, D. & MIELI-VERGANI, G. (2001). Autoimmune hepatitis/sclerosing cholangitis overlap syndrome in childhood: a 16-year prospective study. *Hepatology* 33, 544-553.
- GREGORIO, G. V., CHOUDHURI, K., MA, Y., PENSATI, P., IORIO, R., GRANT, P., GARSON, J., BOGDANOS, D. P., VEGNENTE, A., MIELI-VERGANI, G. & VERGANI, D. (2003). Mimicry between the hepatitis C virus polyprotein and antigenic targets of nuclear and smooth muscle antibodies in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Clin Exp Immunol* 133, 404-413.
- GREWAL, I. S. & FLAVELL, R. A. (1998). CD40 and CD154 in cell-mediated immunity. Annu Rev Immunol 16, 111-135.
- GUEGUEN, M., YAMAMOTO, A. M., BERNARD, O. & ALVAREZ, F. (1989). Anti-liverkidney microsome antibody type 1 recognizes human cytochrome P450 db1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 159, 542-547.
- HANG, L. M., AGUADO, M. T., DIXON, F. J. & THEOFILOPOULOS, A. N. (1985). Induction of severe autoimmune disease in normal mice by simultaneous action of multiple immunostimulators. J Exp Med 161, 423-428.
- HANNAM, S., BOGDANOS, D. P., DAVIES, E. T., HUSSAIN, M. J., PORTMANN, B. C., MIELI-VERGANI, G. & VERGANI, D. (2002). Neonatal liver disease associated

with placental transfer of anti-mitochondrial antibodies. *Autoimmunity* 35, 545-550.

- HATA, K., ZHANG, X. R., IWATSUKI, S., VAN THIEL, D. H., HERBERMAN, R. B. & WHITESIDE, T. L. (1990). Isolation, phenotyping, and functional analysis of lymphocytes from human liver. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* 56, 401-419.
- HEAD, J. R. (1996). Uterine natural killer cells during pregnancy in rodents. *Nat Immun* 15, 7-21.
- HEDMAN, K., VAHERI, A. & BRUMMER-KORVENKONTIO, M. (1991). Rapid diagnosis of hantavirus disease with an IgG-avidity assay. *Lancet* **338**, 1353-1356.
- HERMAN, A., KAPPLER, J. W., MARRACK, P. & PULLEN, A. M. (1991). Superantigens: mechanism of T-cell stimulation and role in immune responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* 9, 745-772.
- HERROELEN, L., DE KEYSER, J. & EBINGER, G. (1991). Central-nervous-system demyelination after immunisation with recombinant hepatitis B vaccine. *Lancet* **338**, 1174-1175.
- HERZENBERG, L. A., PARKS, D., SAHAF, B., PEREZ, O. & ROEDERER, M. (2002). The history and future of the fluorescence activated cell sorter and flow cytometry: a view from Stanford. *Clin Chem* 48, 1819-1827.
- HESELTINE, L., TURNER, I. B., FUSSEY, S. P., KELLY, P. J., JAMES, O. F., YEAMAN, S. J. & BASSENDINE, M. F. (1990). Primary biliary cirrhosis. Quantitation of autoantibodies to purified mitochondrial enzymes and correlation with disease progression. *Gastroenterology* 99, 1786-1792.
- HILL, N. & SARVETNICK, N. (2002). Cytokines: promoters and dampeners of autoimmunity. Curr Opin Immunol 14, 791-797.
- HOLTER, W., SCHWARZ, M., CERWENKA, A. & KNAPP, W. (1996). The role of CD2 as a regulator of human T-cell cytokine production. *Immunol Rev* 153, 107-122.
- HOPF, U., MOLLER, B., STEMEROWICZ, R., LOBECK, H., RODLOFF, A., FREUDENBERG, M., GALANOS, C. & HUHN, D. (1989). Relation between Escherichia coli R(rough)-forms in gut, lipid A in liver, and primary biliary cirrhosis. Lancet 2, 1419-1422.
- HORWITZ, M. S., BRADLEY, L. M., HARBERTSON, J., KRAHL, T., LEE, J. & SARVETNICK, N. (1998). Diabetes induced by Coxsackie virus: initiation by bystander damage and not molecular mimicry. *Nat Med* **4**, 781-785.
- HOWARD, M. J., FULLER, C., BROADHURST, R. W., PERHAM, R. N., TANG, J. G., QUINN, J., DIAMOND, A. G. & YEAMAN, S. J. (1998). Three-dimensional structure of the major autoantigen in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Gastroenterology* 115, 139-146.

- INVERNIZZI, P., CROSIGNANI, A., BATTEZZATI, P. M., COVINI, G., DE VALLE, G., LARGHI, A., ZUIN, M. & PODDA, M. (1997). Comparison of the clinical features and clinical course of antimitochondrial antibody-positive and -negative primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 25, 1090-1095.
- JAMES, J. A., KAUFMAN, K. M., FARRIS, A. D., TAYLOR-ALBERT, E., LEHMAN, T. J. & HARLEY, J. B. (1997). An increased prevalence of Epstein-Barr virus infection in young patients suggests a possible etiology for systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Clin Invest* 100, 3019-3026.
- JAMES, J. A. & HARLEY, J. B. (1998). B-cell epitope spreading in autoimmunity. Immunol Rev 164, 185-200.
- JAMES, J. A., HARLEY, J. B. & SCOFIELD, R. H. (2001a). Role of viruses in systemic lupus erythematosus and Sjogren syndrome. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 13, 370-376.
- JAMES, J. A., NEAS, B. R., MOSER, K. L., HALL, T., BRUNER, G. R., SESTAK, A. L. & HARLEY, J. B. (2001b). Systemic lupus erythematosus in adults is associated with previous Epstein-Barr virus exposure. *Arthritis Rheum* 44, 1122-1126.
- JAMES, O. F., BHOPAL, R., HOWEL, D., GRAY, J., BURT, A. D. & METCALF, J. V. (1999). Primary biliary cirrhosis once rare, now common in the United Kingdom? *Hepatology* 30, 390-394.
- JAMES, W. H. (1996). Review of the contribution of twin studies in the search for nongenetic causes of multiple sclerosis. *Neuroepidemiology* 15, 132-141.
- JEFFERIS, R. (1990). Structure-function relationships of IgG subclasses. In *Structure-Function Relationships of IgG Subclasses*. ed. SHAKIB, F., pp. 93-108. Pergamon Press, Oxford.
- JONES, D. E., PALMER, J. M., JAMES, O. F., YEAMAN, S. J., BASSENDINE, M. F. & DIAMOND, A. G. (1995). T-cell responses to the components of pyruvate dehydrogenase complex in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* **21**, 995-1002.
- JONES, D. E., WATT, F. E., METCALF, J. V., BASSENDINE, M. F. & JAMES, O. F. (1999). Familial primary biliary cirrhosis reassessed: a geographically-based population study. J Hepatol 30, 402-407.
- JONES, D. E. (2003). Pathogenesis of primary biliary cirrhosis. J Hepatol 39, 639-648.
- JUNG, T., SCHAUER, U., HEUSSER, C., NEUMANN, C. & RIEGER, C. (1993). Detection of intracellular cytokines by flow cytometry. *J Immunol Methods* 159, 197-207.
- KAHLON, J., LAKEMAN, F. D., ACKERMANN, M. & WHITLEY, R. J. (1986). Human antibody response to herpes simplex virus-specific polypeptides after primary and recurrent infection. *J Clin Microbiol* 23, 725-730.
- KAMMER, A. R., VAN DER BURG, S. H., GRABSCHEID, B., HUNZIKER, I. P., KWAPPENBERG, K. M., REICHEN, J., MELIEF, C. J. & CERNY, A. (1999).

Molecular mimicry of human cytochrome P450 by hepatitis C virus at the level of cytotoxic T cell recognition. *J Exp Med* **190**, 169-176.

- KAMRADT, T. & MITCHISON, N. A. (2001). Tolerance and autoimmunity. N Engl J Med 344, 655-664.
- KAPLAN, M. M. (1996). Primary biliary cirrhosis. N Engl J Med 335, 1570-1580.
- KERKAR, N., CHOUDHURI, K., MA, Y., MAHMOUD, A., BOGDANOS, D. P., MURATORI, L., BIANCHI, F., WILLIAMS, R., MIELI-VERGANI, G. & VERGANI, D. (2003). Cytochrome P4502D6(193-212): a new immunodominant epitope and target of virus/self cross-reactivity in liver kidney microsomal autoantibody type 1positive liver disease. J Immunol 170, 1481-1489.
- KIERSZENBAUM, F. (1999). Chagas' disease and the autoimmunity hypothesis. Clin Microbiol Rev 12, 210-223.
- KIM, W. R., LINDOR, K. D., LOCKE, G. R., 3RD, THERNEAU, T. M., HOMBURGER, H. A., BATTS, K. P., YAWN, B. P., PETZ, J. L., MELTON, L. J., 3RD & DICKSON, E. R. (2000). Epidemiology and natural history of primary biliary cirrhosis in a US community. *Gastroenterology* 119, 1631-1636.
- KIM, Y. I., LEVCHENKO, I., FRACZKOWSKA, K., WOODRUFF, R. V., SAUER, R. T. & BAKER, T. A. (2001). Molecular determinants of complex formation between Clp/Hsp100 ATPases and the ClpP peptidase. *Nat Struct Biol* 8, 230-233.
- KIMMEL, B., BOSSERHOFF, A., FRANK, R., GROSS, R., GOEBEL, W. & BEIER, D. (2000). Identification of immunodominant antigens from Helicobacter pylori and evaluation of their reactivities with sera from patients with different gastroduodenal pathologies. *Infect Immun* 68, 915-920.
- KINGHAM, J. G. & PARKER, D. R. (1998). The association between primary biliary cirrhosis and coeliac disease: a study of relative prevalences. Gut 42, 120-122.
- KINOSHITA, H., OMAGARI, K., WHITTINGHAM, S., KATO, Y., ISHIBASHI, H., SUGI, K., YANO, M., KOHNO, S., NAKANUMA, Y., PENNER, E., WESIERSKA-GADEK, J., REYNOSO-PAZ, S., GERSHWIN, M. E., ANDERSON, J., JOIS, J. A. & MACKAY, I. R. (1999). Autoimmune cholangitis and primary biliary cirrhosis--an autoimmune enigma. *Liver* 19, 122-128.
- KISAND, K. E., KISAND, K. V., KARVONEN, A. L., VUORISTO, M., MATTILA, J., MAKINEN, J. & UIBO, R. (1998). Antibodies to pyruvate dehydrogenase in primary biliary cirrhosis: correlation with histology. *Apmis* **106**, 884-892.
- KISAND, K. E., METSKULA, K., KISAND, K. V., KIVIK, T., GERSHWIN, M. E. & UIBO, R. (2001). The follow-up of asymptomatic persons with antibodies to pyruvate dehydrogenase in adult population samples. *J Gastroenterol* **36**, 248-254.

- KITA, H., MACKAY, I. R., VAN DE WATER, J. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (2001). The lymphoid liver: considerations on pathways to autoimmune injury. *Gastroenterology* **120**, 1485-1501.
- KITA, H., LIAN, Z. X., VAN DE WATER, J., HE, X. S., MATSUMURA, S., KAPLAN, M., LUKETIC, V., COPPEL, R. L., ANSARI, A. A. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (2002a). Identification of HLA-A2-restricted CD8(+) cytotoxic T cell responses in primary biliary cirrhosis: T cell activation is augmented by immune complexes cross-presented by dendritic cells. J Exp Med 195, 113-123.
- KITA, H., MATSUMURA, S., HE, X. S., ANSARI, A. A., LIAN, Z. X., VAN DE WATER, J., COPPEL, R. L., KAPLAN, M. M. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (2002b). Analysis of TCR antagonism and molecular mimicry of an HLA-A0201-restricted CTL epitope in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 36, 918-926.
- KITAMI, N., KOMADA, T., ISHII, H., SHIMIZU, H., ADACHI, H., YAMAGUCHI, Y., KITAMURA, T., OIDE, H., MIYAZAKI, A., ISHIKAWA, M. & ET AL. (1995). Immunological study of anti-M2 in antimitochondrial antibody-negative primary biliary cirrhosis. *Intern Med* 34, 496-501.
- KITZE, B., PETTE, M., ROHRBACH, E., STADT, D., KAPPOS, L. & WEKERLE, H. (1988). Myelin-specific T lymphocytes in multiple sclerosis patients and healthy individuals. *J Neuroimmunol* 20, 237.
- KLEIN, R., WIEBEL, M., ENGELHART, S. & BERG, P. A. (1993). Sera from patients with tuberculosis recognize the M2a-epitope (E2-subunit of pyruvate dehydrogenase) specific for primary biliary cirrhosis. *Clin Exp Immunol* **92**, 308-316.
- KNOLLE, P. A. & GERKEN, G. (2000). Local control of the immune response in the liver. Immunol Rev 174, 21-34.
- KRAMS, S. M., SURH, C. D., COPPEL, R. L., ANSARI, A., RUEBNER, B. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1989). Immunization of experimental animals with dihydrolipoamide acetyltransferase, as a purified recombinant polypeptide, generates mitochondrial antibodies but not primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 9, 411-416.
- KUHN, J. E., DUNKLER, G., MUNK, K. & BRAUN, R. W. (1987). Analysis of the IgM and IgG antibody response against herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) structural and nonstructural proteins. *J Med Virol* 23, 135-150.
- KURTZKE, J. F. (1993). Epidemiologic evidence for multiple sclerosis as an infection. Clin Microbiol Rev 6, 382-427.
- LACERDA, M. A., LUDWIG, J., DICKSON, E. R., JORGENSEN, R. A. & LINDOR, K. D. (1995). Antimitochondrial antibody-negative primary biliary cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 90, 247-249.
- LAEMMLI, U. K. (1970). Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature* 227, 680-685.

- LANDSCHULZ, W. H., JOHNSON, P. F. & MCKNIGHT, S. L. (1988). The leucine zipper: a hypothetical structure common to a new class of DNA binding proteins. *Science* **240**, 1759-1764.
- LAVER, W. G., AIR, G. M., WEBSTER, R. G. & SMITH-GILL, S. J. (1990). Epitopes on protein antigens: misconceptions and realities. *Cell* **61**, 553-556.
- LE DANTEC, C., DUGUET, J. P., MONTIEL, A., DUMOUTIER, N., DUBROU, S. & VINCENT, V. (2002). Occurrence of mycobacteria in water treatment lines and in water distribution systems. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **68**, 5318-5325.
- LEHMANN, P. V., FORSTHUBER, T., MILLER, A. & SERCARZ, E. E. (1992). Spreading of T-cell autoimmunity to cryptic determinants of an autoantigen. *Nature* **358**, 155-157.
- LEHMANN, P. V., TARGONI, O. S. & FORSTHUBER, T. G. (1998). Shifting T-cell activation thresholds in autoimmunity and determinant spreading. *Immunol Rev* 164, 53-61.
- LENSCHOW, D. J., WALUNAS, T. L. & BLUESTONE, J. A. (1996). CD28/B7 system of T cell costimulation. Annu Rev Immunol 14, 233-258.
- LENZI, M., BALLARDINI, G., FUSCONI, M., CASSANI, F., SELLERI, L., VOLTA, U., ZAULI, D. & BIANCHI, F. B. (1990). Type 2 autoimmune hepatitis and hepatitis C virus infection. *Lancet* 335, 258-259.
- LENZI, M., BELLENTANI, S., SACCOCCIO, G., MURATORI, P., MASUTTI, F., MURATORI, L., CASSANI, F., BIANCHI, F. B. & TIRIBELLI, C. (1999). Prevalence of nonorgan-specific autoantibodies and chronic liver disease in the general population: a nested case-control study of the Dionysos cohort. Gut 45, 435-441.
- LEUNG, P. S., IWAYAMA, T., COPPEL, R. L. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1990). Site-directed mutagenesis of lysine within the immunodominant autoepitope of PDC-E2. *Hepatology* 12, 1321-1328.
- LEUNG, P. S., CHUANG, D. T., WYNN, R. M., CHA, S., DANNER, D. J., ANSARI, A., COPPEL, R. L. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1995). Autoantibodies to BCOADC-E2 in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis recognize a conformational epitope. *Hepatology* 22, 505-513.
- LEUNG, P. S., COPPEL, R. L., ANSARI, A., MUNOZ, S. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1997). Antimitochondrial antibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Semin Liver Dis* 17, 61-69.
- LIANG, B. & MAMULA, M. J. (2000). Molecular mimicry and the role of B lymphocytes in the processing of autoantigens. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 57, 561-568.

- LIN, T. T., YEH, C. T., WU, C. S. & LIAW, Y. F. (1995). Detection and partial sequence analysis of Helicobacter pylori DNA in the bile samples. *Dig Dis Sci* 40, 2214-2219.
- LINDENBORN-FOTINOS, J., BAUM, H. & BERG, P. A. (1985). Mitochondrial antibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis: species and nonspecies specific determinants of M2 antigen. *Hepatology* 5, 763-769.
- LIPHAM, W. J., REDMOND, T. M., TAKAHASHI, H., BERZOFSKY, J. A., WIGGERT, B., CHADER, G. J. & GERY, I. (1991). Recognition of peptides that are immunopathogenic but cryptic. Mechanisms that allow lymphocytes sensitized against cryptic peptides to initiate pathogenic autoimmune processes. *J Immunol* 146, 3757-3762.
- LIU, Z. X. & KAPLOWITZ, N. (2002). Immune-mediated drug-induced liver disease. *Clin Liver Dis* 6, 467-486.
- LOBO-YEO, A., SENALDI, G., PORTMANN, B., MOWAT, A. P., MIELI-VERGANI, G. & VERGANI, D. (1990). Class I and class II major histocompatibility complex antigen expression on hepatocytes: a study in children with liver disease. *Hepatology* 12, 224-232.
- LONGHI, M. S., MA, Y., BOGDANOS, D. P., CHEESEMAN, P., MIELI-VERGANI, G. & VERGANI, D. (2004). Impairment of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T-cells in autoimmune liver disease. *J Hepatol* **41**, 31-37.
- LOPES, A. R., JAYE, A., DORRELL, L., SABALLY, S., ALABI, A., JONES, N. A., FLOWER, D. R., DE GROOT, A., NEWTON, P., LASCAR, R. M., WILLIAMS, I., WHITTLE, H., BERTOLETTI, A., BORROW, P. & MAINI, M. K. (2003). Greater CD8+ TCR heterogeneity and functional flexibility in HIV-2 compared to HIV-1 infection. J Immunol 171, 307-316.
- LUNEL, F., ABUAF, N., FRANGEUL, L., GRIPPON, P., PERRIN, M., LE COZ, Y., VALLA, D., BOROTTO, E., YAMAMOTO, A. M., HURAUX, J. M. & ET AL. (1992). Liver/kidney microsome antibody type 1 and hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 16, 630-636.
- MAASSEN, C. B., VAN HOLTEN-NEELEN, C., BALK, F., DEN BAK-GLASHOUWER, M. J., LEER, R. J., LAMAN, J. D., BOERSMA, W. J. & CLAASSEN, E. (2000). Straindependent induction of cytokine profiles in the gut by orally administered Lactobacillus strains. *Vaccine* 18, 2613-2623.
- MAASSEN, C. B., BOERSMA, W. J., VAN HOLTEN-NEELEN, C., CLAASSEN, E. & LAMAN, J. D. (2003). Growth phase of orally administered Lactobacillus strains differentially affects IgG1/IgG2a ratio for soluble antigens: implications for vaccine development. *Vaccine* 21, 2751-2757.
- MACKAY, I. (1958). Primary biliary cirrhosis showing a high titre of autoantibody: report of a case of a study. N Engl J Med 258, 185-188.

- MACKAY, I. R., WHITTINGHAM, S., FIDA, S., MYERS, M., IKUNO, N., GERSHWIN, M. E. & ROWLEY, M. J. (2000). The peculiar autoimmunity of primary biliary cirrhosis. *Immunol Rev* 174, 226-237.
- MACKAY, I. R. (2002). Hepatoimmunology: a perspective. Immunol Cell Biol 80, 36-44.
- MACKIE, F. D., PEAKMAN, M., YUN, M., SALLIE, R., SMITH, H., DAVIES, E. T., MIELI-VERGANI, G. & VERGANI, D. (1994). Primary and secondary liver/kidney microsomal autoantibody response following infection with hepatitis C virus. *Gastroenterology* **106**, 1672-1675.
- MAHL, T. C., SHOCKCOR, W. & BOYER, J. L. (1994). Primary biliary cirrhosis: survival of a large cohort of symptomatic and asymptomatic patients followed for 24 years. *J Hepatol* **20**, 707-713.
- MAHON, B. P., KATRAK, K., NOMOTO, A., MACADAM, A. J., MINOR, P. D. & MILLS, K.
 H. (1995). Poliovirus-specific CD4+ Th1 clones with both cytotoxic and helper activity mediate protective humoral immunity against a lethal poliovirus infection in transgenic mice expressing the human poliovirus receptor. J Exp Med 181, 1285-1292.
- MAILLEFERT, J. F., SIBILIA, J., TOUSSIROT, E., VIGNON, E., ESCHARD, J. P., LORCERIE,
 B., JUVIN, R., PARCHIN-GENESTE, N., PIROTH, C., WENDLING, D., KUNTZ, J. L.,
 TAVERNIER, C. & GAUDIN, P. (1999). Rheumatic disorders developed after
 hepatitis B vaccination. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 38, 978-983.
- MAINI, M. K., BONI, C., OGG, G. S., KING, A. S., REIGNAT, S., LEE, C. K., LARRUBIA, J. R., WEBSTER, G. J., MCMICHAEL, A. J., FERRARI, C., WILLIAMS, R., VERGANI, D. & BERTOLETTI, A. (1999). Direct ex vivo analysis of hepatitis B virus-specific CD8(+) T cells associated with the control of infection. Gastroenterology 117, 1386-1396.
- MAINI, M. K., BONI, C., LEE, C. K., LARRUBIA, J. R., REIGNAT, S., OGG, G. S., KING, A. S., HERBERG, J., GILSON, R., ALISA, A., WILLIAMS, R., VERGANI, D., NAOUMOV, N. V., FERRARI, C. & BERTOLETTI, A. (2000). The role of virusspecific CD8(+) cells in liver damage and viral control during persistent hepatitis B virus infection. J Exp Med 191, 1269-1280.
- MANNS, M., ZANGER, U., GERKEN, G., SULLIVAN, K. F., MEYER ZUM BUSCHENFELDE, K. H., MEYER, U. A. & EICHELBAUM, M. (1990). Patients with type II autoimmune hepatitis express functionally intact cytochrome P-450 db1 that is inhibited by LKM-1 autoantibodies in vitro but not in vivo. *Hepatology* 12, 127-132.
- MANNS, M. P., GRIFFIN, K. J., SULLIVAN, K. F. & JOHNSON, E. F. (1991). LKM-1 autoantibodies recognize a short linear sequence in P450IID6, a cytochrome P-450 monooxygenase. *J Clin Invest* 88, 1370-1378.
- MANNS, M. P. & OBERMAYER-STRAUB, P. (1997). Cytochromes P450 and uridine triphosphate-glucuronosyltransferases: model autoantigens to study drug-

induced, virus-induced, and autoimmune liver disease. *Hepatology* 26, 1054-1066.

- MARCELLIN, P., POUTEAU, M. & BENHAMOU, J. P. (1995). Hepatitis C virus infection, alpha interferon therapy and thyroid dysfunction. *J Hepatol* 22, 364-369.
- MARKOVIC-PLESE, S., FUKAURA, H., ZHANG, J., AL-SABBAGH, A., SOUTHWOOD, S., SETTE, A., KUCHROO, V. K. & HAFLER, D. A. (1995). T cell recognition of immunodominant and cryptic proteolipid protein epitopes in humans. *J Immunol* **155**, 982-992.
- MARTIN CASABONA, N. & ROSSELLO URGELL, J. (2000). [Environmental mycobacteria in Spain: isolations in the 1976-1996 period]. *Med Clin (Barc)* **115**, 663-670.
- MARTIN, R., MCFARLAND, H. F. & MCFARLIN, D. E. (1992). Immunological aspects of demyelinating diseases. Annu Rev Immunol 10, 153-187.
- MARTINON, F. & TSCHOPP, J. (2004). Inflammatory caspases: linking an intracellular innate immune system to autoinflammatory diseases. *Cell* **117**, 561-574.
- MATHIS, D. & BENOIST, C. (2004). Back to central tolerance. Immunity 20, 509-516.
- MATSUI, M., NAKAMURA, M., ISHIBASHI, H., KOIKE, K., KUDO, J. & NIHO, Y. (1993). Human monoclonal antibodies from a patient with primary biliary cirrhosis that recognize two distinct autoepitopes in the E2 component of the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex. *Hepatology* **18**, 1069-1077.
- MAYO, I., ARIZTI, P., PARES, A., OLIVA, J., DOFORNO, R. A., DE SAGARRA, M. R., RODES, J. & CASTANO, J. G. (2000). Antibodies against the COOH-terminal region of E. coli ClpP protease in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. J Hepatol 33, 528-536.
- MCCLUSKEY, J., FARRIS, A. D., KEECH, C. L., PURCELL, A. W., RISCHMUELLER, M., KINOSHITA, G., REYNOLDS, P. & GORDON, T. P. (1998). Determinant spreading: lessons from animal models and human disease. *Immunol Rev* 164, 209-229.
- MEHAL, W. Z., AZZAROLI, F. & CRISPE, I. N. (2001). Immunology of the healthy liver: old questions and new insights. *Gastroenterology* **120**, 250-260.
- MEHTA, S., LEVEY, J. M. & BONKOVSKY, H. L. (2001). Extrahepatic manifestations of infection with hepatitis C virus. *Clin Liver Dis* 5, 979-1008.
- MENSER, M. A., FORREST, J. M. & BRANSBY, R. D. (1978). Rubella infection and diabetes mellitus. *Lancet* 1, 57-60.
- METCALF, J. V., MITCHISON, H. C., PALMER, J. M., JONES, D. E., BASSENDINE, M. F. & JAMES, O. F. (1996). Natural history of early primary biliary cirrhosis. *Lancet* 348, 1399-1402.

- METCALF, J. & JAMES, O. (1997). The geoepidemiology of primary biliary cirrhosis. Semin Liver Dis 17, 13-22.
- MICHIELETTI, P., WANLESS, I. R., KATZ, A., SCHEUER, P. J., YEAMAN, S. J., BASSENDINE, M. F., PALMER, J. M. & HEATHCOTE, E. J. (1994). Antimitochondrial antibody negative primary biliary cirrhosis: a distinct syndrome of autoimmune cholangitis. *Gut* 35, 260-265.
- MICHITAKA, K., DURAZZO, M., TILLMANN, H. L., WALKER, D., PHILIPP, T. & MANNS, M. P. (1994). Analysis of hepatitis C virus genome in patients with autoimmune hepatitis type 2. *Gastroenterology* **106**, 1603-1610.
- MILLER, J. F. & DAVIES, J. S. (1964). Embryological Development of the Immune Mechanism. Annu Rev Med 15, 23-36.
- MILLER, J. F. & MORAHAN, G. (1992). Peripheral T cell tolerance. Annu Rev Immunol 10, 51-69.
- MILLER, J. F. & BASTEN, A. (1996). Mechanisms of tolerance to self. Curr Opin Immunol 8, 815-821.
- MILLER, S. D., VANDERLUGT, C. L., BEGOLKA, W. S., PAO, W., YAUCH, R. L., NEVILLE, K. L., KATZ-LEVY, Y., CARRIZOSA, A. & KIM, B. S. (1997). Persistent infection with Theiler's virus leads to CNS autoimmunity via epitope spreading. *Nat Med* 3, 1133-1136.
- MISAKI, Y., YAMAMOTO, K., YANAGI, K., MIURA, H., ICHIJO, H., KATO, T., MATO, T., WELLING-WESTER, S., NISHIOKA, K. & ITO, K. (1993). B cell epitope on the U1 snRNP-C autoantigen contains a sequence similar to that of the herpes simplex virus protein. *Eur J Immunol* 23, 1064-1071.
- MITCHISON, H. C., BASSENDINE, M. F., HENDRICK, A., BENNETT, M. K., BIRD, G., WATSON, A. J. & JAMES, O. F. (1986). Positive antimitochondrial antibody but normal alkaline phosphatase: is this primary biliary cirrhosis? *Hepatology* 6, 1279-1284.
- MIYAKAWA, H., TANAKA, A., KIKUCHI, K., MATSUSHITA, M., KITAZAWA, E., KAWAGUCHI, N., FUJIKAWA, H. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (2001). Detection of antimitochondrial autoantibodies in immunofluorescent AMA-negative patients with primary biliary cirrhosis using recombinant autoantigens. *Hepatology* 34, 243-248.
- MIZUKI, N., INOKO, H., TANAKA, H., KERA, J., TSUIJI, K. & OHNO, S. (1992). Human leukocyte antigen serologic and DNA typing of Behcet's disease and its primary association with B51. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* **33**, 3332-3340.
- MIZUKI, N., OTA, M., YABUKI, K., KATSUYAMA, Y., ANDO, H., PALIMERIS, G. D., KAKLAMANI, E., ACCORINTI, M., PIVETTI-PEZZI, P., OHNO, S. & INOKO, H. (2000). Localization of the pathogenic gene of Behcet's disease by microsatellite analysis of three different populations. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* **41**, 3702-3708.

- MONSTEIN, H. J., JONSSON, Y., ZDOLSEK, J. & SVANVIK, J. (2002). Identification of Helicobacter pylori DNA in human cholesterol gallstones. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 37, 112-119.
- MOSMANN, T. R. & COFFMAN, R. L. (1989). TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Annu Rev Immunol* 7, 145-173.
- MOTEKI, S., LEUNG, P. S., COPPEL, R. L., DICKSON, E. R., KAPLAN, M. M., MUNOZ, S. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1996a). Use of a designer triple expression hybrid clone for three different lipoyl domain for the detection of antimitochondrial autoantibodies. *Hepatology* 24, 97-103.
- MOTEKI, S., LEUNG, P. S., DICKSON, E. R., VAN THIEL, D. H., GALPERIN, C., BUCH, T., ALARCON-SEGOVIA, D., KERSHENOBICH, D., KAWANO, K., COPPEL, R. L. & ET AL. (1996b). Epitope mapping and reactivity of autoantibodies to the E2 component of 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex in primary biliary cirrhosis using recombinant 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex. *Hepatology* 23, 436-444.
- MUELLER, D. L., JENKINS, M. K. & SCHWARTZ, R. H. (1989). Clonal expansion versus functional clonal inactivation: a costimulatory signalling pathway determines the outcome of T cell antigen receptor occupancy. *Annu Rev Immunol* 7, 445-480.
- MURAKAMI, M., NAKAJIMA, K., YAMAZAKI, K., MURAGUCHI, T., SERIKAWA, T. & HONJO, T. (1997). Effects of breeding environments on generation and activation of autoreactive B-1 cells in anti-red blood cell autoantibody transgenic mice. J Exp Med 185, 791-794.
- MURATORI, L., LENZI, M., CATALETA, M., GIOSTRA, F., CASSANI, F., BALLARDINI, G., ZAULI, D. & BIANCHI, F. B. (1994). Interferon therapy in liver/kidney microsomal antibody type 1-positive patients with chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol 21, 199-203.
- MURATORI, L., LENZI, M., MA, Y., CATALETA, M., MIELI-VERGANI, G., VERGANI, D. & BIANCHI, F. B. (1995). Heterogeneity of liver/kidney microsomal antibody type 1 in autoimmune hepatitis and hepatitis C virus related liver disease. *Gut* 37, 406-412.
- MURATORI, L., PAROLA, M., RIPALTI, A., ROBINO, G., MURATORI, P., BELLOMO, G., CARINI, R., LENZI, M., LANDINI, M. P., ALBANO, E. & BIANCHI, F. B. (2000). Liver/kidney microsomal antibody type 1 targets CYP2D6 on hepatocyte plasma membrane. *Gut* 46, 553-561.
- MURATORI, P., MURATORI, L., FERRARI, R., CASSANI, F., BIANCHI, G., LENZI, M., RODRIGO, L., LINARES, A., FUENTES, D. & BIANCHI, F. B. (2003a). Characterization and clinical impact of antinuclear antibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Am J Gastroenterol* **98**, 431-437.

- MURATORI, P., MURATORI, L., VERUCCHI, G., ATTARD, L., BIANCHI, F. B. & LENZI, M. (2003b). Non-organ-specific autoantibodies in children with chronic hepatitis C: clinical significance and impact on interferon treatment. *Clin Infect Dis* 37, 1320-1326.
- NAKAJIMA, M., SHIMIZU, H., MIYAZAKI, A., WATANABE, S., KITAMI, N. & SATO, N. (1999). Detection of IgA, IgM, and IgG subclasses of anti-M2 antibody by immunoblotting in autoimmune cholangitis: is autoimmune cholangitis an early stage of primary biliary cirrhosis? J Gastroenterol 34, 607-612.
- NAKANUMA, Y., HARADA, K., KAJI, K., TERASAKI, S., TSUNEYAMA, K., MOTEKI, S., VAN DE WATER, J., LEUNG, P. S. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1997). Clinicopathological study of primary biliary cirrhosis negative for antimitochondrial antibodies. *Liver* 17, 281-287.
- NAQUET, P., ELLIS, J., TIBENSKY, D., KENSHOLE, A., SINGH, B., HODGES, R. & DELOVITCH, T. L. (1988). T cell autoreactivity to insulin in diabetic and related non-diabetic individuals. *J Immunol* 140, 2569-2578.
- NEMAZEE, D. (2000). Receptor selection in B and T lymphocytes. Annu Rev Immunol 18, 19-51.
- NEUBERGER, J. (1997). Primary biliary cirrhosis. Lancet 350, 875-879.
- NEUBERGER, J. & THOMSON, R. (1999). PBC and AMA--what is the connection? *Hepatology* 29, 271-276.
- NICHOLSON, J., KIDD, P., MANDY, F., LIVNAT, D. & KAGAN, J. (1996). Three-color supplement to the NIAID DAIDS guideline for flow cytometric immunophenotyping. *Cytometry* **26**, 227-230.
- NILSSON, H. O., CASTEDAL, M., OLSSON, R. & WADSTROM, T. (1999). Detection of Helicobacter in the liver of patients with chronic cholestatic liver diseases. J Physiol Pharmacol 50, 875-882.
- NILSSON, H. O., TANEERA, J., CASTEDAL, M., GLATZ, E., OLSSON, R. & WADSTROM, T. (2000a). Identification of Helicobacter pylori and other Helicobacter species by PCR, hybridization, and partial DNA sequencing in human liver samples from patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis or primary biliary cirrhosis. J Clin Microbiol 38, 1072-1076.
- NILSSON, I., LINDGREN, S., ERIKSSON, S. & WADSTROM, T. (2000b). Serum antibodies to Helicobacter hepaticus and Helicobacter pylori in patients with chronic liver disease. *Gut* **46**, 410-414.
- NISHIO, A., VAN DE WATER, J., LEUNG, P. S., JOPLIN, R., NEUBERGER, J. M., LAKE, J., BJORKLAND, A., TOTTERMAN, T. H., PETERS, M., WORMAN, H. J., ANSARI, A.
 A., COPPEL, R. L. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1997). Comparative studies of antimitochondrial autoantibodies in sera and bile in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 25, 1085-1089.

- NISHIOKA, M., MORSHED, S. A., KONO, K., HIMOTO, T., PARVEEN, S., ARIMA, K., WATANABE, S. & MANNS, M. P. (1997). Frequency and significance of antibodies to P450IID6 protein in Japanese patients with chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol 26, 992-1000.
- NORRIS, S., COLLINS, C., DOHERTY, D. G., SMITH, F., MCENTEE, G., TRAYNOR, O., NOLAN, N., HEGARTY, J. & O'FARRELLY, C. (1998). Resident human hepatic lymphocytes are phenotypically different from circulating lymphocytes. J Hepatol 28, 84-90.
- NORRIS, S., DOHERTY, D. G., COLLINS, C., MCENTEE, G., TRAYNOR, O., HEGARTY, J. E. & O'FARRELLY, C. (1999). Natural T cells in the human liver: cytotoxic lymphocytes with dual T cell and natural killer cell phenotype and function are phenotypically heterogenous and include Valpha24-JalphaQ and gammadelta T cell receptor bearing cells. *Hum Immunol* 60, 20-31.
- NOVOTNY, J. (1991). Protein antigenicity: a thermodynamic approach. *Mol Immunol* 28, 201-207.
- OBERMAYER-STRAUB, P. & MANNS, M. P. (2001). Hepatitis C and D, retroviruses and autoimmune manifestations. J Autoimmun 16, 275-285.
- O'DONOHUE, J., MCFARLANE, B., BOMFORD, A., YATES, M. & WILLIAMS, R. (1994). Antibodies to atypical mycobacteria in primary biliary cirrhosis. *J Hepatol* 21, 887-889.
- OHASHI, P. S. & DEFRANCO, A. L. (2002). Making and breaking tolerance. Curr Opin Immunol 14, 744-759.
- OHNO, S., OHGUCHI, M., HIROSE, S., MATSUDA, H., WAKISAKA, A. & AIZAWA, M. (1982). Close association of HLA-Bw51 with Behcet's disease. Arch Ophthalmol 100, 1455-1458.
- OLDSTONE, M. B. (1987). Molecular mimicry and autoimmune disease. Cell 50, 819-820.
- OLDSTONE, M. B. (1989). Molecular mimicry as a mechanism for the cause and a probe uncovering etiologic agent(s) of autoimmune disease. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 145, 127-135.
- OLDSTONE, M. B. (1998). Molecular mimicry and immune-mediated diseases. Faseb J 12, 1255-1265.
- OPENSHAW, P., MURPHY, E. E., HOSKEN, N. A., MAINO, V., DAVIS, K., MURPHY, K. & O'GARRA, A. (1995). Heterogeneity of intracellular cytokine synthesis at the single-cell level in polarized T helper 1 and T helper 2 populations. J Exp Med 182, 1357-1367.

- OPFERMAN, J. T. & KORSMEYER, S. J. (2003). Apoptosis in the development and maintenance of the immune system. *Nat Immunol* **4**, 410-415.
- PALMER, J. M., JONES, D. E., QUINN, J., MCHUGH, A. & YEAMAN, S. J. (1999). Characterization of the autoantibody responses to recombinant E3 binding protein (protein X) of pyruvate dehydrogenase in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 30, 21-26.
- PANOUTSAKOPOULOU, V., SANCHIRICO, M. E., HUSTER, K. M., JANSSON, M., GRANUCCI, F., SHIM, D. J., WUCHERPFENNIG, K. W. & CANTOR, H. (2001). Analysis of the relationship between viral infection and autoimmune disease. *Immunity* 15, 137-147.
- PAPPO, J., THOMAS, W. D., JR., KABOK, Z., TAYLOR, N. S., MURPHY, J. C. & FOX, J. G. (1995). Effect of oral immunization with recombinant urease on murine Helicobacter felis gastritis. *Infect Immun* 63, 1246-1252.
- PARIKH-PATEL, A., GOLD, E. B., WORMAN, H., KRIVY, K. E. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (2001). Risk factors for primary biliary cirrhosis in a cohort of patients from the united states. *Hepatology* 33, 16-21.
- PATEL, T. (2000). Apoptosis in hepatic pathophysiology. Clin Liver Dis 4, 295-317.
- PERDIGON, G., MALDONADO GALDEANO, C., VALDEZ, J. C. & MEDICI, M. (2002). Interaction of lactic acid bacteria with the gut immune system. *Eur J Clin Nutr* **56 Suppl 4,** S21-26.
- PICKER, L. J., SINGH, M. K., ZDRAVESKI, Z., TREER, J. R., WALDROP, S. L., BERGSTRESSER, P. R. & MAINO, V. C. (1995). Direct demonstration of cytokine synthesis heterogeneity among human memory/effector T cells by flow cytometry. *Blood* 86, 1408-1419.
- PIRISI, M., FERRONI, P., FABRIS, C., TONIUTTO, P., SOARDO, G., VITULLI, D., GASPARINI, V. & BARTOLI, E. (1995). Anti-envelope antibodies in anti-hepatitis C virus (HCV) positive patients with and without liver disease. *Infection* 23, 24-28.
- PLEBANSKI, M. (2000). Preperation of lymphocytes and identification of lymphocyte subpopulations. In Lymphocytes: a practical approach, vol. 1. ed. ROWLAND-JONES, S. L. & MCMICHAEL, A. J., pp. 1-26. Oxford University press, Oxford.
- POIRRIEZ, J. (2004). A preliminary experiment of absorption of antinuclear antibodies by the hepatitis B vaccine components, in a case of neurolupus. *Vaccine* 22, 3166-3168.
- POWRIE, F., CARLINO, J., LEACH, M. W., MAUZE, S. & COFFMAN, R. L. (1996). A critical role for transforming growth factor-beta but not interleukin 4 in the suppression of T helper type 1-mediated colitis by CD45RB(low) CD4+ T cells. *J Exp Med* 183, 2669-2674.

- PRIMI, D., HAMMARSTROM, L., SMITH, C. I. & MOLLER, G. (1977). Characterization of self-reactive B cells by polyclonal B-cell activators. *J Exp Med* **145**, 21-30.
- PRINCE, M. I., CHETWYND, A., DIGGLE, P., JARNER, M., METCALF, J. V. & JAMES, O. F. (2001). The geographical distribution of primary biliary cirrhosis in a welldefined cohort. *Hepatology* 34, 1083-1088.
- PRUSSIN, C. & METCALFE, D. D. (1995). Detection of intracytoplasmic cytokine using flow cytometry and directly conjugated anti-cytokine antibodies. J Immunol Methods 188, 117-128.
- QUARATINO, S., THORPE, C. J., TRAVERS, P. J. & LONDEI, M. (1995). Similar antigenic surfaces, rather than sequence homology, dictate T-cell epitope molecular mimicry. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **92**, 10398-10402.
- QUILL, H. (1996). Anergy as a mechanism of peripheral T cell tolerance. J Immunol 156, 1325-1327.
- QUINN, J., DIAMOND, A. G., PALMER, J. M., BASSENDINE, M. F., JAMES, O. F. & YEAMAN, S. J. (1993). Lipoylated and unlipoylated domains of human PDC-E2 as autoantigens in primary biliary cirrhosis: significance of lipoate attachment. *Hepatology* **18**, 1384-1391.
- RAINE, C. S. & BORNSTEIN, M. B. (1970). Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: a light and electron microscope study of remyelination and "sclerosis" in vitro. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 29, 552-574.
- RATHMELL, J. C., TOWNSEND, S. E., XU, J. C., FLAVELL, R. A. & GOODNOW, C. C. (1996). Expansion or elimination of B cells in vivo: dual roles for CD40- and Fas (CD95)-ligands modulated by the B cell antigen receptor. *Cell* 87, 319-329.
- RATHMELL, J. C. & THOMPSON, C. B. (2002). Pathways of apoptosis in lymphocyte development, homeostasis, and disease. *Cell* **109 Suppl,** S97-107.
- RAVEL, G., CHRIST, M., HORAND, F. & DESCOTES, J. (2004). Autoimmunity, environmental exposure and vaccination: is there a link? *Toxicology* **196**, 211-216.
- RAY, R., KHANNA, A., LAGGING, L. M., MEYER, K., CHOO, Q. L., RALSTON, R., HOUGHTON, M. & BECHERER, P. R. (1994). Peptide immunogen mimicry of putative E1 glycoprotein-specific epitopes in hepatitis C virus. J Virol 68, 4420-4426.
- REFAELI, Y., VAN PARIJS, L., LONDON, C. A., TSCHOPP, J. & ABBAS, A. K. (1998). Biochemical mechanisms of IL-2-regulated Fas-mediated T cell apoptosis. *Immunity* 8, 615-623.
- REYNOSO-PAZ, S., COPPEL, R. L., MACKAY, I. R., BASS, N. M., ANSARI, A. A. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1999). The immunobiology of bile and biliary epithelium. *Hepatology* **30**, 351-357.

- REYNOSO-PAZ, S., LEUNG, P. S., VAN DE WATER, J., TANAKA, A., MUNOZ, S., BASS, N., LINDOR, K., DONALD, P. J., COPPEL, R. L., ANSARI, A. A. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (2000). Evidence for a locally driven mucosal response and the presence of mitochondrial antigens in saliva in primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 31, 24-29.
- ROBIN, M. A., LE ROY, M., DESCATOIRE, V. & PESSAYRE, D. (1997). Plasma membrane cytochromes P450 as neoantigens and autoimmune targets in drug-induced hepatitis. *J Hepatol* **26 Suppl 1**, 23-30.
- RODDA, S. J. & TRIBBICK, G. (1996). Antibody-Defined Epitope Mapping Using the Multipin Method of Peptide Synthesis. *Methods* 9, 473-481.
- ROEDERER, M., DE ROSA, S., GERSTEIN, R., ANDERSON, M., BIGOS, M., STOVEL, R., NOZAKI, T., PARKS, D. & HERZENBERG, L. (1997). 8 color, 10-parameter flow cytometry to elucidate complex leukocyte heterogeneity. *Cytometry* 29, 328-339.
- ROLL, J., BOYER, J. L., BARRY, D. & KLATSKIN, G. (1983). The prognostic importance of clinical and histologic features in asymptomatic and symptomatic primary biliary cirrhosis. *N Engl J Med* **308**, 1-7.
- SALCEDO, M., VAQUERO, J., BANARES, R., RODRIGUEZ-MAHOU, M., ALVAREZ, E., VICARIO, J. L., HERNANDEZ-ALBUJAR, A., TISCAR, J. L., RINCON, D., ALONSO, S., DE DIEGO, A. & CLEMENTE, G. (2002). Response to steroids in de novo autoimmune hepatitis after liver transplantation. *Hepatology* 35, 349-356.
- SANCHEZ-POBRE, P., CASTELLANO, G., COLINA, F., DOMINGUEZ, P., RODRIGUEZ, S., CANGA, F. & HERRUZO, J. A. (1996). Antimitochondrial antibody-negative chronic nonsuppurative destructive cholangitis. Atypical primary biliary cirrhosis or autoimmune cholangitis? J Clin Gastroenterol 23, 191-198.
- SANDER, B., ANDERSSON, J. & ANDERSSON, U. (1991). Assessment of cytokines by immunofluorescence and the paraformaldehyde-saponin procedure. *Immunol Rev* 119, 65-93.
- SANTIAGO, M. L., FOSSATI, L., JACQUET, C., MULLER, W., IZUI, S. & REININGER, L. (1997). Interleukin-4 protects against a genetically linked lupus-like autoimmune syndrome. *J Exp Med* **185**, 65-70.
- SAYERS, T. J. & BAUM, H. (1976). Possible cross-reactivity of human antimitochondrial antibodies with membrane vesicles of Paracoccus denitrificans. *Biochem Soc Trans* 4, 138-139.
- SCHAFFER, A. A., WOLF, Y. I., PONTING, C. P., KOONIN, E. V., ARAVIND, L. & ALTSCHUL, S. F. (1999). IMPALA: matching a protein sequence against a collection of PSI-BLAST-constructed position-specific score matrices. *Bioinformatics* 15, 1000-1011.

- SCHAFFER, A. A., ARAVIND, L., MADDEN, T. L., SHAVIRIN, S., SPOUGE, J. L., WOLF, Y. I., KOONIN, E. V. & ALTSCHUL, S. F. (2001). Improving the accuracy of PSI-BLAST protein database searches with composition-based statistics and other refinements. *Nucleic Acids Res* 29, 2994-3005.
- SEDDON, B. & MASON, D. (1999). Regulatory T cells in the control of autoimmunity: the essential role of transforming growth factor beta and interleukin 4 in the prevention of autoimmune thyroiditis in rats by peripheral CD4(+)CD45RCcells and CD4(+)CD8(-) thymocytes. J Exp Med 189, 279-288.
- SELMI, C., BALKWILL, D. L., INVERNIZZI, P., ANSARI, A. A., COPPEL, R. L., PODDA, M., LEUNG, P. S., KENNY, T. P., VAN DE WATER, J., NANTZ, M. H., KURTH, M. J. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (2003). Patients with primary biliary cirrhosis react against a ubiquitous xenobiotic-metabolizing bacterium. *Hepatology* 38, 1250-1257.
- SENALDI, G., PORTMANN, B., MOWAT, A. P., MIELI-VERGANI, G. & VERGANI, D. (1992). Immunohistochemical features of the portal tract mononuclear cell infiltrate in chronic aggressive hepatitis. *Arch Dis Child* 67, 1447-1453.
- SERCARZ, E. E., LEHMANN, P. V., AMETANI, A., BENICHOU, G., MILLER, A. & MOUDGIL, K. (1993). Dominance and crypticity of T cell antigenic determinants. Annu Rev Immunol 11, 729-766.
- SHERLOCK, S. & SCHEUER, P. J. (1973). The presentation and diagnosis of 100 patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *N Engl J Med* **289**, 674-678.
- SHEVACH, E. M. (2000). Regulatory T cells in autoimmmunity*. Annu Rev Immunol 18, 423-449.
- SHIMODA, S., NAKAMURA, M., ISHIBASHI, H., HAYASHIDA, K. & NIHO, Y. (1995). HLA DRB4 0101-restricted immunodominant T cell autoepitope of pyruvate dehydrogenase complex in primary biliary cirrhosis: evidence of molecular mimicry in human autoimmune diseases. J Exp Med 181, 1835-1845.
- SHIMODA, S., VAN DE WATER, J., ANSARI, A., NAKAMURA, M., ISHIBASHI, H., COPPEL,
 R. L., LAKE, J., KEEFFE, E. B., ROCHE, T. E. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1998).
 Identification and precursor frequency analysis of a common T cell epitope motif in mitochondrial autoantigens in primary biliary cirrhosis. J Clin Invest 102, 1831-1840.
- SHIMODA, S., NAKAMURA, M., SHIGEMATSU, H., TANIMOTO, H., GUSHIMA, T., GERSHWIN, M. E. & ISHIBASHI, H. (2000). Mimicry peptides of human PDC-E2 163-176 peptide, the immunodominant T-cell epitope of primary biliary cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 31, 1212-1216.
- SHOENFELD, Y. & ARON-MAOR, A. (2000). Vaccination and autoimmunity-'vaccinosis': a dangerous liaison? J Autoimmun 14, 1-10.

SHOUVAL, D. (2003). Hepatitis B vaccines. J Hepatol 39 Suppl 1, S70-76.
- SINGH, S. K., GRIMAUD, R., HOSKINS, J. R., WICKNER, S. & MAURIZI, M. R. (2000). Unfolding and internalization of proteins by the ATP-dependent proteases ClpXP and ClpAP. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **97**, 8898-8903.
- SLOAN-LANCASTER, J. & ALLEN, P. M. (1996). Altered peptide ligand-induced partial T cell activation: molecular mechanisms and role in T cell biology. Annu Rev Immunol 14, 1-27.
- SMITH, M. G., WILLIAMS, R., WALKER, G., RIZZETTO, M. & DONIACH, D. (1974). Hepatic disorders associated with liver-kidney microsomal antibodies. *Br Med J* 2, 80-84.
- SNAPPER, C. M. & MOND, J. J. (1993). Towards a comprehensive view of immunoglobulin class switching. *Immunol Today* 14, 15-17.
- SNAPPER, C. M., MARCU, K. B. & ZELAZOWSKI, P. (1997). The immunoglobulin class switch: beyond "accessibility". *Immunity* 6, 217-223.
- SOLIS PEREYRA, B. & LEMONNIER, D. (1991). Induction of 2'-5' A synthetase activity and interferon in humans by bacteria used in dairy products. *Eur Cytokine Netw* 2, 137-140.
- SOLIS-PEREYRA, B., AATTOURI, N. & LEMONNIER, D. (1997). Role of food in the stimulation of cytokine production. *Am J Clin Nutr* 66, 521S-525S.
- SRINIVASAPPA, J., SAEGUSA, J., PRABHAKAR, B. S., GENTRY, M. K., BUCHMEIER, M. J., WIKTOR, T. J., KOPROWSKI, H., OLDSTONE, M. B. & NOTKINS, A. L. (1986). Molecular mimicry: frequency of reactivity of monoclonal antiviral antibodies with normal tissues. J Virol 57, 397-401.
- STAVNEZER, J. (1996). Antibody class switching. Adv Immunol 61, 79-146.
- STEINHOFF, U., BRINKMANN, V., KLEMM, U., AICHELE, P., SEILER, P., BRANDT, U., BLAND, P. W., PRINZ, I., ZUGEL, U. & KAUFMANN, S. H. (1999). Autoimmune intestinal pathology induced by hsp60-specific CD8 T cells. *Immunity* 11, 349-358.
- STEINMAN, L. (1996). Multiple sclerosis: a coordinated immunological attack against myelin in the central nervous system. *Cell* **85**, 299-302.
- STEINMAN, L. (1999). Absence of "original antigenic sin" in autoimmunity provides an unforeseen platform for immune therapy. *J Exp Med* **189**, 1021-1024.
- STEMEROWICZ, R., HOPF, U., MOLLER, B., WITTENBRINK, C., RODLOFF, A., REINHARDT, R., FREUDENBERG, M. & GALANOS, C. (1988). Are antimitochondrial antibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis induced by R(rough)mutants of enterobacteriaceae? *Lancet* 2, 1166-1170.

- STEVENS, T. L., BOSSIE, A., SANDERS, V. M., FERNANDEZ-BOTRAN, R., COFFMAN, R. L., MOSMANN, T. R. & VITETTA, E. S. (1988). Regulation of antibody isotype secretion by subsets of antigen-specific helper T cells. *Nature* 334, 255-258.
- STRASSER, A., WHITTINGHAM, S., VAUX, D. L., BATH, M. L., ADAMS, J. M., CORY, S. & HARRIS, A. W. (1991). Enforced BCL2 expression in B-lymphoid cells prolongs antibody responses and elicits autoimmune disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 88, 8661-8665.
- STREILEIN, J. W., DANA, M. R. & KSANDER, B. R. (1997). Immunity causing blindness: five different paths to herpes stromal keratitis. *Immunol Today* 18, 443-449.
- SU, L. & DAVID, M. (1999). Inhibition of B cell receptor-mediated apoptosis by IFN. J Immunol 162, 6317-6321.
- SUERBAUM, S. & JOSENHANS, C. (1999). Virulence factors of Helicobacter pylori: implications for vaccine development. *Mol Med Today* 5, 32-39.
- SUERBAUM, S. & MICHETTI, P. (2002). Helicobacter pylori infection. N Engl J Med 347, 1175-1186.
- SUGIMURA, T., OBERMAYER-STRAUB, P., KAYSER, A., BRAUN, S., LOGES, S., ALEX, B., LUTTIG, B., JOHNSON, E. F., MANNS, M. P. & STRASSBURG, C. P. (2002). A major CYP2D6 autoepitope in autoimmune hepatitis type 2 and chronic hepatitis C is a three-dimensional structure homologous to other cytochrome P450 autoantigens. Autoimmunity 35, 501-513.
- SUNDIN, U. (1990). Antibody binding and inhibition of pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) in sera from patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *Clin Exp Immunol* **81**, 238-243.
- SURH, C. D., ROCHE, T. E., DANNER, D. J., ANSARI, A., COPPEL, R. L., PRINDIVILLE, T., DICKSON, E. R. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1989). Antimitochondrial autoantibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis recognize cross-reactive epitope(s) on protein X and dihydrolipoamide acetyltransferase of pyruvate dehydrogenase complex. *Hepatology* 10, 127-133.
- SURH, C. D., COPPEL, R. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1990). Structural requirement for autoreactivity on human pyruvate dehydrogenase-E2, the major autoantigen of primary biliary cirrhosis. Implication for a conformational autoepitope. J Immunol 144, 3367-3374.
- SZOSTECKI, C., GULDNER, H. H. & WILL, H. (1997). Autoantibodies against "nuclear dots" in primary biliary cirrhosis. Semin Liver Dis 17, 71-78.
- TANAKA, A., NALBANDIAN, G., LEUNG, P. S., BENSON, G. D., MUNOZ, S., FINDOR, J. A., BRANCH, A. D., COPPEL, R. L., ANSARI, A. A. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (2000). Mucosal immunity and primary biliary cirrhosis: presence of antimitochondrial antibodies in urine. *Hepatology* 32, 910-915.

- TATUSOVA, T. A. & MADDEN, T. L. (1999). BLAST 2 Sequences, a new tool for comparing protein and nucleotide sequences. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **174**, 247-250.
- TAYLOR, S. L., DEAN, P. J. & RIELY, C. A. (1994). Primary autoimmune cholangitis. An alternative to antimitochondrial antibody-negative primary biliary cirrhosis. *Am J Surg Pathol* 18, 91-99.
- TEOH, K. L., MACKAY, I. R., ROWLEY, M. J. & FUSSEY, S. P. (1994). Enzyme inhibitory autoantibodies to pyruvate dehydrogenase complex in primary biliary cirrhosis differ for mammalian, yeast and bacterial enzymes: implications for molecular mimicry. *Hepatology* 19, 1029-1033.
- TOUGH, D. F., BORROW, P. & SPRENT, J. (1996). Induction of bystander T cell proliferation by viruses and type I interferon in vivo. *Science* 272, 1947-1950.
- TOUGH, D. F., SUN, S. & SPRENT, J. (1997). T cell stimulation in vivo by lipopolysaccharide (LPS). J Exp Med 185, 2089-2094.
- TSUJI, K., WATANABE, Y., VAN DE WATER, J., NAKANISHI, T., KAJIYAMA, G., PARIKH-PATEL, A., COPPEL, R. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1999). Familial primary biliary cirrhosis in Hiroshima. *J Autoimmun* 13, 171-178.
- TUAILLON, N., ANDRE, C., BRIAND, J. P., PENNER, E. & MULLER, S. (1992). A lipoyl synthetic octadecapeptide of dihydrolipoamide acetyltransferase specifically recognized by anti-M2 autoantibodies in primary biliary cirrhosis. J Immunol 148, 445-450.
- TUOHY, V. K., YU, M., YIN, L., KAWCZAK, J. A. & KINKEL, R. P. (1999). Spontaneous regression of primary autoreactivity during chronic progression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. *J Exp Med* 189, 1033-1042.
- VAISHNAW, A. K., TOUBI, E., OHSAKO, S., DRAPPA, J., BUYS, S., ESTRADA, J., SITARZ, A., ZEMEL, L., CHU, J. L. & ELKON, K. B. (1999). The spectrum of apoptotic defects and clinical manifestations, including systemic lupus erythematosus, in humans with CD95 (Fas/APO-1) mutations. *Arthritis Rheum* 42, 1833-1842.
- VAN DE WATER, J., FREGEAU, D., DAVIS, P., ANSARI, A., DANNER, D., LEUNG, P., COPPEL, R. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1988a). Autoantibodies of primary biliary cirrhosis recognize dihydrolipoamide acetyltransferase and inhibit enzyme function. J Immunol 141, 2321-2324.
- VAN DE WATER, J., GERSHWIN, M. E., LEUNG, P., ANSARI, A. & COPPEL, R. L. (1988b). The autoepitope of the 74-kD mitochondrial autoantigen of primary biliary cirrhosis corresponds to the functional site of dihydrolipoamide acetyltransferase. J Exp Med 167, 1791-1799.
- VAN DE WATER, J., COOPER, A., SURH, C. D., COPPEL, R., DANNER, D., ANSARI, A., DICKSON, R. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1989). Detection of autoantibodies to

recombinant mitochondrial proteins in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. N Engl J Med **320**, 1377-1380.

- VAN DE WATER, J., TURCHANY, J., LEUNG, P. S., LAKE, J., MUNOZ, S., SURH, C. D., COPPEL, R., ANSARI, A., NAKANUMA, Y. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (1993). Molecular mimicry in primary biliary cirrhosis. Evidence for biliary epithelial expression of a molecule cross-reactive with pyruvate dehydrogenase complex-E2. J Clin Invest 91, 2653-2664.
- VAN NORSTRAND, M. D., MALINCHOC, M., LINDOR, K. D., THERNEAU, T. M., GERSHWIN, M. E., LEUNG, P. S., DICKSON, E. R. & HOMBURGER, H. A. (1997). Quantitative measurement of autoantibodies to recombinant mitochondrial antigens in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis: relationship of levels of autoantibodies to disease progression. *Hepatology* 25, 6-11.
- VAN DE WATER, J., ISHIBASHI, H., COPPEL, R. L. & GERSHWIN, M. E. (2001). Molecular mimicry and primary biliary cirrhosis: premises not promises. *Hepatology* 33, 771-775.
- VAN 'T HOF, W., VAN MILLIGEN, F. J., DRIEDIJK, P. C., VAN DEN BERG, M. & AALBERSE, R. C. (1993). How to demonstrate specificity of antibody binding to synthetic peptides? J Immunol Methods 161, 273-275.
- VENTO, S., GAROFANO, T., DI PERRI, G., DOLCI, L., CONCIA, E. & BASSETTI, D. (1991). Identification of hepatitis A virus as a trigger for autoimmune chronic hepatitis type 1 in susceptible individuals. *Lancet* 337, 1183-1187.
- VENTO, S., GUELLA, L., MIRANDOLA, F., CAINELLI, F., DI PERRI, G., SOLBIATI, M., FERRARO, T. & CONCIA, E. (1995). Epstein-Barr virus as a trigger for autoimmune hepatitis in susceptible individuals. *Lancet* 346, 608-609.
- VENTO, S., CAINELLI, F., FERRARO, T. & CONCIA, E. (1996). Autoimmune hepatitis type 1 after measles. *Am J Gastroenterol* 91, 2618-2620.
- VENTO, S., CAINELLI, F., RENZINI, C. & CONCIA, E. (1997). Autoimmune hepatitis type 2 induced by HCV and persisting after viral clearance. *Lancet* **350**, 1298-1299.
- VENTO, S. & CAINELLI, F. (2004). Is there a role for viruses in triggering autoimmune hepatitis? Autoimmun Rev 3, 61-69.
- VERGANI, D. & MIELI-VERGANI, G. (1993). Type II autoimmune hepatitis. What is the role of the hepatitis C virus? *Gastroenterology* **104**, 1870-1873.
- VERGANI, D. & MIELI-VERGANI, G. (2003). Autoimmune hepatitis. Autoimmun Rev 2, 241-247.
- VERGANI, D. & BOGDANOS, D. P. (2003). Positive markers in AMA-negative PBC. Am J Gastroenterol 98, 241-243.

- VERGANI, D., ALVAREZ, F., BIANCHI, F. B., CANCADO, E. L. R., MACKAY, I. R., MANNS, M. P., NISHIOKA, M. & PENNER, E. (2004). Liver autoimmune serology: a consensus statement from the committee for autoimmune serology of the International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group. J Hepatol 41, 677-683.
- VIKINGSSON, A., PEDERSON, K. & MULLER, D. (1994). Enumeration of IFN-gamma producing lymphocytes by flow cytometry and correlation with quantitative measurement of IFN-gamma. *J Immunol Methods* **173**, 219-228.
- VILAGUT, L., VILA, J., VINAS, O., PARES, A., GINES, A., JIMENEZ DE ANTA, M. T. & RODES, J. (1994). Cross-reactivity of anti-Mycobacterium gordonae antibodies with the major mitochondrial autoantigens in primary biliary cirrhosis. J Hepatol 21, 673-677.
- VILAGUT, L., PARES, A., VINAS, O., VILA, J., JIMENEZ DE ANTA, M. T. & RODES, J. (1997). Antibodies to mycobacterial 65-kD heat shock protein cross-react with the main mitochondrial antigens in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *Eur J Clin Invest* 27, 667-672.
- VITAL, C., VITAL, A., GBIKPI-BENISSAN, G., LONGY-BOURSIER, M., CLIMAS, M. T., CASTAING, Y., CANRON, M. H., LE BRAS, M. & PETRY, K. (2002). Postvaccinal inflammatory neuropathy: peripheral nerve biopsy in 3 cases. J Peripher Nerv Syst 7, 163-167.
- VON HERRATH, M. G. (2000). Obstacles to identifying viruses that cause autoimmune disease. *J Neuroimmunol* **107**, 154-160.
- VON HERRATH, M. G., FUJINAMI, R. S. & WHITTON, J. L. (2003). Microorganisms and autoimmunity: making the barren field fertile? *Nat Rev Microbiol* 1, 151-157.
- VYAKARNAM, A., VYAS, B., VUKMANOVIC-STEJIC, M., GORAK-STOLINSKA, P., WALLACE, D., NOBLE, A. & KEMENY, D. (2000). Human CD4 culture. In Lymphocytes: a practical approach, vol. 6. ed. ROWLAND-JONES, S. L. & MCMICHAEL, A. J., pp. 135-159. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- WALKER, J. G., DONIACH, D., ROITT, I. M. & SHERLOCK, S. (1965). Serological tests in diagnosis of primary biliary cirrhosis. *Lancet*, 827-831.
- WANG, Y. F., BROTMAN, B., ANDRUS, L. & PRINCE, A. M. (1996). Immune response to epitopes of hepatitis C virus (HCV) structural proteins in HCV-infected humans and chimpanzees. *J Infect Dis* 173, 808-821.
- WANG, J., HARTLING, J. A. & FLANAGAN, J. M. (1997). The structure of ClpP at 2.3 A resolution suggests a model for ATP-dependent proteolysis. *Cell* **91**, 447-456.
- WATSON, R. G., ANGUS, P. W., DEWAR, M., GOSS, B., SEWELL, R. B. & SMALLWOOD, R. A. (1995). Low prevalence of primary biliary cirrhosis in Victoria, Australia. Melbourne Liver Group. Gut 36, 927-930.

- WEINER, A. J., GEYSEN, H. M., CHRISTOPHERSON, C., HALL, J. E., MASON, T. J., SARACCO, G., BONINO, F., CRAWFORD, K., MARION, C. D., CRAWFORD, K. A. & ET AL. (1992). Evidence for immune selection of hepatitis C virus (HCV) putative envelope glycoprotein variants: potential role in chronic HCV infections. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89, 3468-3472.
- WEKERLE, H. (1999). Remembering MOG: autoantibody mediated demyelination in multiple sclerosis? Nat Med 5, 153-154.
- WELSH, R. M., SELIN, L. K. & SZOMOLANYI-TSUDA, E. (2004). Immunological memory to viral infections. *Annu Rev Immunol* 22, 711-743.
- WIENER, E., JOLLIFFE, V. M., SCOTT, H. C., KUMPEL, B. M., THOMPSON, K. M., MELAMED, M. D. & HUGHES-JONES, N. C. (1988). Differences between the activities of human monoclonal IgG1 and IgG3 anti-D antibodies of the Rh blood group system in their abilities to mediate effector functions of monocytes. *Immunology* 65, 159-163.
- WITT-SULLIVAN, H., HEATHCOTE, J., CAUCH, K., BLENDIS, L., GHENT, C., KATZ, A., MILNER, R., PAPPAS, S. C., RANKIN, J. & WANLESS, I. R. (1990). The demography of primary biliary cirrhosis in Ontario, Canada. *Hepatology* 12, 98-105.
- WUCHERPFENNIG, K. W., CATZ, I., HAUSMANN, S., STROMINGER, J. L., STEINMAN, L. & WARREN, K. G. (1997). Recognition of the immunodominant myelin basic protein peptide by autoantibodies and HLA-DR2-restricted T cell clones from multiple sclerosis patients. Identity of key contact residues in the B-cell and Tcell epitopes. J Clin Invest 100, 1114-1122.
- WUCHERPFENNIG, K. W. (2001). Mechanisms for the induction of autoimmunity by infectious agents. *J Clin Invest* 108, 1097-1104.
- XU, L., SHEN, Z., GUO, L., FODERA, B., KEOGH, A., JOPLIN, R., O'DONNELL, B., AITKEN, J., CARMAN, W., NEUBERGER, J. & MASON, A. (2003). Does a betaretrovirus infection trigger primary biliary cirrhosis? *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A 100, 8454-8459.
- YAMAMOTO, A. M., CRESTEIL, D., BONIFACE, O., CLERC, F. F. & ALVAREZ, F. (1993). Identification and analysis of cytochrome P450IID6 antigenic sites recognized by anti-liver-kidney microsome type-1 antibodies (LKM1). Eur J Immunol 23, 1105-1111.
- YEAMAN, S. J., FUSSEY, S. P., DANNER, D. J., JAMES, O. F., MUTIMER, D. J. & BASSENDINE, M. F. (1988). Primary biliary cirrhosis: identification of two major M2 mitochondrial autoantigens. *Lancet* 1, 1067-1070.
- YEAMAN, S. J. (1989). The 2-oxo acid dehydrogenase complexes: recent advances. Biochem J 257, 625-632.

- YEAMAN, S. J., KIRBY, J. A. & JONES, D. E. (2000). Autoreactive responses to pyruvate dehydrogenase complex in the pathogenesis of primary biliary cirrhosis. *Immunol Rev* 174, 238-249.
- YEWDELL, J. W. & BENNINK, J. R. (1989). Brefeldin A specifically inhibits presentation of protein antigens to cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Science* 244, 1072-1075.
- ZECHEL, M. A., KRAWETZ, M. D. & SINGH, B. (1998). Epitope dominance: evidence for reciprocal determinant spreading to glutamic acid decarboxylase in non-obese diabetic mice. *Immunol Rev* 164, 111-118.
- ZEVERING, Y., JACOB, L. & MEYER, T. F. (1999). Naturally acquired human immune responses against Helicobacter pylori and implications for vaccine development. *Gut* 45, 465-474.
- ZHAO, Z. S., GRANUCCI, F., YEH, L., SCHAFFER, P. A. & CANTOR, H. (1998). Molecular mimicry by herpes simplex virus-type 1: autoimmune disease after viral infection. *Science* 279, 1344-1347.
- ZIBERT, A., KRAAS, W., ROSS, R. S., MEISEL, H., LECHNER, S., JUNG, G. & ROGGENDORF, M. (1999). Immunodominant B-cell domains of hepatitis C virus envelope proteins E1 and E2 identified during early and late time points of infection. J Hepatol 30, 177-184.

Cytochrome P4502D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂: A New Immunodominant Epitope and Target of Virus/Self Cross-Reactivity in Liver Kidney Microsomal Autoantibody Type 1-Positive Liver Disease¹

Nanda Kerkar,*[†] Kaushik Choudhuri,* Yun Ma,* Ayman Mahmoud,* Dimitrios P. Bogdanos,* Luigi Muratori,[‡] Francesco Bianchi,[‡] Roger Williams,* Giorgina Mieli-Vergani,[†] and Diego Vergani²*[†]

Cytochrome P4502D6 (CYP2D6), target of liver kidney microsomal autoantibody type 1 (LKM1), characterizes autoimmune hepatitis type 2 (AIH2) but is also found in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection. To provide a complete linear epitope B cell map of CYP2D6, we tested peptides spanning the entire sequence of CYP2D6. In addition to confirming previously described antigenic sites, we identified four new epitopes (193–212, 238–257, 268–287, and 478–497). CYP2D6_{193–212} is immunodominant and was the target of 12 of 13 (93%) patients with AIH2 and 5 of 10 (50%) HCV/LKM1-positive patients. Because LKM1 is present in both AIH2 and a viral infection, we tested whether Abs to CYP2D6_{193–212} arise through cross-reactive immunity between virus and self. We identified a hexameric sequence "RLLDLA" sharing 5 of 6 aa with "RLLDLS" of HCV_{2985–2990} and all 6 aa with CMV_{130–135}. Of 17 CYP2D6_{193–212}-reactive sera, 11 (7 AIH and 4 HCV) reacted by ELISA with the HCV homologue, 8 (5 AIH and 3 HCV) with the CMV homologue, and 8 (5 AIH and 3 HCV) showed double reactivity. Autoantibody binding to CYP2D6_{193–212} was inhibited by preincubation with HCV_{2977–2996} or CMV_{121–140}. Recombinant HCV-nonstructural protein 5 and CMV-UL98 proteins also inhibited Ab binding to CYP2D6_{193–212}. Affinity-purified CYP2D6_{193–212} and two unrelated viruses suggests that multiple exposure to viruses mimicking self may represent an important pathway to the development of autoimmunity. *The Journal of Immunology*, 2003, 170: 1481–1489.

iver kidney microsomal Ab type 1 (LKM1)³ is the diagnostic marker of autoimmune hepatitis type 2 (AIH2), AIH1 being characterized by the presence of antinuclear Ab and/or smooth muscle Ab (1). LKM1 is also present in up to 10% of patients with chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection, where it appears to confer severity to the disease process, as shown by Giostra et al. (2), and to predispose to adverse reactions during treatment with IFN (3). LKM1, first described by Rizzetto et al. in 1973 (4), is known to recognize a 50-kDa protein in rat microsomes located primarily in the smooth endoplasmic reticulum (5) and a 48-kDa protein in human liver microsomes (6). This protein in human liver was later identified as cytochrome P4502D6

² Address correspondence and reprint requests to Dr. Diego Vergani, Institute of Liver Studies, Alex P. Mowat Laboratory, King's College Hospital, Denmark Hill, London SE5 9RS, U.K. E-mail address: d.vergani@kcl.ac.uk

Copyright © 2003 by The American Association of Immunologists, Inc.

(CYP2D6) (7–9). The catalytic function of this cytochrome is inhibited in vitro by incubation with LKM1-positive serum (7).

The presence of B cell epitopes on CYP2D6 has been investigated by several groups (Fig. 1A), and the region spanning 254-271 has been reported to be highly antigenic in LKM1-positive AIH (10-12). Within this region, Manns et al. (11) reported that CYP2D6₂₆₃₋₂₇₀ is recognized by 62% of AIH2 patients, and Yamamoto et al. (12) reported that CYP2D6257-269 is the most frequently recognized antigenic site in LKM1 AIH (85% of sera tested). They also described three other epitopes spanning 321-351, 373-389, and 410-429 regions of CYP2D6, recognized respectively by 53, 7, and 13% of the AIH2 cases (12). In contrast to patients with AIH2, reactivity to the CYP2D6254-271 region was not detected in chronic HCV patients seropositive for LKM1 (13). Two epitopes (200-214 and 321-339) recognized by LKM1 in chronic HCV infection were described by Parez et al. (14). More recently, Klein et al. (15) reported that the CYP2D6 sequence 196-218 is recognized by 68% of patients with AIH2, but by only 18% of LKM1/HCV-positive patients. Common to all of the above reports is the selection of putative antigenic sites for testing, an approach that could ignore other important epitopes. The aim of the present study was to provide a complete B cell map of CYP2D6 linear epitopes using a representative number of LKM1positive sera from patients with AIH2 or chronic HCV infection. Epitopes recognized by LKM1-positive serum would then be analyzed for similarities with HCV and other pathogens, possible triggers of LKM1 production.

Materials and Methods

Subjects

Twenty-three LKM1-positive patients were studied. Thirteen had classical LKM1-positive AIH (AIH2) diagnosed according to the recently revised

^{*}Institute of Hepatology, University College, London, United Kingdom; [†]Institute of Liver Studies, King's College Hospital, Denmark Hill, London, United Kingdom; and [†]Department of Internal Medicine, Cardioangiology, Hepatology, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy

Received for publication May 4, 2000. Accepted for publication November 8, 2002.

The costs of publication of this article were defrayed in part by the payment of page charges. This article must therefore be hereby marked *advertisement* in accordance with 18 U.S.C. Section 1734 solely to indicate this fact.

¹G.M.-V. is supported by the Children's Liver Disease Foundation (Birmingham, U.K.) and the Children Nationwide Medical Research Trust (London, U.K.). At the time the study was undertaken, N.K. held a scholarship from the Royal College of Physicians (London, U.K.), funded by Children's Nationwide Medical Research Fund. Y.M. is a Dorothy Hodgkin Fellow of the Royal Society (London, U.K.). D.P.B. is supported by the Children's Liver Disease Foundation.

³ Abbreviations used in this paper: LKM1, liver kidney microsomal Ab type 1; AIH2, autoimmune hepatitis type 2; HCV, hepatitis C virus; CYP2D6, cytochrome P4502D6; NS5B, nonstructural protein 5B; AMMC, 3-[2-(N,N-diethyl-N-methylamino)ethyl]-7-methoxy-4-methylcoumarin.



FIGURE 1. *A*, Epitope map of CYP2D6 illustrating documented epitopes: CYP2D6₂₅₄₋₂₇₁ by Gueguen et al. (8); CYP2D6₂₆₃₋₂₇₀ by Manns et al. (9); CYP2D6₂₅₇₋₂₆₉, CYP2D6₃₂₁₋₃₅₁, CYP2D6₃₇₃₋₃₈₉, and CYP2D6₄₁₀₋₄₂₉ by Yamamoto et al. (12); CYP2D6₂₀₀₋₂₁₄ and CYP2D6₃₂₁₋₃₃₉ by Parez et al. (14); CYP2D6₁₉₆₋₂₁₈ by Klein et al. (15); CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, CYP2D6₂₃₈₋₂₅₇, CYP2D6₂₆₈₋₂₈₇, and CYP2D6₄₇₈₋₄₉₇ as described in this report. *B*, Detailed epitope map of CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₈. *Bi*, CYP2D6₂₀₀₋₂₁₄ described by Parez et al. (14) and recognized by 62.5% of LKM1-positive HCV patients, but not by AIH2 patients. *Bii*, CYP2D6₁₉₆₋₂₁₈ described by Klein et al. (15) and recognized by 68% of AIH2 and 18% of LKM1/HCV patients. *Biii*, CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, the new epitope described in this report recognized by 92% of AIH2 and 50% of LKM1/HCV patients.

criteria of the International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group (16). All had raised transaminases at presentation and were negative for HCV by PCR as well as other serological markers for hepatitis A-E and IgM to EBV and CMV. All had characteristic interface hepatitis on liver biopsy and responded to immunosuppressive treatment (Prednisolone with and without Azathioprine). Eleven patients were female with a median age of 10.6 years and a range from 3.1 to 18 years. LKMI was detected by standard immunofluorescence, and the LKM1 titers at the time of testing ranged from 1/40 to 1/5120 with a median of 1/640. Four children had other autoimmune conditions: autoimmune thyroiditis in one, insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in the second, sclerosing cholangitis in the third, and inflammatory bowel disease in the fourth. Three children were tested at diagnosis, four during remission on immunosuppressive therapy, and six during relapse.

Ten sera were from patients with liver disease attributed to chronic HCV infection. Six were female with a median age of 37 years and a range of 19 to 55 years. All were HCV RNA-positive (Amplicor; Hoffmann-LaRoche, Basel, Switzerland). LKM1 titers at the time of testing were 1/160-1/640 with a median of 1/640. One was receiving IFN- α , two had stopped IFN- α 5 mo and 4 years before this study, and one was on steroid treatment after having developed a transaminase flare 4 mo into IFN- α treatment. These patients have been previously described within a larger series of LKM1/ HCV-positive patients treated with IFN- α (17). Six patients were not treated. Serum from seven healthy controls, four male and three female with a median age of 13 years (range 10–30 years), were also studied.

Peptides

Thirty-four 20-mer synthetic peptides spanning the entire 517-aa sequence of the protein and overlapping by 5 aa were constructed by 9-fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl chemistry (Mimotopes, Clayton, Victoria, Australia) (Table I). Biotin was linked to the peptides through a spacer with alternating serine (S) and glycine (G) residues to avoid steric hindrance and reduce hydrophobicity (18). Peptides conformed to the following format: biotin-SGSG-peptide-amide, where SGSG is the spacer. A peptide encoding a randomly generated sequence of amino acids, biotin-SGSG-HEDYVNQSLRPTPLEISVRA-amide, was used as the negative control peptide. All peptides were >90% pure after reverse-phase HPLC. The identity of each peptide was confirmed by mass spectrometry. The reactivity of LKM1-positive serum against each of the 34 peptides constructed was tested by ELISA.

Recombinant proteins

CMV alkaline exonuclease, the UL98 gene product, was a kind gift from Dr. D. J. Tenney from Bristol-Myers Squibb (Pharmaceutical Research Institute, Wallingford, CT). Recombinant human CMV-UL98 was produced using a baculovirus-insect cell expression system and was purified by high salt cell lysis, Q Sepharose chromatography, and phosphocellulose chromatography. The final material was dialysed against 20 mM Tris-HCI (pH 7.5), 25% glycerol, 0.1 mM EDTA, and 1 mM DTT to an NaCI concentration of 5 mM. The protein resolved as a single ~65-kDa band on

1482

The Journal of Immunology

Table 1. Peptide key"

Peptide No.	Protein	Sequence No.	Amino Acid Sequence
1	CYP2D6	1-20	MGLEALVPLAVIVAIFLLLV
2	CYP2D6	16-35	FLLLVDLMHRRORWAARYPP
3	CYP2D6	31-50	ARYPPGPLPLPGLGNLLHVD
4	CYP2D6	46-65	LLHVDFONTPYCFDOLRRF
5	CYP2D6	61-80	LRRRFGDVFSLOLAWTPVVV
6	CYP2D6	76-95	TPVVVLNGLAAVREALVTHG
7	CYP2D6	91-110	LVTHGEDTADRPPVPITOIL
8	CYP2D6	106-125	ITOILGFGPRSOGVFLARYG
9	CYP2D6	121-140	LARYGPAWREORRFSVSTLR
10	CYP2D6	136-155	VSTLRNLGLGKKSLEOWVTE
11	CYP2D6	151-170	OWVTEEAACLCAAFANHSGR
12	CYP2D6	166-185	NHSGRPFRPNGLLDKAVSNV
13	CYP2D6	181-200	AVSNVIASLTCGRRFEYDDP
14	CYP2D6	193-212	RRFEYDDPRFLRLLDLAQEG
15	CYP2D6	208 - 227	LAQEGLKEESGFLREVLNAV
16	CYP2D6	223-242	VLNAVPVLLHIPALAGKVLR
17	CYP2D6	238257	GKVLRFQKAFLTQLDELLTE
18	CYP2D6	253-272	ELLTEHRMTWDPAQPPRDLT
19	CYP2D6	268-287	PRDLTEAFLAEMEKAKGNPE
20	CYP2D6	283-302	KGNPESSFNDENLRIVVADL
21	CYP2D6	298-317	VVADLFSAGMVTTSTTLAWG
22	CYP2D6	313-332	TLAWGLLLMILHPDVQRRVQ
23	CYP2D6	328-347	ORRVOQEIDDVIGOVRRPEM
24	CYP2D6	343-362	RRPEMGDQAHMPYTTAVIHE
25	CYP2D6	358-377	AVIHEVQRFGDIVPLGMTHM
26	CYP2D6	373-392	GMTHMTSRDIEVQGFRIPKG
27	CYP2D6	388-407	RIPKGTTLITNLSSVLKDEA
28	CYP2D6	403-422	LKDEAVWEKPFRFHPEHFLD
29	CYP2D6	418-437	EHFLDAQGHFVKPEAFLPFS
30	CYP2D6	433-452	FLPFSAGRRACLGEPLARME
31	CYP2D6	448-467	LARMELFLFFTSLLQHFSFS
32	CYP2D6	463-482	HFSFSVPTGQPRPSHHGVFA
33	CYP2D6	478-497	HGVFAFLVSPSPYELCAVPR
34	CYP2D6	498-517	NGVPSPQPAPSPEALMYNKA
35	CMV	121-140	GSDDYVWLSRLLDLAPNYRQ
36	HCV	2977-2996	KLTPLPEARLLDLSSWFTVG
37	HCV	ALA"	AAAAAPEARLLDLSSWFTVG
38	HCV	ALA	KLTAAAAARLLDLSSWFTVG
39	HCV	ALA	KLTPLPEAAAAAASSWFTVG
40	HCV	ALA	KLTPLPEARLLDLAAAAAVG
41	HCV	ALA	KLTPLPEARLLDLSSAAAAA
42		Control	HEDYVNOSLRPTPLEISVRA

"1-34, Amino acid sequences of 34 synthetic peptides in standard single letter code, spanning the full length of the CYP206 molecule. Each peptide overlaps by 5 aa with the preceding and subsequent peptide. 35, 36, Viral peptide homologues of CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂. 37-41, Alanine-substituted peptides derived from HCV₂₉₇₇₋₂₉₉₆. 42, Control peptide. ^ ALA, Alanine-substituted peptides.

a Coomassie-stained SDS-PAGE. It had a specific activity of 28 mg of activated calf thymus DNA digest/mg protein/30 min with a protein concentration of 83 µg/ml. HCV-nonstructural protein 5B (NS5B) (genotype 3a) was a kind gift from Dr. Seong of Yonsei Engineering Complex (Yonsei University, Seoul, Korea). Recombinant protein migrated as a single band at ~60 kDa on SDS-PAGE and was enzymatically active as assessed by a gel-based biochemical RdRp assay. The protein was dialyzed into 25 mM sodium phosphate (pH 6.8), 150 mM NaCl, 0.5 mM EDTA, 5 mM DTT, 0.5% Tween 20, and 55% glycerol at a final concentration of 60 µg/ml. Recombinant metabolically active CYP2D6, produced in a baculovirus-insect cell expression system and extracted as a microsomal preparation (10 mg/ml), was purchased from Cambridge BioScience (Cambridge, U.K.).

ELISA

A total of 200 ml/well of 2% BSA/PBS was added for 1 h at 20°C to a 96-well polysterene plate precoated with 5 mg/ml streptavidin (Mimotopes) to prevent nonspecific binding. After addition to each well of 100 ml of biotinylated peptide diluted to 1/1000 in PBS containing 0.1% sodium azide and 0.1% BSA, the plate was mildly agitated in a shaker (Dynex Technologies, Guernsey, U.K.) for 1 h at 20°C. One hundred microliters of patient serum diluted to 1/200 in 2% BSA/PBS containing 0.1% sodium azide was added to each well and incubated under mild agitation at 20°C for another hour. Thereafter, 100

ml of HRP-conjugated goat anti-human IgG (Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, Dorset, U.K.) diluted to 1/1000 in 2% BSA/PBS was added and incubated for 1 h without shaking at 20°C. The optimum concentrations of reagents at various steps of the immunoassay were determined in preliminary experiments by checkerboard titration. Initially, using a wide range of dilutions, the working conditions of the assay were identified and, subsequently, using smaller dilutions around the optimum, the final concentration of the test samples and reagents was determined (19). After each of the above steps, the plate was washed five times with PBS containing 0.1% Tween 20. Freshly prepared o-phenylene-diamine in citrate phosphate buffer was used as substrate, and the reaction was stopped with 4N sulfuric acid. Absorbance values were read at 490 nm on a spectrophotometer. In each plate, two wells were used as blanks, in which serum and peptide were omitted, and two additional wells were used for a positive and a negative control. The positive control consisted of an LKM1-positive serum (titer 1/5120), which in preliminary experiments was shown to react with CYP2D6₂₅₃₋₂₇₂, containing a previously described im-munodominant epitope (10). A randomly generated scrambled control peptide incubated with serum from a healthy individual was used as negative control. Each serum tested against experimental peptides was also tested against the control peptide. The final absorbance value was calculated by subtracting control peptide from the experimental peptide absorbance. Subtracted values exceeding 0.11 were considered positive, this value representing mean + 3 SD of 126 readings using serum from seven healthy subjects against 14 randomly selected CYP2D6 peptides. A synthetic peptide was considered to encompass an epitope when the subtracted absorbance was >0.5.

CMV IgG was tested by ELISA using CMV IgG kit (Captia; Trinity Biotech, Bray, Ireland).

Serum from the 10 LKM1-positive patients with chronic HCV infection was tested for rheumatoid factor IgM Abs using a commercially available kit (Rheumatoid Factor kit; Sigma-Aldrich).

Database search

Protein databases SWISS-PROT and PIR were searched using PROTEIN-INFO to search for homologies between the newly identified epitopes and human microorganisms. Homologous peptides were constructed by 9-fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl chemistry as detailed above (Mimotopes) (Table I).

Inhibition studies

To investigate whether the reactivity to $CYP2D6_{193-212}$ and homologous viral peptides was due to cross-reactivity, competition ELISAs were performed using CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ in solid phase and using CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, HCV₂₉₇₇₋₂₉₉₆, CMV₁₂₁₋₁₄₀, and the irrelevant peptide as competitors in liquid phase. Test serum was diluted 1/400 with peptide solutions to give final peptide concentrations of 0.1 mg/ml, 0.5 mg/ml, and 1 mg/ml, respectively. The solutions were incubated at 37°C for 2 h and then tested for anti-CYP2D6193-212 reactivity by ELISA.

Alanine substitution studies

To further investigate the contribution of the $HCV_{2977-2996}$ region $_{2985}$ RLLDL (which is identical with CYP2D6 $_{204-208}$ and CMV $_{130-134}$) to Ab reactivity to the full 20-aa sequence, five peptides were constructed in the format biotin-SGSG-peptide-amide, each with five contiguous alanine substitutions across the length of HCV₂₉₇₇₋₂₉₉₆ (Table I). Alanine-substituted peptides were tested for reactivity to patient serum by ELISA. LKM1⁺ patient serum was tested at a dilution of 1/400, and HRP-conjugated goat anti-human IgG Ab was used at a dilution of 1/2000. All other experimental conditions were as described in ELISA.

Reactivity of LKM1-positive serum to recombinant proteins

ELISA microtiter plates (Nunc International, Roskilde, Denmark) were coated overnight at 4°C with recombinant CYP2D6, HCV-NS5, and CMV-UL98 proteins at a concentration of 2 μ g/ml in sodium bicarbonate buffer (pH 9.6). After washing, plates were blocked with 100 µl of 5% BSA in PBS for 1 h at 37°C. One hundred microliters of serum from a patient with LKM1-positive AIH at a dilution of 1/200 was added after washing. Further steps were as described in ELISA.

Inhibition of reactivity to CYP2D6_{193 212} by recombinant proteins

Inhibition of reactivity to the immunodominant epitope by whole protein was investigated by performing a competition ELISA using $\text{CYP2D6}_{193-212}$ in solid phase and using recombinant HCV-NS5 and CMV-UL98 pro-



FIGURE 2. Reactivities of sera from 13 patients with AIH2 (A) and 10 LKM1-positive patients with chronic HCV infection (B) against 34 overlapping 20-mer peptides spanning residues 1–517 on CYP2D6. Absorbance values on the y-axis are plotted against the 34 individual peptides on the x-axis. The filled arrows mark the four newly identified epitopes: CYP2D6 $_{193-212}$ (peptide 14) is recognized by 12 AIH2 (patients 1–9, 11, 12, and 13) and 5 LKM1/HCV cases (patients 14, 15, 17, 18, and 20); CYP2D6 $_{238-257}$ (peptide 17), recognized by LKM1/HCV patient number 22; (*Figure legend continues*)

В

Hepatitis C



FIGURE 2. continued.

CYP2D6₂₆₈₋₂₈₇ (peptide 19), recognized by two AIH2 cases (patients 1 and 9); and CYP2D6₄₇₈₋₄₉₇ (peptide 33), recognized by LKM1/HCV patient number 21. The open arrows mark previously described epitopes: CYP2D6₂₅₃₋₂₇₂ (peptide 18), is recognized by 11 AIH2 cases (patients 1–7, 9, 10, 12, and 13) and LKM1/HCV patient number 21; CYP2D6₃₂₈₋₃₄₇ (peptide 23), recognized by AIH2 patient number 2; CYP2D6₃₄₃₋₃₆₂ (peptide 24), recognized by AIH2 patient number 3; CYP2D6₄₁₈₋₄₃₇ (peptide 29), recognized by three AIH2 cases (patients 3, 4, and 7) and LKM1/HCV patient number 14.

teins as competitor in liquid phase. Test serum (at a final dilution of 1/200) and recombinant proteins (at a final concentration of 0.3 μ g/ml) were incubated for 2 h at 37°C and subsequently were tested for reactivity to CYP2D6_{193 212} as described in *ELISA*.

Affinity purification of LKM1-positive serum

An LKM1-positive serum sample (reactive to CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, HCV₂₉₇₇₋₂₉₉₆, and CMV₁₃₀₋₁₃₄) was affinity purified over a Tetralink tetrameric avidin column (Promega, Southampton, U.K.) complexed with biotinylated

CYP2D6_{193 212} per the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 1 ml of biotinylated CYP2D6_{193 212} at a concentration of 0.25 mg/ml was passed over a tetrameric avidin column (equilibrated in PBS). CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂-specific Ab was captured by passing 5 ml of a "triple-reactive" LKM1-positive serum (diluted 1/4 in PBS) over the prepared column a total of five times. The column was washed with PBS to remove unbound material and captured Ab was eluted into 2 M Tris-HCl (pH 8.0) using 50 mM glycine (pH 3.0). The eluted Ab was concentrated to give a final volume of 1 ml (to match the original serum volume).

Inhibition of CYP2D6 metabolic activity by LKM1-positive serum

A commercially available kit was used to assess inhibition of CYP2D6 metabolic activity by LKM1-positive serum and affinity-purified Ab (CYP2D6/3-[2-(N,N-diethyl-N-methylamino)ethyl]-7-methoxy-4-methylcoumarin (AMMC) inhibitor screening kit; Gentest). The assay uses recombinant microsomal CYP2D6 (1.5 pM) in conjunction with AMMC as substrate (1.5 mM) and cofactor, producing a fluorescent metabolite (3-[2-(N,N-diethylamino)ethyl]-7-hydroxy-4-methylcoumarin hydrochloride) that is detected using a fluorescence plate reader (CytoFluor Series 4000; Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA; excitation at 390 nm, emission at 460 nm). Serial dilutions of 1/25 to 1/18.225 of a known CYP2D6 inhibitor (quinidine, initial concentration 0.5 μ m) and LKM1-positive serum from patients with AIH and HCV infection, as well as the affinitypurified Ab, were added to 96-well black microtiter plates (Labsystems Fluoro 96; Thermo Labsystems, Vantaa, Finland) containing CYP2D6 followed by the addition of substrate. Control reactions included CYP2D6 with no substrate, CYP2D6 with substrate (no inhibitor), and blank wells, which were otherwise subjected to the same experimental conditions. The reaction was allowed to progress for 30 min at 37°C, after which it was terminated with 80% acetonitrile, 100 mM Tris. Plates were read using the parameters described above. Percentage inhibition was calculated as follows: [(1 - (mean fluorescence with test compound - mean fluorescence of blank well/mean fluorescence without inhibitor - mean fluorescence of blank well)] \times 100.

Structural homology modeling of CYP2D6

Swiss-Model and the Swiss-Pdb Viewer (http://www.expasy.org/swissmod) were used for investigating and analyzing the derived CYP2D6 protein structure (20). CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ was modeled locally on the homologous region in *Bacillus megaterium* cytochrome P450 BM-3 (21, 22).

Results

Seven sera from healthy individuals were tested against 14 randomly selected peptides to establish a cutoff for Ab reactivity. The mean (SD) subtracted (from the random control peptide) OD was 0.0137(0.0366), giving a cutoff value of 0.11 (mean + 3 SD).

Sequences incorporating previously described epitopes (12) were recognized at the following frequencies: CYP2D6253-272 by 11 of 13 (85%) AIH2 and 1 of 10 (10%) LKM1/HCV patients, CYP2D6418-437 by 3 of 13 (23%) AIH2 and 1 of 10 (10%) LKM1/ HCV patients, and CYP2D6343-362 by 1 of 10 (10%) LKM1/HCV patients. Individual serum from AIH2 patients recognized the sequences CYP2D6₃₂₈₋₃₄₇ and CYP2D6₃₇₃₋₃₉₂ (Fig. 2, A and B, open arrows). Four new epitopes were identified (Fig. 2, A and B, filled arrows). These comprised CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, which was recognized by the serum from 12 of 13 (93%) AIH2 and 5 of 10 (50%) LKM1-positive patients with chronic HCV infection, CYP2D6₂₆₈₋₂₈₇ by two AIH2 sera, and CYP2D6₂₃₈₋₂₅₇ and CYP2D6478-497 by individual sera from LKM1/HCV patients. Within the immunodominant epitope CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, the motif "RLLDLA" was found to have 5 of 6 aa identical and one similar to the hexameric sequence "RLLDLS" of $HCV_{2985-2990}$ (located within HCV-NS5, the RNA-dependent DNA polymerase), A and S being conserved residues (23). The same motif also shared a 6-aa identity with CMV₁₃₀₋₁₃₅ (located within the CMV alkaline exo-



FIGURE 3. Amino acid sequence homology between the $HCV_{2977-2996}$, $CMV_{121-140}$, and $CYP2D6_{193-212}$. Amino acids are in standard single letter code. Identical residues between $CYP2D6_{193-212}$ and the homologous viral peptides are within the box.

Table II.	Recognition of	homologous	viral pepti	des CMV_{12}	1-140 and
HCV 2977-2	1996 by LKMI-pe	ositive sera a	ll reactive	with the	
immunodo	minant epitope ^a	1			

Patient	HCV ₂₉₇₇₋₂₉₉₆	CMV ₁₂₁₋₁₄₀	CYP2D6 ₁₉₃₋₂₁₂
AIH 1	0.47	0.13	3.16
AIH 2	0.75	0.26	2.70
AIH 3	0.45	0.01	1.50
AIH 4	0.01	0.02	2.25
AIH 5	0.01	0.01	0.48
AIH 6	0.02	0.01	1.37
AIH 7	0.25	0.25	1.03
AIH 8	0.06	0.01	0.23
AIH 9	0.01	0.01	0.10
AIH 10	0.16	0.05	0.24
AIH 11	0.39	0.39	3.01
AIH 12	0.48	0.56	1.36
HCV 1	0.02	0.01	0.97
HCV 2	0.11	0.20	2.10
HCV 3	0.26	0.08	0.95
HCV 4	0.27	0.10	1.10
HCV 5	0.53	0.24	1.20

"Twelve patients with AIH2 and five with chronic HCV infection. Values denote absorbance values obtained at 490 nm. Sera were considered positive when absorbance was ≥ 0.11 (in bold).

nuclease) (Fig. 3). All 17 sera (12 AIH2 and 5 LKM1/HCV) reacting with the newly identified epitope CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ were tested by ELISA against the homologous HCV and CMV biotinylated viral peptides. Seven AIH2 and four LKM1/HCV sera reacted with both CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ and HCV₂₉₇₇₋₂₉₉₆, whereas five AIH2 and three LKM1/HCV sera reacted with both CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂



FIGURE 4. Inhibition of Ab binding to CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ after incubation with increasing amounts of CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ (\bullet), HCV₂₉₇₇ 2996 (\blacktriangle), CMV₁₂₁₋₁₄₀ (\triangledown), and control peptide (\blacksquare). Percentage binding is on the *y*-axis. Decrease in binding of >75% is seen after preincubation with 1 mg/ml of self and homologous viral peptides, but not with the control peptide.

FIGURE 5. Reactivity of LKM1-positive serum to peptide $HCV_{2977-2996}$ and its alanine-substituted homologues. *A*, $HCV_{2977-2996}$. *B–F*, Substitution of $HCV_{2977-2996}$ with five contiguous alanine residues across the full length of the native peptide. Amino acids are represented in standard single letter code. Alanine-substituted regions are indicated in bold. The region of identity between CYP2D6_{191 212} and viral peptides is boxed. *G*, CYP2D6_{191 212}. The previously established cutoff for a positive reaction is indicated by a line in the x-axis. Reactivity to $HCV_{2977 2966}$ is abolished by alanine substitution of the region of homology and the contiguous downstream five residues.





and CMV₁₂₁₋₁₄₀. Triple reactivity to CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂/HCV₂₉₇₇₋₂₉₉₆/ CMV₁₂₁₋₁₄₀ was observed in five AIH2 and three LKM1/HCV patients (Table II). Ab binding to CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ was inhibited by addition of increasing amounts of competitor peptide. In the presence of 1 mg/ml of competitor, absorbance was reduced by 70–90%, whereas it remained virtually unaltered by addition of the scrambled control peptide (Fig. 4).

Alanine substitution of the HCV₂₉₇₇₋₂₉₉₆ region ₂₉₈₅RLLDL completely abolished reactivity by LKM1 Abs, as did substitution of the contiguous downstream 5-aa segment. All other alanine-substituted peptides produced comparable serum reactivities to wild-type HCV₂₉₇₇₋₂₉₉₆ and to the homologous CYP2D6 immunodominant peptide CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ (Fig. 5).

Of eight patients reactive with $CMV_{121-140}$ whose serum was available for testing, four (one AIH2 and three LKM1/HCV) were positive for anti-CMV IgG. All 10 sera from LKM1/HCV patients were negative for rheumatoid factor IgM Abs.

Local homology modeling of CYP2D6 using the cytochrome P450 BM-3 crystal coordinates as a template predicts $CYP2D6_{193\ 212}$ to be located within a helical domain in a solvent-accessible surface region of the protein, compatible with Ab recognition on



FIGURE 6. Reactivity of LKM1-positive serum to recombinant CYP2D6 (rCYP2D6), HCV-NS5 protein (rHCV-NS5), and CMV-UL98 protein (rCMV-UL98) by ELISA. A cutoff for positive reaction was determined as $OD_{490} = 0.07$ using serum from healthy individuals and is represented as a horizontal line.

whole protein. Therefore, we tested the ability of LKM1-positive sera to recognize whole protein to confirm the physiological significance of the observed peptide reactivities. Two LKM1-positive sera, one from a patient with AIH and another from a patient with HCV infection, were tested for reactivity to recombinant CYP2D6, HCV-NS5, and CMV-UL98. A cutoff for recognition was established as the mean absorbance at 490 nm + 3 SD of 43 serum samples from healthy individuals (cutoff $OD_{490} = 0.07$) (24). Both LKM1-positive sera strongly recognized the recombinant proteins (Fig. 6). We then investigated the ability of these recombinant proteins to inhibit reactivity to the immunodominant CYP2D6 peptide, CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, by a liquid phase ELISA inhibition assay. Preincubation of LKM1-positive serum with HCV-NS5 and CMV-UL98 resulted in 60.5 and 61.2% inhibition of reactivity against CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ (Fig. 7), confirming that LKM1 Abs that recognize CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ are cross-reactive with the HCV and CMV peptide homologues.

To further test recognition of conformationally intact CYP2D6 by LKM1 serum and the LKM1 Ab species reactive to CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, we assessed the ability of LKM1-positive serum and affinity-purified LKM1 Abs specific for the CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ epitope to inhibit CYP2D6 enzymatic activity using a fluorometric assay. Both LKM-positive serum from a patient with AIH and from another with HCV infection inhibited CYP2D6 enzymatic activity, producing ~40% inhibition at a dilution of 1/225. Affinity-purified Ab specific for the cross-reactive immunodominant CYP2D6 epitope, CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, was also able to inhibit metabolic activity of CYP2D6, producing ~20% inhibition at a dilution of 1/225. This suggests that CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂-specific Abs contribute ~50% of the inhibitory activity of LKM1 serum, demonstrating the preservation and antigenicity of this epitope within native



FIGURE 7. Inhibition of Ab reactivity of LKM1-positive serum to CYP2D6_{193 212} by preincubation with 0.3 μ g/ml of rHCV-NS5 and rCMV-UL98 or in the absence of competitor protein. Residual Ab reactivity to CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ was detected by ELISA. Error bars represent + SD of six separate experiments.

1488



FIGURE 8. Inhibition of the metabolic activity of CYP2D6 by LKM1positive serum. AMMC was used as substrate and formation of the fluorescent metabolite 3-[2-(*N*,*N*-diethylamino)ethyl]-7-hydroxy-4-methylcoumarin hydrochloride detected using excitation and emission parameters of 390 nm and 460 nm, respectively. Quinidine was used as a standard positive control (starting concentration = 0.5μ M) and serum from a healthy individual used as a negative control (Normal). In addition to sera from patients with LKM1-positive AIH (LKM1AIH) and LKM1-positive HCV infection (LKM1HCV), affinity-purified Ab (against CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂) from an LKM1-positive patient was tested for inhibitory activity (apLKM1). Data are represented as percentage decrease in metabolite formation relative to no test sample/inhibitor. Fifty percent inhibition is indicated as a dashed horizontal line. Error bars represent \pm SD of duplicate samples; where no error bars are shown both samples gave identical readings.

CYP2D6 (Fig. 8). In contrast, serum from a healthy individual failed to inhibit enzymatic activity.

Discussion

In this study of complete B cell epitope mapping, we found a new immunodominant epitope on cytochrome P4502D6, CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, recognized by LKM1-positive serum both from patients with AIH2 and chronic HCV infection, which is likely to be the target of virus/self cross-reactive immunity. The fact that reactivity to this epitope has gone unnoticed to date is probably due to the selective epitope construction used in the past to map antigenic sites on the cytochrome. Searching for LKM1 epitopes, Gueguen et al. (10) produced 10 CYP2D6 constructs through the expression of CYP2D6 cDNA or its rat orthologous fragments in a prokaryotic system. Through the analysis of the results of Ab binding to these constructs, they inferred that a region of 33 aa (239-273) was the major antigenic site in AIH, being recognized by all LKM1 AIH sera tested. Reactivity in this region was dissected further by the use of three synthetic peptides (241-260, 254-271, and 264-281), and the sequence 254-271 was found to be the focus of recognition. Although describing CYP2D6254-271 as a major epitope on CYP2D6, the authors acknowledged that their strategy might have overlooked other epitopes. Based on Gueguen et al.'s (10) and Yamamoto et al.'s additional data (12) with new CYP2D6 constructs and using information derived from algorithmic prediction of antigenic sites (25), Yamamoto et al. (12) constructed 12 peptides spanning the region 241-429. Epitope 257-269, 5 as shorter than the epitope described by Gueguen et al. (10), was recognized by 14 of 15 sera from patients with AIH2, confirming that this region is a major antigenic site. They also found that the sequences 321-351, 373-389, and 410-429 were recognized by eight, one, and two of the 15 sera, respectively. Akin to the previous study, however, a selective approach was used, with

CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, TARGET OF SELF/VIRUS CROSS-REACTIVITY

the possibility of failing to detect other reactive epitopes. In contrast, in the present study all potential epitopes were investigated systematically using peptides spanning the entire length of the CYP2D6 protein. With this approach, we were able to confirm both existence and recognition frequency of the previously described epitopes. In agreement with Yamamoto et al. (12), we found that CYP2D6₂₅₃₋₂₇₂, encompassing the hitherto considered main epitope (10), was recognized by 85% of our patients with LKM1 AIH and by only 1 of 10 LKM1-positive HCV-infected patients.

Of the four new epitopes identified in the present study (CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, CYP2D6₂₃₈₋₂₅₇, CYP2D6₂₆₈₋₂₈₇, and CYP2D6₄₇₈₋₄₉₇), CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ is immunodominant. Hints were already present in the literature, indicating the antigenic importance of this CYP2D6 region. After the previous finding of Yamamoto et al. (13) that LKM1 sera from HCV-infected patients react preferentially with a region comprised within amino acids 208-349 of CYP2D6, Parez et al. (14) constructed a series of peptides selected on the basis of their high probability of being antigenic sites, as predicted by computer analysis. They found that peptide 200-214 contained an epitope recognized by LKM1 in HCV infection, but not in AIH. On the basis of this finding and in the apparent unawareness of our initial reports describing the new epitopes (26, 27), Klein et al. (15) constructed a peptide 4 aa longer than that of Parez et al. (14) at both the N and C ends $(CYP2D6_{196-218})$ and obtained surprising results. In contrast with Parez et al. (14), they found that only 18% of LKM1-positive HCV-infected patients, but 68% of LKM1-positive AIH patients, reacted with the new peptide.

The methodological strategy used in the present paper has enabled us to clarify the antigenic characteristics of the region 193-218 on CYP2D6 and to explain, at least in part, these contrasting results (Fig. 1B). We demonstrate that the "AIH epitope" resides within the 193-212 sequence, with arginine, arginine, and phenylalanine at positions 193-195 conferring virtually universal recognition. Sequences after 212 do not appear to have antigenic properties, as suggested by the fact that our own peptide 208-227 is ignored by both AIH and HCV LKM1-positive sera. This also indicates that the "HCV epitope" is contained in the preceding peptide spanning amino acids 193-212, recognized by 50% of our HCV-positive patients. Though it may be argued that the 3-aa difference at the N terminus could explain this higher reactivity frequency among our HCV-positive patients when compared with an 18% frequency described by Klein et al. (15), this contention is not supported by the data of Parez et al. (14), who found a frequency similar to ours using peptide 200-214, not containing amino acids 193-199. Because the three studies have used assays of similar sensitivity, methodological differences are unlikely to explain these discrepancies. It is possible that the autoantibody concentration was lower in the patients studied by Klein et al. (15), who defined their LKM1 sera as exceeding a 1/80 dilution without providing the exact titer. Our data show that the epitope recognized in HCV infection is not present beyond amino acid 208, because CYP2D6₂₀₈₋₂₂₇ was not recognized by any LKM1/HCV-positive sera (28).

Interestingly, the dominant CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ epitope found in the present study shares similarities with HCV and CMV. Modeling studies locate the immunodominant CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂ peptide to the surface of CYP2D6, making it accessible to Ab recognition in the context of the physiologically folded protein (21, 22). Similarly, the homologous HCV₂₉₇₇₋₂₉₉₆ peptide, part of the HCV RNA-dependent DNA polymerase (NS5), lies within a solvent-accessible loop structure of the "thumb" domain of this protein, allowing it to serve as an epitope on the native folded protein (23). No crystal coordinates are available for the CMV alkaline exonucle-ase, which contains the region CMV₁₂₁₋₁₄₀ homologous to

CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, but preliminary secondary structure analysis suggests it to be solvent accessible.

We have experimentally demonstrated these homologous self and viral sequences to be targets of cross-reactive virus/self Abs, suggesting the involvement of a molecular mimicry mechanism (29), where the physiological immune response to a pathogen targets sequence-sharing self Ags. This mechanism was invoked by Manns et al. (11) to explain the production of LKM1 in HCV infection, after having noted that CYP2D6263-271 and the HCV polyprotein HCV₂₇₇₂₋₂₇₈₀ share sequence similarities. This hypothesis, however, was not tested in studies of cross-inhibition. We demonstrate that serum from LKM1-positive patients with AIH or HCV infection react concurrently with CYP2D6₁₉₃₋₂₁₂, $HCV_{2977-2996}$, and $CMV_{121-140}$. Multiple reactivity is due to an Ab capable of recognizing both virus and self, as demonstrated by inhibition studies. Furthermore, we confirm by alanine substitution of the homologous HCV epitope HCV_{2977 2996} that Ab reactivity to this sequence maps to the region with homology to $CYP2D6_{193\ 212}$ and CMV_{121 140}. Finally, we show by ELISA and a CYP2D6 metabolic assay that CYP2D6193-212-specific Abs recognize and inhibit the activity of the native enzyme and that the observed peptide cross-reactivities among CYP2D6, HCV-NS5, and CMV-UL98 also operate on the whole Ags when tested in a competition assay.

The cross-reactive Abs detected are of the IgG isotype, implicating T cell "help" in their generation. Because T and B cell epitopes frequently overlap, it is possible that the cross-reactive humoral epitopes identified may also serve as T cell epitopes (29). Thus, the emergence of LKM1 may be the ultimate manifestation of molecular mimicry at the level of the T cell, giving rise to a T-dependent and class-switched cross-reactive humoral response (30).

In conclusion, we found a new immunodominant epitope of LKM on CYP2D6, reactivity to which is likely to arise as a consequence of its similarity with viral Ags. Multiple exposure to viral sequences shared with self may lead to the break of immunological tolerance through a multihit mechanism in predisposed individuals.

Acknowledgments

We thank Dr. Paul Cheeseman (King's College Hospital, London, U.K.) for his help with the artwork, Dr. Sylvia Nagl (Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University College, London, U.K.) for performing structural modeling of CYP2D6, Dr. Stephen Hodges for his help with the CYP2D6 enzymatic inhibition assay, and Dr. Munther J. Hussain for performing the IgG anti-CMV assay. The healthy children were recruited through the Children's Liver Disease Foundation Gillingham and Medway Branch (Kent, U.K.). We also thank Dr. Tenney (Bristol-Myers Squibb) and Dr. Seong (Yonsei University) for their generous gift of recombinant proteins.

References

- Homberg, J. C., N. Abuaf, O. Bernard, S. Islam, F. Alvarez, S. H. Khalil, R. Poupon, F. Darnis, V. G. Levy, P. Grippon, et al. 1987. Chronic active hepatitis associated with antiliver/kidney microsome antibody type 1: a second type of "autoimmune" hepatitis. *Hepatology* 7:1333.
- Giostra, F., A. Manzin, M. Lenzi, R. Francesconi, L. Solforosi, P. Manotti, L. Muratori, D. Zauli, M. Clementi, and F. B. Bianchi. 1996. Low hepatitis C viraemia levels in patients with anti-liver kidney microsomal antibody type 1 positive chronic hepatitis. J. Hepatol. 25:433.
- 3. Vergani, D. 1999. NOSA in HCV infection: markers or makers of disease? Gut 45:328.
- Rizzetto, M., G. Swana, and D. Doniach. 1973. Microsomal antibodies in active chronic hepatitis and other disorders. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 15:331.
- Alvarez, F., O. Bernard, J. C. Homberg, and G. Kreibich. 1985. Anti-liver-kidney microsome antibody recognizes a 50,000 molecular weight protein of the endoplasmic reticulum. J. Exp. Med. 161:1231.

- Waxman, D. J., D. P. Lapenson, M. Krishnan, O. Bernard, G. Kreibich, and F. Alvarez. 1988. Antibodies to liver/kidney microsomel in chronic active hepatitis recognize specific forms of hepatic cytochrome P-450. *Gastroenterology* 95:1326.
- Zanger, U. M., H. P. Hauri, J. Loeper, J. C. Homberg, and U. A. Meyer. 1988. Antibodies against human cytochrome P-450db1 in autoimmune hepatitis type II. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85:8256.
- Gueguen, M., A. M. Yamamoto, O. Bernard, and F. Alvarez. 1989. Anti-liverkidney microsome antibody type 1 recognizes human cytochrome P450 db1. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 159:542.
- Manns, M. P., E. F. Johnson, K. J. Griffin, E. M. Tan, and K. F. Sullivan. 1989. Major antigen of liver kidney microsomal autoantibodies in idiopathic autoimmune hepatitis is cytochrome P450db1. J. Clin. Invest. 83:1066.
- Gueguen, M., O. Boniface, O. Bernard, F. Clerc, T. Cartwright, and F. Alvarez. 1991. Identification of the main epitope on human cytochrome P450 1ID6 recognized by anti-liver kidney microsome antibody. J. Autoimmun. 4:607.
- Manns, M. P., K. J. Griffin, K. F. Sullivan, and E. F. Johnson. 1991. LKM-1 autoantibodics recognize a short linear sequence in P45011D6, a cytochrome P-450 monooxygenase. J. Clin. Invest. 88:1370.
- Yamamoto, A. M., D. Cresteil, O. Boniface, F. F. Clere, and F. Alvarez. 1993. Identification and analysis of cytochrome P45011D6 antigenic sites recognized by anti-liver-kidney microsome type-1 antibodies (LKM1). *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23: 1105.
- Yamamoto, A. M., D. Cresteil, J. C. Homberg, and F. Alvarez. 1993. Characterization of anti-liver-kidney microsome antibody (anti-LKM1) from hepatitis C virus-positive and -negative sera. *Gastroenterology* 104:1762.
- Parez, N., D. Herzog, E. Jacqz-Aigrain, J. C. Homberg, and F. Alvarez. 1996. Study of the B cell response to cytochrome P45011D6 in sera from chronic hepatitis C patients. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 106:336.
- Klein, R., U. M. Zanger, T. Berg, U. Hopf, and P. A. Berg. 1999. Overlapping but distinct specificities of anti-liver-kidney microsome antibodies in autoimmune hepatitis type II and hepatitis C revealed by recombinant native CYP2D6 and novel peptide epitopes. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 118:290.
- Alvarez, F., P. A. Berg, F. B. Bianchi, L. Bianchi, A. K. Burroughs, E. L. Cancado, R. W. Chapman, W. G. Cooksley, A. J. Czaja, V. J. Desmet, et al. 1999. International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group report: review of criteria for diagnosis of autoimmune hepatitis. J. Hepatol. 31:929.
- Muratori, L., M. Lenzi, M. Cataleta, F. Giostra, F. Cassani, G. Ballardini, D. Zauli, and F. B. Bianchi. 1994. Interferon therapy in liver/kidney microsomal antibody type 1-positive patients with chronic hepatitis C. J. Hepatol. 21:199.
- Rodda, S. J., and G. Tribbick. 1996. Antibody-defined epitope mapping using the multipin method of peptide synthesis. *Methods 9:473*.
- Voller, A., D. Bidwell, and A. Bartlett. 1980. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. In *Manual of Clinical Immunology*, 2nd Ed. N. R. Rose and H. Friedman, eds. American Society of Microbiology, Washington, DC, p. 368.
- Guex, N., and M. C. Peitsch. 1997. SWISS-MODEL and the Swiss-Pdb Viewer: an environment for comparative protein modelling. *Electrophoresis* 18:2714.
- Ravichandran, K. G., S. S. Boddupalli, C. A. Hasermann, J. A. Peterson, and J. Deisenhofer. 1993. Crystal structure of hemoprotein domain of P450BM-3, a prototype for microsomal P450's. *Science 261:731.*
- de Groot, M. J., M. J. Ackland, V. A. Horne, A. A. Alex, and B. C. Jones. 1999. Novel approach to predicting P450-mediated drug metabolism: development of a combined protein and pharmacophore model for CYP2D6. J. Med. Chem. 42: 1515.
- Lesburg, C. A., M. B. Cable, E. Ferrari, Z. Hong, A. F. Mannarino, and P. C. Weber. 1999. Crystal structure of RNA-dependant RNA polymerase from hepatitis C virus reveals a fully encircled active site. *Nat. Struct. Biol. 6:937.*
- Kerkar N., Y. Ma, M. Hussain, L. Muratori, C. Targett, R. William, F. B. Bianchi, G. Mieli-Vergani, and D. Vergani. 1999. A novel assay for detecting antibodies to cytochrome P4502D6, the molecular target of liver kidney mocrosomal antibody type 1. J. Immunol. Methods 223:227.
- Deleage, G., F. F. Clerc, B. Roux, and D. C. Gautheron. 1988. ANTHEPROT: a package for protein sequence analysis using a microcomputer. *Comput. Appl. Biosci.* 4:351.
- 26. Kerkar, N., Y. Ma, A. Mahmoud, L. Muratori, M. Lenzi, F. B. Bianchi, R. Williams, G. Mieli-Vergani, and D. Vergani. 1998. Identification of new epitopes on cytochrome P4502D6 in autoimmune hepatitis and chronic hepatitis C infection. *Hepatology 28:1*.
- Kerkar, N., A. Mahmoud, L. Muratori, M. Lenzi, F. B. Bianchi, R. Williams, G. Mieli-Vergani, and D. Vergani. 1999. New viral triggers of autoreactivity to cytochrome P4502D6, the target of liver kidney microsomal antibody type1. J. Hepatol. 30(Suppl.):58.
- Oldstone, M. B. 1987. Molecular mimicry and autoimmune disease. *Cell* 50:819.
 Tung, K. S. 1994. Mechanism of self-tolerance and events leading to autoimmune
- disease and autoantibody response. Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 73:275.
 30. Wuscherpfennig, K. W., and J. L. Strominger. 1995. Molecular mimicry in T-cell mediated autoimmunity: viral peptides activate human T cell clones specific for myelin basic protein. Cell 80:695.